Helmut Humbach and Klaus Faiss

# Zarathushtra and His Antagonists

A Sociolinguistic Study with English and German Translations of His Gāthās

WIESBADEN 2010 DR. LUDWIG REICHERT VERLAG

# Contents

]	Pref	ace	IX
	Sele	et Literature	XI
	Abb	reviations	ΚV
	A.	The sociolinguistic hackground	. 1
	1.	Iranians and Aryans	. 1
1	2.	Zarathushtra and the Avesta	. 2
	3.	Zarathushtra and Zoroaster	. 4
	4.	Mazdayasnians and Zarathushtrians	. 5
	5.	Zarathushtra the prophet	. 6
1	6.	The Avesta	. 6
	7.	The Gāthās	. 9
	8.	Languages	10
1	9.	Scripts	11
	10.	The Pahlavi translation of the Gäthäs and its Sanskrit version	13
	11.	Yasna 29,7 with Pahlavi translation and its Sanskrit version	14
		The role of Vedic Sanskrit	
	13.	Notes on Pahlavi texts other than the Pahlavi translation	17
		Contemporary Zoroastrians	
	15.	The literary genre of the Gäthäs	20
	16.	Historical and theological problems	22
	17.	The divine entities and Asha 'Truth/truth'	23
	18.	The Old Avestan divine entities and the Amasha Spontas	28
		The Avestan calendar and the number of the Amasha Spantas	
	20.	Amasha Spoņtas and Daēvas	31
	21.	Further notes on the Amasha Spantas and their opponents	32
	22.	The truthful and the descitful	36
	23.	The two spirits	38
	24.	Haoma, the drug of the Zoroastrians	43
	25.	Haoma in the Hom Yasht	44
	26.	Haoma the death-averter	48
	27.	"Grass" and inflaming the Düraosha	49

28.	The drug an excretion?	5
29.	Inflaming in the Hadhökht Nask	5
30.	Haoma, omōmi, amōmis, and amōmon/amomum	5
31.	Manaobago and soothsaying Haoma	5
32.	Mozdooano	6
33.	The Rabatak inscription	6
34.	Kushan coins depicting Iranian deities in Greek garb	6
35.	Kushan coins depicting Iranian deities	6
36.	Oësho	6
37.	The ordeal, the fire, the molten metal, and the balance	7
Figi	ires:	
Rev	erses of four Kushan coins with pictures of deities	
1.	Ōoromozdo	2
2.	Manao-bago	5
3.	Mozdooano	6
4.	Oēsho	6
B.	The Old Avestan texts with English and German translations	7.
Yas	na 27,13-15. Introduction	7
Yas	na 28-34. Ahunavaitī Gāthā	7
Yas	na 35-41[42]. Yasna Haptanghäiti	0
Yas	na 43-46. Ushtavaitī Gāthā	1-
Yas	na 47-50. Spəntāmainyush Găthă	35
Yas	na 51. Vohukshathrā Gāthā 1	5:
Yas	na 53. Vahishtõishti Gäthä	55
Yas	na 54,1. Conclusion	62
C.	Notes	64

#### Preface

Toward the end of my late studies, as a result of the war, in Munich (1946-1951), under the supervision of young Karl Hoffmann (1915-1996) I came into contact with the Gathas of Zarathushtra ("Zarathustra/Zoroaster"), the core of the Old Iranian Avesta. Initially, Hoffmann based his grammatical analysis and interpretation of their content quite naturally on the scholarly tradition codified in Christian Bartholomae's Altirarisches Wörterbuch (1904) that still continues to have an influence today. However, he began to doubt their reliability more and more, and by 1950 it became clear to him that this tradition required a complete revision. A major role in this was played by the futility of his attempts to apply the results of his research on the morphology and syntax of the Vedic Sanskrit verb to Burtholomae's translations of the texts of the oldest record of the Old Iranian sister language. Hoffmann shied away, it is true, from the necessary revision of the academic tradition, but he did take a benevolent attitude to my decision to devote myself to this task. In this connection, apart from discovering innumerable linguistic and philological problems, I became increasingly interested in an appropriate appreciation of the Gäthäs, not just as a document of religious, but also as one of intellectual and social history, an appreciation which presupposes the attempt to ascertain its formal characteristics as a work of an in part very traditional poetry.

With Part A of the present study, it is first intended to make the well-known difficult access to the Gisthia, as the carliest testimony of the Mazdayasaina Religion, casier, however, the main focus lies on what has previously been taken little into account. We take a look at the antagonistis, spiritual and material, including also the rivals, of the prophet in his social environment, who were striving, just as he was, for the favor of Ahura Mazdili, and our special interest concerns the later development of Mazdaism in its eastern areas. In Part B we present the text in starnas, together with revisions of the English translation in The Gisthias of Zanatushtra (1991) and of the German one in Die Gathas des Zanatushtra (1959). Part C has been deliberately kept very concise.

In the long period of the development of this study, I at first just asked my colleagues (Klaus Faiss for help with the formal arrangement, but in the long term keep was unable to resist the interest in the subject matter of the research and, in spite of his numerous other tasks, he must have like himself deeply finalize with the problems involved, His competent and selfless support stift into the control was and selfless support stift into the control was not contribute my shade post to the control was not as the strength, despite my advanced age, to contribute my shade post stift into the control was not to the control was not to the control was not as the control was not to the control was not

It is one of Hoffmann's numerous merits to have introduced a transliteration system of the Avesta alphabet that allows to correctly and unambiguously reproduce the details of the often varying spellings of the manuscripts. It would have been useful to replace several of his characters by more easily available ones, but we preferred to keep to the Preface

v

Spring 2010

Helmut Humbach

Our sincere thanks go to Dr. Susanne Ziegler, who, with tireless commitment, took care of the computer processing of the text versions that are characterized by numerous, but necessary changes. We thank the Dr. Ludwig Reichert Verlag, Wiesbaden, for the publication of this book.

Spring 2010

Helmut Humbach Klaus Faiss

#### Select Literature

Andreas, F. C. and J. Wackernagel 1912. Die erste, zweite und fünfte Ghäthä des Zura\*thushtro (Josno 28, 29, 32). In: Nuchrichten der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissesschaften zu Gättinen, Phil-Hist, K. 16,3-185; et also, Annuerkunger in 1931, 304-329

Anquetil-Duperron, A.-H. 1771. Zend-Avesta, ouvrage de Zoroastre. 3 Paris. Paris. Repr. 1984, London Paris

Arnaud-Lindet, M.-P. (ed.) 1990. Orose. Histoires (contre les Païens). Part 1. Paris

Bartholomac, Chr. 1904. Altiranisches Wörterbuch. Strassburg

Davary, G. D. and H. Humbach 1974. Eine weitere aramäoiranische Inschrift der Periode des Asoka aus Afghanistan. Mainz

Dēnkard see Madan, D. M., Molé, M.

Duchesne-Guillemin, J. 1952. The Hymns of Zarathustra. Translated from the French by Mrs. M. Henning. London

Encyclopedia Britannica Online 2007

FGrIIist - Die Fragmente der griechischen Historiker, see Jacoby, F.

Frye, R. N. 1983. The History of Ancient Iran. München

Geldner, K. F. (ed.) 1886, 1889, 1896. Avesta. The Sacred Books of the Parsis. 3 Parts. Stuttgart

Gershevitch, I. 1996. A Helping Hand from Central Asia. In: La Persia e l'Asia Centrale da Alessandro al X secolo. Ed. Accademia Nazionale dei Lincci. Atti dei Convegni Lincci 127, 49-60. Roma

Göbl, R. 1984. System und Chronologie der Münzprägung des Kušänreiches. Wien

Great Saviet Encyclopedia 1973 ff. New York – London
Grenct, F. 1984. Notes sur le panthéon iranien des Kouchans. In: Studia Iranica 13, 253-262

2005. An Archaeologist's Approach to Avestan Geography. In: Curtis, V. S. and S. Stewart (eds.). Birth of the Persian Emoire. 29-51. London – New York

Henning, W. B. 1944. The Murder of the Magi. In: Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 133-144

- 1951 Zaroaster Politician or Witch-doctor? London

- 1971. A Fragment of a Khwarezmian Dictionary, ed. D. N. MacKenzie. London

Hintze, A. 2007. A Zoroastrian Liturgy. The Worship in Seven Chapters (Yasna 33-41). Iranica 12. Wiesbaden
Hoffmann, K. 1967. Der Injunktiv im Veda. Eine synchronische Funktionsuntersuchung.

Heidelberg

- 1975, 1976, 1992, Aufsätze zur Indoiranistik, 3 Parts, Wiesbaden [= id., Aufsätze 1-3]

 1979. Das Avesta in der Persis. In: Harmatta, J. (ed.). Prolegomena to the Sources on the History of Pre-Islamic Central Asia, 89-93. Budapest [= id., Aufsätze 3, 736-740]

1986. Avestisch & In: Schmitt, R. and P. O. Skjærvø (eds.). Studia Grammatica Iranica.
 Festschrift für Helmut Humbach. Münchener Studien zur Sprachwissenschaft. Beiheft 13,

## 163-183. München [- id., Aufsätze 3, 837-857]

Hoffmann, K. and J. Narten 1989. Der Sasanidische Archetypus. Untersuchungen zu Schreibung und Lautgestalt des Avestischen. Wiesbaden

Humbach, H. 1957. Review; J. Wackemagel. Altindische Gronmatik. II.2. In: Deutsche Literaturzeitung 78, 298-301

- 1959, Die Gathas des Zarathustra, 2 Parts, Heidelberg
- 1966-67, Baktrische Sprachdenkmäler, 2 Parts, Wiesbaden
- 1969. Die aramäische Inschrift von Taxila. Mainz
- 1974. Methodologische Vuriationen zur arischen Religionsgeschichte. In: Mayrhofer, M. et al. (eds.). Antiquitates Indogermanicae. Gedenkschrift für Hermann Güntert, 193-200. Innehruset.
- 1975. Vayu, Ŝiva und der Spiritus Vivens im ostiranischen Synkretismus. In: Duchesne-Guillemin, J. (ed.). Monumentum H. S. Nyberg. 1, 397-408. Téhéran Liège
- 1976. The Aramaic Aśoka Inscription from Taxila. In: German Scholars on India. Contributions to Indian Studies. Ed. The Cultural Department of the Embassy of the Federal Republic of Germany. 2. II.8-130. New Delbi - Bombas.
- 1981. Die aramäischen Nymphen von Xanthos. In: Die Sprache 27, 30-32
- 1991. The G\(\tilde{a}\)this of Zarathushtra and the Other Old Avestan Texts. In collaboration with J. Elfenbein and P. O. Skjærvø. 2 Parts. Heidelberg
- 1994. The Tochi Inscriptions. In: Söhnen-Thieme, R. and O. von Hinüber (eds.). Festschrift für Georg Buddruss. Studien zur Indologie und Iranistik 19, 137-156, Reinbek
- 2002. G\(\text{\text{\$\}\$}}}\$}\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\
- 2003. The Great Surkh Kotal Inscription. In: Cereti, C. G. et al. (eds.). Religious Themes and Texts of Pre-Islamic Iran and Central Asia. Studies in Honour of Professor Gherardo Gnoli, 157-166. Wieshaden
- 2004. Yima/Jamšēd. In: Cereti, C. G. et al. (eds.). Varia Iranica, 45-58. Roma
- 2007. The Indian God of Winc, the Iranian Indra, and the Seventh Amsia Spoqta. In: Macuch, M. et al. (eds.). Iranian Languages and Texts from Iran and Turan. Ronald E. Emmerick Memorial Volume, Iranica 13, 135-142. Wiesbaden

Humbach, H. and P. Ichaporia 1998. Zanyād Yasht. Yasht 19 of the Younger Avesta. Wiesbaden Humbach, H. and P. O. Skjærvø 1978, 1980, 1983. The Sassanian Inscription of Paikuli. 3 Parts. Wiesbaden

Humbach, H. et al. (= and S. Ziegler in collaboration with K. Faiss) 2002. Ptolemy. Geography. Book 6. Middle East, Central and North Asia, China. Part 2. Wiesbaden

#### Insler, S. 1975. The Gäthäs of Zarathustra. Leiden

Jackson, A. V. 1898. Zoroaster. The Prophet of Ancient Iran. New York. Repr. 1965

Jacoby, F. (ed.) 1923 ff. Die Fragmente der griechischen Historiker (= FGrHist). Berlin. Repr. 1957 ff., Leiden etc.

Justi, F. 1868. Der Bundehesh. Zum ersten Male herausgegeben, transcribirt, übersetzt und mit

Glossar versehen. 2 Parts. Leipzig. Repr. 1976, Hildesheim – New York Kattunen, K. 1997. India and the Hellenistic World. Helsinki

Kellens, I. 1974. Les noms-racines de l'Avesta, Wiesbaden

- 1984. Le verbe avestique, Wiesbaden
- 1991 Zoroastre et l'Avesta ancien. Paris
- 1995 Liste du verbe avertique Wiesbaden
- 2000, Essays on Zarathustra and Zoroastrianism. Translated and edited by P. O. Skjuervo, Costa Mesa

Kellens, J. and E. Pirart 1988, 1990, 1991, Les textes vieil-avestiques, 3 Parts, Wicsbaden

Kent, R. G. 1953. Old Persian. Grammar, Texts, Lexicon. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. New Haven Conn.

König, G. 2005. Zur Figur des "Wahrhaftigen Menschen" (mard ī ahlaw) in der zoroastrischen Literatur. In: Zeitschrift der Deutschen Morgenländischen Gesellschaft 155, 161-188

Kotwal, F. M. and J. W. Boyd 1991. A Persian Offering. The Yasna: A Zoroastrian High Liturgy. Paris

Lazard, G., Grenet, F., Lambertière, Ch. de 1984. Notes Bactriennes. In: Studia Iranica 13, 199-232

Liddell, H. G. and R. Scott 1940. A Greek-English Lexicon. Oxford. With a Supplement 1968. Repr. (9th edition) 1968

MacGregor, C. M. 1879. Narrative of a Journey through the Province of Khorassan and on the SW frontier of North Afghanistan in 1875. London

MacKenzie, D. N. 1971. A Concise Pahlavi Dictionary. London etc. Repr. 1986

Madan, D. M. 1911. The Complete Text of the Pahlavi Dinkard. 2 Parts. Bombay Mayrhofer, Manfred 1992, 1996. Etymologisches Wörterbuch des Altindoarischen (= EWAI)

- 1-2. Heidelberg
   2006, Einiges zu den Skythen, ihrer Sprache, ihrem Nachleben. Wien
- Modi, J. J. 1922. The Religious Ceremonies and Customs of the Parsees. Bombay

Molé, M. 1993. La légende de Zoroastre selon les textes Pehlevis. Paris

Narten, J. 1986. Der Yasna Haptayhäiti. Wiesbaden

Nöldeke, Th. 1879. Geschichte der Perser und Araber zur Zeit der Sasaniden: aus der arabischen Chronik des Tabari. Leyden. Repr. 1973, Graz

Nyberg, H. S. 1938. Die Religionen des alten Iran. Deutsch von H. H. Schneder. Leipzig. Repr. 1966, Osnabrück

Rackham, H. (ed.) 1945. Pliny. Natural History, with an English translation. Vol. IV. London – Cambridge Mass. Repr. 1968

Rosenfield, J. M. 1967. The Dynastic Arts of the Kushans. Berkeley - Los Angeles

Schlerath, B. 1968. Awesta-Wörterbuch. Vorarbeiten. 2. Wiesbaden

Schmitt, R. (ed.) 1989. Compendium Linguarum Iranicarum. Wiesbaden

1991. The Bisitun Inscriptions of Darius the Great. Old Persian Text. London

XIV

Select Literature

Sims-Williams, N. 1997. A Bactrian God. In: Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies, University of London 60, 336-338

2000, Bactrian Documents from Northern Afghanistan. 1. Legal and Economic Documents.
 Oxford

(ed.) 2002. Indo-Iranian Languages and Peoples. London

Sims-Williams, N. and J. Cribb 1996. A New Bactrian Inscription of Kanishka the Great. In:

Silk Road Art and Archaeology 4, 75-142

Tanabe, K. 1990. The Kushan Representation of Anemos/Oado and its Relevance to the Central

Asian and Far Eastern Wind Gods. In: Silk Road Art and Archaeology 1, 51-80
Tremblay, X. 2006. Le pseudo-githique. In: Proceedings of the 5th Conference of the Societas Iranologica Furoneea. 1, 233-281. Millians.

Wackernagel, J. 1954. Altindische Grammatik. II.2 von A. Debrunner. Göttingen

Walser, G. 1966. Die Völkerschaften auf den Reliefs von Persepolis. Historische Studien über den sogenannten Tributzug an der Apadanatreppe. Berlin

Zuehner, R. C. 1955. Zurvan. A Zoroastrian Dilemma. Oxford

#### Abbreviations

Λ.	Āfrīnagān(s)	impv.	imperative
abl.	ablative	ind.	indicative
acc.	accusative	inf	infinitive
act.	active	inj.	injunctive
adj.	adjective	instr.	instrumental
adv.	adverb	Ir.	Iranian
Aog.	Aogamadaēcā	Khot.	Khotanese
aor.	aorist	Khwar.	Khwarezmian
AV.	Atharvaveda	Lat.	Latin
Av.	Avestan	lit.	literally
Az.	Āfrīn-ī Zartuxsht	loc.	locative
Bactr.	Bactrian	m./masc	masculine
Bdh.	Bundahishn	Man.	Manichean
dat.	dative	med.	medium
dem.	demonstrative	Mir.	Middle Iranian
Dk.	Dēnkard	ModE.	Modern English
du.	dual	MP.	Middle Persian
E.	Erbedestän/Herbedestän	ms/mss	manuscript(s)
ed., edd.,	, eds. editor, edited, editors	N.	Nërangestän/Niranges
Engl.	English	n.	note
EWAI	Etymologisches Wörterbuch des	n./ntr.	neuter
	Altindoarischen. See Mayrhofer,	no.	number
	M.	nom.	nominative
F.	Frahang-ī Oīm	NP.	New Persian
f/fem.	feminine	Ny.	Nyāyish(s)
FGrHist	Fragmente der griechischen	OAv.	Old Avestan
P. 111	Historiker. See Jacoby, F.	OBactr.	Old Bactrian
FrW.	Fragment Westergaard	obj.	object
fut.	future	OEngl.	Old English
G	Gäh(s)	OIr.	Old Iranian
gen.	genitive	OP.	Old Persian
Germ.	German	opt.	optative
Goth.	Gothic	P.	Pursishnīhā
Gr.	Greek	pass.	passive
H.	Hadhökht Nask	perf.	perfect

XVI	Abbreviations

pers.	personal	subj.	subjunctive
Phl.	Pahlavi	s.v.	sub voce
PhIT.	Pahlavi translation	trsl.	translated
pl. plur.	plural	var.	variant
pres.	present	VD.	Vizīrkard ī Dēnīg
pron.	pronoun	Ved.Skt.	Vedic Sanskrit
ptcl.	particle	Vid.	Viděvdád
ptcpl.	participle	Visp.	Vispered
Pth.	Parthian	v.l.	varia lectio
Russ.	Russian	VN.	Vacthā Nask
RV.	Rigveda	voc.	vocative
S.	Sīrōza(s)	Vyt.	Vishtäsp Yasht
sg./sing.	singular	WT.	written
ŠGV	Shkand Gumānīg Vizār	Y.	Yasna
SK	Surkh Kotal	YAv.	Young Avestan
Skt.	Sanskrit	YH.	Yasna Haptanghāiti
SktV.	Sanskrit version of the PhIT.	Yt.	Yasht(s)
Sogd.	Sogdian	Zsp.	Zādspram

# A. The sociolinguistic background

#### 1. Iranians and Aryans

1.1. Spitanna Zuardhushra (zuazdistiza-) is regarded by his adherents and by most scholars as the prophet of the Mazdayasnian Religion (denn mazdayasnis), the national religion of pre-Islamie fram. Historical Iran was not confined to the Islamic Republic of Iran of our time, but it extended far beyond its boundaries, particularly including wide Central Asiatic regions still today speaking Iranian dialects or languages, in particular modern Afghanistan and Tadzhikistan, but also Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan whose national languages nowadays are Turkish iddions.

1.2. Etymologically, Iran (irān < "aryānām) means '(land) of the Aryans.' Yet in scholarly use the term Aryan, which also occurs in Sanskrit, is synonymous with the term Indo-Irania, denoting one main branch of the Indo-European peoples and languages. The reconstructed pre-form of the Iranian languages is called Proto-Iranian, that of the Aryan, or Indo-Iranian ones, Proto-Aryan. The term Indo-Aryan denotes the Indian languages of Aryan and, further back, of Indo-European origin, as contrasted with others among which the Dravidian languages spoken in the south of the Indian subcontinent are outstanding.</p>

1.3. In two of his Old Persian inscriptions found in Persepolis, Darius the Great (ruled 522-486 B.C.) presents himself as an 'Aryan of Aryan lineage' (ariya ariyaciça), and in the great Behistun/Bisutun inscription, the most famous of the epigraphical documents left behind by him, he also speaks of his own language calling it 'Aryan.'2 The Younger Avesta mentions 'the Aryan and the non-Aryan lands/peoples,'3 specifying them in the series airya- 'Aryan,' tüirya- 'Turanian,' sairima- 'Sarmatian,' saini- 'Sainyan,' dāhi-'Dahyan.'4 It is, though, doubtful to which extent this ethnographical tradition would be followed by scholars of our time who are inclined to classify at least part of the non-Arvans mentioned there as speakers of what we call Iranian languages.5 Especially problematic is the attribution of the Turanians, who count as opponents of the Aryans/ Iranians in the heroic tradition from the Young Avestan period onward, but who are given there typically Iranian names. In this connection attention is also drawn to Zarathushtra's mention of the 'praiseworthy relatives and descendants of Tūra son of Friva' in Y. 46.12 which apparently refers to the tribe of Kavi/Prince Vishtäspa, his sponsor, rather than to any other people. The term Aryan is neither found in Zarathushtra's Gäthäs nor in the other Old Avestan texts.6

Darius DNa 14-15, DSc 13-14, followed by Xerxes XPh 13, see R. G. Kent 1953, 137 f., 141 f., 151.

Darius DB 4,89, see Kent 1953, 130 ff., much more detailed R. Schmitt 1991, 71.

E.g., Yl. 19,56 airyanam daxyunam vs. Yl. 19,68 anairyd daighol, Yl. 18,2 anairyd daighdvo.
 Yl. 13,143-144 airyanam daxyunam, toiryanam daxyunam, sairimananam daxyunam, sairimananam, sairimanam, sairimanam, sairimananam, sairimanam, sairiman

daxiyunam, dahinam daxiyunam.
5 See R. N. Frye 1983, 59.

Y. 46.12 naptivačšú nafšuca turahya ... friyānahyā aojiyacšu.

#### 2. Zarathushtra and the Avesta

2.1. The Old Avestan texts, which form the core of the Yassa, the great rinal of the Avesta, are the most ancient and, at the same time, most body documents of the Mazdayasanan Religion. According to the later legendary tradition laid down in the Younger Avesta and the religious literature in Pahlavi, the ecclesiastic variant of Middle Persian of the Sasanian period, if was Zarathushira in person who dethroated the Daëvas (daéva-), the old gods inherited by the Irrainus from the predistorie Proto-Aryan, or Indo-Iranian, period, by declaring them to be devils. Inspired by a series of revelutions, he instead would have proclaimed the worship of God under the name Alura Mazda with Wise Iord, 'thus taking the historical step from archies uperstitions toward a spiritualism of high intellectual and ethical level, a step which was taken on the Indian side into quite another direction.

2.2. Neither Zarathushtra's time nor the place of his origin nor the geographical frame of his religious activities are familiar to us. The native tradition puts him in the year 9000 of a world-year of 12000 years, a religious chronology from which the fabulous theories of some Greek and Latin authors are derived and which betrays its Babylonian background. The statements of two historians of quite diverging historical periods, Xanthus the Lydian, who wrote in Greek (toward mid-5th cent. B.C.), and Biruni, the famous Arabian scholar (died about 1050 C.E.), must be taken more seriously, but they differ enormously. Whereas Xanthus, a specialist in matters of the Magians, the priest caste of the Northwest Iranian Medians, placed Zarathushtra in 600 years before Xerxes' expedition against Greece (destruction of the acropolis of Athens 480 B.C.),8 Biruni counted with 258 years before Alexander the Great (destruction of Persepolis 330 B.C.), apparently putting the prophet's birth in 300 before Alexander, hence hypercorrectly deducing the legendary 42 years of age of the prophet at his recention by his future sponsor Vishtāspa. The archaic character of the language of Zarathushtra's poetry and a certain parallelity between the general state of development of thought in the Gäthäs and in the latest texts of the Indian Rigveda (RV.)9 secm to justify Xanthus, but one cannot exclude the possibility that the language of the Gathas and their style were no more a living phenomenon at the prophet's time but rather a dead religious idiom comparable to medieval Latin

2.3. About the geographical frame we cannot say much more than that Zarathushtra must have spread his religious ideas in a region where camels were bred (3.3). The Avestan tradition, especially the geographical fragments in Yt. 19,1-8 and Vid. 1,1-20 of the Younger Avesta (H. Humbach and P. Ichaporia 1998, 63-80), points to the

northeastern and eastern regions of historical Iran. <sup>30</sup> Compared to this, very weak is our information about the tradition of the Mediam Magains who, hardly anybody doubts, were Mazdayssains as well, though it is not clear whether they adhered to the variant of Mazdainst taught by Zardatubarth. As a matter of fise, it seems that one part of the Magians was completely eliminated at the 'slaughter of the Magi (Cir. magophonia) directed by Darius at the suppression of the revolt of the Magian familiant (Cir. Peaddrect) in \$22 B.C., whereas the surviving rest was forced into conformity with the eastern tradition.

2.4. The legendary biography of Zarathushtra as described in the Pahlavi encyclopedia Denkard (Dk.) and in several minor Pahlavi texts is hardly of any independent biographical value, but simplified versions of it are most popular among the Parisi, the Indian Zoroustrians, and play a notable role in the picture they are drawing of their

Av. daéva-, OP. daiva- 'devil' from Proto-Aryan "daiva- 'god,' as preserved in Ved.Skt. devil- 'god,' which is of Indo-European origin, of, Lat. deus 'god,' druss 'divine.'

Xamthos FGirHist 765, F 92. See the detailed study of the subject in H. Humbach, Gäthås 1991, 1, 24-30, where the Greek figure y of the Istanhal manuscript was correctly read as '600,' but erroncously transcribed into Gr. hexèkonta (which would mean '60' instead of correct hexakosia '600'). This was without further consequence for the discussion of the date but gave rise to misleading criticism.

The 10th (and last) Book of the Rigreda was tentatively put by K. Hoffmann (p.c.) in the 10th per centuries B.C.

See also the discussion of the geographical information transmitted in the Younger Avesta in Humbach, Gāthās 1991, 1, 30-49. Ibid. 40-44 attention was drawn to the name of the village of Mozduran, situated close to the mountain pass from which the much frequented highway from Mashad to Sarakhs opens into the Turkmenian plain, cf. Mount Masdoranon in Ptolemy, Geography 6.5.1 (c. 150 C.E.) (see H. Humbach et al. 2002, 26, 67) and to the name of Baghbaghu on the lower Kashaf-Rūd not far from its mouth into the Tedzhen, described as a lost place by the British traveler C. M. MucGresor 1879, Mozdůršin and Baghbaghů both are religious names of pre-Islamic origin, which survived Islamization simply because their original meaning had been lost early. Mozdůrán < mazdonin < mazdahurina- < mazda-ahura-ana- is derived, by means of the very common suffix -an < -dna-, from the Median or Old Persian equivalent of the name of Ahura Muzda, which here appears in the inverted sequence of the two members otherwise known from the Old Avestan texts. Baghbaghü (Baybayü) « bay-bayün « baga-bagānām 'Lord of Lords' is a name of Ahura Mazdā as well, cf. OP, x5ava8/va x5ava8/vanam 'King of Kings,' as the Old Persian Great Kings styled themselves on their inscriptions, following the Semitic word order (in contrast with which the Sasanian Great Kines have the natural Iranian order sahan sah which is also reflected in YAV. danyanam danyo 'Danya of Danyas'). Whereas Mozdurin shows the standard Middle and New Iranian form of the final -an, this, in the case of Baghbaghū, developed into the -a of the dialect of the region, a development which is not at all surprising in view of the isolated situation of the place. In 1991 loc, cit, we connected the etymological analysis of the two place names, each of which is of high historical relevance, with the problem of Zarathushtra's homeland, but they rather mark the northeastern boundary of Cyrus the Great's (ruled 559-530 B.C.) empire. Mozdürän may be the place from which the Great King started his expedition against the Massagetes in which he was killed in battle

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Noc K. Hoffmann, Aufrätze 2, 1992, 736-746. In Humbach, Gübbla 1991, 1, 45 we followed Heffmann suggesting that the dispute between eastern and western traditions in mirrored in some enigmatic way by the diverging judgment on the famous Median city of Raghit (OP. nops.) VAv. nept-right, Ger. Raugh, andear Rey to the sound of Telena, which was an important religious control, and control of the sound of Telena, which was an important religious control, and the superior of the sound of the

prophet and his religion; in Mumbai one may even come across a popular version arranged in the style of comics and meant for teaching children. 12

- 2.5. Notwithstanding this lack of substantial and detailed information, Zarathushtra is the best-known figure of the early history of the Iranians, since all these handicaps are outweighed by the preservation of his religious songs, the Old Avestan Gathis (gaths). Their reduction in the early Sasanian period is apparently based upon exclusively oral tradition, and it is this Iradition owing to which Zarathushtar has survived as a man of flesh and blood until our time, unimpaired by the parallel development of the religious literature, which made of Zarathushtarta a legendary figure as early as in the Young Avestan period.
- 2.6. Yet, even the Young Avestan tradition sometimes provides us with information that carries on a reliable older tradition, completing to a certain extent the information about Zarathushtra we can obtain from his Gathas. Thus the prophet calls himself a Zaotar (zaotar) in Gathib Y. 33.6, from which scholars usualty conclude that the term in question denotes his vocation. However, from Young Avestan Visp. 3,7 we learn that the term in question denotes that member of the priest class of a community the Adhravars distribution. The control of the priest of the priest of the priest of the sub-priests at a given excensor. The number of six may be due to post-Zarathushtrian development, but the conclusion is inevitable that Zarathushtra was an Athravan who composed Gäthis to be rectled in the ritual carried out by himself.<sup>14</sup>
- 2.7. The inflexion of YAv. 80raun: "priest" with its strange alternation between this strong stem and the weak stem 30urum- is unparalleled and obscure, but at least the formal agreement of the weak stem with YedSst. 4tharvam- a priest who has to do with fire and sornal is undensible and points to 83vavan-83vurum- being the East Iranian pendant of the Median term mague. "Magian."

# 3. Zarathushtra and Zoroaster

3.1, Following the Latin form Zorosater of his name, Zurathushtra is also called Zorosater in English, and similarly in other modern languages, his admitsents are named Zorosaterians, his religion Zorosatrianism or Zorosatrianism to Torosatrianism, to religion Zorosatrianism or Zorosatrianism, proposite vaperfer to use the uncorrect of this when speaking of the proposite vaperfer to use the uncorrect of the instance. As for the religion preached by him we follow H. S. Nyberg 1938/1966, using this term Zorosatrianism\* for its later the term Zorosatrianism\* for its later development, emphasizing the necessity of not persisting in a static view but of taking the historical development.

3.2. Lat. Zoroaster is borrowed from Gr. Zoroastres, which would mean 'to whom the stars are pure/clear,' a forced and fanciful etymological distortion of the true name of Zarathushtra by Greek philosophers. "They considered the ancient sage an astronomer and astrologer, which may be due to the fact that they attributed to him the creation of the Maclaysation calendor of the Vonueper Avesta (19.1).

3.3. Actually, Zaruthushur's name is a compound with Av. actual variant search among representation of the memory processing spirited cannels. "Bit is of a similar type as the name of his main sponsor Karu'l Prince Vishtlapa, which is a compound with agara-hore," meaning for feetical dorse's ("Mélasga-« vitia-zapa-), both names pertaining to racing. The prodilection for proper names in tiltra- and aspa- as well as the namerous Gäthier references to the cow, which partly has a material, partly a mystic notion, points to a society in which breeding cannels, horses, cattle, and sheep was the main factor of asbistience." The exchange of good was performed in this society by bartering, as is most manifest in Y. 44,18 and 46,19 where the sacrificial fee demanded by Zaruthushtra's in indicated in lead of animals.

#### 4. Mazdayasnians and Zarathushtrians

4.1. Apart from the general expression agivan: 'truthfal' (22) no specific designation of Zarathushtra's adherents is found in the Gäthäs. In the Younger Avesta they call themselves Macdaysanians (mazziayasua), i.e., 'worshipers of (Altura) Mazziā. More explicit is mazziayasua zaratoistrayo which originally must have meant 'Mazziayasnians of Zarathushtrain observance' with 'Zarathushtrain' denoting a differential specifica of the genus proximum 'Mazziayasnian,' a differentiation which was blurred further on, 'Zarathushtrain' being reinterpreted as a tautology of 'Mazziayasmian.' The phrase is elaborated in Y. 12,1, the commencement of the 'Profession of Faith' transmitted in archaized Young Avestan dialect (6.5), where the believer says of himself fravantarian of Zarathushtrian observance, opponent of the Daèvas/devils, (and) following the doctrine of the AhruraLord.'

4.2. In reference to the heliefs, practices, and social rules of the Mazdayasnisms one speaks of 'Mazdayasnism,' a convenient modern simplification of which is 'Mazdains'. The name of the Mazdayasnian Religion (data mazdayasnia), which is not attested before the Younger Avesta, is sometimes extended to 'the Good Mazdayasnian Religion' (vaguhti datenn mazdayasnian) or 'the Mazdayasnian Religion devoted to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> For the Greek and Roman sources see A. V. Jackson 1898/1965; the Pahlavi texts dealing with the Zarathushtra legend are collected and translated by M. Molé 1993.

The Pahlavi sources on the history of the Avesta are presented in chronological order in Humbach, Gäthäs 1991, 1, 49-55.

The true meaning of Av. zaotar is preserved in Phl. zat, the designation of the officiating priest of the Zorosatrian ritual of our time in which the number of the six sub-priests has been reduced to one, the rispig.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> In its only occurrence listed in H. G. Liddell and R. Scott's Greek-English Lexicon 1940/1968, zöros 'pure, clear' is said of unmixed wine but neither of celestial bodies nor of animals.

The formation of zara9-n8tra- is of the same type as that of hareat\_asya-, name of a sub-group of Zarathushtra's relatives mentioned in Y. 46,15 hairat\_asya = \_spitamfagho and Y. 53,3 pouncist8 hairat\_aspana. The spelling zara8u8tra-instead of expected 'zarat\_u8tra-is of orthographic rather than phonetic nature. For the sandth 3:1 et. ci98 for cift in Y. 29,4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See the descending climax usina- 'camel,' aspa- 'horse,' gav- 'head of cattle, cow,' pasu- 'sheep' in Young Avestan Vid. 9,37-38.

Ahura/Lord and following the Zarathushtrian observance (daēnā māzdayasniš āhūiriš zara 9uštrīš). 18

#### 5. Zarathushtra the prophet

5.1. The picture of Zanathusttur's decisive role in the religious history as drawn by his carlier legendary biography is summarized in Young Actsam Yt. 13.59. acand8x80-. painoity 5x65 actsa 6x650 disart a639d stond giour addit dreve fraccauda muzedaystand zanadbatr8 videovo ahana faka67 canathusthra who was the first in the ouseous/material world who praised truth, abused/rejected the Dabevsadevils, and professed to be a Mazdaysanian of Zarathusthra observance..." This somewhat tilogical picture could be understood as reproducing the content of the three Galdai statures Y. 32,3-5, attributing to them an autobiographical character. In these three stanzas, however, Zarathushtra mockingly addresses the Dabevsadevils allogether (3.2. daeva tysafdab) with a derogatory parody of a hymn similar to a Vedic hymn to all Devas/gods (visive devdh). They reflect the typical situation of the Mazdaysanian priest at any Mazdaysanian offering; it is his ritual duty to prevent the Daèvas/devils lottering around the sacrifice from getting hold of the sacrificial meal which is prepared for Ahum Mazdi.

5.2. From our point of view, which is admittedly that of outsiders, Zanthushtra was not necessarily the very founder of the Mazdayasmian Religion (cf. 2.3), but he certainly was its most successful propagator. As a matter of fact, the rise of Mazdaism may have been the result of a development of new religious ideas in parts of the Iranian priesthood some of the roots of which can be traced back to the Proto-Aryan period. Yet, of this development Zarathushtra is the only winness whose name and work have come down to us. This would not have been possible without the support offered him by his spance (KazyPrince Vishlaigas), who helped him crown an apparently general trend toward spiritualism developed in certain lines of tradition of the contemporary Iranian priesthood.

#### 6. The Avesta

6.1. The main source of the religion preached by Zarathushtra and of its early development is the Avesta, the Sacred Book of the Zorosstrians. This collection of texts, which must still have been complete in medieval times, has come down to us only fragmentarily, the priestly tradition apparently attaching real significance but to the tritual texts. All our annumeripts are desented from a lost manuscript, or from a bundle of such, of the 9<sup>th</sup> century (called subarchetype or hyparchetype) the archetype of which was the official manuscript of the Sasanian reduction of the Avesta. The famous

critical edition of most of the preserved Avesta texts published in form of a missal by K. F. Geldner 1886-96 includes:

- Yasna 'Sacrifice' (Y.), the great liturgy
   Vispered (Visp.), supplements to the Yasna
- Videvdad (Vid.) the Law against the Daevas. (wrongly "Vendidial"), the only completely preserved out of the 21 books ('Nasks') of the Avestan canon extracts of which are transmitted in the Publish' Denkard
  - 4. Khorde Avesta 'Small Avesta,' containing
  - a. the Niyāyishs (Ny.) and the Gähs (G.), two groups of prayers for the use of lay people
- b. the Sirōzas (S.), two extensive lists of the names of the 30 days of each month of the Zuroastrian calendar (19.1)
  - c, the Āfrīnagāns (A.), a collection of benedictions
- d. the Yashts (YL), texts of the popular religion of the Young Avestan period, mostly of metrical structure. The subjects of the Yashts are far from Zarathushtra's viewpoint but of high relevance for the early history of the Mazdaysanian Religion.
- 6.1.1. Each of the Yashts is dedicated to a single deity after whom most of them are named. Outstanding are:

Yasht 5 to Aradvī Sūrā Anāhitā, the female deity of the rivers (Phl. Ardwīsūr Yasht)

Yasht 8 to Tishtriya, the star Sirius (Phl. Tishtar Yasht)

Yasht 9 to Druväspä, the female guardian of the horses (Phl. Druwäsp Yasht)

Yasht 10 to Mithra, the guardian of treaties (Phl. Mihr Yasht)
Yasht 12 to Rashnu, the guardian of straightness and sureness (Phl. Rashn Yasht)

Yasht 13 to the Fravashis, the female protective spirits of the truthful (Phl. Frawardin Yasht)

Yasht 13 to the Fravashis, the temale protective spirits of the truthful (Phi. Fravashin Yasht 14 to Vorothraghna, the deity of victoriousness (Phi. Bahrām Yasht)

Yasht 15 to Vayu, the deity of the wind and the atmosphere (Phl. Rām Yasht)

Yasht 17 to Ashi, the female deity of reward (Phl. Ard Yasht) Yasht 19 to Khwarnah, the Royal Glory (but Phl. Zamyād Yasht)

The Yashts dedicated to Ilaoma, the deified ritual drink (Phl. Höm Yasht), and to Sraosha, the deity of hearing/obedience (Phl. Srösh Yasht), do not make part of the Yasht collection but have been transferred by the Sasanian redaction into the Yasna (Y. 9-11 and Y. 57, resp.) in the respective form available at that time.

# 6.1.2. Minor texts not found in Geldner's edition are:

1. Nitrangentian/Nitrangentian (N.) 2. Erbedestian/Térbedestiai (E.) 3. Aogamadacea (Aog.) 4. Pernishaltia (P.) 5. Bahdkish Nask (H.) 6. Afrins Z-tarksh (Az.) 7. Vishishy Yasht (Vyl.) according to X. Tremblary (p.c.) a genuine text of which, however, only the first line of each short section is preserved in the extra manuscripts. F. Fragment Bartholeure (FPB.) Fragment Darmosteric (FPD.) Fragment Geldner (FrG.), Fragment Westergaard (FW.), 9. A precious document of list medical Pairs is deblarship in the Avesta glossary Frahmage, Tom (F.). Spurious are Vaechia Nask (VN.) and Vizirkard T Désig (VD., not to be confounded with the Palikeiv iets of the same name.)

Whereas the names of the Sasanian Great Kings are provided on their inscriptions with the attribute 'Mazdayasnian' (MP. mazdésn), this does not appear on the inscriptions of their early predecessors, the Achaemenida. It is just the personal name mazdayasna on one of the Elamite clay tablets from Personolis which prives account of the existence of the term in question in ancient Persia.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Cf. the seminal study on the Sasanian archetype of the Avesta by K. Hoffmann and J. Narten 1989. Highly sophisticated considerations on the history of the Avesta text are brought forward by X.

- 6.2. The language of the Avesta is called Avestan or Avestic. Avestan is clearly an OM Iranian language, but reither a successor nor even a clear relative of it can be made out on the map of the Middle and New Iranian languages and dialects. Seen from the phonological point of view, it looks least trainian rather than West Iranian (on the agreement of the word-final Beetr. σ with Ax. σ sec 85.11b, but on the whole its profile is soluted, which may have been the result of a compromise made by the Susmian reduction between the varying phonetic realization of the holy texts by speakers of different regional orients.
- 6.3. The Avesta texts are composed in two slightly diverging dialects, Old Avestan and Young Avestan. They differ in a few phonological details part of which cannot be of merely chronological nature, which suggests that Young Avestan is no direct descendant of Old Avestan but, so to speak, a nephew of it. Greater significance than to phonology, though, must be attached to the divergence between the archaic morphology and morpho-syntax of the Old Avestan verb, which are both much closer to those of Vedic Sanskrit than to those of their Young Avestan development. The problem culminates in the analysis and the translation of the forms of the so-called injunctive such as barat, a 3rd sing, of root bar 'bear': whereas in Young Avestan it is a preterite ('he/she bore'), it is obviously used in extra-temporal meaning in Old Avestan ('he/she bears/bore/will bear'). For the author of the Gathas this extra-temporality is a most suitable means of referring to actions which at the same time involve multiple realms of reality by expressing himself in a deliberately ambiguous and even mystical way.<sup>20</sup> Passages which are traditionally thought to relate to the primal creation may actually refer to one or more events in the present life of a single person and of that of the community as well, preferably to the sacrifice being performed or to be performed by the prophet.
- 6.4. The Old Avestan texts consist of:
- the Gäthäs of Zarathushtra (Y. 28-34, 43-51, 53)
- the prose text Yasna Haptanghäiti (haptanhäiti-) 'Yasna of Seven Chapters' (Y. 35-41), here quoted as YH, 35-41 (7.5)
- the two opening stanzas Yathā Ahū Vairiyō (ya9ā ahū vairiyō) (Y. 27,13) and Asham Vohu (ašam vohū) (Y. 27,14)
- the concluding stanza A Airyamā Ishiyō (ā airyāmā Biyo) (Y. 54.1)

The three stanzas Y. 27,13.14 and Y. 54,1 and the stanza Yenghê Hātām (yeijhê hātam) (Y. 27,15) as well (6.5) are called prayers by the Zoroastrians, a use of the term 'prayer' which is unfamiliar to use Westerners; in our view the opening stanzas are mantras or meditation formulas whereas in the concluding one people are invited to participate in

the work of salvation undertaken by Zarathushtra's male and female adherents, whatever that might mean.

6.5. The Yenghé Hátim stanza (Y. 27,15) was composed in the Young Avestan dialect, but its next was secondarily archited by kenghering the final vowers.<sup>23</sup> a procedure which was also applied to YII. 42, the nun-original eighth chapter of the Yassan Haptamphäliti. It "Yassan of Seven Chapters," further to Y. 12, the "Profession of Fairli (4.1), and to some other Young Avestan passages. The result of the procedure we call "archaized Young Avestan" passages.

# 7. The Gāthās

7.1. The songs of the Gäthäs are of stanzaic structure. Their meters are syllabic without regard of syllable quantity; occasionally we find verses having an irregular number of syllables with certain phrases or even clauses at least partly borrowed from unknown sources.<sup>22</sup> The collection of the Gäthäs (ga8a) consists of 17 single songs each of which covers one chapter (Av. bairi. Phi. Jad. Nr. ha) of the Yasna; according to their five respective meters they are arranged in five Gäthäs:<sup>53</sup>

- Ahunavaiti Gäthä (alunavaiti-), seven songs, Y. 28-34 (100 stanzas of 3 lines of mostly 7 + 8/9/10 syllables each)
- Ushtavaitī Gāthā (ustavaitī-), four songs, Y. 43-46 (56 stanzas of 5 lines of mostly 4 + 7 syllables each)
   Soontāmainvush Gāthā (speqtā.mainva-), four songs, Y. 47-50 (41 stanzas of mostly 4
- Spontamanyush Gatha (sponta.manyu-), tour songs, 1. 47-30 (41 stanzas of mostly 4+7 syllables each)
- Vohukhshathrä Gäthä (vohuxsa8ra-), one song, Y. 51 (22 stanzas of 3 lines of mostly 7 + 7 syllables each). – Y. 52 does not belong to the Gäthä collection.
- Vahishtöishish Gäthä (vahištöišti-), one song, Y. 53 (9 stanzas of unclear metrical structure)
- 7.2. The 16 holy songs of the first four Gäthäs give an impression of being an integrated whole which either was conceived of as such by their author or established by a later redscine. Yet, among them, Y. 29 and Y. 47 are outstanding, the former by its enigmatic style, the latter by its highly developed compositional technique; it must have been composed after a model which was more modern and whose technique was quite different from the associative one of the other Gäthä songs (17.9).
- 7.3. While all the sixteen songs of the first four Gäthäs are composed for being recited in official ecromonies, the seventeenth, Y. 53, the only song of the fifth Gäthä, is said to be connected with a private event, the marriage of Pouruchista [pouru.cista-).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> The Verlic Standard apoct of the impractive problem was thoroughly studied by K. Hoffmann 1967, but without drawing consequences for the interpretation of the Gildala. The divergency between the merphocyntes of the Old According precise and that of its Young According replace is not appropriately also most of the Old According to the Conference of the Old According to the Conference of the Old According to the Old Acc

Proto-Aryan \*yasya (Ved.Skt. ydsya) < OAv. yellyd (with the lengthening of the final vowel typical of Old Avestan) > YAv. yeight, but archaized YAv. yeight with artificial lengthening of the final -c.

Thus the half-verse Y. 28.6 ya datibitvatio dvaetal taurvayama counts 10 syllables. To restore the number of 9 syllables expected by them, Gäthä scholars are inclined to correct taurvayama to fauuvanan, not regarding the fact that the verbal stem taurvaya- (not taurva-1) is well-attested in related Young Avestan phrases.

<sup>23</sup> In the scholarly literature the term 'Gäthä' is often misused to denote one single song.

Zarathushtra's youngest daughter. If the Pahlavi translation of Y. 53,4 is right, the bridegroom was Dsjämtspa/Jämäspa mentioned three times elsewhere in the Githstot, strangely enough, his name is lacking here. This fact suggests that portions of the song, which in several decitals is also less exactly transmitted than the others, were lost as cardy as in the substrictive [6.0] or even erafter.

7.4. In the Gallaks Zarathushtra's name occurs only twice as that of the speaker ("Umc. Zarathushtra' Y. 4.8., 46.19 and only once as that of the addressed person ("O Zarathushtra' Y. 46.14), but twelve times as that of a third person ("be, Zarathushtra' Y. 28.6, 29.8, 33.14, 34.3), 16.46, 13, 49.12, 50.6, 51.11, 51.12, 51.15, 53.1, 53.3). The convershelming majority of instances as a third person was recently brought forward as an argument against Zarathushtra's authorship of the Gallaks, which, however, is just an argument of surface philology erronously introded by its authors to be of critical relevance. Mentioning himself as a third person is but a figure of speech deliberately applied by the speaker, and so is his self-address in Y. 46,14.3" with regard to the expected reward, it may be the natural desire of a worshiper to not only be heard by the deity, but to also be clearly identified by him/her.

7.5. The seven original chapters of the prose text Yasan Haptanghäii (6.5) consist of invocations and echerations of the deficies; they are pronounced by a group of priests in the 1" person plural present tense of the indicative which, in contrast with the extratempont injunctive frequent in the Ghäsia (6.3), comphasizes the "here and now." It is tempting to attribute the authorship of these prayers to Zarathushtra himself and his subpriests, but in this case the divergence between the names of the six most prominent delities attached to Ahura Mazzli as listed in YH. 37,4/5 and those mentioned in Y. 47,1 of the Ghäbia is in want of explanation (17.10). Be that as it may be, the atyle of the prose of the Yasan Haptanghäii is, by nature, much more perspicuous than that of the Ghäbias and, therefore, of notable help in analyzing certain deallis of therefore, of notable help in analyzing certain deallis of the Ghäbias and, therefore, of notable help in analyzing certain deallis of the Ghäbias and, therefore, of notable help in analyzing certain deallis of the

# 8. Languages

8.1. Avestan is different from Old Persian, the ancient language of Pärs 'Persis' (Arabized Färs) attested in the cuneiform inscriptions of the Achaemenids, and certainly also from Median, of which only very modest traces have come down to us in non-Median tradition. Old Persian is the pre-form of Middle Persian, which flourished in the Sasamian and carry Islamic periods and which is attested by the inscriptions of the

Sasanian Great Kings, by a rich secondary Zoroastrian literature, and furthermore by part of the Manichean scriptures discovered in Xinjiang (Sinkiang, Chinese Turkestan). Castomarily the inscriptional and Zoroastrian variants of Middle Persian are called Pahlavi, a term which, strietly speaking, denotes the difficult script in which they are written as contracted with that of the Manichean texts, which are laid down in a variant of the Syrian script (9-4). Rarely used, but less ambiguous, are the terms Inscriptional Pahlavi on the other hand.

8.2. Well-attested Middle Iranian languages/dialects other than Middle Persian are:

 Parthian, the official language of the Arsacid rulers whose first residence was established at Nisa near Ashkhabad (South Turkmenistan)
 Choresmian/Khwarzemian in Chorasmia/Khwarzem (Uzbekistan) at the lowest stretches

of the Oxus/Amu Darya and its influx into Lake Aral
3. Sogdian in ancient Sogdiana (Uzbekistan) with the famous citics of Samarkand and

 Sogdian in ancient Sogdiana (Uzbekistan) with the famous cities of Samarkand and Bukhara
 Bactrian in ancient Bactriana (North Afghanistan between Hindukush and Oxus/Amu

Darya) with offshoots to the north of the river in Tadzhikistan

5. Khotanese, the language of the ancient kingdom of Khotan, and the weakly attested

Tumshuqese from Tumshuq, both in Xinjiang (Sinkiang, Chinese Turkestan)

From the dialectological point of view, Persian counts as South West Iranian, Parthian (and Median as well) as North West Iranian, the rest as East Iranian. 26

#### 9. Scripts

9.1. Most of the Achaemenid cuneiform inscriptions are trilingual, Old Persian, Babylonian, and Elamite. So is the Darius inscription of Behistum/Hisutum the decipherment of whose Old Persian text opened the door to its Babylonian and Elamite versions and, in further consequence, to the decoding of the monuments of all the other cuneiform scripts. Yet, unlike that of Babylonian and Elamite, the use of Old Persian was confined to monumental epigraphy, the Old Persian script being invented by personal order of Darius for this particular purpose. "In contrast with his, the language of the imperial channels. Some fragments of an Aramaic wrision of the Behistum inscription officially sent abroad were discovered among the numerous Aramaic documents found in the remains of the Jewish millitary colony of the 6<sup>th</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> centuries B.C. on Elephantine Island, sinuated at the first esturact of the Nike at the border between Egypt and Nubis.

9.2. Imperial Aramaic is the mother of the national scripts of the Iranians of the Middle Iranian period, among which Middle Persian Pahlavi with its inscriptional and book variants (8.1) is outstanding. Its numerous Aramaic spellings are no borrowings but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See Humbach, Gäthüs 1991, 2. 238, 243.

See transform, contract and seed of the contract in V. 46.14 across-bleid actor depth arm 20°C Variability, who is your tradital halfy? in merely a spikise vasion of the reference by the populor to binned? as a third person in V. 31.11 & arm 200 aprimant zono-bleids in month? which gentlemen is an ally of Spiama Zamulonis?" The differences between the two is hist. Whereas in V. 4.64 the expected praise of the prophet's sponsors Vishtspa (af you have visitage) gainly immediately associated the expected praise of the prophet's sponsors White in 6 flought in revoked in V.3.11.11 Et you be mention of a niggrad denoted as sudjoine points? (61.12), by this restantation the contract of the prophet of the prop

See the comprehensive description in R. Schmitt 1989. On Herodotus's (until 431 B.C.) Scythians as the speakers of a fourth Old Iranian language most fragmentarily known to us see M. Mayrhofer 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Some smaller inscriptions bearing the names of Darius's predecessors Arianamnes, Arsames, and Cyrus are of later origin.

heterographs which are to be read with drost Plan Bland Fall Bland Bland Pland Bland Blan

9.3. YHWWN is the heterograph for the Iranian verbal root bā 'be,' YHWWNtu' stands for the infinitive būdan 'to be,' YHWWNtu for the 3<sup>rd</sup> person sing, bawed 'he is,'

YHWWNd for the 3<sup>rd</sup> person plur. bawend 'they are,'
YHWWNt' for the past participle/verbal adjective būd 'been.'

The orthography of the endings - In' (< -lamit), - et (< -systi), - d simplified for - end (< -systi) must have been fixed at a time when OP, - d which was still preserved after vowel, had already developed to d after n, thus giving account of some trait of Late Old Persian or Early Middle Persian phonology otherwise not accessible to us. It is evident that not all such orthographical rules were introduced at the very same time, but as a whole they represent early predecessors of the respective Middle Persian forms of the Sasmian period.

9.4. In Pahlavi writing the nature of the Middle Persian language is not only disguised by the Anamale heterographs but also by the polyphony of certain of its characters. Thus the Interpretational Pahlavi the three characters w, r, O are expressed by one and the same character (similar to our figure 2°, in Book Pahlavi even the four w, r, O, are are presented by just a vertical stroke (I) which is furthermore used as final stroke of many words (then transliterated as "); the rue phonological structure of the underlying Middle Persian elements is to be reconstructed from the respective forms in which they appear in the Middle Persian Manichems criptures. Instead of Pah JITHWWNi, 'JIHWWNi,' YIHWWNi' these write bwdn. bwyd. bwynd, bwd, i.e., budan, bawed, bawend, bud.

9.5. Armanic heterography is attested in inscriptional Parthian too. The differences between the Middle Persian and the Parthian spellings can be easily made out on the Synoptic Tables in part 2 of the edition of the bilingual inscription of Paikuli which recounts the history of the accession of the Great Kipg Narsch (29.2 Ceb.) 28 more traces of heterography are found in Sogdian, weakly attested is heterographic Khwaerzenion, the main source of this language originating from the Islamic period and, therefore, being written in Arabic script. The Bactrian inscriptions and documents are written in the Bactrian variant of the Greek script (21.13, 44.2–50.28) The script of the Khotanese and

9.6. To the Indian Emperor Aśoka, who, in the mid of the 3<sup>rd</sup> century B.C., took possession of what is today Afghanistan south of the Hindukush, we owe several interceptions apparently written in the style of the previously Selected provincial chancellery, inscriptions which at first glance look Aramaic but which actually show a partly wild state of transition from Imperial Aramaic to be therographical Iranian.<sup>21</sup>

9.7. The Avesta script is a highly differentiated phonetic script whose single characters are derived by the authors of the Sasanian archetype from the Pallalus' script with the purpose of most exactly rendering the details of the correct pronunciation of the holy tests. In the 9<sup>th</sup> century subarchetype of our Avesta manuscripts (6.1), some of the graphical differentiations were abandoned such as that between 3 (c. s) and 3 (c. hr < r1) which are indiscriminately used also in Geldner's edition, except for the central term sigh-truth's erafter, which is always correctly written with §<sup>2th</sup>

9.8. The pointed liturgical elecution of the Old Avestan texts not only resulted in the lengthening of all final vowels, which often enough impedes the correct analysis of grammatical endings, but also in the frequent insertion of the parasitic vowed als as in OAv. 5/ao/8na-\*action' (more originally 5/ao/8na- in Y. 27.13), which according to its meter in the original text was a solytable as YAV. 5/ao/8na-

# 10. The Pahlavi translation of the Gäthäs and its Sanskrit version

10.1. The majority of the Avesta texts are provided with a word-by-word translation into Pahlari which in the manuscripts alternates with the Avestan original section by section or, as in the Gütlais, stanza by stanza. The Pahlavi translation, which is supplied with numerous Pahlavi glosses, was produced in the late medieval period. As for the Galais, the priestly tradition seems to have already lost reliable information on their details at a much earlier time, in consequence of which their Pahlavi translation as a whole shows a deplorable lack of acquaintance with the fundamental perceptistics of a scholarly approach and it is seldom really useful as it is, for once, in the case of the Gathie reference to Yima (13.2). In the general picture drawn by its sunders the Gathas, these most holy texts, have become not much more than a rather banal admonition to be a good and pious person in order to get qualified for a happy afterlife.

10.2. A literal version of the Pahlavi translation of the G\(\tilde{a}\) this and the other ritual texts into an extremely non-classical Sanskrit was produced by the famous medicarl Paris scholar Neriosangh supported by his less qualified nephew Ormazdyar. Taking into account the incompetence of the Pahlavi translators, one has to even expect less from the Sanskrit version of the G\(\tilde{a}\) this to decisional both this highly informative. Thus

The Aramaic heterographs are always transliterated with capitals. The rendering of the Aramaic characters "Alep (?), Ilie (h), "Ayin (?) with A, E, O follows the highly sophisticated system of transliteration of Pahlavi introduced by D. N. MacKenzie 1971/1986.
 See H. Humbach and P. O. Skjerve 1978, 1980, 1983.

Manichean documents are not only available in Middle Persian, but also in Parthian, Sogdian and one

See H. Humbach 1969, 1976.
 For details see K. Hoffmann and J. Narton 1989, but see also 35.2 on assersso with n. 137 on the Bactrian date many askir, to gold of the Tochs inscription ITSB.

Tumshuqese documents is Central Asiatic Brāhmī, i.e., the Central Asiatic variant of that Indian script from which the modern Devanāgarī derives.

our rendering of the name of Ahura Mazdā (Phl. Ohrmazd) as 'Wise Lord' is based on Neriosangh's mahājāānin svāmin 'Lord of Great Knowledge.'

# 11. Yasna 29.7 with Pahlavi translation and its Sanskrit version

11.1. To exemplify the nature of the Pahlavi translation of the Gathas, we select Avestam V. 29.7, one startz of the extremely mystical "complaint of the coay" contrasting it with its Old Avestam text, adding the Pahlavi glosses in square brackets and Neriosangh's Sanskrit version of the whole. The English translations given here as well as clesswhere necessarily diverge from those in our text edition (Part B) insuranch as they follow as closely as possible the original word order which is partly arranged in the appositional style typical of the Gathais.

# 11.2.1. Y. 29.7a Av. tām āzūtōiš ahurō / ma@rəm tašat ašā hazaošō

'that mantra (acc.) implying the fat the Lord fashioned in harmony with Truth'

PhIT. an i ubzönig fpad mänsr ohtmazd ö öy täšid / kē pad ahlayih hamdöšišnih [kū an mizd i az mänst pavda e ö öv dəliēnd kē kār ud kirbag kunēd]

the beneficent mantra (acc.) Ohrmazd fashioned for that one who (is) in harmony with Truth [i.e., that reward (acc.) which (is) manifest from the mantra, they(!) grant to that one who performs meritorious work[13]

SktV, tot mahattamatvany svimi minthriyam aghatayat / posyyens saha samghatiisya [kila tanp prasadany yang avistatiskamphhavam (sonsai dadan yena kitayam punyunce kitam asto] 'by the mantra the Lord has assigned this super-geratures / to that (one who is) connected with Punya (= religious meni) [i.e., He has granted/assigned the favor resulting from the wordness of the Avesta to that one by whom meritorius work has been performed]'

# 11.2.2. Y. 29.7b Av. mazdá gavői xšvídomcá / hvő urušaěibvő spantő sásnayá

'(the Lord fashioned that mantra) for the cow, and (He,) the Wise One, (fashioned) the milk for the emaciated, He (who is) beneficent by his teaching'

PhiT. ohrmazd göspand waxšened [kū-š bē abzāyēnēd] / o xwardārān [kū pad paymān xwarēd] i oy abzonīg [ohrmazd] hammöxt [pad sēmag-masāy ud bāzā-masay]

'Ohrmazd makes the cow grow [i.e., he increases (her)] / for her eaters ["cat moderately"] the Beneficent One [Ohrmazd] taught ["(the side-dish being) as much as a lapful and an armful!"]." SktV. mahájnáni gopasún vikásayati / bhoktrbhyo mahattan susiksitebhyah [kila yaih sīnah masāe bājācya musāe kriyājapayajūavidheḥ mahattā āšiksitā aste]

the Wise Lord apportions the sacrificial animals / to the eaters, (defining) the quantity (to be reserved) for the well-instructed ones [i.e., (the words) "as much as a lap (and) as much as an armful" with which the quantity of the remoneration (due) for the performance of the muttering of the (pertinent) prayers has been defined).

# 11.2.3. Y. 29,7c Av. kaste vohů manayhá / y5 i dáyát ssavá marstaěibyô

whom do you have through good thought? who would make them available to the mortals?" PhIT. Ke to e wahman [kh ēd i-t oh anayed] / ke pad ān-ī harw do [abastāg ud zand] dahan dahed ösmudārah [herbadāra].

'whom do you have, O Wahman, (i.e., one who would bring you hither) / who, by those two [Avesta and commentary], will grant mouth to the recounting ones (the herbods/teachers)? his SktV. kaste uttammananh / yo dvitayam dadatti mukhena adhyayanakarebhyah [kila yo dvitayam avista/sista/tahaca vidyatribibyo jisapayati]

'whom do you have, O Best Thought, / who grants the two to those who, with their mouth, perform religious studies [i.e., he who, for those aspiring to knowledge, teaches the two, (the text of) the Avesta and its commentary]?

#### 12. The role of Vedic Sanskrit

12.1. In our time the role of Neriosangh's Sanskrit version of the Pablavi translation of the Gilbiths has become marginal, although it came to be doubted that it imparts some, occasionally even precious, insight into the interpretation of the Pablavi translation in the late medieval period (10.2). Modern philology is, though, focused on elucidating the philological and historical problems of the very small corpus of the Avesta, particularly of that of the Gilbita, by more or loss systematically adducing corresponding phenomera found in Vedic Sanskrit texts, especially in the Rigveda, a collection of more than thousand lymns.

12.2. In the above translation of Y. 29.7 a number of lexical questions are resolved by comparison with their etymological equivalents found in Vedic Sunshari. Comparison may also include wordings such as the syntagms mg/scm tast 'fashion a mantra (like a piece of wood)' which agrees with VedSLt methration also of the same meaning, thus showing that we are confronted in the Gäthis with a very archaic mode of expressing shartar ideas. Coessionally, discovering a corresponding Vedic syntagma is even the only means available of analyzing correctly a Gäthia passage as it is the case in Y. 50.8 padds 8... Epsi's which does not mean "with verses of zeal,' as Western scholars thought for a long time, but it is a ritial term with the meaning "with the footprints of milk-lintion" closely cleated to Ved.Std. Illusts and if in the footprint or milk-lintion" closely cleated to Ved.Std. Illusts and in the footprint or milk-lintion."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Av. Azūlii. 'fat, libation of fat' (cf. Ved.Sks. Atmai: "offering of oblations") is apparently equated by the Palshvi translator to the benediction Pill. Abzulf (may be) increased and, herefore, rendered by thin as Pill. abzulfag' increasing, 'which is the customary translation of Av. spatia- 'beneficent'.' Pill. 1880' He fashioned,' variant of ms. MI4, renders Av. Asia! 'the fashioned' more correctly than the majority reading abidial' fashioner.'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Pal. uszkode 'increases' wongly for Av. xirid' -mik. - Scholms are used to taking promatchelp) as one word of the same menting as PalT. xavardiari scatars, 'poings an discrive 'drawtameb-' electrine flood.' a strange formation of unusual phonetic appearance allegely derived 'more and a laptic and a martin') is intelligable as Neriosangh's Sensoris version only. —Pal vasculation 'exercis' estudy stands for the data plut. runterley of the laptic way intelligation of the strange of the near of the strange of the mention of the strange of the stran

<sup>35</sup> In Y. 32,9 PhIT. the phrase 'as much as a lapful and an armful' denotes the more or less unlimited quantity of the side-dish allowed to the caters (13.3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Phl. har do 'those two' cironeously for the verb Av. dipay 'he would make available. – Phl. dahan 'mouth' by confusion of the verbal prefix/postfix axava with Av. dadphs, instraing, of ab-'mouth,' which has the same enigmatic initial ax. – Phl. ofmurdar 'recounting' is an extremely uncommon rendering of Av. makiya-'man,' which is customarily translated as PhIT. mard' man.'

answer to the question what the poet wanted to express must, of course, be left to the reader, but at any rate the Gäthie expression is more metaphoric than the Vedic one. Some more Gäthie-Vedic syntagmatic parallels of this type are inserted in a list of Avestan ametrials brought together mechanically and without regard to what is intended by B. Schlerall 1968, 149-160. For another type of comparison see the list of Gäthie figures of speech in Humbach. Gäthias 1991, 1, 94-112, to which aid V. 494. Bignass altayagio' cattle breeders among the non-article breeders' which is parallel to RV. 694. anitiam matrityesu 'immortal among the mortals' and 7,4,4 kavir akavisu' a Kaviseer among (those who ear ho Kaviskeers'.

12.3.1. Vedic etymology must be applied cautiously as matters are sometimes more complicated than expected by Gäthä scholars, who, as a rule, show a tendency to repeat old-fashioned Sanskrit etymologies instead of taking into account for comparison the vocabularies of the Middle Iranian languages. See, for example, OAv. dūta-, which the authors unanimously render as 'messenger,' relying upon the outward similar Ved.Skt. dūtá- 'messenger.' Consequently they translate Y. 32,1 θβοί dūtānhō ānhāmā as 'let us be your messengers,' thereby silently attributing the desire to act as apostles of Ahura Mazda to the participants in the sacrifice, an idea which is quite unfamiliar to the Gathic world. Yet, the meaning of OAv. data- is much more likely to be derived from Phl. dad 'smoke' and dudag 'family,' better: 'household,' the number of the inhabitants of a settlement being usually estimated on the base of the number of smoke-trails produced by them (Prof. Buddruss, p.c.). Thus Y. 32,1 9Boi datánhō ánhāmā simply means \*let us be your households,' apparently with reference to the smoke-trail of the ritual fire kept burning by them. - As an unexpected result of this short investigation we realize that the notable difference in meaning between OAv. duta- and Ved.Skt. dutá- does not exclude the possibility that the two belong together etymologically: Ved.Skt. data-'messenger' is especially said of Agni 'Fire' in its function as a messenger between men and gods, apparently by his smoke-trail.

12.3.2. Informative is the way in which the meaning of the root noun Av. sar- is dealt with by the scholarly tradition. The word is used in the Yasna Haptanghöiti to vary the nouns haxəman- 'fellowship' and vərəzəna- 'community,' see YH. 35,8 ašahvā ... sairī ašahyā vərəzənē to which add Vid. 15,17 antarə sairi varəzāne 'in the sar- and in the community, On account of these passages Chr. Bartholomae 1904, 1563 f. attributed to sar- the meaning 'union.' which, however, was no more but a guess. To corroborate this guess he put up the etymological connection of sar- with Gr. kerannymi 'to mix (wine with water)' and Ved.Skt. ā-śīrta- '(milk) poured into (the soma),' thus in reality producing a strange concoction by which he made of sar-, according to him a union, a physical mixture of humans. More promising is certainly the etymological and lexical connection of sar- with Ved.Skt. sarman- 'shelter, protection' which is suggested by the parallelity of YH, 41.6 unā.iamvāmā tavacā saram ašatvācā as 'may we reach your shelter and that of truth' and RV, 6,16,38 tipa ... aganma śárma te 'we placed ourselves under your shelter' (H. Humbach 1957, 300). This solution neither pleased J. Kellens 1974, 390-392 nor J. Narten 1986, 301, n. 48, both of whom did not recognize that a meaning such as 'shelter, enclosure, wall' of sar- is also concealed in the noun OAv.

sara-jan- 'wall-breaker, hero' and in the four passages of the Videvdåd in which sairi is no nom.du. and does not mean 'corpse' either, as Bartholomae 1904, 1564 suggested, but 'protected area, enclosure, cemetery':

- Vid. 3.8 (cf. 3,12) yar ba paiti fraestom sairi nikante spanasca irista namêca îrista "where very many dead dogs and dead men are baried in an enclosure"
- Vid. 7,47 (cf. 7.45) cuvantum drājō zruvānam sairi mašya iriste zamē nikante havat zamō havainti
- 'in how much time do dead men buried in the earth, in an enclosure, become like earth?'

12.4. Applying the Indo-Tranian comparative method is justified in regard to the joint origin of the cultures and languages of the two branches of the Aryans, yet sometimes scholars carry the matter too far. Thus the idea that Zarathushtra opposed the slaughtering of animals in the same way as Hindus do, is not uncommon in scholarly circles," and a few years ago even the assertion was made that the Gäthäs of Zarathushtra were virtually an eleventh Book of the Rigords. Such goose exaggerations are not at all helpful as they bring discredit on the method that is much more promising than so many others.

#### 13. Notes on Pahlavi texts other than the Pahlavi translation

13.1. To a great extent, the religious texts of the medieval Pahlavi literature arc overburdened with speculations of the Zoroastrian priests of that historical period. Of high relevance for Avesta studies are, nevertheless, two Pahlavi works, the Bundahishn 'Primal Creation' (Bdh.) and the encyclopedia Denkard 'Acts of the Religion' (Dk.). -The Bundahishn is of notable help in filling the eaps of our knowledge of the Mazdayasnian conception of the world at least in the Young Avestan period, but its angle of view is quite different from that of the Gathas, as these are not focused on the creation of the world and its structure, but on morals, on the sacrifice, and on the role that Ahura Mazdā, Zarathushtra, and his sponsors play in it (15). - The Dēnkard is a large collection of information regarding the doctrines, customs, traditions, history, and literature of the Mazdayasnian Religion, but valuable information about the real content of the Gäthäs must sometimes be sought in it through a microscope. Thus the subtitles of the 22 chapters of Dk. 9,24-45 (titled "Warshtmansr Nask") have the reader expect in vain a detailed commentary on the Old Avestan texts, and even substantial references to single passages of these are extremely scarce, whereas the rest consists of accumulations of sermon-like comments.38

13.2. One of the rare exceptions from this negative statement is to be made in the case of the extremely concise and cryptic allusion to the merits and the sin of Yima, the King of Paradise, in Y. 32,8 of the Gåthäs. The stanza certainly was roughly, but sufficiently, understood by the prophet's public who were well-acquainted with the myth of Yima,

<sup>37</sup> Y. 29, in scholarly literature often referred to as 'The Complaint of the Cow,' just rejects the ritually incorrect slaughtering of the sacrificial animal.

<sup>38</sup> The same 22 subtitles are also found in the preceding Dk. 9,1-22 ("Südgar Nask") and the subsequent 9,46-67 ("Baga Nask") without any recognizable reference to the respective texts.

of his paradisiacal rule and of his downfall caused by his rebellion against Abura Mazda which is vividly described in Young Avestan Vt. 19,33-4, but the details of the Gültic reference to it imply several philological and linguisite problems which cannot be resolved by us modern people without the help of the Palibavi translation and the reference to the Gültic passage transmirted in the Deskeralt. In this connection attention is to be drawn to the name of Yinn. Meaning as much as "twin," Yinna must originally have denoted a hermaphrodite able to procreate offspring without a female partner, but in Zurathushira's philosophy his twinness is understood as the ambiguousness of his character in which the two primeval spirits, twins themselves, fought with each other as they do in any human being."

13.3. After some previous attempts abandoned by us in the meantime, we propose to render the first two lines of the stanza in question as follows: 40

Y. 32,8ab aēšam aēnagham vīvaghušō srāvī yimascīļ

yā mašiyāng cixšaušō ahmākāng gāuš bagā x'āramnō 'even Yima, the son of Vivahvan, became notorious for such outrages,

translation and the reference to it in the Denkard. See first the Pahlavi:

(even he) who wished to satisfy (us) humans (and) our (animals) (with the injunction): "Meat (is just) a part of a (complete) mea!"

Our rendering of the first line follows the communis opinio except for the concluding yimaself which we render as 'even Yima,' supposing that it is said in reference to the merits Yima had accumulated before he committed that unspeakable outrage. In contrast, our interpretation of the eniematic second line is derived from its Pahlavi

Y. 32,8b PhT. (jam) kë-š ô mardomân căšid kũ amāgān göšt pad bazišn x'arēd [āmizag mardomān sēnac mazāv bazā mazāv!

'(Yima) who taught men "eat the meat of our (animals) according to apportionment [the side-dish of men (being as much as) a lapful (or) an armful]""

Substantially our translation of this second line is not much in discord with the harmonic translation. Its author, it is true, cheenes Av. existance's "who statisfied" with the harmonic translation. Its author, it is true cheenes Av. existance's "who statisfied" with the harmonic expension of the state of the state

Dk. 9,32,11 (ed. D. M. Madan 1911, 838,2 ff.)

ud än i wiwanghānān jam / ä-š šnāyenīd mardom u-š šnāyenīd gospand hudāhag / ēdōn pad gowišn, zarduxšt, ka-š guft ō mardomān kō / "ašmā gospand \*hušnūdag-ēd / kā ašmā pad bazišn xweš gošt xwared \*hušnudag-ed / mā az rāy ud mā arišk rāy apaymān gošt xwarēd / nad bazišn gošt saer bawišn

<sup>3</sup> Jam, son of Vivanghan, satisfied mankind and satisfied the beneficent callefanisml, / O Zardukhisht, when he said to men: / "be well-satisfied with your animal, / i.e., cut your own ment according to apportionment (- in the quantity apportioned to you). and be well-satisfied (therewith); do not car meat immodestly out of greed or out of ensy; "with the ment apportioned for you'l you must be sainted".<sup>42</sup>

13.4. As a rule, modern Gäthä scholars hesitate to recognize the necessity of doing philological work as exemplified just above, relying upon a scholarly tradition developed in the past 150 years and which was petrified about 100 years ago by Chr. Bartholomae in his Altiranisches Wörterbuch (1904), Similarly most Parsi priests of our time erroneously believe to follow an indigenous tradition of Gatha interpretation, not being conscious of the influence of the so recent and so questionable European way of thought upon their own thinking. An idea of the pre-19th-century interpretation and/or translation of the Gäthäs by a Parsi priest from the city of Surat of the 2nd half of the 18th century is conveyed by A.-H. Anguetil-Dunerron 1771/1984 43 As we can notice. the information on the content of the Gäthäs obtained by that eminent French explorer is rather nebulous, not only owing to difficulties of communication between the two but also because the contemporary Zoroastrian priests no less than those of our time attached much more significance to the correct recitation of their sacred texts than to their real content and message. After Anquetil-Duperron's heroic achievement, Western Avesta scholarship did not restart before the 1st half of the 19th century. Gäthä scholarship did not follow before its 2nd half, starting out from the Sanskrit version of the Pahlayi translation of the Gäthäs rather than from the Pahlayi itself, not being aware of all their severe shortcomings and thus developing a scholarly tradition which was not scholarly in the strict sense of the word. Besides this, the view of the Găthă scholars of our time is to a large extent focused on isolated details of the linguistic prehistory of the Indo-European languages, and only few of them are inclined to study the sources with the purpose of critically evaluating them in order to throw light on the dark of the history of mankind.

#### 14. Contemporary Zoroastrians

14.1. Smaller coherent groups of Zoroastrians survive in the Islamic Republic of Iran, where they call themselves Behdins (bchdin) 'adherents of the Good Religion', particularly in Yazd and Kirman, but it is just the community of the 9<sup>th</sup>-century

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Yima is the Young Avestan form of the name of the primaval king, which has crept into the Gdthis text because of its popularity, its correct Gdthic form is preserved in the nounsalayetive yama- 'twin.' Cf. Ved.Skt. yama- 'twin.' and name of Yama, the primal man of the Rigweda (17.5).
For more details on Yima see I. Humbuch 2004.

<sup>41</sup> Cf. the occurrence of the same phrase but in diverging interpretation in Y. 29,7 PhIT. (11.2.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Phl. bazzăn shows that bagă- is not from baga- 'lord,' but is the same word as YAv. bayā- 'portion.' Av. 'a'aramo' is no verb but the gen.sing. of a masculine hapax x'a'araman- 'fw'a'araman- 'fw'a'araman- 'fw'a'araman- 'fw'a'araman- 'meal' (cf. Ossetic xon'xwar 'bread') like OAv. airyaman- 'tribe' from airya- 'Aryan.'

Anguell-Duperon, vol. 2 (his numbers are given in question marks): Y. 28-30 – pp. 169-165 ("28-30"), Y. 31-34 – pp. 161-178 ("31-34"), Y. H. 35-36 – pp. 178-180 ("35-36"), Y. H. 37 – p. 101 f. ("18"), Y. H. 34-46 – pp. 181-189 ("24-45"), Y. 4. 7 – p. 136 f. ("18"), Y. 48-50 – pp. 200-205 ("46-48"), Y. 51 – pp. 207-210 ("49"), Y. 53 – pp. 215-217 ("59").

emigrants to India, the Parsis/Parsecs ("Persians") centered in Mumbai (Bombay) and the state of Gujarat, who have been able to entirely keep up the ritual and social traditions of their religion in the new environment. Considerable is the number of believers in the diaspora, mainly in the United States, Canada, and England, but also in Germany.

14.2. The religious ecremonies of the contemporary Parisis are performed by high priests (Dasturs) and priests (Eroads) who, in their fire-temples, worship Ahura Mazdă as being present in the Holy Fire (afaxs), which is sustained there perpetually, a custom for which they are improperly called fire-worshipers in non-scholarly literature. The ceremonies performed by them are classified by J. Modi 1922 as follows:

- 1. Socio-religious ceremonies (A. Birth, B. Marriage, C. Death)
- 2. Purification ceremonies (including the daily bath)
- 3. Initiation ceremonies
- Consecration ceremonies (consecration of the Fire-temples, the Towers of Silence, and the religious requisites)
- 5. Liturgical ceremonies

Most conspicuous is the exposure of the dead bodies in so-called Towers of Silence to be eaten by vultures. The exposure of the dead is an ancient custom which is still being practiced in Tibet; it must have been introduced by the Zoroastrians in an area such as the Central Asiatic highlands where neither was ground suitable for burial nor wood enough for cremation. In India, the Pariss are still allowed to perform this kind of disposal of the dead, but elsewhere they must renounce it, which many of them feel to be very grievous.

14.3. In the traditional order of the Indian society the Parisis, no less than the Muslims and the Christians, were considered a caste. Officially the caste system is abolished nowadays, but most Parisi continue regarding their religious community as such, i.e., as an endogamous society of members of the same historical origin and connected by practicing the same rituals. Priesthood is inherited. Marriage with non-Parisi is tabooed and punished by the priests with excommunication, an intransigency which is meant to ensure the survival of the religion, but which effects the opposite, predominantly in the diaspora. Religious discussions mainly deal with such and other canonical problems and with details of the ritual. As we heard from an expert, the young priests no longer know the Githbis by heart, instead, they recite them from a printed text which customarily more or less derives from that of Colleger's edition (6.1).

# 15. The literary genre of the Gathas

15.1. The Gäthis were only most fragmentarily comprehensible even to the more relational mindligent among Zarathusburis is key contemporaries, and long before the restoration of the Mazdayamian Religion (Mazdaismi) in the Stannian period also the priestly tradition seems to have long long as reliable knowledge of the contents of these most holy tests, of their poetical style, of their syntactical and morphological rules, and of the lexical meanings of numerous words. It is the manage lower of these texts and their recitation which

continues to be relevant to this day. The interpretation of the Gäthäs as a religious texthook or a code of laws, or even as a collection of Sermons on the Mountain, is likely to be rather recent, the former two making of them a pendant of the Koran, the latter paralleling them with a scene of the Christian Bible, with which the Parsis became acquainted under British influence. Slightly modifying such views, a great many modem scholars start out from the permise that the Gäthäs are a systematic though complicated exposition of the basic teness of the religion preached by Zarathushtra. Yet neither this nor that stallies with the facts. Just a glance at the statistics of the use of the vocative case in the Gäthäs makes evident that these most holy texts are invocations of Ahrun Mazdia and philosophical conversations with Him, the initiated one par excellence, whereas human persons are apostrophized only occasionally in a sort of reteorical digression.

15.2. Often enough it happens that adherents or scholars refer to Githå passages quoted by them with the assertion that "the prophet teaches," without regard to the correctness or incorrectness or fancifialness of the respective translations proposed by those authors, such assertion is basically erroreous. The Githals are works of an art the central principle of which is persistent variation, e.g., the lexical and/or syntactical variation of set phrases of the ordinary language, like the set phrase manth — exact h— 5µ00ama "thinking/flought — speaking/word — action/deed." By this kind of technique, which is the exact opposite of producing texts for didactic purposes, Zarathushtra supparently tries to display his poetical skill in order to thereby please Ahura Mazdā and to impress his listeners. In general, the poetical technique of the Githäs is one essential reason for the difficulties met with in translating and interpreting them. Although the prose text Vasua Haptanghātii agrees with the Githäs in respect of phonology, grammar, and the characteristic features of its vocabulary, it offers but minor problems, being of quite uncompilicated intellectual structure.

15.3. The Githis are composed to be used for ritual purposes. They are cryptic texts of an archaic kind of spirituality and mysticism, documents of a ritual philosophy full of deliberate ambiguities and metaphorical expressions, behind which the details of their ritual, religious, and historical backgrounds and, together with them, Zarathushtra's place in the development of human thought can be made out only most orughly.

1.5.4. To a great extent, the picture of the course of the world, which is attested in the Younger Avesa and the Palhavi intentrue, certainly underlies the Galthas as well: When Paradine was lost through the sin of the primaval king Yima so that evil could enter life (13.2-3), the entire world both spiritual and material came to be dominated by the all-embracing opposition between what is good/useful and what is evil/hoxious. The course of the world is dominated by the perpetual right between the two, a fight which will end with the victory of Ahura Mazdia and his deitles/divine entities over the Dabvas/devis), and which will lessuit in the salvation of the world and the resurrection of the dead. It is the duty of the pious adherents of the religion to support Ahura Mazdia and his profited both spiritually and materially by good thinking/thought, good speaking/word, and good action/deed, Yct, there seems to be a basic difference between Tarathushtra, tho

23

denotes himself and his sponsors, present and/or expected, as Saoshyants '(coming) benefactors/saviors' (saošvant-), and the views of his priestly successors. Whereas the prophet expected the salvation to be achieved in the near future, it was necessarily nostnoned by his successors again and again. The ultimate result of this was the concept of a world-year of 12000 years in whose year 9000 the appearance of the prophet was set (2.2) with the salvation of the world and the resurrection of the dead under the rule of the eschatological Saoshvant/Savior expected at the end of the 12th millenary.

The sociolinguistic background

- 15.5. The Gäthic ritual is considered a representation of Zarathushtra's own concention of the course of the world. The ritual symbolizes or, rather, mirrors the cosmic fight of Ahura Mazdā, supported by his deitics/divine entities and his truthful followers (ašavan-) against the Daēvas/devils and their deceitful adherents (dragvant-). On the ritual level. Zarathushtra joins this fight by inviting Ahura Mazdā and the other deities/divine entities to the ritual meal offered them by him and by chasing the Daēvic/devilish party in order to prevent them from partaking of it (5.1). Many of Zarathushtra's philosophical reflections explicitly, or subliminally, touch the due remuneration of the priestly poet for his performance (17.6), which is understood by the prophet as a microcosmic analogy of the world's salvation (frašo.karaiti-) by the eschatological Saoshyant/Savior.41
- 15.6. The center of the Gäthic ritual is the Holy Fire, which by nature has a purifying function but which is also considered to be able to reveal the merits and the sins of human persons present at the rite. It weighs the pros and cons of their thoughts, words, and actions, be it in general or at an individual ordeal such as the sacrifice going on or at the universal ordeal expected to be performed at the salvation of the world (37).

# 16. Historical and theological problems

- 16.1. That the Young Avestan texts are of limited help clucidating the Gäthäs is no less due to the difference in their respective literary genres than to the chronological distance between them. Beyond this, the changeover from the Old Avestan dialect to its Young Avestan "nephew" (6.3) points to a change in the religious leadership among diverging religious and ritual schools of Mazdaism, which could be a result of the extinction of the Kavyans/Kavanids, that legendary dynasty of Iran's early history whose last ruler is told in the later heroical literature of the Iranians to have been Vishtäspa, Zarathushtra's sponsor. A comparable break must have happened again with the religious tradition changing over from the heirs, or conquerors, of Vishtaspa's realm to the Old Persian Achaemenids and their successors, the Middle Persian Sasanians, a process of which the Pahlavi literature, including the Pahlavi translation of the Gäthäs, is a late result.
- 16.2. In principle, Ahura Mazdā is presented in the Gāthās as superior in rank to all other beings. Angra Mainvu/Ahreman 'the Harmful Spirit' is no antagonist at the same level as he came to increasingly be described in the subsequent religious and non-

religious literature, but he is the opponent of Spanta Mainyu 'the Beneficent Spirit.' Yet, as a consequence of the conception of the continuous fight for salvation (15.4), the prophet's picture of Ahura Mazdā is necessarily inconsistent. On the one hand Ahura Mazdā is the universal, all-mighty, and all-knowing judge of the universe, on the other hand he must, like the gods of archaic times, be supported and even fed with the oblation by his worshipers in order to strengthen him and to enable him to win the final and definitive victory over evil; by analogy with a worldly lawsuit he must even be informed by his prophet about false petitioners who try to undeservedly be heard by him.

16.3. Apart from the outstanding position attributed to Ahura Mazdā, Zarathushtra's religion is characterized by a rigid pan-dualism. All beings and even many things of both the material and the spiritual world either belong to the good or to the evil side. The Gäthäs are focused on what is good, which also means profitable - profit is no sin -, and must therefore be promoted; evil is primarily represented by the Dacvas/devils, the noxious animals, and furthermore by enemies, opponents, other non-believers, rivals, and bad neighbors. All of them must be eliminated; bad humans ought to be killed or, at least, be deprived of their means and chased away.

#### 17. The divine entities and Asha 'Truth/truth'

- 17.1. Under the leadership of Ahura Mazdā and the protection by his Fire, the good side is represented by a group of divine entities about which the highly mystical style of the prophet usually gives his hearer no hint as to whether he wishes them to be interpreted, in a given passage, as individual divine persons, a sort of archangels, or as deities united with Ahura Mazdā in a kind of multipersonality, or as divine qualities, as moral concepts or as reciprocal attitudes shown by Ahura Mazdă to his adherents and, in return, shown by them to Ahura Mazdā, attitudes possibly manifested in materialized form as goods exchanged between him and his worshipers. As divine persons these divine entities are twice called Ahuras 'Lords,' viz. in the phrase mazdásca ahuránho, which stands for the vocative 'O Wise One and you (other) Ahuras/Lords' in Y. 30.9 and for the nominative 'the Wise One and the (other) Ahuras/Lords' in Y. 31,4.45
- 17.2. In the Găthăs and the Yasna Haptanghāiti, the most prominent among the divine entities is Asha (aša-) 'Truth/truth,' which, as can be concluded from its etymological equivalents OP, arta- and Ved Skt. rtú-, belongs to the prehistoric layer of the religious vocabulary of the Iranians. As early as in the Proto-Arvan period 'truth' must have been a high ethical norm as it continues to be in inherited phrases such as OAv. ašahvā pa9-

The action noun fraso.karaiti- is attested in Young Avestan only, with the underlying verbal phrase faraSam kar and similar expressions occurring in the Gathas.

In this connection note also the phrase ahurānīš ahurahyā 'the Ludies of the Lord' YH. 38,3. On Aramaic 'hwrnt = Av. ahurānit rendered as Gr. nymphni 'nymphs' on the trilingual inscription of Xanthos in Lydia, see H. Humbach 1981. The etymologically related couple anthi- 'patron (and) natroness' is attested in the inverted sequence 'female (and) male' in Y. 32.11 anh' Sca anhavasca '(those so-called) patronesses and patrons,' where it refers to alleged authorities of the deceitful. - The Young Avestan word for 'god/deity' is vazata- (cf. Ved.Skt. vaiatá- 'worthy of worship') whose only Old Avestan occurrence is YH. 41,3 said of Ahura Mazda.

= Ved.Skt. prásya path\* path of truth. Yet, Iran and India developed in diverging directions. On the lexical level that is power by the respective autonyms: while that of Av. aga. "Truthfruth" is draj. "Deceivideceit," that of Ved.Skt. prá. "truth "si draj." truth "si draj." truth "si draj. "dra "untruth," But of even farther-reaching importance is the development of the personification of the Irania tree of which no truce is found on the Indian side: among the most numerous occurrences of Ved.Skt. plá- in the Rigveda no vocative form can be detected.

17.5. This Young Avestan passage is interesting also insofar as it proves that the form YAN. a8a, which is customently singulate (instr.oc.), can unexpectedly occur as pleast (non.acc.). The same pluralic value is to be attributed to OAv. a8a in Y. 34.9 which is apparently contrasted with the plar. xrafstra\* beasts, noxious sanimals'. achyo mas a8a syarada/ yaviq almang anumal xrafstai\* from these (evil-docers) one shall withhold very much truths as far as the force beasts from ourselves. Of the same type is the plural of the entity armatin\* right-mindedness; in Y. 34.2 mantapoy 'manifestations of right-mindedness,' ef. the plural of x8a9m-'power' in Y. 46.11 x8a9mis' means of power.' In the case of a8a-' truth' his use of the plural is certainly inheritot, see the archaic Ved.Sts. trál 'truths' (less archaic Ved.Sts. trálm'), which occurs, e.g., in the famous relaterical question put by Yani' to be trivin brother/ Yanus, who is requesting her to

commit incest with him: RV. 10,10,4 ptd vidanto ånptam rapema '(why) should we, while (openly) speaking truths (i.e., virtuous words), whisper untruth (i.e., commit ourselves to obscenity)?

17.6. In Zarathushtra's mystical poetry, aga- may denote welfare in the material and bliss of whatever kind in the mental or spiritual sphere, this earthly life and the other life not being as clearly distinguished from each other as pious laymen and theorizing scholars of our time would expect. It not only denotes a true statement and truthfulness but also refers to a promise divine or human, which will or must be fulfilled to become true; it refers particularly to a sponsor's promise to provide the prophet with the means necessary to enable him to support Ahura Mazdă in his salvatory work. As such, Truth/truth may manifest itself in materialized form as it does in Y. 43,16 astvat ašəm xyāt uštānā aojönghvat 'may osseous truth be (available), strong through vitality,' a deliberately ambiguous passage which at one and the same time pertains to salvation and future life and to the remuneration in head of animals (camels, horses, cattle) promised to Zarathushtra by the sponsor of the ceremony in question. In this respect the stanza under discussion is parallel to Y. 46,19 and also to Y. 44,18 where the refusal of this as of any other kind of sacrificial fee is threatened by the prophet with punishment in this and in the other world. It is understood that such refusal would less be a sin toward the prophet than one toward Ahura Mazdā, to whom the prophet is used to entrustine all his property.

17.7. When understanding são- as the common noun 'truth' the Pahlavi translation of the Giāhās has adutylin. This, however, is misleading as adutylin does not really mean 'truth,' but rather 'truthfullness,' being derived from Phl. ahraw/ards « Av. sāsvan-'truthfull' and thus being a derivation of second degree from Av. sās- 'truthth' sale Sveral times the Pahlavi translator explains adrayih by the hendisdys kār ut kirbog 'metritorious work'; in Nericonardy's Sanskirt version of the Pahlavi, adrayih is preferably rendered as dharma- prescribed conduct,' a well-known term of Hinda ethics, and punya-virume, merit. Unfortunately all these renderings offer a very simple interpretation of são- as a single-layered moral concept by which only part of the Gäthie occurrences of the term is covered, whereas its primary meaning, the wide range of its connotations and notions, and its deeper sense as object of meditation in the frame of ritual mysticiams are left unrealized there. When understood by him as the deity 'Truth,' the author of the Pahlavi translation of the Gäthäs renders it simply as a8swahi8t' Best Truth. \*

17.8. In Gäthic poetry the number of the divine entities is open, which is certainly due to religious and poetical exaltation. To a great extent, the mention or non-mention of single entities and their relative position in a given Gäthic line, or stanza, follow

Whereas Ved.Skt. de-pta-"untrub" is a noun, YAv. an-arata- is an adjective meaning 'untruthful' in its only occurrence Y. 12.4 where it is an attribute of the DorsadeVult. – In this connection it is worth mentioning dust such an important jurificial plantse as OAv. adja fare, OP. aratae 'in accordance with truth' has no elymological equivalent at all in Vedic Sanskrit. – Ved Skt. drub, the etymological equivalent at all in Vedic Sanskrit. – Ved Skt. drub, the etymological equivalent of the Rigiveds.

<sup>47</sup> See Humbach, Gäthäs 1991, 1, 101.

<sup>48</sup> ahraw ['Idwb] borrowed from Av. aξανασ- with internal short a and with typical In for Av. ξ < rt. The genuine Middle Persian form is area (wr. 'It'y) < OP. artāvan- with internal length.</p>

ganatuse resolution is a standard of the form of the term is artivability? Swhill borrowed from Av. afav. vahistar, unlike ahrayih with the simplified spelling § for Av. § < rt. The genuine Middle Persian form of the term is artivability? Travistif as found, e.g., in the Bundship of the term is artivability.</p>

metrical and other technical requirements rather than considerations of logic. Yet nobody seems to doubt that a group of six of them is much more prominent than the others, being immediately attached to Ahura Mazdä:

- 1. Asha (aša-) "Truth"
- 2. Vohu Manah (vohu- manah-) 'Good Thought'
- 3 Khshathra (x5a9ra-) 'Power/Rule'
- 4. Ārmaiti (armaiti-) 'Right-mindedness' 5. Haurvatāt (haurv(at)āt-) 'Integrity'
- 6. Amaratatăt (amara(ta)tăt-) 'Immortality'

17.9. According to general opinion those six form a closed group of deities/divine entities in the religious system not only underlying Gathic poetry but also actually taught by Zarathushtra. This opinion is based upon the similarity (but not identity!) of this group of six with that of the six Young Avestan Amosha Spontas (amaša- spanta-). the 'Beneficent Immortals' (Phl. Amahraspands, amahraspandan), who, preceded by Ahura Mazdă, are the name-givers of the seven days of the first week of each month of the Zoroastrian calendar of the Younger Avesta (19.1). Yet, the matter is not unproblematic. For in the Gathas themselves it is only Y. 47.1, the first stanza of that song of highly developed compositional technique (7.2), in which all six appear. There their names are interweaved with the two elements of the name of Ahura Mazda, thus following a one-plus-six pattern though without regard to their expected subsequence and with their grammatical cases varying: sponta mainvo vahištāca mananha (instr.), ašāt (abl.), haurvātā amərətātā (acc.), mazdā (nom.), xša9rā ārmaitī (instr.), ahurō (nom.) 'with Beneficent Spirit and Best Thought, in accordance with Truth. Integrity and Immortality, Wise through Power/Rule (and) Right-mindedness (is) the Ahura/Lord."

17.10. No prose version of the Gäthic series is still extant. A similar series found in the prose of YH. 37,1-5 follows, it is true, the same one-plus-six pattern, but its last three members differ:

YH. 37,1-5 vazamaidė aburam mazdam ... ašam ... vahištam ... spantam amašam ... vohucā manő ... vohucă xša8rəm van himcă daenam van himcă fsəratüm van himcă armaitim 'we celebrate Ahura Mazdā. Best Truth ... beneficent (and) immortal. Good Thought. Good Power/Rule, Good View/Religion, Good Refection, Good Right-mindedness'

On the other hand this list attracts attention by the sequence spanta- armaia- beneficent (and) immortal' of asa- 'Truth' inasmuch as the same phrase pertains to a whole group

YH, 39.3 vazamaidē vanhūšcā it van hišcā it spontone amošone

'we celebrate the good male and female beneficent and immortal ones.'

The similarity of the attribute spanta- umaša- of this group with the Young Avestan group of the 'Beneficent Immortals' (amasa- spanta-) forces itself upon the reader. nevertheless the inverted word order definitely forbids to equate the two. We should rather count with differences in terminology cultivated by diverging religious schools.



fig. 1 Ahura Mazdā, in Graeco-Bactrian script Ooromozdo (see here 35.2, no. 17) on the reverse of a coin of the Kushan King Huvishka From R. Göbl 1984, no. 240 (unicum) Drawing by M. Hahn

#### 18. The Old Avestan divine entities and the Amasha Spantas

18.1. In some contrast with the group of the six prominent divine entities of the Gäthäs as reconstructed above (17.8), the group of the six Young Avestan Amasha Spantas, the Reneficent Immortals, consists of

- 1. Vohu Manah (vohu- manah-) 'Good Thought'
- 2. Asha Vahishta (aša- vahišta-) 'Best Truth'
- 3. Khshathra Vairiya (x\$a9ra- vairiya-) 'Power/Rule worth choosing'
- 4. Spontă Ārmaiti (spanta-armait-) 'Beneficent Right-mindedness'
- 5. Haurvatāt (haurv(at)āt-) 'Integrity'
- 6. Amərətatāt (amərət(at)āt-) 'Immortality.'

As we see the picture of the six Young Avestan Amasha Spantas shows some notable deviations from that of their Gäthic predecessors. Thus the oscillation between abstract. material, and nersonal notion characteristic of the Gäthäs is in some respect retained only in the case of Haurvatät and Ameretatät (21.8). Compared with the Gäthic divine entities whose attributes are optional and variable those of the Amosha Spontas are obligatory, in consequence of which one will, in the Younger Avesta, look in vain for oppositions similar to that between the abstract notion asa-'truth' and the name of the deity Asha Vahishta (aša- vahišta-) 'Best Truth' as found in the Old Avestan Asham Vohū formula Y. 27.14; uštā astī uštā ahmāi hvat ašāi vahištāi ašəm 'as desired/at will the (things) desired (are available) as truth to (Him who is) Best Truth.'

18.2. In the Young Avestan list Asha Vahishta 'Best Truth,' whose Old Avestan predecessor Asha "Truth" had originally held the first place of the six, ceded this prominent position to Vohu Manah 'Good Thought.'50 This change is most likely the result of an early theological interpretation of the famous Gatha lines Y, 43.7 etc. spəntəm at 9Ba mazda mərihi ahurā hvat mā vohū pairī iasat mananhā 'I realize that you are beneficent, O Mazdā Ahura, when one serves me with/through Good Thought,' which seems to have been reinterpreted at a rather early time as 'I realized that you are beneficent. O Mazdā Ahura, when (the Amasha Spanta) Vohu Manah came to me,' a reinterpretation which was followed centuries later by the PhIT. abzönig-am ēdön tö mënid hëh ohtmazd ka o man wahman bë mad 'when Vohu Manah came to me.'

transforming Vohu Manah into Ahura Mazda's handeman-kar 'minister of reception' (21.2.1).

18.3. In this most speculative reinterpretation the instr.se, vohti mananha 'with good thought' was taken as the personal subject of the clause, an analysis which is unacceptable from a scholarly point of view but which resulted at a given time in an important step toward amplifying the Zarathushtra legend by a biographical interpretation of the second Gatha (Ushtavaiti Gatha Y. 43-46). According to this reinterpretation, the prophet would have reported in Y. 43 to his pious listeners the annearance before his eyes of the deity Vohu Manah. This would have guided him to the legendary conference with Ahura Mazda, which was understood to be the subject of the subsequent Y. 44. See the references to the legendary event in the Denkard made accessible by M. Molé 1993:

Dk. 7.3.60-62 u-š o ov guft wahman ku zarduxšt i spitaman be ed jamau-e dah ke bareh ciyon oy o hampursêm kê tô dâd hêh ... êg awešan bê raft hend pad abagih wahman zardušt-iz wahman pēš zarduxšt pas 'Thereupon Wahman spoke to him thus: "O Zarathushtra of the Spitamas, deposit this vessel which you are carrying, so that we may confer with Him by whom you are

produced" ... then they proceeded together, Wahman and Zarathushtra, Wahman first, Zarathushtra following behind him'

Dk. 7,4,29 cf. 57 ka wahman ō hampursih nid

'when Wahman was leading (Zarathushtra) to the conference (with Ahura Mazda)'

# 19. The Avestan calendar and the number of the Amasha Spantas

19.1. The Mazdavasnian calendar as it is described in the Younger Avesta is a solar calendar of obviously Egyptian origin, which counts 12 months of 30 days each, adding five intercalative days every year. Each month consists of four weeks, the first and second consisting of seven days each, the third and fourth of cight days each. Ahura Mazda and the six Amasha Spantas are the name-givers of the seven days of the first week. In his function as creator (Av. daδβah-/daθuš-, Phl. dav), Ahura Muzdā is the name-giver of the first day of each of the succeeding three weeks as well, the rest of twenty "work" days being named after the 'other Yazatas/deities.' In their Avestan realizations the names of the days stand in the genitive of the name of the respective deity:

First week: 1. Ahura Mazdă (ahurahe mazdă, ohrmazd). 2. Vohu Manah 'Good Thought' (vanhōuš mananho, wahman), 3. Asha Vahishta 'Best Truth' (ašahe vahištahe, ardwahišt), 4. Khshathra Vairiya (xša9rahe vairyehe, šahrēwar). 5. Spoņta Ārmaiti (spoņtayā ārmatōiš, spandarmad), 6. Haurvatāt (haurvatātō, hordād), 7. Amorotatāt (amorotātō, amurdād)

Second week: 8. The Creator Ahura Mazdā (da9ušō ahurahe mazdā, day pad ādur), 9. Ātar 'fire' (89rō, ādur). 10. Āpō Vanghvīsh 'the good waters' (apam vag'hinam, ābān). 11. Hvarokhshaëta 'the sun' (hvaroxšaētahe, xwar/xwarxšēd). 12. Māh 'the moon' (mānhō, mah). 13. Tishtriya 'Sirius' (tištriyehe, tīr). 14. Gav 'the cow' (gāuš, gōš)

Third week: 15. The Creator Ahura Mazdā (da@ušo ahurahe mazdā, day pad mihr). 16. Mithra 'treaty' (mi9rahe, mihr), 17, Sraosha 'hearing/obedience' (sraošahe, sroš), 18, Rashnu

Most enigmatic with respect to Volu Manah's part is the perhaps only fragment preserved of an archaic version of the Zarathushtra legend, which is transmitted in Young Avestan Vid. 19.11 zara-Suštrō ... drajya paiti zbarahi ahurāi mazdāi vaņhave vohumaite āņhānō, ašāi vahištāi, xša-Srāi vairivăi, spontavăi ărmatăe 'Zarathushtra ... on the Draiā hill(?) sitting (to pray) before Ahura Mazdā, the good one who is provided with good things, and (before) Asha Vahishta, Khshathra Vairiya, and Spaută Armaiti. Here Asha Vahishta 'Best Truth' gives an impression of still being the most prominent of the archangels, but the situation is already changing: Vohu Manah 'Good Thought' is left unmentioned, his quality of goodness being represented as an attribute of Ahura Mazda, which possibly means that Volu Manah had silently left the second place to take over the function of minister of reception, which made of him a mediator between Ahura Mazda and the prophet and which, in the end, put him at the first place of the Amasha Spantas.

'justice' (rašnaoš, rašn). 19. Fravashis (pl.) 'the protective spirits' (fravašinam, frawardin). 20. Varathraghna 'victory' (vara-šraynabe, wahram). 21. Rāman 'peace' (rāmano, rām). 22. Vās 'vind' (varabe wah).

Fourth week: 23. The Creator Alturn Mundă (dobitió abunhe mundă, day pad din), 24. Defini religioni (douvana, dou. 25. Nal. Vunguivi s'Inter (irrunie dissilvi sudaput, and altris vaugui, 26. Arshat rectitude (astisto, astad), 27. Astum (heaven) (asto, astudio, 28. Zam Hudhuh the munificient earth (astudio hidido, zam) da (29. Maulturis Spotai the beneficient munifici (multimle spotatole, ministraturd), 30. Anagheii Raocilo (the endless lights' (anayxanam naocanhum, anaetra)

19.2. As a result of the calendarical implication of the concept of the Amasha Spottas, Alax Amar and a second of the control of the control

19.3. Neither six nor seven but even eight Amosha Spouts are expressedly mentioned in Young Avestary VI, 19.16 (• VI, 13.83) yolf hapta hammanmangha, yol hapta hammas' neithous, yol hapta hammas' neithous point hammas' neithous hammas' neithous hammas' neithous even who are of the same manner of acting, whose father and master is the same, Ahmamadas', the Creator' In this passage, which has a great calendratical impact, Ahmamadas', the Creator' In this passage, which has a great calendratical impact, Ahmamadas', the Creator' which has used in the number of the seven who will be a serven the same than the similar than the simila

19.4. The issue was taken seriously in the Pahlavi priestly circles, where the number of the Amosha Spontas (Amahraspands) was apparently much disputed:

Bdh. 1,53 u. s. nazdist anahrasyandan did haft bun, pas nbirīg; ān-i hallom xwad olmmazd ... u-š wahman fraz brehenīd ... ud pas ardwahīšt ud pas šahrewar ud pas spandarmad ud pas hordād amurdād

'(Ohrmazd) first produced the seven fundamental Amahraspands, then the others, the seventh (He created) himself, Ohrmazd. ... He created Wahman, then Ardwahisht, then Shahrewar, then Spandarmad, then Hordda' and Amurdda'

Note furthermore the correspondence between the seven Amahraspands and the seven categories of beings, which is mentioned several times in the Pahlavi literature as it is, e.g., in the first chapter of the Pahlavi text Shkand Gumānīg Vizār:

ŠGV 1,4 u-š dad ... haft amahraspand ... ud haft gehīh daxšagān ī hend mardom, göspand, ātaxš, ayöxšust, zamīg, āb, urwar

'He created the seven Amahruspands ... and the seven (corresponding) worldly categories which are: (Ohrmazd:) men, (Wahman;) animals, (Ardwahisht:) fire, (Shahrewar;) metal, (Spandarmad:) carth, (Horddd:) water, (Amurddd:) plants'

19.5. In the Pahlavi anthology Zādspram (Zsp.), Vohu Manah is doubled being described as the divine person who introduced Zarathushtra to a conference with the seven Amashu Spontas, he himself being one of the prophet's seven interlocutors as well:

7.5p. 21.7-8 u-s framod waliman be o zardniši ku abar raw o horjaman i menegini and cand waliman pad no gain be raft, zardniši pad navad gain, ud ku navad gain šud bud u-s faže did baniman i haft amabassomedin

'Wahman ordered Zarathushtra: "Proceed to the assembly of spirits." Zarathushtra advanced in ninety steps as much as Wahman advanced in nine steps, and when he had sone ninety steps. he saw the assembly of the seven Amahrasanads?

Further extension of the legendary interpretation of Y. 43,7 etc. (18.2) is seen in the picture drawn in Zsp. 23, whose author speaks of no less than seven conferences attended by Zarathushtra at seven places, each with one of the seven Amahraspands/Amasha Spontas.

# 20. Aməsha Spəntas and Dağvas

20.1. In the Gäthis and, influenced by them, in the majority of the Young Avestan texts, the opponent of above "Trudhfurdh" is adip" 'Deceividee' (17.2). This is abot true of Y. 48.1 yez: — a88 drajam vangbaiti" when one will have overcome deceit by truth' or, rather, 'when truth (er manifestations of Truth) will have overcome Deceit.' a line which is undenstood as a reference to the eschatological events by PhIT. ka ahalyih ... drij waind! when truthfulmess has (e will have) overcome deceit.' The Pallalvi translation itself would be nothing out of the common unless its rendering of a8 "Truthvrtuth" as ahalyih "ruthfulmess" was unexpectedly supplemented by the gloss asknabist inder when Asshawhisti (will have overcome) Indar (= 'PAN. Indra'). The gloss, which directs attention to the Proto-Aryan or Indo-Iranian prehistory of the religion underlying Zarathushtris, poetry, does not seem to have been adequately taken note of by Gäthä scholars. Indra, the mightiest of the gods of the Proto-Aryan pantheon, who survived as such in the Indian Rigyeds, has become number one of the chief Daevasdevils, the fallen gods listed in two remarkable Young Avestan passages whose first is

Vid. 10.9-10 indrəm, saurum, nånhai9əm daēum, taurvi zairica

'Indra, Saurva, the Daēva Nāonghaithya, Taurvi and Zairi.'

20.2. If we rely upon the text of this passage, which has the acc.xing. ndiphilibAm. then the number of these Dakvas is five, making of Nisonghainitys one single Dakva in contrast to the Vedic Nisasyus (ndiatya-), a couple of two divine helpers in time of need (like Greek Castor and Pollux), who always stand in the dual number. Yet, taking into account the etymological relationship and the well-known fact that the grammatical endings found in the Videvidid are notoriously doubtful, we suppose that the transmitted natiphisibAm represents an original dual form "ndiphisibCe" evalphisibPau" eVedSki. ndsaya). This would result in the number of six Dakvas who might have been set up as a counterpart to the six weekdays of an otherwise unknown Mazdaysanian calendar.

20.3. Angra Mainyu/Ahreman 'the Harmful Spirit' is not expressedly mentioned in the above Vid. 10.9-10. but he is duly prefixed to the similar list in

Vid. 19,43 agró mainyuš pouru.mahrkō daēvanam daēvo, iudro daēvo, sauru daēvo, nānhaillam daēvo, taurvi zairi-ca

'deally Angra Mainvn, the Daëva of Daëvas, the Daëva Indra, the Daëva Saurva, the Daëva(s?) Niionghaithya, (the Daëva) Taurvi and Zairi,

A completely Zoroastrianized list of six Daëvas led by Angra Mainyu/Ahreman and, now including Aka Manah, is transmitted in Pahlavi rendering in

Bdl. 27,4-12 ahreman. - akóman, indir déw, sawar dew, nahais dew, taur-iz déw, zair-iz wher these six are called the 'chief Daëvas' (Phl. kanntlighat déwidn), 'the other ones (heing) their collaborators and helpera. 'Ala Manah/Akóman 'Svi 'l' Thought, 'the opponent of typically Zoroastrian Vohu Manah/Wahman 'Good Thought,' has been inserted here before Indra/Indar, who thus, in the same way as his Ahurian opponent Asha Vahishal/Ardwahisht, lost his prominent position (18,2), an insertion which made it furthermore necessary to reduce the two Nãonghaithyas we reconstructed above (20,2) to one single Daèva in order to retain the number of six weekdap.

20.4. Additional Zoroastrianization is seen in the description of the eschatological events in the Bundahishn where an overzealous theologician replaced the Daēva Näonghaithya/Nähais with Tarömaiti/Tarömad 'Arrogance' (OAv. tarā.maiti-, Phl. tarömad, attested as the opponent of Ārmaiti as early as in Gatthic Y. 33.4):

Bdh. 34,27 pas ohumazd gannāg mēnog, ud wahman akörnan, ud arāwahīšt indar, ud šahrēwar sauru, ud spandarmad tarāmad (ī hast nāhais), ud hordād ud amurdād tairī-z ud zairī-z ... girēnd

'then Ohrmazd will take hold of the Foul Spirit (- Ahreman), and Wahman of Akōman, and Ardwahisht of Indar, and Shahrewar of Sauru, and Spandarmad of Tarōmad (who is Nāhais), and Hordād and Amurdād of Tarōr and Zairō'

20.5. By analogy with the fanciful description of the creation of the seven/eight Amosha Spantas by Ahura Mazdā in Bdh. 1,53 (19.4), the corresponding countercreation is described in

Bdh. 1,55 gannāg mēnog pad an padyāragómanih az kamāligān dēwān nazdist akoman frāz kirrenīd ud pas indar ud pas sauru ud pas nāhais (†ud †pas tarōmad) ud pas tairī-z ud zairī-z. ... hāfrom wwad gannāg mēnog.

'in opposition to these, the Foul Spirit miscreated Akôman, the first of the archdevils, then Indar, then Sauru, then Nāhais (†then Tarōmad), then Tairi and Zairi ..., and seventh, the Foul Spirit himself.'

# 21. Further notes on the Amasha Spantas and their opponents

21.1. In his famous description of the creation of the Amasha Spoqtas, which has some bearing on their calendarical function, Plutarch says that Ahura Mazdā (Oromazēs), originating from the purest light (ek tou katarōtatou phaous), created six deities (hex theous enoisee), viz. Good Will, Truth, Good Order, Wisdom, Wealth, and the Artificer

of the pleasures rewarding honorable deeds.<sup>53</sup> In the following we contrast Plutarch's Greek renderings of the six names with the description of their respective functions found in the Pallayi Bundahishn.

21.2.1. Volus Manah Wahnan 'Good Thought.' Plutarch Eunoia 'Good Will,' is a typically Mazdayasmian creation. The scholastic interpretation of G\(\text{dist}\) (\*1, 43-44 which made of him the divine minister of reception who would have taken the prophet to the conference with Ahura Mazd\(\text{d}\) (8.2) is extended to the idea of Volus Manah acting as conductor of the souls of the dead.

Bdh. 26,12 wahman xweiskärih handemän-kärih. 13 ciyön göwed kü wahman weh i amawand i aktih dadar. 14 u-8 wehih handeman-kärih, ku ahrawan o an-i pahlom ahwan wahman bared ud han-demanih-i ohrmazd wahman kuned ... 18 az hamag yazdan wahman ö dadar nazd. 19 u-8 gelih jospand ud wastar i sped xweis

\*12 Wahman's proper function is acting as minister of reception. 13 One says that good, courageous Wahman (is) the giver of peacefulness. 14 His goodness consists in introduction, i.e., Wahman takes the truthful to Paradise. ... 18 Of all detites Wahman is nearest to the Creator. 19 In the material existence the beneficent animal and the white garment belong to him'

21.2.2. The opponent of Vohu Manah/Wahman is Aka Manah/Akōman 'Evil Thought.'
The description of his function is modest:

Bdh. 27,5 akōman kār en kū wattar-mēnišnīh ud anaštīh ō dāmān dādan 'the work of Akōman is this: to produce evil-thinking and discord among the creatures'

21.3.1. Asha Vahishta/Ardwahisht52 Best Truth, Plutarch Alčthcia Truth':

Bdh. 26,35 ardwahist xweššārih ed kū ruvān-i druwandān andar došaxw, diwān, weš az wināh i-šān hast, pādifrāh ne hiled kardan, u-šān aze ša abize dārēd. 36 ciyān göweb kā ardwahist ahrayībi-ī pahlorn-i amarg-i abzōnig. 37 cc har kas, ahrāyih warzisinīr rāy o gardomān sawend ud nad nekth arzānip bawend. "41 ardwahišt nad gehlih štaxī xweš.

"35 Advashabit's proper function is this that he will not allow the Dews to inflict, unto the sools of the victor of the proper function is the size of the proper function of the pro

21.3.2. The opponent of Asha Vahishta/Ardwahisht is Indra/Indar, so to speak the cousin of Rigvedic Indra (20.1):.

<sup>52</sup> On Phl. Ashawahisht/Ardwahisht (wr. "Swhitt" rtwhit) see 17.7.

Bdh. 27.6 indur dew kat en kt meniën i datan az fratoeith kardan öwon afsated ciyön sneer i sub afsatel; en ö meniën i mandomsta abganned kt a Sabig ut kasst në abayted datsan 'the work of the Dew Indar i si this that he freezes the minds of the creatures from practicing righteousness just like much frozen snow; he instills this into the minds of men that they owabt he not ware the sacreal blirt and the sacread thread-cirlel.

21.4.1. Khshathra Vairiya/Shahrēwar 'Power/Rule worth choosing,' Plutarch Eunomia 'Good Order':

Bdh. 26,57 šahrēwar xweškarīh peš i ohrmazd dad-goyih i driyöšān kardan; hamag sālārrīh bun az šahrewar; hast kē šahrēwar göwēd kē wizārd šahryārīh pad kāmag. ... 60 šahrewar gabīh avošsust xweš

\*57 Shahrëwar's proper function is the intercession on behalf of the poor with Ohrmazd; the origin of all leadership is from Shahrëwar. There is one who explains Shahrëwar as rulership at will... 40 In the material existence metal belongs to him.

21.4.2. The opponent of Khshathra Vairiya/Shahrewar is Saurva/Sauru/Sawur, the fallen cousin of Vedic Sarva. Sarva's name occurs several times in the Atharva Veda in a rather uncharacteristic way except, perhaps, for AV, 10,2 where he is described as a manifestation of the god Rudra, the father of the Maruts, the gang of the gods of thunderstorm. More informative in regard to the characteristics attributed to him is a fragment of the Greek author Chares of Mytilene, who accompanied Alexander the Great at his expedition to India: 'There is a deity worshiped by the Indians who is called Soroadeios (- Skt. Śarva deva), which is rendered in Greek as oinopoios winegrower/ winepresser' (par' Indois timatai daimon hos kaleitai Soroadeios, hermeneuetai de hellenisti oinopoios).53 The Chares fragment obviously refers to the god of the winegrowing region situated immediately beyond the eastern border of the Iranian lands where, at their entrance into India (327 B.C.), Alexander and his soldiers celebrated a ten-day wine festival in honor of the god whom they equated with Dionysos, whose common Latin equivalent is Liber Pater as he is also called by the Alexander historian Curtius Rufus (about 200 C.E.). This author delights in describing the solemn and pious feelings of the Macedonian and Indian participants in the festival, but what really must have happened is more appropriately expressed by the Iranian characterization of Saurva as a devil:

Bdh. 27,7 sauru/sawur dew kū sālār ī dewān kār en kū duš-pādixšāyih ud stahın ud adādastānih ud must-kārīh (kardsn)

'The work of the Dew Sauru/Sawur, leader (of a gang) of Dews, is this that (he produces) evil authority, oppression, unlawfulness, and violence'

21.5.1. Spontii Armaiti/Spandarmad 'Beneficent Right-mindedness,' Plutarch Sophia Wisdom, Sound Judgment.' Spandarmad belongs to the Proto-Aryan layer of prominent divine entities. In the Younger Avesta her name is used as a metaphorical term for the earth, a use which seems to be artificially derived from G\u00e4thin (347), at the properties of the

mindedness.' The etymological equivalent of Av. Armatit- (a clerical spelling for aranimitif-) is Ved.St. ardmati- (simplified spelling of adato-mati-), which seems to have the same double meaning of moral concept and divine person as the Avestan term has in the Galthis, where its antennyms are torizomatit-'arropance' and pairtimatit-'disregard.' Even more appropriate than Plutarch's rendering of armatit-a sophist would be that as Cir. sophirosyne' soundness of mind, self-control, temperance' the opposite of which is ploris' lubris, arroganec, insidence' in a conversation of Cyrus the Great with his liegemen recounted by Xenophon (until e. 355 B.C.) in his Cyropaedia 8,4,14. Yet the Pallakvi interpretation diverges:

Bdb. 26,78 spandarmad xwéškárih parvardárih i dámán ud har xir i pad dámán bawandag be-kardan. 79 u-s gehih dám i xwéš. 80 ciyön göved kü spandamad i weh i rad i bawanday-ménising i kümag-doisr i ohrmazd-dad i ahraw. 81 ... , 82 u-s bawandagménisinih ön ki hamag anágiñ i ŝi pad-iš kunénd hunsandihi padiréd

"18 Spandarmad's proper function is the nourishment of the creatures, and the right/appropriate treatment of every substance which is in the creations. 79 In the material existence the earth belongs to her. 80 One says (of her): The good, generous Spandarmad, right-minded, dulect-eyed, created by Ohrmand, and truthful, 81 ... , 82 Her rightmindedness is such that she calmy locks all laber in a contented mood:

21.5.2. The (male) opponent of (female) Spantă Ārmaiti/Spandarmad is Năonghaithya/ Năhais (năŋhai3ya-), cf. the two Ved.Skt. Năsatyas (năsatya-) (20.2):

Bdb. 27,8 nāhais daw kār én kū ahunsandih ō dāmān dahēd; 9 ciyōn göwēd kū kē cīz ō ān mardomān dahēd kē dād ēn kū šabīg ud kustīg nē abāyēd daštan ēg-ā-ā indar ud sauru ud nāhais Sanyaid bawēd

'8 The work of the Dew N\u00e4hais is this: he produces discontent among the creatures. 9 One says (that this refers to that one) who will give something to people according to whose law one must not wear the sacred shirt and girdle so that Indar, Sauru and N\u00e4hais are esticited.

21.6.1. Haurv(at)āVHordād 'Integrity' gives an impression of preferably referring to bodily integrity, yet Plutarch's explanation as Ploutos 'Wealth' apparently points to material welfare, to be enjoyed not only in the present but also in the other world:

Bdh. 26,103 hordsd rad i sallan ud mahan ud rozān az en kū harwin rad. u-s gehih āb xwēš 'Hordad is the master of the years, months, and days as she is the master of all these. In the material existence water belongs to him/her'

21.6.2. The opponent of Haurv(at)āt/Hordād is Taurvi/Tauri 'smiter' (taurvi-). His name is etymologically very near to Ved.Skt. ttlrvi- 'overcoming/smiting' (said of soma!):

Bdh. 27,10 tauri-z dēw ān kē zahr ő urwarān dāmān gömēzēd. 11 ciyön göwēd kū tauri-z tarwēnīdār zairi-z ī zahr-kardār

'10 The Dew Tauri is he who urinates poison onto the vegetable creations. 11 One says: Tauri the smiter and Zairi the venom-maker'

21.7. Ameretatăt/Amurdăd 'Immortality' is paraphrased by Plutarch with ho ton epi tois kalois hedeon demiourgos 'the artificer of the pleasures rewarding honorable deeds':

Bdh. 16,113 amurdad amaragan urwaran rad cē-š gēhīh urwar xwēš

<sup>55</sup> Chares FGrHist 125, F 17, See the circumstantial treatment of the subject in H. Humbach 2007.

'Amurdād is the master of the innumerable plants. In the material world the plants belong to him/her'

The opponent of Amaratatät/Amurdiid is Zairi from YAv. zairi-zāiri- 'yellow,' attested especially of haoma() (25.9) (cf. Vcd.Skt. hári- 'yellow,' of soma but also of deities, celestial phenomena, etc.), but here apparently understood as 'pus':

Bdh 27.11 zairi-z i zahr-kardār '(the Dew) Zairi the pus-maker'

21.8. Heurvatiit and Amscutati are mostly juxtaposed as dual Dvandva compounds haurva(t)tat amara(e)tatat 'Integrity and Immortality' (dual + dual meaning as much as singular + singular). In the Young Avestran ritual the couple haurva(t)tätä amara(t)tätä 'integrity and immortality' has the metaphorical meaning of 'liquid and solid parts of the offering; in the Gibbia the two, when being offered, are thought to increase the magical power of Ahura Mazdă (and, of course, to obtain an appropriate reward from him). This kind of metaphor dates back to the Indo-European porioi Gr. necetar 'overcoming death' and ambroxia 'immortality' denote drink and food of the gods in Homer's Odwese (c. 88 ent. B.C.).

#### 22. The truthful and the deceitful

22.1. Zarathushra calls Ahura Mazzik, himself, his spousors and his adherents sglvzntruthful'; his rivals and their followers as well he calls draguan. 'decitful, liars.' This
does not mean that those on the other side called themselves 'deceitful,' as Gähls
scholars seem to hold; it is, on the contary, quite natural that the others, on their part,
count themselves among the truthful, but Zarathushtra and his people among the
deceitful. As a matter of fact, the prophet sometimes warms of such confusion of
terminology as, e.g., in Y. 43,15 where he demands 'one should not try to satisfy the
many deceitful, for these call all the harmful truthful' (abojt an pount dragvant sygt,
ciscusso at the 'visparga angranga sisono adarra). By Gähls scholars, who are used to
attributing a highly confused word order to the prophet, the passage is usually translated
as 'for these call all the truthful harmful,' starting from the unrealistic presuposition
that those who are called deceitful by the prophet call themselved selectiful preserved.

22.2. "The truthful man' (nar-agivan-) of Young Avestan Vid. 3.1 is the 'blessed or holy man,' especially the priest, who is free of sin, which is a necessary precondition of his magical power. More generally, the truthful one is the person who has reached the state of blessedness/bliss in his earthly life in Vid. 5,6 i juvuscij noij buvuj ağıva maşascij noij busakite vahitdate aphabat '(such a sinner) will not become truthful') blessed as long as he lives, and he will not enjoy best existence/paradise when he has didd. ^ A different view is extressed by Xersa; (culed 485-465 B.C.) who, in his

Persepolis inscription XPh 51ff., writes martiya haya ... ahuramazdām yadataiy ... hauv uta jīva šiyata bavatiy utā mpta arāvā bavatiy 'the mortal one who worships Ahura Mazdā, he both becomes happy (šiyāta-) while living, and becomes truthful/blessed (attīvan-) when he has died. <sup>56</sup>

22.3. We do not know whether the divergence between the Avestain and the Old Persian passage results from a dissent between religious school or simply represents the contrast between theological and non-theological views. Yet it is interesting that the multivalence of the Old Iranian term signaria-attribus. "truthful" is a more general phenomenon; it is also reflected in two hybrid Greek adaptations, Artain'and Artaides, the former tracing back to the earliest layer of Greek historical literature, the latter is circuid in analogy to the well-known enhospraphical term nonsades "nonadis," which characteristically stands as an attribute of the Seythians in the old poetry (Pindar and Alschvlos).

22.4. (1) In his entry Artais Stephanus of Byzantium (6° cent, C.E.), fimous author of a geographical lexicon entitled Ethnica, reproduces information taken from the historian Hellamicus of Lesbos (born c. 500 B.C.) according to whom 'Artais is a Peniani land where cities were built by Perses, the son of Persess and Andromeda (sa writes). Itellamikos in his first book. Its inhabitants are the Artaiol. The Persians call the people of Id Artaior in the same way as the Greeks call them herees. <sup>57</sup> The elymological connection of the Persians with Perseus, that here of Greek mythology, may be passed over, but the second half of the testimony is valuable.

(2) As a matter of fact, Hellumkon's reference to the Artialo is more perspicuous than the outward similar passage in Herodotus 7.61 in ancient times the Persians called themselves Artialoi, and so they were called by their neighbors. <sup>58</sup> It is most likely that Herodotus (mid-5<sup>8</sup> eem. B.C.) guite inexactly borrowed his information from his predecessor Hellanicus, a rare opportunity to make out the literary source of a detail transmitted by the "father of history."<sup>59</sup>

22.5. Anong the uncommon words listed and explained by the Greek lexicographer Hesychius of Alexandria (c. 5<sup>th</sup> cent. C.E.) we find the entry 'Articles (thus) the righteous (dikaio) are called by the Magi. <sup>100</sup> The rendering of artad-with the Greek word for 'righteous' agrees with the customary translation of Ort. 3awan-árrávan-a 'righteous' by the modern Zorosstrians, which, though, is not unproblematic for technical reasons us the underfrive trem 3s-6-arts of cos not match Entl. "light" (17.7).

22.6. Yet, an appropriate rendering of aṣ̄avan/artāvan- remains difficult at all. The multivalence of this term developed in the Pahlavi literature is shown by G. König

Though obscured in the course of the tradition, the Dvandva structure certainly underlies the instances of their opponents Taurvi and Zairi as well: YAv. taurvi zairi originally were dual forms (< \*taurvi zairi), to which the particle or 'and' was unnecessarily added later on two times.

Odyssey 5,93, Hymn.Cer. 49, Hymn.Ap. 10. Later on 'food and drink' as in Sappho 51. In certain religious rites ambravia denotes a mixture of water, oil, and various fruits, see Antikleides (-Anticlides) FGriHsi 14.

<sup>56</sup> Kent 1953, 151 f.

Steph, Byz. Artaia: Persikë chôra hën epolise Persës Perseos kai Andromedas, Hellanikos en Persikön profei. Artaious de Persai, hösper hoi Hellènes tous palaious anthropous beroas, kalusi.

<sup>58</sup> Hdt. 7,61 (hoi Persai ...) ekaleonto de palai ... hypo ... spheon auton kai perioikon Artaini.

Note furthermore Artaios, the apparently non-original name of the sixth of the Median Kings listed by Ktesins FGrHist 688, F 5.

<sup>60</sup> Hsch. Artades: hoi dikajoi hypo mayon.

2005, who lists the use of the Pahlavi term mard i ahlaw 'the truthful man' in the following number of senses:

- 'prototype of man,' 'first man,' and 'material correspondence to the highest dcity'
   'man of the Ohrmazdvan creation' (19.4)
- 'believer' in contrast with drawand 'non-believer' (< Av. dragvant- 'deceitful') and in contrast with anit' non-Arvan' (< Av. anatron)</li>
- contrast with aner 'non-Aryan' (< Av. anairya-)
  4, 'needy'
  - 5, 'priest'61

The Gāthie picture of the truthful is, of course, less manifold. There the truthful are the pious believers who support the prophet spiritually and, not least, materially; the truthful one par excellence is the prophet. §2

The picture drawn of the deceifful in the Gülthäs is, in principle, analogous. Notable details are the tranetaining apostrophe of the participants in the propher's sacrifice as 'you deceifful' (Y. 31,20) and the hospitality to be given under certain conditions to a person of other religion, possibly a worshiper of Mildra (Y. 46,56). Yet it is Zarathushira's competitors and their sponsors who are the deceifful predominantly (Y. 49,1-2). Among these are not only the worshipers of the Delevas/devily, but also subjects calling upon Ahum Mazdia (Y. 31,12, 44,12), trying to get access to his mantras (Y. 31,18-19) and calling themselves truthful (Y. 43,15).

#### 23. The two spirits

23.1. Zarathushtra's spiritualism is based on an attempt to reduce monotheism and dualism to a common denominator (16.2-3). This necessarily results in a contradiction which makes it difficult to determine the details of the prophet's view of the relation between Ahura Mazdā and Spoşta Mainyu, the Beneficent Spirit. The two are clearly distinguished in

YH. 36.3 ătară või mazdā ahurahvā ahī, mainvuš või ahvā spāništō ahī

'you are indeed the Fire of Mazdā Abura, you are indeed his Most Beneficent Spirit'

where the abstract character of Spanta Mainyu is expressed by poetically equating him with the fiery energy of Ahura Mazdā 64

23.2. In the post-Old Avestan literature – including the Pahlavi translation of the Gäthäs – Sponta Mainyu (and its superlative Sponishta Mainyu) was increasingly understood as

being identical with Ahura Mazdā. See, e.g., the address to Ahura Mazdā in:

Vid. 2,1 ahura mazda mainyō spāništa dātaro gaēðanam astvaitinam ašāum 'Ahura Mazdā, O (you) Most Beneficent Spirit, O truthful creator of the osseous/material possessions/world'

23.3. It is particularly in explicit opposition to Angra Mainyu/Ahreman, the Harmful Spirit, that YAv. Spanta Mainyu is more or less a concept of its own value:

Yt. 19,46 (x aronó ...) yaluni paiti paro-tolite spantasca mainyus agrasca ... / aólt aste funjharavayat ásítle katarascif; / sputtó mainyus ástam franjharavayat voluca manó sépmea vahistom átramca ahurahe mazdá pu0rom; / agró mainyus ástom franjharavayat akamca manó aétimanca xuvi.drám ažimca dahákom spitiyuramca yimó.karantom

'(for that Glory ...) about which Speals Mainya and Aggra Mainyu were in conflict with cach other ... / each of the two sent his swiftest messengers (to gain hold of fit; as his messengers Speals Mainya sent Volus Manah, Asha Vahishta, and the Fire of Alura Maraki. Asha Insensemers Angra Mainya sent Ada Manah, Ashama'yar ob bloody weapon, the (monster) Arih Dahkla, and Spittyus who is (perpensally) cutting up Yima' YY. 15,43 war dem... ... yacac abday gapto manipas' yacac adds appto manipas' yacac adds appt

'both creations, ... that which Sponta Mainyu created and that which Angra Mainyu created'
Y. 57.17 szaokő ... vó nöit nascaéta hukvafa vat mainyū dáman daiðitam vasca spontó

mainyus yasca aŋró
'Sraosha (Hearing/Obedience) who (watching over the herds of truth) has never slept since

the two spirits, Spotta Mainyu and Angra (Mainyu), created the creatures'
Yt. 13,76 fravajayo ... yā taöa ərəöfiā historta hyat mainyū dāman daiöitam yasca spotto
mainyuš vasca ann'i

'the Fravashis (protective spirits) who then stood upright when the two spirits, Spanta Mainyu and Angra (Mainyu), created the creatures'

23.4. In the Găthas, no creative activity of Angar Mainyu (sulich, of cours, venuel, result in mis-creative) is metinocular in instruction) is mentioned. It is Ahuru Mazda who (sulich dars- venuel, it are term which, in regard of the wide scope of meanings of the rot of the contract perfect of the sulface of the store for perfect of the contract per acceled the store for the contract per acceled the store for the contract per acceled the store of the contract per acceled the store of the contract per acceled the

Y. 45,6 spanta mainyu sraotu mazdi ahuro 'tet the Wise Lord hear it with best thought'
Y. 51.7 daidi ... spanista mainyu 'grant (me) through most beneficent spirit'

Generally we ascribe adverbial function to the instrumental case, rendering it with the prepositions 'with, through, by, due to,' but in several cases adnominal function must be taken into account in the Gäthäs. see. e.e.:

Y. 44,7 azam taiš 9fta fraxšni avāmi muzdā spaņtā mainyu vispanam dātāram 'with these (offerings) I prudently refresh you, O Wise One, with beneficent spirit, (you.) the creator of all (things)'

or: 'you who, with/through (your) Beneficent Spirit, (are) the creator of all (things)'

<sup>61</sup> See König's summary on his pp. 164-166.

See Konig's summary on his pp. 164-166.
 To be needy is typical of the priest, see already Y. 34,5 where the prophet calls himself drigum

systimakam 'pour needy (servantidisciple).

\*\*The alig, squarie is a derivation from the noun goto- fortune,' thus lit. 'Fortunate Spirit,' i.e., 'the spirit who himself is fortunate and who grants fortune to mea.' Cf. lit comparative granged- in Y. S22, payd gauged 'din more beneficior one of whom '(ef. V. 1999, of fortunate humans in Y. (10.13). (25.5) and V.d. 18,7. The clous etymological relationship of grappin-with Russ. syring' boby' must be taken into account at well.

The equation of Ahura Mazda's Spaqta Mainyu with his Fire is no religious tenet, see Y. 31,3 yan di mainya 80net that which you fix/establish by (your) Spirit and (your) Fire," where they are distinguished.

23.5. Spanta Mainyu 'Beneficent Spirit' and his opponent Angra Mainyu/Ahreman 'Harmful Spirit' vary in the Gathas with Vohu Mainyu 'Good Spirit' and Aka Mainyu 'Evil Spirit,' respectively.65 By producing this intermediate form between Sponta/Angra Mainvu 'Beneficent/Harmful Spirit' and Vohu/Aka Manah 'Good/Evil Thought' the prophet renounces the terminological clearness customarily expected from him by his adherents and by modern scholarship.66 His intent is poetical variation like in Y. 47.1 where the sequence of Sponta Mainyu and the six (later) Amosha Spontas (17,8-9) is artistically crossed with the series spirit - thought - word - action:

Y. 47.1 spantā mainvū vahištāca mananhā hucă ašăt śvao9anācā vacanhācā ahmāi dan haurvātā amərətātā mazdá vša9eň šemaití abuen 'With Beneficent Spirit and Best Thought. with action and word in accordance with Truth they shall offer/grant Him/him<sup>67</sup> Integrity/Nectar and Immortality/Ambrosia.

Mindful (of them is) the Lord through Power and Right-mindedness '

23.6. As a common noun mainyu- 'spirit' denotes the moral disposition of an individual, as it does, e.g., in Y. 32,9 tā uxôā mainyāuš mahyā 'these utterances of my spirit. 68 This disposition may stimulate him to act in the good or the bad way, be it in a given situation or be it continuously in his entire life. Thus the climax mainyu - manah - vacah - švao9ana 'spirit - thought - word - action,' an extension of the common series 'thought, word, action,' may be taken as a description of the four stages of realization of a single action by a person and, at the same time, without differentiation as that of the development of one's character.

23.7.1. The above climax is furthermore extended by the addition of x'afana-'dream' as its second stage at the commencement of Y. 30,3-5, the one of the two classical Gatha passages on the two Spirits:

Y. 30,3 at tā mainvū paouruvē vā vāmā x\*afənā asruvātəm manahicā vacahicā - SyaoBanōi hī vahyō akəmcā Asca hudánhó araš višvata noit duždánho

'These are the two spirits, the twins<sup>69</sup> who at the beginning<sup>70</sup> came to be heard of as both (kinds of) dreams

and thoughts and words, as both (kinds of) actions, the better and the evil one. and between these two the munificent discriminate rightly, not so the misers. 71

23.7.2. In the next stanza the moral disposition of a person is understood as being

governed by that one of the two spirits who will have gotten control of him:

Y. 30.4 atcă hvat tă b5m mainvū jasaetam paourvim dazde gaēmcā ajyāitīmcā ya&ācā aghat apāməm aghuš

acišto dragvatam at ašaune vahištam mano

of the verbal form dazde in Y. 30,4.

'When these two spirits meet (to fight over a person, then this) determines (his) first existence/life.

vitality or lack of it, and how (his) existence will be at last.

That of the deceitful (will be) most evil, but best thought will be in store for the truthful one '72

23.7.3. In the subsequent stanza the moral disposition of the person in question is described as the result of a choice between the two spirits:

Y 30.5 avá majnivá varata vo drogvá acištá vorozyo ašam mainyuš spēništō yā xraoždištang asēno vastē vaēcā xšnaošan ahuram hai 9 yā iš šyao 9 anā iš fraorat mazdam 'The deceitful one of these two spirits chooses to do what is worst,

For metrical reasons the gen.sg. spantahyā mainyauš is replaced by vanhāuš mainyauš in Y. 45.5.8. 48.8 (in hemistichs of four syllables). No metrical necessity underlies the replacement of aneramainyu- by aka- mainyu- in Y. 32,5 akā managhā ... akāsca mainyuš akā šyao9anam vacanhā 'through evil thought the evil spirit and the action (inspired by) evil word (cheated you Daëvas).' Here the attribute aka- of mainvar- is apparently due to the combination of mainvar, with aka, manab. akavacah-, aka- funoBana-

Note furthermore Y. 30,5 mainivi ... yo dragvi 'the deceitful one of these two spirits' (23,7.3) and Young Avestan Yt. 13,13 †drujá mainivá where drujá is not from \*drujant- but is corrupted from "draoiva, nom.sing, of draoivab, the otherwise unattested comparative of drawant, 'decritful,' The corruption took place owing to the inadvertance of a scribe who was thinking of driti-'deceit.'

Deliberately ambiguous: 'offer Him (- Ahura Mazdā)' or 'grant him (= him who is present = me).'

Cf. Ved.Skt. manyal- 'spirit, mind, mood, high spirit, ardor, zeal, passion.'

vāmā 'the twins' (PhIT, ān i jomāv) has a double sense inasmuch as it alludes to Yima 'the twin' the correct Old Avestan form of whose name would be yoma- 'twin' (13.2).

The attributive loc.sing, prouruse 'in the first (existence/life)' does not necessarily denote the primal existence of the world but may refer to the present life of a human individual too as contrasted with his last existence which will be in paradise or in hell. Cf. particularly Y. 44,19 pouruye ... apama '(nunishment) in (his) first existence ... at last.' In Y. 30,3-5 the past is excluded by the present tense

V. 30 3ab PhTT, edon än i har do mônoe fohrmusd ud gannäg] / a-šān fradom an I jomāy xwadciho snid (kū-šān wināh ud kirbag xwad bē euft) mëniën ud göwiša / ud kuniën an i hur do ke weh ud kê-z wad fêk an i weh menid ud guft ud kard ud

awek an wad? 'Thus both spirits [Ohrmazd and the foul one] / (in the) beginning declared their twinned self-thoods file they themselves made known their sin and merit).

thought, word, and action, the two, the better and the evil one [one (of them) thought, spoke, and did what is good. (the other) one, what is badl."

<sup>72</sup> Y. 30.4a PhIT. ēdon-iz ān i har do mēnog Johrmazd ud gannag] o ham mad hēnd ō ān i ōy i fradom dahita (ka bur do mênde û eavômard mad hênd) 'Thus the two spirits met at His first creation [i.e., they went to Gayomard (= to the first human(like)

The Pahlavi translator desperately mistranslates paourvim dazde as fradom dahishn 'first/primeval creation." Relying on him modern Gäthä scholars analyzed dazde 'he takes, appropriates, produces for himself,' the otherwise well-attested 3.sg.pres.med. of root da, as a quite irregularly formed 3.du.perf.med. of the same root, giving it the meaning 'the two created,' which would require a 3 du sor set

(but) the most beneficent spirit clad in the hardest stones (chooses) truth and so (do) those who with true/real actions devotedly will satisfy Ahura Mazdā."23

23.8.1. The other one of the two classical passages dealing with the two spirits in the Gäthäs is the stanza

Y. 45,2 at fravaxšya anhauš mainyū pouroyē yayā spanyā idu masvat yim angrām noit na masia noit sanghā noit xratavo naedā varanā noit uxða naedā šyaoðanā noit daenā noit uxvano hacainte

'I wish to proclaim the two spirits (active) in the first (period) of (one's) existence/life

the more beneficent of whom will/shall address the harmful one as follows:

"Neither our thoughts nor our sentences nor our intellects nor our choices/oreferences nor our statements nor our actions

nor our view-souls/views nor our breath-souls/breaths are in harmony." A

Confusing the 3.8g.nuls], mavaq with the 3.8g.nij, mmod, the Pahlavi translation uncritically adopted by Western scholarship puts the words of Spoator Mainyui in the remote past. Yet mavaq certainly means 'he shall/will speak' or, in the given context, better 'he shall/will address,' thus opening the request to ban Angars Mainyui and, with him, all of his adherents. The request has a double sense: On the microcosmic level it refers to daily life, calling up the community and its members to break up any contact with the Harmful Spirit and his beings, who manifest themselves as the prophet's priestly opponer and his adherents; but on the macrocosmic level it calls up manhood to support Ahura Mazzli in his cosmic struggle for the decisive salvation of the world or it even predicts the advancin sizelf (15.5.5).

23.8.2. In the same way as later on in the Pahlavi translation, the message of the Gäthic stanza had been transferred to the past and reported to be pronounced by Ahura Mazdā as early as in its Young Avestan quotation.

Y. 19,15 vahišto ahurō mazdā ahunəm vairim frāmraoţ ... antarəca ... druvantəm āmrūta ava antara nxti: noit nā manā ... bucintē

"Best Ahura Mazda recited the Ahuna Vairiya (formula) and banned the Deceitful (Spirit) with the following ban: "Neither our thoughts ... are in harmony.""

Yet the quotation is worth mentioning also insofar as the opposition between the Beneficent and the Harmful Spirit is replaced here by that between Ahuru Mazdā and the Harmful Spirit, here called Deceifful (Spirit) as in Y. 30.5.

#### 24. Haoma, the drug of the Zoroastrians

24.1. The plant called Jacoma (Jacomas) in Avestan and hom in Pahlavi is a pharmaceutian herb whose relevant component is ephedric. Homan is one of the about 40 or more species of the ephedra family, an alcalodic group of low, straggling or climbing shawlos. Epicked palars are found in the moderate and subtropical regisms of Europe. Asia, and North and South America. About 25 species of the plant grow in the steppes, deserve, and mountainous regions of the (former) Soviet Union, i.e., mainly in the Caucasus and in Central Asia. Ephedrine, which is particularly obtained from Astatic variants of ephedra, has been in use in Chinese medicine from root than 5000 years. It stimulates the central nervous system; in sufficient doses it also constricts the bronchioles and dilates the pupils of the eyes. Among its many therapeutic applications is also that as an amidote against poisons that deepers the central nervous system; Nothing is said in the encyclopedius about intoxication effected by consuming haoma as reported in the Avestan and post-Avestan sources.

24.2. Since old, the juice extracted from the twigs of the harms plant has been ritually used, preferably after being mixed with milk to make it well-tolerated in men and, by analogy, in the gods to whom it was offered. Resemblance of the Iranian harms rimal to the some rimal of Vedic India cordences that it is inherited from the Proto-Aryan period, the terms Av. Jacona- and Ved SkI. sóm-- themselves deriving from Proto-Aryan \*samme\*, their reconstructed joint ameeter. The ritual developed in somewhat different ways in the two branches of Aryans, but the pictures drawn of haomaloums in the respective religious literatures resemble each other also insofar as they may refer to the plant, or to its juice and the drink prepared from it, or to the delty governing the whole, or to all three at one and the same time. Yet it is only the Iranian side on which the old tradition has been kept allive, In the cultural development of post-Vedic India, soma lost its cultural relevance and the soma ritual was abandoned early, at least in the mainstream of the tradition.

24.3. The haoms twigs that are used in the modern Zoroastrian ritual as cultivated by the Parsis in Mumbai are brought from the mountainous region of Quetta in Balachistana (Pakistan) close to the Afghan border. They contain just a very small quantity of ephedrine," in consequence of which the ritual drink which is prepared from these twigs is a rather homeopathic dilution. Though its consumption is said by the Parsi priests we consulted to induce exhilaration of mind, to intensify mental concentration, and to widen the way to spiritual insieht. it cannot be defield that the home plants of

Y. 30,5a PhT. az dowân mênögân â-s dôsîd kê druwand ân I wattar warzisa [ahreman ân i wattar warzisa kâmag bôd]
'That one of the two spirits who (iv) deceitful liked to do (what iv) the worst [Ahreman's desire was

doing (what is) worst].'

14 Y 45 2sh PhII' infin fris nowom under events mentaleith fractor (entablish) / ke rad nowida

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Y. 45,2ab PhIT. edőn fráz göwom andar axwān menögigih fradom [gásűnigih] / ke pad aweślan abzonigih a-8 edon gulf o oy gannty ...
"Thus I proclaim, in the worldészistence, the first spirits [Gáthic]. / The Beneficent one of these spoke

to the Foul ("Harmful) one (as follows) .....'

See Encyclopedia Britannica Online 2007, s.v. Ephedra.

See Great Soviet Encyclopedia 1973 ff., s.v. Ephedra.
 Ny. 1,16 haomô yô gava, Y. 10,12 haomô gaoma, Y. 10,13 (baomahe) gava iristahe 'haoma mixed

Av. haoma- vs. Ved Skt. sóma- as Av. hanta vs. Ved Skt. santá 'seven.'

According to the analysis by the Pharmacological Institute of the University of Mainz.

past times must have been of a much higher pharmacological efficacy than those available to the Parsis nowadays.

24.4. At the Yasna, the great ritual ceremony of the Zoroastrians of our time, the haoma twigs are pounded and diluted with water and milk and some pieces of pomegranate twigs are added to perfume the solution," thus producing the haoma drink called Parāhōm (Av. nara baoma-), a technical term which is not consistently applied by scholars who mostly replace it with the general designation baoma. During the Yasna ceremony of today, which was apparently established in connection with the Mazdavasnian reform of the Sasanian period, two subsequent preparations of Parähöm take place. The first of these, the Paragna, which is of prefatory nature, is concluded with the partaking of the Parähöm by the officiating priest during the recitation of the Höm Yasht (Y. 9-11). The second preparation, which is the object of the main ceremony, starts with the Fravarane, the 'Profession of Faith' (Y. 12), and ends with the libation of the Parähöm into the well of the fire-temple. This is the outward description of the procedure as customarily given by the Zoroastrian priests.81 It seems to be useful to add that the real purpose of the first preparation is to make the priest fit for performing the main ceremony, including the recitation of the Gathas. It is the product of the second preparation only, the Parahom of the main ceremony, which serves as an offering for Ahura Mazdā and the other deities.

#### 25. Haoma in the Hom Yasht

25.1. Most of our information about the haoms of remote times is set down in the Hom Yasha, a text composed in Young Avestam dialect and dedicated to the deity Homan. The Hom Yasha (Y. 9-11) must originally have been part of the collection of the Yashts each of which deals with one single deity (6.1.1), whence it was transferred to the Yashas by the Sasnain rediction of the Avesta. The Yasha is a document of a popular religiosity of very archaic appearance and of a partly epic style quite different from that of the Gäthisa and the other Old and Young Avestan texts of the Yasha.

25.2. Information on Haoma/haoma provided by the H6m Yasht is disguised in a language of poetical and religious exaltation on which an enthusiastic Parsi scholar of the first half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century remarked that the religious and spiritual properties of the plant are described there "in a rich poetical style, and in a tone overflowing with heartfelt admiration and praise." See, e.g.,

Y. 9.26 paurvanīm aißivānhanom stohrpaēsanhom mainvu.tāštom

'(Haoma/haoma wears) a knotted belt adomed with stars and fashioned by a spiritual being.'

The attributes of the haoma plant mentioned here especially refer to those twigs with which the bundles of budding haoma were fiel together for transport, being understood as the girdle of the deity Haoma, most likely a characteristic of an iconography otherwise lost.

25.3. Haoma is said to originate from the mountains whence it extended to the plains by its seed dispersed by birds:

Y. 10,3 staomi garayō bərəzantō ya9ra ... urūruδiša

'I praise the high mountains where you grew up'

Y. 10,4 staomi zəmö ya9ırıa rao&ahe hubaoi&iš aurvō carānəm; uta mazdā huru9ma haoma raose gara paiti uta frāŏacša višpa9a

'I praise the region of the earth where you grow, good-smelling (and) effective; may you, the good growth of Mazdā, O Ilaoma, grow up on the mountain (cf. next) and spread on the path of the birds'

Y. 10,10-12 9βā... baryo nida9at huvāpā harai9yo paiti barazaiili; / āat 9βā a0ra spanta fraduxāta maraya vizvaņca vibrara avi ikkata upāiri.saēna ... avi spita.gaona gairi; / āat ābva paurvaldīva pouru.sarāšo vitaočāde

'a skillful god had laid you down on Mount Haraiti (~ Elburz); / therefrom birds taught by the Beneficent (Spirit) dispersed you in different directions: to the Ishkata Upāiri.saēna (~ Hindukush), ... to the mountains covered with white (snow), / and on these mountain chains you grow up in numerous kinds.\*

Y. 10,17 vispe haoma upa.staomi yaţciţ barašnušva gairinam yaţciţ jafnušva raonam yaţciţ azahva dərətāŋhö jaininam upa.darəzāhu

'I praise all the haomas, whether on the heights of the mountains, whether in the depths of the slopes, whether kept in the sealed straits of women. 34

25.4. The use of the haoma preparation as a curative (baešaza-) is frequently mentioned:

Y. 10.9 dazdi mê baêšazanam vâbvô ahî baešazaŏá

'grant me of the curatives through which you are the giver of curatives'

Haoma's curatives are of miraculous power:

Y. 10,12 ă tê baĕšaza irircii θarə vaghāuš managhō mayābiiō 'your curatives are mixed with the miracles of Good Thought'<sup>85</sup>

The administration of baoma is referred to in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> In Y. 10,4 haoma is said to be fragrant/odoriferous. The addition of twigs of the pomegranate (Av. holomegrate), which is mentioned but in a later layer of the Yassa, scena to be required for substituting the flavor the hoams plant tool by the trasport to distant places. See, e.g., Y. 222 int zoo9rd hoemavaitis goomavaitis holomegratusaitis 'these librations containing hooma, milk, and

See F. M. Kotwal and J. W. Boyd 1991. The authors seem to take it for granted that their readers are already well-acquainted with the subject of their work into which they try to introduce them.

<sup>12</sup> Modi 1922, 304.

Bisewhere pouru.saraöa- is well-attested in the meaning 'of many kinds' (PhIT. pur-sardag, SktV. puus-jäti- with Skt. jäti- 'position assigned by birth, rank, caste, family, race, lineage'). The attribute seems to subsume all the species of the enchedra family (24.1) under the torm haoma.

The third member of the enumeration was apparently considered obscene by the tradition and, therefore, left out in the Pahlavi translation, in consequence of which it is missing in Neriosangh's Sendelt was reasonable.

ES Further occurrences Y. 9,16 Isomó ... baĕšazyó, Y. 10,7 haomahe baĕšazyehe, Y. 10,8 haomő ... haršazaőd.

- Y. 9,16 vaqhuš haomo hubato huomo arš.dato vaqhuš dato baešazyo ... ya9a x'arante vahišto urunaēca pā9mainyōtəmō
- 'healthy (is) haoma (if being) well-administered, properly administered, in healthy (dilution) administered, most healthy for the one partaking (of it) and most providing a good flight for (his) soul."
- 25.5. The boons granted by Haoma/haoma are of material or/and of immaterial and spiritual quality:
  - Y. 10.13 pourusaram tūm karanūši spainvanham cistivastaram vasa,tē bāša haoma zāire oanna iristabe haxšaite
  - 'you make that one more rich in men, more fortunate, and more endowed with insight, (that one) who partakes of you (being) mixed with milk. O vellow Haoma'
- 25.6. No clear distinction is made between psychoactive and intoxicative effects of haoma. A milder form of effect seems to be expressed in the occurrences of masti-'exhilaration' which, though, is not only granted by Haoma but by other Young Avestan deities as well:
  - Y. 9,22 Haoma grants (the students) abundance and exhilaration (spānō mastimca)
  - Yt. 5.86 Anāhitā is asked by the priests for exhilaration and abundance (mastim ... spănamca)
  - Yt. 10.33 Mithra grants exhilaration, abundance, and knowledge (mastim spino vaēšimca) Y. 62.4 Fire grants exhilaration, abundance, and a ready tongue (mastim spāno xšviBrəm)
- 25.7. A higher degree of pharmacological effect is certainly referred to in the instances of the etymologically related mada-, which clearly point to the meanings 'intoxicative' and 'intoxication,' both potentially personified:
  - Y. 9,17 ni të zăire mačom mruye ni amom ni voro9raynom
  - 'I call down. O vellow (Haoma), your intoxication, your impetuosity, and your victoriousness'
  - Y. 10.8 vispe zi anve mašánho aěšma hacinte xruvidruvo, aat ho vô haomahe mašö ašaches bacaite uruvāsmana
  - 'indeed, all the other intoxications are followed by fury of horrible club, but the intoxication of haoma is followed by the grace of truth "86
  - Y. 10.13 namō haomāi vat karanaoiti drivaoš havat.masō manō vaθa raētutastomahecit 'reverence to Haoma who makes the mind of the poor one as wide as that of even the wealthiest one'
- 25.8. Liver disease as a consequence of excessive partaking of haoma is described in pious interpretation and with fanciful exaggeration by a Pahlavi author in
  - Yöišt i Friyan 1,6 900 moymard ... ke-šān and yazīšn i yazdān kard estād ka-šān and xwardan i narāhōm rāv hamāc tan zard būd ēstād

'nine hundred Magians ... performed so many rites of worship that by their drinking so much parahom their entire bodies became vellow."

In the Hom Yasht itself, the paralyzation suffered by Frangrasyan, the legendary opponent of the Arvans/Iranians, is referred to in order to present the outcome of heavy misuse of haoma:

Y. 11.7 mā 96ā haomo handavāt va9a mairīm handavat vim tūirīm francasvānam.

'do not let Haoma/haoma bind you as he bound the Turanian scoundrel Frangrasyan'

25.9. Some of the attributes of haoma described, or alluded to, in the Hom Yasht are of botanical relevance. It is common knowledge that the attribute zairi-/zāiri- 'vellow,' which relates to the blossoms of the plant and to its juice too, etymologically equates Ved.Skt. hári- 'yellow' frequently applied to soma (21.7), thus suggesting that more or less the same plant is meant in the ancient sources of both Iranians and Indians. Botanical variants unknown to us must be taken into account (25.2), as it seems to be unavoidable in regard of the obvious opposition between barazant- 'high' and frāšmifrādat.eaē9a- 'low (and) furthering the herds' in

Y. 10.21 haomam zāirīm barazantam ... haomam frašmīm fradat.eae9am ... haomam dűraošam

'the vellow high(-climbing) haoma, the low, (straggling) haoma furthering the herds, the death-averting baoma. \*87

Yet, unlike the first three attributes of haoma listed here, the attribute dūraoša-'deathaverting' (Phl. dūrōš) does not denote a botanical variant but emphasizes on the curative efficacy of the product of the plant and, at the same time, on the part it will play in the salvation of the world which, on the microcosmic level, is anticipated and symbolized by the Yasna ritual.

25.10. In the Bundahishn, where Phl. dūrōš [dwl]wš, i.e., dūr-ōš] occurs but occasionally, the eschatological aspect of the term is apparently represented by the mythical concent of the White Höm (höm i sped):

Bdh. 16,5 hōm i spēd i bēšaz i awinast rust ēstēd andar cašmag i ardwisūr; / har kē xwarēd ahōš bawēd: / u-š gōkaran draxt xwānēnd; / ciyōn gōwēd kū hōm i dūrōš ud pad frašgird anošagih az-iš wirayend; / urwaran rad hast

'the white, healing, undefiled hom has grown in the source (of the mythical stream) Ardwisir: / whoever eats (from) it will become deathless; / they call it the Gökaran tree; 88 / one says (that it is) the death-averting hom, and at the salvation (of the world) they (will) prepare immortality with it; / it is the chief of the plants'

Bdb. 24.1 höm i spēd kē gökaran draxt xwānēnd / i andar zrēh i frāxwgard, nad ān i zofr war, rust ested / pad frasgird kardarih andar abayed / ce-š anošagīh az-iš wirāyend

'the White Hom which they call the Gökaran tree / which has grown in the Fräkhweird

The corruption of asahe hacaite to asa hacaite seems to be influenced by Y. 34,2, 46,16 asa hacaite, cf. also Young Avestan Yt. 17.5 vat vispe anve mačánhů aešma hacinte xravidravů, áat hô vů haomalie mado asa hacaite x'aë.pai8e 'but the intoxication of haoma is followed by one's own truth.'

The attribute fraimi- cannot be separated from the element fraimo of YAv. fraimo daiti- 'sunset.' lit. 'laying low' rather than 'putting in the dark' (since dark haoma is mentioned nowhere). As a matter of fact, unless the further attribute fradat.eae0a- 'promoting the herds' is simply selected to repeat the initial syllable fra, it may refer to variants whose twigs are easily accessible to small animals. 88 On YAv. gaokarana- (gao-karana-), Phl. gökaran see 31.6.

Sea, in the deep flood, / is requisite for the performance of (the ritual for) the salvation (of the world). (as they will prepare immortality from it.)

Bdh. 34,23 ud yazikn i pad rist wirayiknih sokyans abag ayyaran kuned / ud gaw i hañayak pad ân yazikn kušend / az pih i ân gâw ud hôm i spêd anôš wirayênd / ud ô harwisp manlam dabinda i ad baw isu manlam udikê bawênd.

'and Soshyans, the (eschatological) savior, with his associates, will perform the sacrifice for the restoration of the dead? and they will slay the ox Hadhayānsh for that sacrifice? (and) out of the fat of that ox and the white hom they will prepare the beverage of immortality and give it to all men / and all men will become immortal?

#### 26. Hanna the death-averter

- 26.1. Answering Zarathushtra's question about his identity, personified Haoma introduces himself to the prophet at the commencement of the Hom Yasht:
  - Y. 9,2 azəm ahmi zara9uštra haomō aşava düraošō 'I am. O Zarathushtra, the truthful Haoma Düraosha'

thus assigning to himself the quality of being daracsa. This term is traditionally understood as a compound of Av. dara- 'far off' (Phl. dar) and acsa- '\*combustion > death' (Phl. da) resulting in 'keeping death afar, death-averter, death-disseller,' for which see the close in

Y. 9,2 PhiT. düröšīh-aš ēd kū ōš az rawān ī mardomān dūr dārēd ... anošīh pad hōm bawed 'Ilaoma's Dūrōšh-ness refers to his/its keeping death afar from the mortals ... deathlessness/immortality kanošīhi is caused by Hōm.'

This explanation is taken up by Neriosangh, who, in his Sanskrit version, renders Phl. dun-of as dian-nytipu- withby whom death is after from Skt. dran-fre and anytopu- 'death.' Yet the dissection of Av. diarosis- into dian-socia- neither agrees with the trisylables tracture of the compound unambiguously attested in its only Gäthio occurrence diarosism in V. 32,14 nor with its spelling which otherwise ought to be tetrasyllable.' Adman.ods-.

26.2. The outward appearance of Av. duracols, and its meaning too, resemble that of Ved. Ste. durácy appearance of Av. duracols, and its meaning too, resemble that of Ved. Ste. durácy and of the durácy and durácy and

26.3. However, no less than the traditional explanation as 'keeping death afar, death-averter,' the etymological relation of Av. dar-aosa- with Ved.Skt. dur-ósa- presents

difficulties. As the phonologically correct equivalent of the Vedic compound one expects Av. "dat-ao-es, which by dissimilation night have developed to "dur-ao-es," with the lengthening "dur > dur remaining unexplained, hardly being due to the known instability of the quantity of the Avestan voweds in the textual tradiction. In the end, the problem of the ctymology and carly history of diraceirs—can only be resolved by assuming a secondary, i.e., phonorically irregular adaption of the prefit dus/dis/dz/dw 'bad' to Av. dura-> MP. dur 'far,' which unexpectedly clarifies both the traditional and the cymological meaning of diraceirs—

26.4. At first glance this secondary adaption appears to be the result of popular etymology, yet it is rather of scholastic nature. Even in its dissimilation yariant Av. "dar, the basically negative sense of Av. dar, but's became intolerable in view of the highly assiptions meaning gradually developed by "data-hadis-, which has eventually become a term of healing and salvation. As early as in its Young Avestan instances the compound developed that semantic affinity to the adjective YAv. as-noās-\*incombusthle > immortal\* which is manifest in the equation of its derivation Phl. darox8ih with the corresponding anox8ih in Y.-9.2 Phl. (Z.6.b.)."

26.5. The basic meaning "freshvunsessoned, resisting combustion" attested in Ved.Skt. dur. das- (26.3 bis gleams through the occurrence of Av. diazada- in the Gillibe put V. 32,14e y a distraction assessment was distributed by the occurrence of Av. diazada- in the Gillibe put V. 32,14e y a distraction assessment in the control professional distributed by the distribute

#### 27, "Grass" and inflaming the Düraosha

27.1. The half-line Y. 32,14e yo ditracism stocayed avo just mentioned definitely pertains to the ritual use of husans but apparently in a disapproving sense: In our view this does not mean that the prophet blamed his opponents for partaking of husana, as held by H. S. Nyberg 1938/1964, ISB-191, who concluded from this passage (and from Y. 48,10, for which see 28) that the husans ritual inherited from the Proto-Aryan period was rejected and banished by Zarnhabsthra but restored later on by his Young Avestan successors. Against Nyberg one should bear in mind that any religious tradition is strongly linked with the ritual practices followed by its adherents, an experience which

In an ambivalent sense Ved.Skt. dur-éga- is attested in the complaint RV. 8.1,13 vántní ná prajahitání "duréjšso amazmahí "we have realized to be like freshégrendurescende vood abandonst", but it su tunted into the positive in connection with soma in RV. 9.101,3 álm duréjam "a édnam "hisvaní dátříbů" they drive this freshégrene soma through the pounding stones, "where duréja- refers to the fresh soma twigs ac containing a shall amount of juice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> The development du2 > dur, regular before vowels in Sanskrit, is irregular in Iranian. A dissimilation resembling that in Av. "du2-aosta. > "dur-aosta- is found in Pth. dur-cribr 'of bad appearance, ugly' (vs. MP, du5-cribr = Av. du5-ei/dre.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> In Young Avestan Vt. 10,125 anaeole is said of the divine horses of god Mithra. Note that Plal. an-est not only means 'immortal' but also 'elixic, anidolec,' whence NP. and' the water of life or immortality' and, furthermore, allistan 'to drink.' Nowadays the imperative alls' is used in the sense of 'cheess, prosit.'

does not favor the idea of such a far-reaching break in the development of Zarathusburis Muzzlaimi. Homos certainly played an important part among the drugs available to the nacient framium, at least to those of the east. As a consequence it is handly thinkable that the problet would not have availed himself of it, be it as a curative, or for inspiration when composing the Gilthis, or for concentration when recreting them at the performance of his Vasan certomony. On closer inspection the polemies uttered by the prophet are, therefore, much more likely to be directed against a disagreeable preparation from the plant.

27.2. We suppose that Y. 32,14e yo diratoSam successf are vibe who inflames the fire-resisting/death-verting help' is an metaphor for mixing the thoman yaive non with milk as would be ritually in order, but with the blood of the sacrificial animal. As a matter of fact a comparable but horrible preparation is reported by Plutarch (21.1) in his description of the juice pressed out in a mortar from a plant named ornômi and mixed with the blood of a wolf to severe as an offering for Alterman:

Plut. De Iside et Osiride 369D-370C Mithrén Persai ton mesitén onomazousin, edidaxe de tôi men euktaia thysein kai charisteria, toi de apotropaia kai skythrôpa. Poian par tina koptontes omioui kaloumenen en holmoi, ton haiden anakalountai kai ton skoton, eita mixantes haimati lykou sphagentos eis topon anhèlion ekpherousi kai rithrator.

Mithrax, whom the Persians call mesiths 'mediator,' laught them to offer the one (= Oromazèn) votive and thanks-giving, but the other one (= Areimanios) apotropaic and sinister offerings. Pounding a berb called oméan' in a mortar, they invoke Hades and Darkness and then, after having mixed it with the blood of a slain wolf, they take it out to a sumless spot and throw it away'

Omotani, the name of the plant reported by Plutarch, is taken by us as a designation of the haoma plant, MP. John, Early MP. \*himsh-fami, which in Greek is correctly rendered as \(\tilde{om}\). The prefixed on- is likely to come from the demonstrative pronoun Olr. ima- originally used in a specific ritual situation mutatis mutandis comparable to that in Young Avestan imp knowny these haomas (which are offered you') Y. 4, 1 etc.,<sup>3</sup> In this case oun-omi is slightly incorrect for \*am-omi, see below 30 on the plant name amonton/unnum/simomis.

27.3. In the text preceding the clause y of diances an succept at nov (V. 32,14e) the prophet diastatefully utters the nominal forms grabma (32,12e) grabma (31a), grabma (14a), which apparently bear upon the same ritual. Unfortunately the respective contexts make it difficult to relate the grammatical forms of grabm or a common denominator and, therefore, to succertain their exact syntactical value. The indigenous tradition quentes Av. grabma with Ph. grabma (we grabm with Ph.), an equation which was accepted without further comment by W. B. Henning 1944, 139, n. 5, but which presupposes a quite unlikely phonetic development and which, therefore, is most suspect of being one

more of the most numerous erroneous etymologies produced by the Pahlavi scholars on the basis of outward similarity.<sup>94</sup>

27.4. More promising is the solution of the semantic and morphological problems of grahm' proposed by F. C. Andrews and J. Wackermage [1912, 383.348], who suggested two different nouns, size gadenum-nount. "Opicifriest" Cust of devouring the oblation") and gadanus—mass. "Opicifriest" ('devoure of the oblation')" aboviously deriving them from the Indo-European root gras 'devour, graze' as preserved in Ved Skt. gras 'entgraze' (said of borsess and cattle), cf. Lat. graime ('leaf of) grass' - 'grassnea, Gr. graap' graw, eat' and grassis' fodder, forage." In both etymological and morphological respect this analysis is certainly correct, although the meanings attributed by the two scholars to grahm' are somewhat queer. The fact not realized is that OAv. grāhman-e Proto-Indanis "protopam "grassmen-exactly equates Lat. grāmen in its outward form, slight differences in meaning being possible. The Sanskrit and Greek relatives point to Av. grāhman-- grass, fodder."

27.5. In a certain sense grahm" igrass' seems to foreshadow Engl. grass, which in the sense of 'hashird' was adopted in 1943 as one of the numerous English slang words for 'hashish' < Arabic Jasifs' dry herb, powdered leaves of hemp(cannabis sativa.' In regard of YAv. haphas, NP. lang 'hashish' (cf. Skt. bhapgas) the comparison of grahmanignass' with Engl. 'grass' with Engl. 'grass' with Engl. 'grass' as the ename of one of the drugs available at the time and ritually used by some opponents of Zarathushtra is plausible:</p>

Y. 32,12c yāiš grāhmā aṣūṭ varatā karapā xšaθrəmcā īšanam drujəm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Early MP. \*home/homi, the pre-form of MP. hom, is the general case of the singular which derives from the gen.sing. OP. haumahya (YAv. haomahe).

<sup>93</sup> Cf. Bactr. amo 'this.'

<sup>\*\*</sup> genture 's generi' (not generi) na shran > anna\* vec ' - Y. 3,3,2 Paff.; getting is glossed with Fbl. xwafting 'property, wealth, in Y. 3,2-1.14 Paff.; vitin plang 'gits, Glefting, blabe, 'cf. farthermore Nursionagh's Skl. dated 'present, bribe' glossed with kalpun' wealth'. Derived from Ph.J. getting, 'greatering' garding 'greatering' and 'greatering' garding' getting the grant getting that greatering and grant greatering of grant granting garding and granting grant greatering garding granting g

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Cf. the morphologically parallel couple Ved.Skt. brithman.n. 'holy text': brithman.dj. 'holy, sacred.' Disragarding Andress and Wackernagel's suggestion, Henning, loc.cit. tried to resolve the morphological side of the problem of gridman - gridman of problem by posing wo alternating synonymous stems, grahman- and grahman, thus unspokenly counting with a strange beteroclitic inflexion invented ad hoc.

M. Mayrhofer, EWAI s.v. GRAS.

Strange in this respect is gritting (gl\*mk\*) in Bdh. 17,20-21 hom I had bijagith urwarlar rad; grätting if dastig abijigata urwarlar and 'the pressed hom is the chief of the medicinial plants, the granting of the plan is the chief of non-medicinial plants. The reading gratting transmitted there could be incorrect for grattlang (gl\*mk\*), but the Indian Bundahisha (ms. Copenhagen p. 58,12) has gl\*mn\*id\*mn\*, which I. hasti 1886/1976 causated with Mp. darmarus 'wentwood.'

"those because of whom the Karapan/lie-priest prefers to truth "grass" (gr3hmun-) and the nower/rule of those who have sided with deceit '98

If the subsequent grāhmō is correctly transmitted then it cannot come from the neuter stem grāhmān-[grahman-] but must be attributed to a masculine grāhmān-[grāhmān-], a Vriddhi derivation from grāhmān-, denoting the person addicted to "grass" or, in the present context, the eame of those addicted to it:

V. 32.13ab vā xša9ra grāhmō hišasat acištahvā domānē mananhā

anhius maraxiarā ahyā yaēcā mazda jīgorazat kāmc

"by that powerfrule the "grass" gang strives to settle in the house of worst thought, "

(those?) destroyers of this existence/world, O Wise One, who, then, complain very much. "

100

27.6. The form grahmo is repeated in the sequence alays grahmo a.biolikoi of the subsequent stanza Y. 32,14 in whose transmitted form we miss a plausible reference of the pronoun alays' of this/that.' Since the Githfais as a general lendency avoid repetitions of the type grahmo!... grahmo, we assume that at least the second occurrence of this form (i.e., the third instance of grahm') is corrupt. In our view the planzae alays grahmo abiolisio is to be corrected to alays "grahmong a.biolisio" in the fetter of that grass.' in which the restored "realization is the results OAv. sens. so Grahman-in: "grass." in which the restored "realization is the results OAv. sens. so Grahman-in: "grass." in the grass of grahman in: "grass." in the grant of grahman is the results OAv. sens. so Grahman-in: "grass." in the grant of grahman is the results OAv. sens. so Grahman-in: "grass." in the grant of grahman is the grant of grahman in the grant of grant of grant or grant of grahman in the grant of grahman in the grahman in the grant of grahman in the grant of grahman in the grant of grahman in the grahman in the grant of grahman in the grahma

Y. 32,14ab ahyā fgrāhmō (= grāhmcāng) ā.hoiðoi nī kāvayascīţ xratūš [ni.]dadaṭ varəcā.hīca fraidivā hyat visəntā dragvantəm avō

'particularly the Kavis/princes lay their intellects into the fetter of that "grass," and their authorities, when getting ready day by day to assist the deceitful one'

The corruption grāhmaāngs > fgrāhmaō<sup>102</sup> may be due to inattentive perseveration of the form grāhma of the preceding stanza by the scribe of the subarchetype (6.1), but it may

<sup>58</sup> Y. 32,12c PhiT. aweisan gramag az ahláyih dősagdar ké karb hend [ko-šan xwastag weh sahéd kü kär ud kirbag] ud xwadayih xwahiend pad drozzin [pad ahárönih]. wealth is deaser than truth to those who are Karamarsile-nriests [i.e., property seems to them better

which otherwise presents difficulties.

also be influenced by the corresponding Young Avestan form \*grahmo possibly imported from Young Avestan texts dealing with the same subject and lost meanwhile. 103

2.7.7. As a whole, the starrar Y. 32,14 seems to be more poorly transmitted than the rest of the Gádhás (except Y. 53), It is mainly the verb firman in Y. 32,14c, strely a form of root mth 'speak, say,' which is definitely corrupt. It either must be corrected to the 3.sing.aor.pass. mth/Y (the order) is recited,' or, less likely, to the 3.sing.ind.pres.mnait/ 'Evlore saylorders'.

Y. 32,14bc ... ... hyaį visantā dragvantam avōcia

hyalcā gāuš jaidyāi †mraoi (mrāvi) yā dūraošem saocayal avo<sup>104</sup> 'when they get ready to help/refresh the deceitful one

and when the order is recited (by them) "have the bull slaughtered which inflames the fireresisting/death-averting help/refreshment" 185

If we take the stanza in its literal sense then Zarathushra would polemize against opponents who partake of "grass" and, more or less at the same time, offer the gods a preparation of haoma abhorrent to humans, which is somewhat problematic. A possible solution of the problem would be that the prophet condensed the diverging characteristics of two groups of opponents into one complaint, thus availing himself of poetical license, but Y. 48, 10, the other Gâthic passage referring to intoxicatives, is of no help to decide on that.

# 28. The drug an excretion?

28.1. No less than Y. 32,14, the stanza Y. 48,10 was adduced by Nyberg (27.1) as proof of his theory of the banishment of haoma by Zarathushtra previously accepted by ourselves. As a matter of fact the text does not yield what was expected from it by that great scholar, see

Y. 48,10bc kadā acz-ān mūðram ahya madahya vā uneruvā karapanō urūnaveinti

than meritorious deets], and they desire power/rule through deceit [(i.e.), through sin].

To avoid further complication we do not discuss here the strong possibility that the thomatic 3 sing, history is strives to settle' (read disyllable; history is corrupted from the athermatic 3-pin; "histy 'they observe' (cf. the athermatic pers, ptop). OAv. vigst, hillst-which seems to mean "all-observing"). This would fit well with the alurality subject analysis marrattes a shar' destroyers of this existence/world'.

<sup>101</sup> Cf. OAv. casmang gen.sing. of casman-'eve.'

Y. 32,14ab PhiT. ôy ke pud gramag-masay be pud an i kayagan xrad bê dahêd [kê padixsayîh pad parae dahêd pad xrad i aweşan bawêd, kê pad tis i yazdan kor ud karr] / ... ud ka-z padirênd an-i

druwandan ayyarih [a-z pad xrad i awešān bawēnd]

<sup>&#</sup>x27;that one who, for an amount of wealth/payment bestows greatness on the intellect of the Kavis/princes [(that one) who bestows authority (on them) for a bribe, that one will depend on the intellect of those who, with regard to the case of the deities, are blind and deal] / ... and when they accept the help of the deceifful then ther will (depend) on their intellect!.'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> A well-known example of YAv. -0 for OAv. -0 gg is daive for daiving in archaized Young Avestan Y. 12.1 natismi daive 1 abuse/reject the Daivas. As for the import of Young Avestan forms into the Gäthäs see also 13.2, n. 39 on the name of Yima for correct OAv. yelans.

<sup>101</sup> The repetition avo ... avo is as suspect as the repetition grahmo ... grahmo; yet, the correction to avo is ... avo is not favored by the apparent meaning 'woe' of avoi in Y. 45.3.

Y. 32,14c PhIT. ud ka-z ân-i gâw zanišn guft kê-î andar an î duroi guft an î ayyarih [a-z pad xrad î awelân bawend ke ... ]

<sup>&#</sup>x27;and when one has announced the slaughtering of the cow, (that one) who has announced it in regard of the help of the dürüsh, [then they(?) will depend on the intellect of those who ...].'

\*when will they dispose of the m\u00e4\u00dfra- of that intoxicative 107 from which the Karanans/lic-priests badly suffer racking pain/cruption."

# 28,2. At first glance Nyberg's theory seems to be favored by comparison

 of the noun Av. māðra- with Ved.Skt. mātra- 'urine,' with the Avestan word taken as a metaphor for the yellow haoma juice.

(2) of the verb urupayeinti 'they suffer racking pain/eruption' which recalls Ved.Skt. reinvati 'causes racking pain' said of unmixed soma. <sup>108</sup>

#### However.

 in spite of the formal equivalence to its Vedic relative, Av. mūθra- does not mean 'urine' but is, according to its Young Avestan occurrences, a more general term for exerctions, including excrements.<sup>109</sup>

(2) racking pain/eruption is, of course, an effect not only of partaking of unmixed haoma but may refer to an arbitrary number of drugs unmixed and mixed as well.

28.3. The question is whether the real meaning of the phrase m00/mm abps mudulysi is simply the filth of c- which is) that required or the excretion of that intoricative plant. If the former is right, the message of the phrase is unspecific, but if the latter is right then it yields some information on the production of the drong from the juice, oil, or plates, of the respective plant. One might think of opium, its comparison with human excrements being justified by the method of the preparation from the plant. If thosever, opium itself has been known since old as a remedy against digestion troubles, which seems to forbid taking it into account in the present context unless one thinks of the non-boiled lates of the poppy which, as an experienced person told us, must be boiled before being partaken of in order to avoid if adhering to the gastric wall and, thereby, causing heavy stomach pain – a rather unlikely way of consuming that drug.

#### 29. Inflaming in the Hadhökht Nask

29.1. According to the famous fragment of the Young Avestan Hadhökh Nask, section 2.13, the breath-soul (unran-mass.) of a deceased truthful man, obviously a priest, after having passed the Accountant's Bridge (cinvato paratu). A arrives at Paradise. There has in selcounced by his view-soul (utainer-fertil), the personified manifestation of his religious view, which includes the thoughts, worsts, and actions/deck accumulated by him during his lifetime and stored for him in the other world. Appearing in the shape of a maiden of 15 years, the view-soul recalls the religious merits deserved by the deceased person: Whenever he became aware of some layman arranging for a private rich to used to join him to perform the Yasma ceremony.

29.2. Some elements lost in the transmitted text of the Hadhökh! Nask (H.) are preserved as a sort of quotations by the compiler of the Avestan (Valstlags Ysalst (Vys.). Among them is the phrase varanapham valsika Vys. 37 "with the best of choice things,11" which we restore in pointed branckets in IR. 2,13. There the unthor speaks of that layman as inflaming his fire with matter of highest quality, apparently such as the sandalwood in modern Zoronstrian ries, in order to produce securi.

H. 2,13 yaţ făm ainim avalentili varananţliym valsitin soccayacı karanavanţam bacitiksca (mss. buosavasca, buosayisca, buoiyaca) varanzidisca varožinjum urvarostrupucu (var. urvarostrupisca) korsavanţium / naţ tam nilibidoi gablaca satvayo apasca vaţirilica yazamo ătrămea ahuralie mazali naranea afavanam kucinurânô asniaţea gisanţium diriaţero

'whenever you noticed/boserved someone clse owith the best of choice things performing the blazing up (of the fire) and (its producing) scent, and winding bundles/wreaths/ garlands, and performing the spreading of the plants, then you ("the deceased priest) were used to sitting down (for prayer), reciting the Gäthids, secrificing to the good waters and the fire of Ahura Mackd and satisfying the truthful man comine from near or far offs'

29.3. The first member of the phrase success har 'to inflame/blaze up' is the instrag, of a verbal noun scroopsy- (tact of) inflaming' used as a predicative active of the type as event house scroopsy- (tact of) inflaming' is as a predicative active of the type Ved. Stt. gibb #y 'to conceal.<sup>131</sup> Hence it is clear that the verbal stem soccapatinflame, which in Iv. 32,14 occurs in a heterodox context (272.) is found here in a standard Mazdayasmian meaning, but the phrase varaxoñstas varoñistom is less standard-like. It was connected by K. Hoffmann with Ved.Stt. vgbt-b-ent, turned' in the compound vgbt-b-urbin-'one who has put the sacrificial grass around (the fire)<sup>131</sup> and with the name of the Sevichian tribe of the Suka Haumswarra (CP. Suka

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>396</sup> The plarae arx-0n mol9-ram is rendered as PhIT. stainend mularith "they (will) take off the mularith" is which the meaning of mularith is open to discussion. For the rest, the Palhavi translation, which is based upon the miteracting of Av. madalys as anagalary, it is aborded upon the miteracting of Av. madalys as magalary, it is aborded upon these. PhI. stainend mularith recurs two times in Dk. 930,15 (ed. Madan 1911, 888,4 fT.), a hopelessly corrupt test whose correct oriental mars have been a more valuable intercretation of the Galbats starse.

<sup>107</sup> Cf. YAv. mača- 'intoxication' (25.7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> The etymological meaning of root rup/taop seems to be "break." Cf. Lat. rumpere 'to break', 'c-rumpere 'to break out, empt,' but also Khwar. rubpy. NP. rdbddintribly. 'to takehob (from),' see Mystofier, EWAI s.v. ROP. Note that Germ. brechen 'to break' can also be used in the sense of 'to vomit' (more formally: (siek) erbrechen).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> The most middles is transmitted in a Young Aventu series of deal and infective materials which are to be collected from the soil before utilities a dapsin and which may drop from a nating deal both drawn out from water to put it on dry ground. Visl. 6,729 assigness unstaumes aptrumer moltispens can supplications; from, hair, relate-visioniling(2), exceptioniling(2), exceptioniling(2) and materials and non-testinith The obscure Pill. w "dry stands for Av. aptrus(n), which is likely in come from root state? those ways, ext if do?".

<sup>110</sup> Simplified to 'this filth of drink' by J. Duchesne-Guillemin 1952.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> The unripe seed capsules of the poppy are incised to obtain their milky sap which, within several hours, changes into a red-brown heavy-scented latex. This is formed to globules, which nowadays are meeferably smoked but which may be eaten as an analestic and a narcotic as well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> As to vasorabi 'choice thing/good' cf. Vid. 18,64 Brittom spontary dismatolis vasural apayassaire paintitii, "be takes off the choice things of Beneficient Rightomindeness, er he earth, 19,41 one third by (just) having a look at them; Vyt. 50 sportum atmairim us aidid vasorib barabi '(ns for) Beneficient Right-insideness; vou will brime out (from her) her choice send.

<sup>113</sup> K. Hoffmann, Aufsitze 2, 1976, 341, but Hoffmann himself, ibid. 611, n. 6 puts \*saociya without dealing with the context.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Hoffmann loc.cit. did not discuss the fact that the sequence of the two Avestan actions varaxaönlsca variözintan and urvarixstran ca karanavantan diverges from the otherwise corresponding Vedic one which has the inverse order, see, e.g., RV, 1,142,5.

hamarwaya, Gr. Sakai Amyajiol), which, then, would mean 'those who put hacome wives around (the frei). Yet, kinki pin oaccount that he name of that renowed group hardly refers to such rintal particularity, we prefer to explain the compound hamaryage, as "wearing bundles/weathly affaired in a form to right," comparing its hitherto succeptained second member rargas with its exact pohonetic equivalent Stx. targas 'a division, set, class' (e"bande"). Unfortunately the remains of the figure of the throne-bearer on the south tom of Perspoils labeled OP. said. Animarvayag (API 4) are too unspecific as to corroborate this conclusion. At any rate, though, the combination of the uncommon phrase warnas/disca warnof/than with the name of the Saka tite as such points to Central Asia, quite far from Persis/Flas, the center of Zoroastrian orthodoxy in the historical persis.

#### 30. Haoma, omōmi, amōmis, and amōmon/amomum

30.1. Plustach's omomi ("am-omn") interpreted by us as a designation of haoma (27.2 with n. 03) shows a close similarity to Gr. amômis (Lat. amômis), more commonly Gr. amômon (Lat. amômis), which denoies various plants of vague definition all of which are said to serve as medicaments and/or as spices. A chaotic mixture of information on the amômum, apparently subsuming quite different plants, possibly also of mysterious nature, under the same name, is offered by Pliny the Elder (until 79 C.E.) in his Naturalis Historia.

Plin. (ed. and tral. H. Rackham) 12,48.49113 Amount was in use of eex Indica visite that the abstrace, onto at a dit existimates we furtice totusco, spain altitudine, enginetique cum radice, manipulatin heintee compoultur, protinum fragile. —! ... naschur et in Amnesiae parte queue vocatur Otene et in Media et in Portio. ... Est et queue vocatur amonis, minus venous atque durior ex eminus odonats, quo suparet aut aliude esse aut colligi immaturum. The clustered amonum is much in sue; tis obtained from the Indian vid vine, or as other people have supposed from a twisted shrub a hand high, and it is plucked with its root and then geaturly present of opsether too bundles, as it is liable to break in liable to the part of Armenia called Chere, and also im Media and in Pontus. ... There is also another substance called amonis, which is not so full of veins and is harder and has leas seen, thowing that it is either a different plant or amonum that has been gathered unitye."

30.2. In the Loeb dittill put the Loeb dittille put the Loeb dittill put the Loeb dittill put the Loeb dittille put the Loeb dittill put the Loeb dittille put the Loeb dittil

information provided by the Christian author Orosins (until c. 420 C.E.), who, in his description of the virtually same route in the inverse direction from West to East, unambiguously places the origin of the amonum on a Central Asiatic mountain massiff or mountain range of the name Menarmali situated in a region where we expect the origin of harms.

Orosius Historiae (ed. M.-P. Armaud-Lindert 1990) 1,2,4 la factae Tigidis usque ad Charas citiateur inter Muscapeus er Parthos mons Ariobazzanes; 42 a Charris citiateu usque ad oppolune Cathippi inter Hyczonos et Bactranos mons Memarmali, abd amontum nascitur; a quo proximum ingum mons Parthau dicitur; 43 ab oppido Cathippi usque ad uicum Saltini inter Dabas Sacrenases et Parthienes mons Octobares, ubi Canges flunius oritur

41 from the source of the Tigris up to the city of Charnae between the (Scythian) Massagetes and the Parthians Mount Ariobarzanes (e-Elburz) (extends), 42 from the city of Charnae up to the town of Cathippi between the Hyrennians and the Bactrians Mount Memarmali (extends), where amonum grows; the elevation next to it is called Mount Parthaus, 43 from the town of Cathippi to the village of Safrie between the (Scythian) Dubae, Sacarancae, and Parthyenae, Mount Oscobares (extends), where the river Ganges has its source.

The selection of geographical names displayed by Orosius or, rather, by the geographical map underlying his description, looks somewhat adventurous, <sup>18</sup>b ut it is not necessary to go into details; it will suffice to draw attention to the strong recemblance which Orosius's Ahemamia ('Nether Marmania' (Nether (Marmania') Castler) (Marmania') to Marmania' (Teatler) (Marmania') to Marmania' (Teatler) (Marmania') to Marmania' (Nether (Marmania') Castler) (Marmania') to Marmania' (Nether (Marmania') to Marmania') to Marmania' (Nether (Marmania') to Marmania' (Nether (Marmania') to Marmania') to Marmania' (Nether (Marmania') to Marmania' (Nether (Marmania') to Marmania') to Marmania' (Nether (Marmania') to Marmania' (Nether (Marmania') to Marmania' (Nether (Marmania') to Marmania' (Nether (Marmania') to Marmania' (Neth

# 31. Manaobago and soothsaying Haoma

3.1.1. Fragmentary though highly valuable information on the development of the Mazdayasnian Religion in eastern Iran, geographically far from the center of Zoroastrian orthodoxy in Persis, and chronologically before the reform of the Mazdayasnian church under Shapur and his high priest Kirdir, can be derived from the pictorial representations of deities of a syncretistic pantheon on the reverses of the famous coins issued by the Kushan Kings Kanishka (recently called the Great), Huvishka, and (less manifold) Vasudeva, who are sometimes subsumed under the term 'the Great Kushans' (c. 130-232 C.E.). <sup>19</sup> Originating from far-off regions of Central Asia the Kushans, the most renowed group of the so-called Indo-Scythians, he

<sup>115</sup> Rackham, vol. IV (1945/1968), 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> For rich further evidence see K. Kattunen 1997, 152-154, who, though, is focused on the Indian subcontinent strictly speaking (where, however, no vine grows) and, therefore, did not come across Orosius.

Pliny's 'Indian wild vine' also points to that formerly wine-growing region (21.4.2).

<sup>118</sup> Claurae may be the same as the Mesopotamian Carrhae (Kairhai) mentioned numerous times in antic literature. Cathingin Ci. Catippa on the Tabula Peutingeriana XI 3 top, Saphari Cf. Saphanri ib. 3/4 top. The name of Mount Oxcobares is of Iranian origin ('of high creast').

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> In scholarly literature the names of the Kushan Kings are customarily given in their Indian forms as above. The respective Bactrian spellings are Kaneško, Ooëško, Bazodeo.

extended their rule over Bactria (North Afghanistan), the Hindukush, and the Indux valley into the heart of North India with its capital Patna (Skr. Pshapitura, Polemy Pali(m)bothra). Kanishka's first coins show inscriptions in Greek, changing over very soon to the Middle Iranian language of Bactrians and its capital Bactra (8.2). As nearly all the other Bactrian texts preserved, these inscriptions are written in Bactrian serpts, a regional variant of the Greek alphabet, thus giving evidence of the continuity of the Hellenistic tradition in the Comert's Achaemend startapy.<sup>20</sup>

- 31.2. The delities depicted on the reverses of these coins are provided with their respective names, bus offering an extraordinary opportunity to enlarge our knowledge of the religious history of their time. Excellent photographic reproductions of the coins were published by the enthistorian J. M. Rosenfield 1967 and, finally, in 1984, in a gigantic edition by the numismatist R. O881, a brilliant explorer of technical and iconographical details who, however, had but limited access to the philological treatment of the historical problems involved.<sup>121</sup>
- 31.3. In connection with the discussion on Haomarhaoma (30) we draw attention to the Kushain god annate Mannabago and pictured on several coins of Kanishka and Huvishka (Göbl nos. 59, 151, enlarged on pl. 160), here depicted on fig. 2, p. 59. Of all the decities on the Kushan coins this is one of the most difficult to relate to religious and literary sources, as Rosenfield 79 states who gives the following description of its pictorial representation:

"Male seated on face, but head in profile to r. Wears 'Macedonian helmet' ... with tripartite creat ornament. Lunar crescent attacched to the shoulders. Has frour arms upper 1, holds sceptre or insigne, lower 1, eakra with hub and 12 gems, upper r, circlet or torque, lower r. diadem. Sits upon heavily cushioned throne with lion's feet. Wears tunic, belt, and knee boots."

Cf. Göbl 41 who adds that Manaobago's seat ("sofa") lacks a backrest, a particularity which is of high relevance: The god, sitting upright in the moonlight in obviously high concentration, has put himself into a trance, an interpretation of his pictorial representation which is corroborated by the analysis of his name.



fig. 2

The Bactrian god Manac-bago 'Lord of Thought' apparently an attribute of soothsaying Haoma (see here 31.3-6) depicted as a four-armed deity wearing a Macedonian helmet on the reverse of a coin of the Kushan King Kanishka Inscription in Graeco-Bactrian script From R. Gibbl 1984. no. 591

Drawing by R. Göbl in H. Humbach 1974, 195

An additional character is h. transliterated \$(sh), see 34.2 with n. 129.

The em of the Great Kealann istent desurt new century, the end is marked by the start of the Kealann are in the year 222 (or 231) CE. This dise, which sevents to be generally necepted and which has become fundamental for the pre-blame is instead of Central Asia, was catalished in H. Humbols 166-66.7, 1, 1-18. In its difficult to digest the englanation by which Gibl 1994, 5-61 from to fix the year 233 (previously he had operated with 223) as that of the accession of Kaniblas (the Great), marging it allow limeded years her and studieg it as almost instrumentors with that of the Samanian worth closer imperion. In the pold coinage of Vinns Kasphinsk (oxomo kadrias), usually understood as a practicensor of Kaniblas the Great, which allowed the continuous pold coins, which follow the standard of the Roman denarins, but also doubtle denaris, in minoration which, according to Gold 85, as not thinkable before the year 21 SCI. in which the Roman emperor Caresalis instruction of the Common denarins, the standard of the Roman denarins, but also doubtle denaris, in minoration which, according to Gold 85, as not thinkable before the year 21 SCI. in which the Roman emperor Caresalis instruction which the care the standard of the Roman denarins, but also doubtle denaris, in minoration which, according to Gold 85, as not thinkable before the year 21 SCI. in which the Roman emperor Caresalis instruction of the Roman denarins and the standard of the Roman denarins and the standard of the Roman denarins and the standard of the Romanian of the Romanian and the Romanian of the Romanian and the Romanian of the Romanian and the Romani

31.4. Nobody hus ever doubted bago meaning 'lord,' manao, though, was mysterious for a long time. Rosenfield 79 f. (with no. 45 on his p. 291) discusses a possible link with the name of the deipy Maro Moon' depicted on Kushan coins as well or with the Amsaba Sponta Vohu Manath 'Good Thought,' but this is just guesswork. Manaobago doubtless means, 'lord of Thought,' from Oir 'manabala bagad or, in Avesant nerms, 'manapho bayo, see H. Humbach 1974, 193-196, Although such a syntagma is neither attested in the Avesta nor in the later Zoroastrian literature it must be of Proto-Aryan origin as we inferred from its parallel 'Ved.Skt. manasas pais'- lord of thought,' an epithet of Soma (RV. 9,11,8 and 9,28,1)<sup>370</sup> which points to Manaobago being a name of Homona in his finction as the good of divination and soothsaying 65.2.3.

The sociolinguistic background

31.5. The hallucinogenic efficiency of the haoma plant and the divinatory gift stimulated by its consumption is praised in a Yasna section outside the Höm Yasht:

Y. 57,20 huvacă păpă.vacă pairi.gă.vacă pai@imnö vispô.paesim mastim yam pouru.ăzaiŋtim ma@rabeca paurvatātam

"(Hanona is) of good/auspicious statements, (he is) of bad/non-auspicious statements, (he is) avoiding statements, he disposes of the exhilaration producing pictures of all kinds (and) abounding in perception, and (he disposes) of the pre-eminence of the mantra/sacred word\*

The section was completely misunderstood by the Pahlavi translator, who, followed by modern scholarship, rendered pāpa- 'bad' (= Ved. Skt. pāpā- 'bad'!) as Phl. pānagīh 'protection, 'and pairī,gā 'soing/stepping around' (from root gā 'go/step') as Phl. abar pad hangām understood as 'at the right time.' 123

31.6. Although the instances of Manaobago on the Kushan coins are the only pictorial representations of Haoma (and Soma) that have come down to us, they most likely go along with an iconographical pattern inherited from the Proto-Aryan time. Starting out from the moon home attached to the shoulders of the god, which originally simply symbolized nighttime, either branch of the Aryans followed its own mystical line of thought. Post-Veitic India, which had abandoned the some simula, understood Soma/soma as a name of the moon, regarding it as the receptacle of the anylar, the drink of immortality of the gods. The Iranians developed the concept of the plant YAv. gundosrans-(Phi, godzana) 'having bullcow horns,' just shortly mentioned in the Avesta with the Bundahishn equanting it to the mythical White Höm, which plays an important part in Mazdavasmian eschatology (25.51). <sup>236</sup>

# 32. Mozdooano

32.1. The Kushan coins depicting a god named Mozdooano (Göbl no. 61) allow us to throw a further glance into heterodox traditions of the Iranian religion. His picture is described by Rosenfield 82. fa so follows:

"Extendy are, Equestron make facing r, inding a two-headed based: All examples have this insusual and huse fir unexplained conceptibiled floature. Dely is bearded, wears feverand-pointing hat similar to Phryglan cap (see a ho [Rosenfield's] fig. 58 [Musicians in Seythian contample, flader, hair is in annual Parthian burst at the back of next, gearf over ann; cerries long staff with single ring near top. Foot is covered with heavy boot or cloth, and points downward."

#### Somewhat differently Göbl 42 f.:

"Reiterfigur eines bärtigen Mannes auf doppelköpfigem Pferd nach rechts: langes Gewand (Mantel?); plumpe Stiefel; Diadem mit Bündern; (dieses) über Kappe ähnlich der Krone z des Kanişka I. |= Kanishka (the Great); in der Rechten Dreizack mit Bändern haltend, die Linke offenbar an den Zügeln; der Reiter trägt ein Wehrgehänge, (dieses) aber rechts, daran Schwart feher als Köcker?)

Neither Rosenfield nor Göbl noticed that Mozdooano has the appearance of a warlike Central Asiatic ruler. He may have been the god of the royal family of the Kushans.

3.2.2. The object at the top of Mozdocano's staff, according to Rosenfeld a ring [or, rather, the lower half of a ring], is more plausibly interpreted by Golb 42 f. as a trident with ribbons attached. Accepting Gobb's interpretation, N. Sims-Williams 1996, 85 and J. Cribb ib. 108 f. conclude that Shiva must be involved, a conclusion which lacks terminological clarity. They think of that god whose Bactrian name always is Geba but who is depicted on the Kushan coins with the characteristics of Indias Shiva, which in our opinion means that Shiva is the Indian interpretation of the Iranian god, and not the other way round 550. 135

32.3. Linking the two-headedness of Mozdoonn's horse with the "ambivalence of Shiva" (i.e., OsbochShiva!), Sinx-Williams loc. cit. 2m and 1997 transfers the meaning the generous/gracious one' of Shiva's name (biva-) to Mozdoono, the Scythian warrior, deriving his name from Olt. "middowan." thus virtually making of the Bactrian name a sort of loan translation of its supposed Indian model. In regard of the two-headedness of the horse of the god we prefer to explain the name of Mozdoono as coming from "mazda-vana- vining or wisdom" ships, basads for "mazda-vana- vining."

<sup>122</sup> A further instance of mánusus púti- is RV. 10,164,1, the first stanza of a hymn whose recitation is understood by the tradition as chasine bad dreams.

<sup>123</sup> Y. 57,20 PhIT. xub gowišn [ku an i fraron gowed] (ān) i pānāg gowišn [kū ān gowed ā-š pānāgih az-iš] ud abar pad hangām gowišn [i ān gāh gowed i ôh abayed guftan]

<sup>&#</sup>x27;speaking (what is) good [i.e., he speaks that which (is) honest], (speaking) that which is the speech of a protector [i.e., he speaks that from which protection results], and speaking at the (right) time [i.e., one speaks at the time it is (titing to smeak).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Av. karana-'hom' exactly corresponds with Germanic horn < \*kpnom, cf. Lat. cornt (originally dual of hypothetical cornum < \*kpnom). Of different origin must be Av. sarah- and Ved.Skt. śiras- 'head,' and Ved.Skt. śirása- 'head,' and Ved.Skt. śirása- 'head,'</p>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Göbl does not seem to be sure about the correct designation of King Visusdevas weapon as depicted on his coias no. 504 ff. (partly enlarged on pl. 159), calling it a lance in the survey on his, 11 (lather pl. 178 of the photographic documentation). By his downing "Lame" Deretzek" on his p. VI he apparently tries to demonstrate that the picture of the royal trident had gradually developed from that of a lance with bibons. Further explanation is wanning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> To underline this interpretation Sims-Williams also quotes F. Grenet (p.c.), who "suggests that, if Mozdooano is to be linked with Kushan Shiva then the two-headedness of the horse could be a reference to the dual nature, zood and evil, of Shiva."

As preserved in Khot. mäḍe, mäḍāna- 'generous/gracious.'

manner as the term mazda-yasna- 'worshiper of Mazda' for \*mazda-yasna-. In the same way as in Old Norse iconography the eight legs of Odin's horse denote its own swiftness and, thereby, that of Odin as well, the two heads of Mozdooano's horse certainly symbolize the wisdom of the animal and, even more, that of its rider.

# 33. The Rabatak inscription

- 33.1. The Bactrian inscription of Kanishka (the Great) (31.1) discovered in Rabatak (Baghlan, North Afghanistan), published and dealt with by Sims-Williams (in: 1996), offers a list of two goddesses and five gods, obviously the seven most prominent deities worshiped by the Great King and his entourage.
- 1. Lady Nana fa amso nasal, attested on numerous coins as nama fao 'Queen Nana'. According no Rosendind 85 of Mesopolamia origin: "In altest found in the Temple of Matzuk at Babylon, Nana was described as 'Lady of Indies, goldens of goddenses, directors of mankind, mistress of the spirits of heaven, possessor of sovereign power, the light of heaven and earth, daughter of the Moon God, rate of weapons, whitness of battles, goddens of love; the power over princes and over the scepter of kings."
  2. Lady Omant fa same on many appears only on one coin as ommo (6ibh Ino. 310). There
- she is fucing the god Ocsho/Shiva for which reason she is usually equated with Skt. Uma, the wife of Shiva, an equation which does not necessarily have etymological quality, Omma/Ommo possibly being a nursery word.
  - Aoromazdo (aoromazdo) diverges from the coin inscription \(\delta\)oromazdo, here p. 27, fig. 1.
     Mozdooano (mozdooano) on three coins (32), here p. 63, fig. 3.
- 5. Sroshardo (srošardo), ef. YAv. sraoša ašija- 'the deity of hearing/obedience followed by reward. No coins. Cf. Man. Sogd. srwšri ppy. The attribute Av. ašija- > ard 'followed by reward' is reinterpreted as aţavan-> ahray 'truthful' in Man.MP. sröi ahray. Less clear Man.Pth. sröis r for which one would expect 'srošardātu. No coins.
- Narasao (narasao) < YAv. nairyo.sagha-, the messenger of Ahura Mazdă (Vid. 19,34 nairyo.saghô ašio mazdă ahurahe, PhIT. nyrywksng). Cf. Man.MP. mysh, Man.Pih. mysf, Man.Soud. nršnx byv. No coins.
  - 7. Miiro (miiro), cf. YAv. mi8ra-, Phl. mihr. Numerous coins.
- 33.2. The Rabatak inscription predominantly looks Mazdayasnian, but in many respects it disagrees with what was canonized at the Mazdayasnian Religion by the Stasmian restoration of the Religion about one century later. The order 'female male' of the genders, which is guite uncommon in Zoroastrian Mazdaisin, recalls the Galbic couple and this dad aghavasca' 'patronesses and patrons' which in Y. 32,11 seems to denote deceifful authorities, be they human or be they devilids. The problem culminates in the name of Mozdooano, which in our view contains mazdis 'wisdom' but which stands for a god other than Alturn Mazda.'
- 33.3. Mozdooano, that Scythian warrior, gives an impression of being a rare survivor of a branch of Mazdaism otherwise unknown to us, i.e., of the spiritual movement following the concept of Wisdom. Originally he may have been a Scythian rival of Ahura Mazda, in the end, though, he was integrated into the pantheon of the Rabatak inscription at the second place after all-traina Ahura Mazda, thus suffering a fate.



fig. 3

The Bactrian god Mondocanor 'Winner of Wisdom' in the outfit of a warlike Kushan King riding a two-headed horse (see here 32) on the reverse of a coin of the Kushan King Kanisha Inscription in Grace-Bactrian soright From R. Göbl 1984, no. 61/3

Drawing by M. Halan

comparable to that of the Parthian nobility, who, at the accession of the Sasanian dynasty, had to cede their precedence over the Persians and to content themselves with the place after these in the official order of rank.

## 34. Kushan coins depicting Iranian deities in Greek garb

- 34.1. From the point of view of the political, cultural, and religious history of eastern Irun and its Inalian bruderlands the names of the delicis depicted on the reverses of the gold coins of the Great Kushans descrive the attention of those interested in the history of Mazdaism, particularly in that of the heterodox and even heathen elements of its tradition. After having discussed above the gold Manaobago (31) and Mozdoanom (32) in detail, we take the opportunity to add a complete survey of the perfinent material. It falls into two groups, a very small number of Greek and a great bulk of inscriptions in Bactrian written in the (Graeco-) Bactrian applanted: 1
- 34.2. The Greek group covers what has been preserved of the first coin emission of Kunishka (the Great), On its observess the pieces are inscribed with the name and the title of the king in the form kannékou basileus basileus 'os (Kanishka, King of Kings.' To render the name of the King (Skt. kaniska) as exactly as possible the Greek alphabet was enlarged by the (Graeco-)Hactrian character b. 150 - The Greek text of the obverses is syntactically incorrect insofar as it connects the gene. AnnelSeu (non. \*Kannéke) with the nominative of its apposition basileus, thus mechanically combining two diverging patterns found on coins of his predecessors. 150
- 34.3. On the reverses of the Greek group the following deities are depicted with their names:
- (h)Ephaistos 'Hephaest,' the name of the Greek god of fire, and especially of the smithly fire, metonymically stands for fire itself in Greek poetry, which was a good precondition for using it as a translation of Bactr. a8to 'Fire.' Gr. pyr 'Fire' was less appropriate because of its neuter gender.
  - 2. (h)Elios 'Helios, Sun,' Gr. for Bactr. miiro (etc.).
- 3. Salené (for correct Gr. seléné) fem. 'Moon' vs. Bactr. mao masc. 'Moon.'
- Nanaia fem., Graceized from the name of the deity nana (33.1) after the same model as Herodotus's Scythian (Zeus) Papaios from \*papas (cf. Gr. pappas 'grandfather').
- Anemos 'Wind,' cf. the appellative noun Gr. anemos 'wind,' personified in order to serve as a Greek equivalent of Bactr. oado 'wind' or, rather, of Bactr. oe8o 'wind, atmosphere' (36).

# 35. Kushan coins depicting Iranian deities

3-5.1.1. The Bactrian vension of the obverses of Kanishka's coins treads &nonnon &no kaneški košano 'King of Kings Kanishka the Kushan.' The word-final -o of Saonano and košano is silent as it is in the majority of the Bactrian names and words. It traces back to the old nomaing, ending -c, which the Cild Iranian predecessor of our (Middle Iranian) Bactrian dialect must have had in common with Avestan.' Mare its reduction to -s, which may have been maintained in measured speech, it disappeared completely as a sound in common language, surviving just as a general graphical marker of word ends of any provenience. 10st The final -i of kaneški Jkanešk-i) is the relative particle [-i] (Mp. -i, Np. -a -o'll r. yad, Av., yad) which connects onous with following attributes, of kaneški insmobatgo 'famous Kanishka' in Surkh Kotal (II. Humbach 2003, 159). On the coins of Kanishka's successor Hurwiskha the relative particle [-i] sopparas as well, first being phonetically replaced by -e [-o] and, then, graphically by the general -o [-o]: oo-88ki kotano > oo-88ki kotano = Oo-

35.2. The collection of the names of the Iranian deities is non-uniform. The first item is typical of the mixture of chronological and dialect variants and of the intrusion of disfigurated forms of names:

1. Assersios 'Best Truth' (Göbl no. 342, 2x) is graphically simplified for "adst/b)-cnoixto, itself a phonetic distinguration of adst/b-vnu(b)dz, a compound contracted from the syntagona YAv. ads- validation in its geasa, from adsthe validation, which especially denoted the 2<sup>th</sup> monal And 3<sup>th</sup> and of each month in the Mazdayasanian calendar and was generalized as casus rectus in the Middle Iranian period. Whereas the genitive ending where of the first member of the Avestan syntagons is preserved on the coins in its Avestan form, it became -e in Man.MP, "by-why5d active-washidt." His view as microscion of it havine become a five avainate of PN, \*rwhth facelly.

<sup>128</sup> Documentation of the coins in Rosenfield 1967 and Göbl 1984 (31.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> The character f<sub>i</sub>, originating from Greek f<sub>i</sub> [fhr], denotes the Avestan aspirated r. It is traditionally pronounced like Av. s [s], but its original value was [fir] as it is rendered in Pahlavi horrowings from Avestan. See K. Hoffmann 1986 and helpow on 48ac/sko (38.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Cf. on the one hand the Greek genitive in (h)ermaiou of (King) Hermaios and kadfizou of (King) Kadphisès; on the other hand the Greek nominative in basileus ooemo kadfises 'King Vima Kadphisès' (Humbach) 96-66-71, 139-71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> On Anemos (not yet in Göbl) see K. Tanabe 1990, who prefers to equate Anemos with Oado.

<sup>132</sup> Reconstructed OBactr. · o is an isogloss of Av. · o (< -ah vs. OP. ·a²), cf. Bactr. bago [βαγ] 'lord' with YAv. bayo [bayo], the initials disagreeing.</p>

<sup>133</sup> Generalized Bacir. -o traces back to -ām in the gen.plur. Saonano « Saonanām "of the kings." An earlier pronunciation of Sāhān Sāh, the Middle Persian equivalent of Bactr. Saonano Sao, reflects in its Sanukri berrowine sāhām sāh; thi culta Inscriptions ps. 1. line 23.

<sup>134</sup> Th. Nöldeke 1879/1973, 269.

<sup>135</sup> The name of Shāba's son Barmūdha looks Iranian rather than Turkish.

i šao bago kaneški namobargo 'the Lord King Kanishka the famous/pious,' see Humbach 2003, 159.

on the earth.

wabiit), yet the calendaric function of the genitive survives in the month name NP, urdibehiit, -Another interesting aspect of Ašae-ixšo is that the phonetic difference between Av. \$ I\$I and \$ (hr), clearly observed in the Sasanian archetype of the Avesta (6.1), was blurred in common Innersore as early as about a hundred and fifty or two hundred years before. 137

- 2. Ardoxšo fard-uxš1 fem. 'Good Reward' depicted as Tvehč/Fortuna. ef. Av. ašiš vaņuhī 'Good Reward.' Phl. ard 'Reward.' ahris-wana 'Good Reward.' From these, one either expects \*ard-ox lardux! with erroneous adoption of the final -50 of the outwardly similar asaeixso, or \*ardis-ox with the Old Persian nom.sing. \*artis preserved in its first member, wherefrom arduxs by metathesis.
- 3. A9šo [ā9š] 'Fire' from the nom.sing. OAv. \*ātaraš [ātṛš] (> YAv. ātarš). 138 less likelv from the gen.sg. Av. 49ro of Fire. 139 - Variant 49ošo [4948] (Göbl no. 208).
- 4. Farro [farr] 'Royal Glory,' ef. Av. xvaranab-, OP. farnah- (in proper names), NP. farr 'id.' 5. lamšo [yamš] (Göbl no. 232A on pl. 171, 1x), short for \*iamo-šēdo [yamšēš], NP. Jamšīd, name of the King of Paradisc of the Iranians (< OP, \*vama-xšaēta-, cf. Av. vima- xšaēta-, Phl. iamšēd). Bactr. iamšo, also attested as a proper name, is explained by F. Grenet 1984, 253-258 as short (graphical or phonetic?) for \*vamo šao 'King Yama,' equating the Iranian name with that of the Indian/Kafirian god Imro < Skt. vama raia, an explanation which is not favored by
- the innumerable occurrences of the full spelling sao in the name of Queen Nana (nana sao). 6. Lrooaspo [Iruwasp] musc., cf. Av. druvaspi-, the female guardian of the horses.
- Manaohago [mana(h)o-βay] 'Lord of Thought,' in Avestan terms \*mananhō bayō (31.4). The genitive ending -o of the first member of the Old Iranian syntagma is preserved as internal a- in the Middle Iranian compound.
- 8. Mao 'Moon' [māh], cf. Av. māh-, Phl. māh. Variant maoo (Göbl no. 149).
- 9. Miiro 'Sun' Imithirl, cf. Av. mi0ra-, Phl. mihr. Sanskrit borrowing mihira- in the name of the astronomer Varihamihira. Miira also in Rabatak (33.1). Numerous variants among which meiro, mioro, miuro for which cf. the varying forms borzo-miuro, borzo-miuro, and borzomioro of the proper name Burzmihr in Surkh Kotal (SK 4).
- 10 Mordoogno 'Winner of Wisdom' (32, 33.3). 11. Nana and nana Sao Inana Sawl 'Oucen Nana,' differently ia amso nana in Rabatak (33.1),
- cf. Sogd. nny and nn-δβ mbn 'Lady Nana.' 12. Oanindo [wanind] fem, 'victorious/Victory,' depicted as Nikē/Victoria, cf. Av. vanainti uneratăt- 'Victorious Superiority.'
- 13 Ondo (wa8) 'Wind,' cf. Av. vata- Phl. wad 'wind,' Bactr. ondo is attested only on conner coins, which suggests that he is not as highly respected as oeso 'Wind.' - Note the artificial connection of the gen.sg. vayaof of Av. vayu- "wind" with the nom.sg. vato of Av. vāta- 'wind' in Vid. 19,16 vayaoš uparō.kairyehe vātō taxmō mazdaōāto where the redactor annarently tried to make a difference between the movement of air in the atmosphere and that
- 14. Oaxšo IwaxšI 'the River god,' cf. Khwar. waxš 'the angel who is in charge of the water and especially of the river Oxus.' The proper name wxswprtbs [waxsu-purt-bag] 'Lord-of-the-River-fords' is transmitted on one of the Aramaco-Iranian inscriptions found in the valley of Laghman far off from the Oxus (G. D. Davary and H. Humbach 1974, 12).

15. Oeso [west, cf. Av. vayu- 'wind/atmosphere,' equated with Shiva (36).

16. Ommo fem, pictured together with Oësho/Shiya on Göhl no. 310 (1x), equated with Skt Umā, the wife of Shiva; the spelling omma in Rubutak continues the Old Iranian feminine ending -a (33.1).

- 17. Ooromozdo Johnnovdf (Göbl no. 240, only 2x, see here p. 27. fig. 1), diverging from aoromazdo (a(h)urmazd) in Rabatak (33.1). A third variant of the Bactrian name of Ahura Mazdā weakly attested on the coins is the dissected couple orom and ozdo, the former in Göhl no. 333, the latter in no. 334, replaced by axia in no. 335. All of them are accompanied by the picture of an indefinable male figure, 140
- 18. Orlagno "Victoriousness." cf. YAv. vara9tavna- neutr/masc. "(deity of) breaking resistance/breakthrough,' a derivation from YAv. vara9rajan- adi. 'breaking resistance, victorious." Possible variant ošlagno, the Bactrian letter o Ir I being provided with a slight hook at its left upper corner on several specimens.
- 19. Rišto (rišt) fem. (Göbl no. 288 1x), on two specimens (Göbl no. 332) written with a dwarfed -o turned upward like a flourish and, therefore, erroneously read risti.141 The deity is described by Rosenfield 96 f. as wearing "a crested helmet, a body armor, and a long chiton, holding in her left hand a spear; in her right hand a shield"; Göbl 1984, 45 convincingly thinks of Pallas Athene/Minerva. F. Grenet 1984 connects the name with that of the Avestan deity arštāt- 'straightness/sureness/preciseness' whose name is simplified in Y, 57,33 to arštihomonymous with the appellative noun arsti- 'lance.' Yet, arsto is from 1810' which cannot become risto in Iranian. The outward appearance of risto rather points to risto- (Av. iristo-Ved.Skt. ristá-) whose meaning 'damaged, injured' is understandably no appropriate name of a deity, for which reason we think it possible that risto on the model of the coin inscriptions was corrupted from \*a-risto 'the undamaged/unhurt one' (Av. a-irista-), possibly in the sense of
- 20. Šaorčoro (šabrčwar). Desirable Rule/Power, from the gen.sg. Av. xša9rabe vairvehe: cf. Phl. štrywar [šahrēwar] along with Man.MP.Pth. šhrywr and the month name NP. šahriwar Sahrir, - Variant šahrēoar (Göbl no. 381 1x).
- Teiro [tir], cf. Phl. tir 'mercury' and Av. tira- (in the proper name tiro.nakaθβa-).

## 36. Oësho

36.1. The obverses of the coins of Vima Kadphises, who is generally considered the predecessor of Kanishka (the Great). 143 show a portrait of the king encircled by a Greek inscription of varying length, the longest of which runs basileus basileon soter megas ooëmo kadohisës 'King of Kings Vima Kadohisës, the Great Savior,' their reverses, however, follow a pattern different from those on the coins of Kanishka and his

<sup>137</sup> Note in this connection also the Bactrian date mano place to goldti month Ashaicshoto (day) Goldti in the Tochi inscription ITSB (Humbach 1994, 142 f.).

<sup>138</sup> Cf. OAv. audaras nom.sg. of audar-'frost,' the antonym of 'fire,' in Y. 51,12.

<sup>139</sup> For possible a850 < 8810 cf. Bactr. x5010 'year' borrowed from Gr. chronos 'time.'</p>

<sup>140</sup> The figure of Orom/Ozdo is described by Rosenfield 101 as "a type of bearded male with high cylindrical cap; staff in left hand, right hand in the gesture of varada-mudrā. Cap is similar to those worn by Indra in Gandhäran sculpture." Differently Göbl 46 "mit hohem nilzartisen Hut (wie Modius)," apparently thinking of Sarapis.

Similarly, the half-cursive version B of the Surkh Kotal inscription SK 4 ends with a flourish turned downward, thus suggesting the erroneous reading bozzonioro kirdi 'made by Burzmihr' instead of intended correct kindo

<sup>142</sup> On the reverses of Iluvishka's coins one finds furthermore the Egyptian Sarapis (sarapo) and the Greek Herakles (Frakilo), who is depicted with a club.

<sup>143</sup> On the problematic nature of the relative chronology see 31.2, n. 121.

successors, by molding the translation of the Bactrian text into a somewhat debased Sandarit written in Kharoshthi script which nurs mahrapisar rajidarinjass sarran-logeidvarasa mahrelwarasa trandarasa vimasa katphistasa 'o' the Great King, King of Kings, the Lord of the World, the Great Lord (and) Savior Vima Katphistas' (see Göbl plate 1). The Samsheti inscription encircles a variety of pictures of a god whose name is missing but whose iconographical characteristics clearly point to Indian Stiva (32.2-3). The same god is depicted on the reverses of numerous cosins of Kanishka and Huvishka, and exclusively on those of Vasudeva (34.1); on all of these he is given the Bactrian name Ochbo Geoble, to whom the Indian aco Shive owas equated. <sup>44</sup>

36.2. The name of cosio [well] comes from Av. vayus, the nonzag. of Av. vayu: "wind" (Op. "sayue, Ph. way). The unexpected preservation of the Old Imaina nominative ending a six certainly due to oelo being short for the compound "ock-pargara" [well-pargar] which was contracted from the syntagma Av. vayus parackariyo 'wind active in the upper region. The syntagma survives in Man.Sogd. welgarkar (welgarka), as of of three faces (ôty pth), who in a Buddhist text is duplicated with Mahādeva (my"bpl), i.e., with Shiva, see H. Humbach 1975.

36.3. The concept of Iranian VayuVAyu is of Proto-Aryan origin. In some of its Rigeodic occurrences Ekt. vajvi. visurd is presented as a Dewaglod closely connected with Indra, a fact which has us expect him to have been demonized in orthodox Muzdaism. As a matter of fact, the Daèvish/devilish character of Vayu is clearly expressed in two Young Avestan passages where he is described as a demon of donlt:

Aog. 77-81 pairi9βo bavaiti pantā ... hāu dīt aēvā apairi9βo yo vayaoš anamarždīkahe \*avoidable is the way ... but the only (way) which is unavoidable is that of pitlless Vayu' Vid. 5,8 astō viδōtuš dīm bandayeiti vayo (\*vayuā<sup>45</sup>) dīm bastem nayeiti 'dissolution binds hīm, Vayu leads him of fin bonds'

That Vayu's function described here is that of a Daëva/devil definitely results from a similar passage in Vid. 19,29 where almost the same function is attributed to a Daëva named Vizarasha 'drugging away': vizarash daëvo name a unuranam bastam vakayeiti druvatam 'the Daëva Vizarasha carries him off in bonds.' Yet especially relevant in regard of the conventional view is the negative context of the Gilbic occurrence of vayu- in Y. 53,6 vayū bastadasbyb duša'xarasbam. These three words are usually translated by the western scholars as 'for those crying woe (there shalls be) bad food,' ononetheless they rather mean 'with the wind (away with him) to those offering foul food (= to hell). "48

36.4. In contrast with these negative occurrences a most positive picture of Vayu is drawn in the very popular Yt. 15 where he is celebrated as a heavily armed warrior

<sup>144</sup> In contrast with the syneretistic Octo-Siva, the gods Bizago (Viśakha), Boudo/Boddo (Buddha), Maaseno (Mahasena), Sakarmano (- Sakyamuni), Skando Kemaro (Skanda Kumāra) depicted on the coins of Kanishka and Huvishka are purely floding node.



Tig. 4

The Bactrian god O&So [Wesh] 'Wind/Atmosphere' equated with the Indian god Shiva (see here 36) on the reverse of a coin of the Kushan King From R. Göbl 1984, no. 535/2

Drawing by M. Hahn

Inscription in Graeco-Bactrian script with the typical Bactrian character  $p = \delta$ Note the faint mint marks Gr. A and Skt. Hi (or Phi?) left undiscussed by Göbl

vavo for \*vavus is due to the mistake of a copyist influenced by the subsequent vayo 'birds.'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> Therewith they follow – most times unknowingly – Phl. hotiën 'withering, decay' by which the Pahlavi translation renders both väyü 'with the wind' and vayöi 'woe' in the subsequent Y. 53,7.

83 ff.

worshiped by all the heroes of the legendary history of the Iranians - a rather unveiled relic of the literature of Iran's pagan neriod. Nevertheless, this positive picture is modified in the Yasht by several allusions to an ambivalent character of the god:

- Vi. 15.3 vašta azam nijapāni amahe majnyāuš damanam naēciš avat vat spantahe
- '(a worshiper prays;) let me smite (any) of the creatures of the Harmful Spirit but none of the Beneficent one
- Vi. 15.43-44 uva dama vavemi ... uva dama vanami vasca da9at spanto mainvuš vasca da9at anro mainvuš
- 'I chase (and) overcome all creatures, those whom the Beneficent Spirit created and those whom the Harmful Spirit created'
- Cf. furthermore Y, 25.5 vaëm ašavanam vazamaide ... aëtat të vayo vazamaide vat të sponto,mainvaom 'we celebrate truthful Vayu, ... we celebrate that of your traits, O Vayu, which derives from the Beneficent Spirit,' a passage which implies that Vayu has harmful characteristics as well.
- 36.5. Whereas Indra was absolutely demonized in Mazdavasnian Iran (20), the less orthodox Zoroastrian tradition attributed to Vayu an ambivalent nature, a concept which is most manifestly systemized in the Pahlavi counte way i web ... way i wattar 'the Good Wind (and) the Bad Wind, 147 and which is also mirrored in the fact that Yt. 15, though being dedicated to Vavu, was given the name of Ram Yasht by the Avesta tradition, assigning it to the deity Ram (Av. raman-, Phl. ram 'peace').
- 36.6. While the rendering of the God of Wind, he it Vayu/Wesh or Oado/Wad, as Gr. Anemos 'Wind' (34.3) is a more or less forced attempt to Hellenize that Iranian god of Proto-Arvan descent, his equation with the Indian Shiva depicted in Greek style on the Kushan coins is a highly impressive manifestation of the Irano-Indian Hellenism coupled with a strong non-Mazdavasnian tendency and obviously being a consequence of the expansion of the Kushan rule into India proper.

# 37. The ordeal, the fire, the molten metal, and the balance

- 37.1. The OAv. noun rang-, which four times occurs in the dual number and once in the plural, is a central term of Zarathushtra's doctrine of remuneration and punishment both in this and the other life, but its meaning is controversial. From PhIT. pahikar-daran "fighters" (Phl. nahikar "struggle/hattle/dispute") Gäthä scholarshin derived the meaning 'the two religious parties (fighting against each other),' which hardly can be correct since rina- in all its occurrences stands in an auspicious context.
- 1. In Y. 31,3 and 51,9 rāna- appears in the textual vicinity of xšnūt- 'satisfaction.' a term similar to 'reward' for which cf. Young Avestan Y. 60,2 ašonam xšnūtasca ašayascā vyādaibišcā paiti.zantayascā 'the satisfactions of, rewards for, distributions for, and recognitions of the truthful.'

2. In Y. 31,19, 47,6, and 51,6 we find the noun vidāiti- 'distribution' whose favorable meaning emerges from the verb vīdāyāt 43,12.

3. In Y. 31.19 and 47.6 we find the loc.sg. vanhau 'in the good way/on the good side' which possibly refers to the credit balance. This also applies to 43,12 savoi, the loc.sg. of sava-, which we render as 'at the benefaction/salvation' but for which PhIT has said 'profit,' cf. NP. saw 'tribute.'

37.2. As was pointed out as early as in Humbach, Gathas 1959, 2 (ad 31.3), OAv. rānamust be the same word as YAv. 1810a- 'thigh/leg.' yet no acceptable solution of the actual meaning of the word in the Gäthic context could be offered before Humbach. Gāthās 1991, 2 (ad 31,3) according to which rāna-denotes the balance, i.e., the two legs of the scales of the balance. In daily language rana- must have been used as a term of trading, in the Gäthic vocabulary, however, it is said of the weighing of the pros and cons in legal proceedings held in this world by a high-ranking priest, in the other world, though, by Ahura Mazdā himself,

37.3. In Y. 31.3. 31.19. 47.6. 51.9. rana-stands in the textual vicinity of atar-'fire.' The glosses recorded by the otherwise helpless Pahlavi translator unanimously say boxt ud eraxt paydag dahed 'it makes manifest the saved/redeemed and the condemned/ damned,' which is certainly right: Zarathushtra speaks of the fire-ordeal which is performed by applying molten metal (Y. 51,9 ayanha xšusta) or 'glowing metal' (Y. 32.7 x ačná avanhá). 148

37.4. Attested are the dual forms rānōibyā (instr.dat.abl.du. in Y. 31.3. 47.6. 51.9) and rānavā (gen.du. in 31.19), furthermore the plural rānōibyō (dat.abl.pl. in 43.12), which draws attention to the possibly distributive use of the dual ("arbitrary number of pairs of scales/balances"):

V. 31.3 vam då majovű á9rácá ašácá cőiš rápőibvá xšnútem

'(tell us) the satisfaction which you fix by (your) spirit and (your) fire and which you assign through truth with the balance' Y. 31,19 9βā ā9rā suxrā ... vaghāu vidātā ranayā

'at the distribution (of the result) of the balance, (to be performed) in the good (case) by your red fire' Y. 43,12 aši ... vā vi ašiš rānoibyo savoi vidāyāt

'along with (the deity) Reward who, in the favorable (case), will distribute the rewards with the balance'

Y. 47.6 tā dā spəntā mainvū mazdā ahurā

a9ra vanhau vidaitim ranoibya ārmatōiš dəbazanhā ašaxyācā

'through this beneficent spirit, O Wise Lord,

(and) through the fire you fix, in the good (case), the distribution with the balance

See the masterly edition, translation, and discussion of the pertinent passages by R. C. Zaehner 1955,

according to the extent/weight of right-mindedness and truth'

<sup>108</sup> Cf. Young Avestan Yt. 13,2 asmanam yo hillaite ayanho kalupa x'aenahe 'the heaven which appears in the shape of glowing metal."

Y. 51,9 yam ximitam ranoibya dl. 8βii 88rii suxrii mardii ayanjan xisata aibi ahviahi dixtilam diavoi makayeqhie daqqatam savayo advanam 'which satisfaction you fix with the balance, by your red fire, O Wise One (and) by the molten metal.' in attach a sign (of that) to the minde to harm the decertification was obsertificated to the con-

In the above translations we render the polysemous forms rainaithya (instr.dat.ahl.dat.) and rainaithyo (dat.ahl.dat.) and rainaithyo (dat.ahl.dat.) and suntermentals ('with'). In all these instances one can also operate with the dative ('to/fire'), which, however, makes it necessary to take the word 'balance' in the abstract sense of '(result of the) balance,' i.e., 'result of (the weighing by the balance,' a solution which is incontestable in 'N, 3.1.p raway' (Ren.dat.).

37.5. Among the few passages of the Gälthis which deal with facts (real or imaginative as is the Yima legend, 13.2-3) the zinac-complex is outstanding as it represents, for once, five complicated poetical variations of evidently one single piece of text known to the public, the variations diverging so much and heigh go nebulous that it is impossible to exactly restore the underlying idea, not to speak of their ambiguity in regard of wordfly and other-world matters. Beyond this, the zinac-complex gives us an insight, though a short and faint one, into the social life, the trading practices, and the legal procedures of Zanthushtris time.

# B. The Old Avestan texts with English and German

Vasna 27.13-15. Introduction

Yathā Ahū Vairiyō (= Ahuna Vairya), Ashəm Vohū, Yenghē Hātām

27,13. ya9ā ahti vairiyo a9ā ratuš ašāļciļ hacā vaŋbsuš dazdā manaŋbō Šyao9ənanam aŋbsuš mazdāi xša9rəmcā ahurāi.ā vim drigubyō dadaţ vāstārəm

27,13. Since (He is) the patron worth choosing therefore the judgment (to be passed) in accordance with truth itself

on the actions of good thought of the world is committed to the Wise One, and the power (is committed to Him.) the Lord, whom (people) commend to the poor as a shepherd.

27,13. Weil (Er) der wählenswerte Schutzherr (ist.) deshalb wird das in Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein selbst (zu f
üllende) Urteil

über die Handlungen des guten Gedankens der Welt dem Weisen anvertraut und die Macht (wird Ihm anvertraut.) dem Herrn, den (die Leute) den Armen als Hirten empfehlen

27,14. ašəm vohü vahištəm astī uštā astī uštā ahmāi hvat ašāi vahištai ašəm

27,14. Truth is the best/highest good/possession.

As desired/at will the (things) desired are (available)
(as) truth to Him who (is) Best Truth.

27,14. Das Wahrsein ist das beste/h\u00f6chste Gut. Nach Wunsch/Belieben stehen die gew\u00e4nschten (Dinge) ihm, dem Besten Wahrsein. (als) Wahrsein (zur Verf\u00fcupg).

[27,15. yeğhe hatam äat yesne paiti vaŋhō mazdå ahurō vae9a aşat haca yaŋhamcă tasca tásca yazamaidēl

[27,15. The male one among the existing whose very good (recompense) for the

the Wise Lord knows in accordance with truth, and the female ones as well, those male ones and those female ones we celebrate.

[27,15. Den (m\u00e4nnlichen) unter den Seienden, dessen sehr gute (Gegenleistung) f\u00fcr das Onfer der Weise Herr in Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein kennt, und ebenso die (weiblichen.)

diese (Männer) und diese (Frauen) feiern wir.]

Vasna 28.34. Ahunavaitī Gāthā

#### Vasna 28

28,1. ahyā yāsā nəmaŋhā ustānazastō rafəōrahya mainyəuš mazdā paourvim spəṇtahya aşa vispəng syao9anā vanhāus xratum mananhō yā xsnəvisā gāušcā uruvanəm

28,1. With hands outstretched in reverence for Him, the supporter, I first request of all (participants,) O Wise One, actions of the spirit beneficent through truth, by whom you may satisfy the intellect of good thought and the soul of the cow.

28,1. Mit in Verehrung für Ihn, den Unterstützer, ausgestreckten Händen bitte ich zuerst, o Weiser, (Euch) alle um Handlungen des durch Wahrsein segensreichen Geistes.

durch den Du den Intellekt des guten Gedankens und die Seele der Kuh zufrieden stellen mögest.

28,2. yə vå mazdā ahurā pairī.jasāi vohā manaŋha maibyōi dāvōi ahuvā astvatascā hyatcā manaŋhō āvantā ašāt hacā vaiš rapanto daidīt x'ā9rē

28,2. (Grant me) who wish to serve you with good thought, O Wise Lord, grant me, in accordance with truth, the boons of both existences,

the osseous/material one and that of thought, (the boons) by which one should put (his) supporters in comfort.

28,2. (Gewährt mir.) der ich Euch, o Weiser Herr, mit gutem Gedanken aufwarten will, gewährt mir in Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein die Gnadengaben beider Existenzen,

der knochenhaften/materiellen und der des Gedankens, (die Gnadengaben,) mit denen einer (seine) Unterstützer in Labsal versetzen sollte.

28,3. yā vā ašā ufyānī manascā vohū apaourvīm mazdamcā ahurəm yačibyō xša9rəmcā ayžo.nvamnəm varədaitī ārmaitiš ā mōi rafəbīrāi zavāne iasatā

28,3. (To me) who wish to extol, in a new way, you, O Truth, and Good Thought, and the Wise Lord, for (all of) whom Right-mindedness also increases unfading Power, come to me on my calls for support.

28,3. (Zu mir,) der ich Euch auf neue Weise preisen will, Euch, o Wahrsein, und den Guten Gedanken

und den Weisen Herrn, denen (allen) die Rechtgesinntheit unvergängliche Macht mehrt, kommt zu mir auf meine Rufe um Unterstützung. 28,4. yā uruvanam māṇṭp gairē vohū dade ha9ra manaŋha aṣ̃īscā šyao9ananam vīduš mazdā ahurahyā vavat isai tavācā avat xsai učše ušalivā

28.4. (1) who, with good thought, impress on my mind (one's) soul in order to welcome (inhim)

as well as the (adequate) rewards for (his/my) actions, being a witness for the Wise

I will look out in search of truth as much as I can and am able to.

28,4. (Ich,) der ich mit gutem Gedanken (jemands) Seele meinem Gcdächtnis cinpräge, um (sic/ihn) zu bewillkommnen.

und desgleichen die (angemessenen) Belohnungen für (seine/meine) Handlungen, ich will als Zeuge des Weisen Herrn

Ausschau halten auf der Suche nach dem Wahrsein, sosehr ich kann und vermag.

28,5. ašā kat 9flā darəsānī manascā vohū vaēdəmno gātūmcā ahurāi səvištai səraošəm mazdāi anā ma9rā mazištəm vāuroimaidī xrafstrā hizuvā

28,5. O Truth, will I see you, I who possess good thought and, (as) a throne for the Lord, obedience to (Him.) the very strong Wise One, (obedience) which is the greatest by (reciting) this mantra: "We would test the noxious ones with the tongue."

28,5. O Wahrsein, werde ich Dieh erblicken, ich, der ich guten Gedanken besitze und, (als) Thron für den Herm, Gehorsam gegenüber (Ihm.) dem sehr starken Weisen, (Gehorsam.) der der größte ist durch (die Rezitation) dieses Mantras: "Wir möchten die Schädlinge mit der Zunge testen."

28,6. vohū gaidī manaņha daidī aṣā dā darəgāyū ərəšvāiš tā uxöāiš mazdā zara-9uštrai aojöŋhvaṭ rafənö ahmaibyācā ahurā yā daibišvatö dvaēšā taurvayāmā

28,6. Come with good thought, grant through truth a lifelong gift by your sublime statements, O Wise One, (to be) a strong support for (me,) Zarathushra.

and for (all of) us, O Lord, whereby we may overcome the hostilities of the enemy.

28,6. Komm mit gutem Gedanken, gewähre durch Wahrsein lebenslange Gabe durch Deine erhabenen Aussagen, o Weiser, (als) starke Unterstützung für (mich.) den

und für uns (alle,) o Herr, dank derer wir die Feindschaften des Feindes überwinden

28,7. daidi ašā tam ašīm vaņbāuš āyaptā manaņbō daidi tu ārmaite vištaspai išam maibyācā dāstu mazdā xšavācā vā vā ma@rā sravīmā rādā

Zarathushtra.

Gedanken.

28,7. Grant that reward, O Truth, the boons of good thought, grant, O Right-mindedness, vigor to Vishtāspa and to me,

grant, O Wise One, and rule by the mantra through which we may hear your orders.

28.7. Gewähre diese Belohnung, o Wahrsein, die Gnodengaben des guten Gedankens, gewähre, o Rechtgesinntheit, dem Vishtäspa und mir Frische, gewähre, o Weiser, und herrsche durch das Mantra, durch das wir Eure Anordnungen vernehmen möeen.

28,8. vahištəm 9βā vahištā yām ašā vahištā hazaošəm ahurəm yāsā vāunuš narói fərašaoštrāi maibyācā varibvascā II rānhanhói visnāi vavē vanhāuš mananhó

28,8. I lovingly request from you, O Best One, from the Lord, who is in harmony with best truth.

that which is the best for gentle Frashaoshtra, and for myself,

and for (all) those on whom you will bestow it for all time/ever in good thought.

28,8. Dich, o Bester, den Herm, der mit dem besten Wahrsein im Einklang ist, bitte ich licbevoll um das Beste für den edlen Frashaoshtra und für mich und für (alle) diejenigen, denen Du es schenken wirst für alle Zeit/immer in gutem

28,9. anāiš vā nōiṭ ahurā mazdā ašomcā yānāiš zaranaēmā manasca hyaṭ vahištom yoi və yoi9əma dasəmē stutam yūžām zəvištiyāṇho išo xša9rəmcā savaṇḥam

28,9. May we not anger you, O Wise Lord, by these presentations, (you) and Truth, and Best Thought, we who are facing you at the offering of praises.
You (are) the fastest invigorations and (you have) the power over the welfare/salvation.

28,9. Mögen wir Euch mit diesen Darbietungen nicht erzürnen, (Euch) und das

Wahrsein und den Besten Gedanken, wir, die wir Euch zugewandt sind bei der Darbringung der Preieliseler

Ihr (seid) die schnellsten Erfrischungen und (Ihr habt) die Macht über das Wohl/Heil.

28,10. at yəng aşaatca voista vanhəusca da9əng mananhö ərə98əne mazda ahura ağibvö pərəna apanais kaməm

ərə9fəng mazdā ahurā aetbyō pərənā apanāts kāməm af və xšmaibyā asūnā vačdā x'arai9yā vaiņtiyā sravā

28, 10. Fulfill thus with gains the desire of those whom you know by virtue of truth and good thought to be just (and) honest, O Wise Lord. (In return for this 1 know for You rich, well-controlled, loving eulogies.

28,10. So erfülle mit Gewinnen den Wunsch derer, die Du kraft Wahrseins und guten Gedankens als gerecht kennst (und) als rechtschaffen, o Weiser Herr. Euch weiß ich (dafür) reiche, gut gelenkte, liebevolle Lobreden.

28,11. yə aiš ašəm nipâŋhe manasca vohu yavaetaite

tuvām mazda ahura - fro ma sīša 9βahmaţ vaocaŋhe mainvāuš hacā 9βā āṣānhā - vāiš ā anhuš paouruvō bavat

28.11. You who, with these, store for yourself truth and good thought to (all) eternity. O Wise Lord, teach me with your mouth in accordance with your spirit to recite (those culogies) through which the first/foremost existence came/will come into being.

28,11. Du, der Du Dir mit diesen das Wahrsein und den guten Gedanken für (alle) Ewigkeit aufbewahrst.

o Weiser Herr, lehre mich mit Deinem Mund, (sie) in Übereinstimmung mit Deinem Geist zu rezilieren.

(diese Lobreden,) durch die die erste/vorzügliche Existenz entstanden ist/entstehen wird.

## Vasna 29

29,1. xšmaibyā gōuš uruvā gərəždā kalımāi mā 9βaroždūm kā mā tašaţ ā mā aešamō hazascā rəmō āhišāyā dərəšcā təvišcā noii mōi vāstā xšmat anvō aθā mōi sustā vobū vāstrivā

29,1. The soul of the cow complains to you: "For whom did you shape me? Who fashioned me?

Fury and oppression, immobilization, fetters and brutality keep me tied.

I have no shepherd other than you. Thus appear to me with good pastoral works."

29,1. Euch klagt die Seele der Kuh: "Für wen habt Ihr mich gestaltet? Wer hat mich gehildet?

Raserei und Unterdrückung, Stillstand, Bande und Brutalität halten mich gefesselt. Ich habe keinen anderen Hirten als Euch. So erscheint mir mit eutem Hirtenwerk."

29,2. adā tašā gāuš parasat ašam ka9ā tõi gavõi ratuš hvat hīm data xšavantō hadā vāstrā gaodāvō 98axšō

kəm höi uštā ahurəm yə drəgvö.dəbiş aesəməm vadayoit

29,2. Thereupon the fashioner of the cow asks Truth: "What about your judgment on the

(implying) that cattle-milking zeal of one capable of would take (care of) her by
(providing) forage?

Whom do you wish to be her lord, (one) who might break through (the wall of) fury (practiced) by the deceitful?".

29,2. Darauf fragt der Bildner der Kuh das Wahrsein: "Wie steht es mit Deinem Urteil über die Kuh.

(bedeutend,) dass Kuh melkender Eifer eines dazu Befähigten sich ihrer durch (Beschaffung von) Futter annehme?

Wen wünscht Ihr ihr als Herrn, (einen,) der (den Wall) der durch die Lügner (betriebenen) Raserei durchbrechen könnte?"

29,3. ahmāi ašā noiţ sarajā advaēšo gavoi paitī.mravaţ avaēšam noit viduyē yā šavaitē ādrāng ərašvānho hātam hvō aojišto yahmai zavāng jimā karadušā

29.3. No wall-breaking (hero) well-disposed toward the cow will answer him through truth

One does not wish to take note of tihe things; that move stir the low-ranking. O you high-ranking.

That one is the strongest among the existing to whom I want to get together with the (plaintiff) who uttered the crics (for support).

29,3. Ihm wird kein der Kuh gewogener Wälle brechender (Held) durch Wahrsein

Nicht will man von den (Dingen) Kenntnis nehmen, welche die Niederen bewegen, Ihr Hohen.

Jener ist der Stärkste unter den Seienden, an den ich gelangen will zusammen mit dem (Kläger.) der die (Hilfe)rufe ausgestoßen hat.

29.4. mnzdá sax'ūrā mairištō vā zī vāvarazōi pairī.ci9īt

daēvāišcā mašivāišca vaca varašaitē ainī.ci9īt hvő vicirő ahurő a9a na anhat va9a hvő vasat

29,4. The Wise One precisely remembers the acts of violence which have been perpetrated all around

by Daëvas/devils and (bad) mortals, and those (He will remember) as well which will be perpetrated (by them) in the future.

He is the competent Lord. As He desires so it may happen to us.

29,4. Der Weise erinnert sich genau der Untaten, die von Daevas/Teufeln und (bösen) Sterblichen

ringsum begangen worden sind, und (chenso derienigen,) die (von ihnen) in Zukunft begangen werden.

Er ist der maßgebliche Herr. Wie Er will, so geschehe uns.

29.5. at va ustanniš ahva zastaiš frinomna ahurāi.ā mā univā gaušca azvā hvat mazdam duvaidī farasābvō noit aražajivoi frajvājtiš noit fšuvente dragvasti pairī

29,5. We two are thus devoting ourselves to the Lord with hands stretched out fervently, my soul and that of the fertile cow, choosing/asking (Him,) the Wise One, to (give us) instructions:

(There is) no life prospect for the one living decently, (there is) none for the cattle breeder among the deceitful all around.

29,5. So widmen wir zwei uns mit inbrünstig ausgestreckten Händen dem Herrn, meine Seele und die der fruchtbaren Kuh, da wir (Ihn.) den Weisen, wählen/bitten, (uns) Unterweisungen (zu erteilen).

(Es gibt) keine Lebensmöglichkeit für den Rechtlebenden, keine (gibt es) für den Viehzüchter unter den Lügnern ringsum.

29.6. at a vnocat aburo mazdá vídvá vafūš vvānavā

noit aeva ahū visto naeda ratuš ašatcīt haca at zī 9Bā fšuvantaēcā vāstrivāicā 9Bōrəštā tatašā

29.6. Thereupon the Wise Lord, who knows the texts through His vitality, sneaks: "No (indement) has been found indeed by the Patron, no indement in accordance with

truth itself (is suitable).

For the shaper has fashioned you for the cattle-breeding herdsman."

29,6. Darauf spricht der Weise Herr, der die Texte durch Seine Vitalität kennt:

"Kein (Urteil) ist fürwahr vom Schutzherrn gefunden, kein Urteil im Einklang mit dem Wahrsein selbst (ist angebracht.)

denn der Gestalter hat dich für den Vieh züchtenden Hirten gebildet."

29,7. təm azutoiš ahuro ma@rəm tašat ašā hazaošō mazdá gavői xšvídamcă hvő urušaĕibvő spantő sásnavá kastē vohū mananhā vā i dāvāt āsāvā marətaēibvo

29,7. "In harmony with truth, the Wise Lord fashioned for the cow that (well-known) concent/mantra of fat and the milk, being beneficent to the emaciated by His teaching.

Whom do you have through good thought who would make the two available to the mortale?"

29.7. Im Einklang mit dem Wahrsein bildete der Weise Herr der Kuhdiesen (wohl bekannten) Begriff/Mantra vom Fett und die Milch, den Ausgezehrten segensreich durch Seine Lehre.

Wen hast du durch guten Gedanken, der sie beide den Sterblichen zur Verfügung stellen wiirde?"

29,8. äem moi ida visto yə nə acvo sasna gušata zara 9uštro spitāmo hvo na mazda vaštī ašaica carəkərə 9rā srāva verihē hvat hōi hudəməm «di) dvāi vaxə 6rahvā

29,8. "This Zarathushtra Spitama here I have found, the only one who listens to Our teachings. He wishes to sing lauds for Us. O Wise One.

and for Truth to let me perceive the beauty of his speech organ."

29.8. "Diesen Zarathushtra Spitama hier, der als einziger unseren Lehren lauscht, habe ich gefunden. Er will Uns, o Weiser, und dem Wahrsein Loblieder singen, damit ich die Schönheit seines Sprechorgans wahrnehmen möge."

29.9. atca gouš uruva raosta vo anačšom xšanmonė radom

vācəm nərəš asūrahvā vəm a vasəmī iša.xša9rīm kadā vavā hvō anhat vā hōi dadat zastavat avō

29,9. But the soul of the cow laments: "(Woc is mc) who must content myself with a vigorless caretaker.

with the voice of the weak man whom I wish to be powerful through invigoration. When will that one ever be who lends him hand and help?"

21

- 29.9. Aber die Seele der Kuh jammert: "(Wehe mir,) die ich mich mit einem kraftlosen Fürsorver zufrieden geben muss,
- mit der Stimme des schwachen Mannes, von dem ich wünsche, dass er durch

Erfrischung machtvoll sei.

Wann wird der iemals sein, der ihm eine lielfende Hand leiht?"

29 10 vířžám aěřbyč ahurá aogó dátá ašá xša9ramcá

avat vohū manaņhā yā hušaitīš rāmamcā daļ azəmcit ahva mazda 96am mənhi paqurvim vaedəm

29.10. O Lord, grant those (present) strength through truth and that power through good thought by which one can establish comfortable dwellings and peaceful conditions!

I for my part realize that you, O Wise One, are its first/foremost provider.

29.10. O Herr, gewährt den (Anwesenden) Kraft durch Wahrsein und jene Macht durch guten Gedanken, durch die man angenehme Wohnstätten und friedliche Zustände herstellen kann.

Ich für meinen Teil erkenne Dich, o Weiser, als ihren ersten/vorzüglichen Besorger.

29.11. kudā ašəm vohucā manō xša9rəmcā at mā mašā vūžām mazdā frāxšnane mazoi magāi.ā paitī.zānatā ahura nu nā avarā - āhmā rātoiš vūšmavatam

29.11. Where are Truth, Good Thought and Power? Accept (us two) prudently,

O Wise One, (us two,) the mortal one (and his ward,) for the great contribution. O Lord, (come) down to us now on account of the presents (offered) by us to those such

as ÿou.

29.11. Wo sind Wahrsein, Guter Gedanke und Macht? Nehmt (uns beide,) den Sterblichen (und seinen Schutzbefohlenen) in Umsicht für die große Spende an, o Weiser

O Herr, nun (komm) herab zu uns dank der durch uns (vollzogenen) Beschenkung derer so wie Ihr.

## Yasna 30

30,1. at tā vaxšyā išaņtō yā mazda9a hyatcīt vidušē staotācā ahurāi yesniyācā vaŋhāuš mananhō

humazdrā ašā y aēscā yā raocābīš darasatā urvāzā 30.1. Such (things) I wish to proclaim, O you who are approaching, that are noteworthy

even to Him, the Knowing/Initiated One. praises for (Him,) the Lord, and sacrificial (words) of good thought,

and (for those) attentive with truth (I wish to proclaim) the grace visible through the lights

30.1. Solche (Dinge) will ich verkünden, o Ihr, die Ihr Euch nähert, die sogar Ihm, dem Wissenden/Initiierten, bemerkenswert sind,

Preislieder und zum Opfer gehörende (Worte) des guten Gedankens (Ihm.) dem Herrn,

und den durch Wahrsein Aufmerksamen (will ich verkünden) die durch die Lichter sichtbare Gnade

30.2. smotā gāušāiš vahištā avagnata suca mananhā avarona vici@aliva - nacom nacom v astvai tomove para maza vánhō ahmāi nā sazdvāi baodantō paiti

30,2. Hear the best with your ears, view, with thought (enlightened) by the flame. the preferences/cooptations (resulting) from the discrimination, (viewing) one man after the other for his own body/individually

before the great apportionment, waiting for Him to pronounce for us (his sentences).

30,2. Vernehmt mit Euren/euren Ohren das Beste, beobachtet mit durch die Flamme (crlcuchtetem) Gedanken

die aus der Unterscheidung (folgenden) Vorlieben/Zuwahlen (und beobachtet) einen Mann um den anderen für seine eigene Person

vor der großen Zuteilung, darauf wartend, dass Er uns (seine Urteile) verkünde.

30,3. at tā mainyū paouruvē vā vāmā x'afənā asruvatəm manahică vacahică syao9anōi hī vahyō akəmcā åscā hudānho ərəš višvātā noit duždānho

30,3. These are the two spirits, the twins who, at the beginning (of the existence/life.) came to be heard of as both kinds of dreams.

thoughts and words, as both kinds of actions, the very good and the evil one, and between these two the munificent ones discriminate rightly, not so the misers.

30,3. Dies sind die beiden Geister, die Zwillinge, die sich bei Beginn (der Existenz/Leben) vernehmen ließen als beiderlei Träume. Gedanken und Worte, als beiderlei Handlungen, die sehr gute und die schlechte. und zwischen diesen beiden unterscheiden die Freigebigen richtig, nicht aber die Geizhälse.

30,4. atcă hyat tă hôm mainyu jasaetem paourvim dazdē gaēmcā ajyaitīmcā va9ācā anhat apāməm anhuš acištō drəgvatam at ašāunē vahištəm manó

30.4. When these two spirits meet (to fight for a person, then this) determines (his) first (existence/life,)

vitality or lack of it, and how his existence/life will be at last

That of the deceitful (will be) very bad, but best thought (will be in store) for the truthful one.

30,4. Wenn diese beiden Geister aufeinander stoßen (in der Absicht, um einen Menschen zu kämpfen, dann) bestimmt (dieser seine) erste (Existenz/Leben.) Vitalität oder Mangel daran, und wie seine Existenz/Leben zuletzt sein wird. Sehr schlecht (wird die) der Lügner (sein,) doch dem Wahrhaften wird der beste Gedanke (zuteil werden).

30,5. ayá mainivá varata vo drogvá acista vorozvo

83

ašom mainyuš spāništō yā xraoždištāng asano vastē yaēcā xšnaošan ahuram hai9yāiš šyao9anāiš fraoraj mazdam

30.5. The descriful one of these two spirits chooses to do what is worst.

thus the most beneficent spirit, clad in the bardest stones, telicosest truth, as (do those) who devotedly satisfy the Wise Lord with real/realizing actions.

30,5. Der lügenhafte dieser beiden Geister wählt das schlechteste Tun, (aber) das Wahrsein (wählt) der in die härtesten Steine gekleidete sehr segensreiche Geist.

wie (das diejenigen tun.) die den Weisen Herrn hingabevoll mit wirklichen/ verwirklichenden Handlungen zufrieden stellen.

30,6. ayá nóit ərəš vis'yátá daëváciná hyat iš a dəbaomá pərəscamənəng upá.jasat hyat vərənátá acištəm mano at aësəməm handvárənta va banavən ahim marətánö

30,6. Particularly the Daëvas/devils do not rightly discriminate between these two (spirits). Since delusion

comes over them while they hold counsel so that they choose worst thought, therefore they eather at fury, by which the mortals sicken the existence/world.

 Insbesondere die Daevas/Teufel unterscheiden nicht richtig zwischen diesen beiden (Geistern). Weil sie Betörung

überkommt, während sie sich beraten, so dass sie den schlechtesten Gedanken wählen, deshalb finden sie sich bei der Raserei ein, mit der die Sterblichen die Existenz/Welt krank machen

30,7. ahmaicā xša9rā jasat manayhā vohu ašācā at kahrpām utuyūitiš dadāt ārmaitiš anmā ačšam tōi ā anhat va9ā avaņha ādānāiš paouruyō

 (But when) one comes to this (existence/world) with power, good thought, and truth,

then youthfulness grants bodily form, (and) right-mindedness (grants) breath/life, so that through their allotment by the (ordeal with glowing) metal, this (existence/world) will be your first/foremost one.

30,7. Kommt man (jedoch) zu dieser (Existenz/Welt) mit Macht, gutem Gedanken und Wahrsein

dann verleiht Jugendlichkeit körperliche Gestalt (und) Rechtgesinntheit (verleiht)
Atem/Leben.

so dass infolge von deren Zuteilung durch das (Ordal mit glühendem) Metall diese (Existenz/Welt) Deine erste/vorzügliche sein wird.

30,8. atcā yadā aešam kaenā jamaiti aenaņham at mazdā taibyō xša9rəm vohū manaņhā võividāiti aeibyō saste ahurā yōi aṣāi dadən zastayō drujəm

30,8. And when the penalty for those outrages has arrived,

then, O Wise One, one will, with good thought, commit to you the power (over it) at the (judgment) pronounced to those who have delivered deceit into the hands of truth.

30.8. Und wenn die Entschädigung für iene Frevel eingetroffen ist.

dam wird man Dir, o Weiser, mit gutem Gedanken die Macht (dambert übertragen bei dem denjunigen verkündeten (Urteil.) o Herr, die die Lüge dem Wahrsein in die Hände gegeben haben.

30,9. aţca toi vaem xyama yōi îm fərasəm kərənaon ahüm mazdāscā ahurānhō ā.mōvastrā.baranā ašācā

hyaṭ ha9rā manā buvaṭ ya9rā cistīš aṇhaṭ maē9ā 30,9. May we thus be those who make the existence/world perfect,

O Wise One and you (other) Lords/Ahuras, by the bringer-of-turns and through truth, with (our) thoughts concentrated on where insight is a partner.

30,9. So mögen wir diejenigen sein, die die Existenz/Welt vollkommen machen, o Weiser und Ihr (anderen) Herren/Ahuras, durch den Wendebringer und durch Wahrsein.

indem sich (unsere) Gedanken darauf konzentrieren, wo Einsicht Partnerin ist.

30,10. adā zī avā drūjo [avō.]buvaitī skəṇdō spaya9rahyā at asištā vaojantē - ā hušitōiš vanhōuš mananhō

mazdá ušaúyācā yōi zazəŋtī vaŋhāu sravahī 30,10. For then the breakdown of deceit will come about by clearing it off,

and the swiftest (steeds) will be yoked (to drive) up to the comfortable dwelling of the good thought of the Wise One and of truth, (steeds) which, at the good fame/winning post, will let

(the others) behind at the good prize of victory.

30,10. Denn dann wird der Zusammenbruch der Lüge durch deren Tilgung stattfinden, und die schnellsten (Rösser) werden angeschirrt werden, um bis zur bequemen

Wohnung des guten Gedankens des Weisen und des Wahrseins (zu fahren, Rösser,) die beim guten Ruhm/am Ziel (die anderen) hinter sich lassen.

30,11. hyat ta urvata sa &a9a yā mazdā dadāt mašiyāŋhō

30,11. hyaţ ta urvata sa să-a9a yā mazdā dadāţ mašiyāŋh x\*īticā önaiti hyaţcā daragām dragvō.dabyō rašō savacā ašavabyō aţ aipī tāiš aŋhaitī uštā

30,11. If you master/heed the commandments that the Wise One issues, O mortals, (implying) freedom of movement and lack of it, the long-lasting/endless harm (in store) for the deceifful.

and the benefits for the truthful, then the (things) desired will be (available) through them, indeed.

30,11. Wenn ihr die Gebote beherrscht/beachtet, die der Weise erlässt, o Sterbliche, die Bewegungsfreiheit und Mangel an ihr (bedeuten,) das lange/endlose Leid, das den Lügnem (bestimmt itst.)

und die Wohltaten für die Wahrhaften, dann werden durch sie ja auch die erwünschten (Dinge verfügbar) sein.

#### Vasna 31

84

31.1. ta və urvātā marənto - agusta vaça sənghamalır ačibyo voj urvatajš drujo ašahya gač9å vimoropcajte atcit aĕibvō vahištā voi zrazdā aŋhən mazdāi

- 31.1. Reciting these commandments of yours, we pronounce unheard words to those who by the commandments of deceit ruin the herds of truth, (words which arc.) however, very good/profitable to those who are faithful to the Wise One
- 31.1. Indem wir diese Eure Gebote rezitieren, verkünden wir ungehörte Worte denen, die nach den Geboten der Lüge die Herden des Wahrseins zugrunde richten, (Worte, die) aber denienigen sehr gut/vorteilhaft (sind.) die dem Weisen vertrauen.
- 31.2. vezī aiš noit urvānē advā aibī.dərəštā vaxyā at vå vispāng āiyōi ya@a ratum ahurō vaēdā mazdá ayá asayá yā ašāt hacā juvamahī
- 31.2. If there is no way through them to attain to the higher goods (already) seen, then I approach all of you since the Wise Lord knows the judgment on those two lots, (the judgment) through which we can live in accordance with truth.
- 31.2. Wenn es durch sic keinen Weg gibt, die (bereits) erblickten höheren Güter zu erreichen. dann wende ich mich an Euch alle, da der Weise Herr das Urteil über jene beiden
- (das Urteil,) durch das wir in Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein leben können.
- 31.3. vam då mainvū ā 9rācā ašāca coiš ranoibva xšnūtom hvat urvatom cazdonhvadobyo tat no mazda vidvanoi vaocă hizvā 98ahvā ānhō va juvantō vispāng vāurayā
- 31,3. (Tell us) which satisfaction you fix by (your) spirit and (your) fire and which you assign through truth in accordance with the balance
- as (your) commandment in favor of the conscientious, tell us that to let us know (it,) O Wise One,
- by the tongue of your mouth so as to let me test thereby all the living.
- 31.3. (Sag uns.) welche Zufriedenstellung Du durch (Deinen) Geist und (Dein) Feuer festsetzt und durch Wahrsein mit der Waage zuweist als (Dein) Gebot zugunsten der Gewissenhaften, das sage uns, damit wir (es) wissen, o
- Weiser
- mit der Zunge Deines Mundes, um mich alle Lebenden mit ihm testen zu lassen.
- 31,4. yadā ašəm zəvim aghən mazdáscā ahurághö ašicā armaitī vahištā išasā mananhā

maibyō xša9rəm aojōŋhvat yehyā vərədā vanaēmā drujəm

31.4. When the Wise One and the (other) Lords/Ahuras are present (as) Truth worth calling for

The Old Avestan texts with English and German translations

along with Reward and Right-mindedness, (then) I will eatch sight by Best Thought of the strong Power (meant) for me, through the increase of which we may overcome deceit.

31.4. Wenn der Weise und die (anderen) Herren/Ahuras (als) das der Anrufung werte Wahrsein zur Stelle sind

zusammen mit Belohnung und Rechtgesinntheit, (dann) werde ich durch besten

die mir (bestimmte) starke Macht zu Gesicht bekommen, durch deren Mehrung wir die Lüge besiegen mögen.

31,5. tat mõi vicidvai vaoca hvat mõi ašā dātā vahvõ viduyê vohû mananha manca daidyāi yehyā mā arašiš tăcit mazdă ahură yă nôit vă anhat anhaiti vă

31.5. Tell me the higher good which you have assigned to me through truth to let me

(and) to learn through good thought (from that one) whose seer (I am.) and to impress on my mind

which (things) will not be (available) and (which) will be (available to me.) O Wisc Lord

31.5. Nenne mir das höhere Gut, das Ihr durch Wahrsein für mich bestimmt habt, damit ich (es) erkenne (und):durch outen Gedanken (von dem.) dessen Seher (ich bin.) erfahre und mir

welche (Dinge mir) nicht (verfügbar) und welche (mir verfügbar) sein werden, o Weiser

Herr 31.6. ahmāi anhat vahištam vā mõi vidvå vaocāt hai9īm

ma9rəm vim haurvatāto ašahvā amərətātascā mazdai avat xša9rəm hvat hōi vohū vaxšat mananhā

31,6. The best (power) shall be to Him, the Knowing/Initiated One, who tells me the true/effective mantra implying integrity and immortality of truth, that power (shall be) to the Wise One which He shall make grow through good thought.

31.6. Die beste (Macht) gehöre Ihm, dem Wissenden/Initiierten, der mir das wahre/wirksame Mantra von der Unverletzlichkeit und Unsterblichkeit des

Wahrseins sagen wird dem Weisen (gehöre) iene Macht, die Er durch guten Gedanken mehren soll/wird.

 7. vastā mantā paouruvo raocobiš roi98an x'ā9rā. hvo xra9Bā damiš ašəm vā dāravat vahištəm manō

ta mazdā mainyū uxšyō yā ā nūrāmcīt ahurā hāmō

- The Old Avestan texts with English and German translations 31,7. The Primal One, who conceived these comforts flooded with lights, (is,) by his intellect, the establisher of truth. (Through that spirit) by which one holds on
- to best thought. through that spirit you are growing. O Wise One, who farel the same even now, O Lord.
- 31,7. Der Uranfängliche, der diese mit Lichtern durchflutete Labsale erdachte, (ist) durch seinen Intellekt der Begründer des Wahrseins. (Durch den Geist,) mit dem einer den besten Gedanken festhält.
- durch den Geist wächst Du, o Weiser, der Du auch jetzt noch derselbe (bist,) o Herr.
- 31.8. at 98ā māńhi paourvīm mazda vazum stói mananhā vanhəuš ptarəm manaηhō hyat 9βā həm cašmainī (hən)grabəm hai 9im ašahva damim anhāuš ahuram švao 9anaēšū
- 31.8. I realize that you, the Primal One, are youthful through (your) thought, (you,) the father of good thought, when I grasp you with my eye at (your) actions, the true establisher of truth, the Lord of the existence/world.
- 31,8. Ich erkenne, dass Du, der Uranfängliche, jugendlich bist durch (Deinen) Gedanken.
- (Du.) der Vater des guten Gedankens, wenn ich Dich mit dem Auge erfasse bei (Deinen) Handlungen, den wahren Begründer des Wahrseins, den Herrn der Existenz/Welt
- 31.9. 9Boi as armaitis 9Bo a gous tašā acs) xratus mainyōuš mazdā ahurā hyat axvāi dadā pa9am vastrivat vă ăitê vă vă nôit anhat vastriyô
- 31.9. Right-mindedness was with you, yours (was) also the highly intelligent fashioner of the cow.
- O Wise Lord, when you, by virtue of (your) spirit, opened ways for her to take side with the herdsman or with (that one) who will be no herdsman.
- 31,9. Rechtgesinntheit war bei Dir, Dein (war) auch der hochintelligente Bildner der Kuh.
- o Weiser Herr, als Du ihr kraft (Deines) Geistes Wege freigabst, sich dem Hirten anzuschließen oder (dem.) der kein Hirte sein wird.
- 31,10. at hi aya fravarəta västrim axyai fšuyantəm
- ahurəm ašavanəm vanhöuš fšārjhim mananhö noit mazdā avāstrivo davascina humaratoiš baxštā
- 31.10. Of these two she, (the cow.) prefers the cattle-breeding herdsman (to be) her truthful lord, the companion of good thought.
- The non-herdsman does not enjoy a good reputation, however much he twaddles, O Wise One.
- 31.10. Von diesen beiden zicht die sie, (die Kuh.) den Vich züchtenden Hirten vor (als) wahrhaften Herrn, den Gefährten des guten Gedankens.
- Der Nichthirte genießt keinen guten Ruf, wie sehr er auch schwätzt, o Weiser.

- 31,11. hvat no muzdá paourvím gacôásca tašo daenásca ЭВа mananha xrattišca hvat astvantom dadá uštanom hyat Šyao9anācā sānghascā ya 9rā varənāng vasā dāyetē
- 31.11. Since you fashion what risa fundamental to us. O Wise One, the herds and the

through your thought, and the intellects, since you grant osseous vitality, since (you determine the ritual) actions and pronouncements at which one takes his choices (and forms) his wishes

- 31.11. Da Du durch deinen Gedanken bildest, was für uns grundlegend (ist.) o Weiser, die Herden und die Anschauungen und die Intellekte, da Du die knochenhafte Lebenskraft verleihst.
- da (Du) die (rituellen) Handlungen und Verkündungen (bestimmst,) bei denen man seine Wahlen trifft (und) seine Wünsche (formt) -
- 31 12. a9rā vācam baraiti mi9abvacā vā araš vacā vā vīdvā vā əvīdvā vā ahva zərədaca mananhaca ānuš.haxš ārmaitiš mainyū pərəsāitē ya9rā maē9ā
- 31.12. (Whether it is a man) of false speech or one of straight speech who raises there his voice
- a knowing/initiated one or an ignorant, with his heart and thought, following up (this question) Right-mindedness shall hold counsel with the spirit where she (is) a partner.
- 31.12. (Ob) dort (ein Mann) von falschem oder einer von rechtem Wort seine Stimme erhebt
- ein Wissender/Initiierter oder ein Unwissender, mit seinem Herzen und Gedanken, (dieser Frage) nachgehend soll sich die Rechtgesinntheit mit dem Geist beraten, wo sie Partnerin (ist).
- 31,13. vā frasā āvīšivā vā vā mazdā parasactē tavā yə va kasəuš aenanho a mazistam (a)yamaite büjəm tā cašmāng θβisrā hārō aibī ašā [aibī.]vaēnahī vīspā
- 31.13. (That) which is open conversation or on what two (people) converse secretly, O Wise One.
- or when one for (just) a small sin incurs a very great atonement, retaining that with the ray of your eye you overlook all (things) through truth.
- 31,13. Was offenes Gespräch ist und was zwei (Personen) insgeheim miteinunder besprechen, o Weiser,
- oder wenn einer für eine (nur) geringe Sünde sehr große Sühne auf sich zieht, das mit dem Strahl Deines Auges erfassend überblickst Du durch Wahrsein alle (Dinge).
- 31.14. tā 98ā porosā ahurā vā zī āitī iēnehaticā vå išudo dadənte da9ranam haca ašaonō

22

truthful one

- 31,14. About those (things) I ask you, O Lord, which are approaching and will arrive, about the compensations (consisting) of gifts which (the pious) will obtain from the
- and which, O Wise One, from the deceitful, (and) of what kind they will be when (the items) are reckoned up.
- 31,14. Nach den (Dingen) frage ich Dich, o Herr, die im Kommen sind und eintreffen werden.
- nach den aus Gaben (bestehenden) Vergütungen, welche (die Frommen) vom Wahrhaften erhalten werden,
- und welche, o Weiser, von den Lügnern, (und) von welcher Art sie sein werden, wenn (die Posten) zusammengerechnet sind.
- 31,15. pərəsü avaf ya maëniš yö drogväilê xša9rəm hunāiti duš.šyao9anai ahura yə noif jyotum hanarə vinasti västriychyā aënanhö pasõuš viršaţcā adrūjyaptö
- 31,15. That I ask, which punishment (will befall) that one who transfers power to the deceitful one.
- to the evil-docr, O Lord, who does not find a livelihood without outrage against cattle and men of the non-deceiving/sincere herdsman.
- 31,15. Das frage ich, welche Strafe den (treffen wird,) der dem L\u00e4gner Macht \u00fcberr\u00e4gt, dem \u00dcbl\u00e4te, o Herr, der seinen Lebensunterhalt nicht findet ohne Frevel an \u00bb\u00e4n \u00e4dt nich wirden hirten.
- 31,16. pərəsā avat yaθa hvo ya hudanuš dəmanahya xšaθrəm šoi 9rahyā vā daxiyauš vā ašā fradaθāi aspərəzatā
- 9βāvas mazdā ahurā yadā hvō aŋhat yā.Šyao9anascā
- 31,16. That I ask, in which way that generous person (will be available) who strives to further through truth the power over house, county/district, and land, the one such as you, O Wise Lord, (and) when he will be (available) and with which action
- 31,16. Das frage ich, auf welche Weise jener Großzügige (verfügbar sein wird.) der die Macht über Haus, Gau und Land durch Wahrsein zu f\u00fcrdem strebt, der so wie Du, o Weiser Herr, (und) wann er (verf\u00fcgbar) sein wird und mit welcher Handlung.
- 31,17. katārām ašavā vā dragvā vā varancavaitē mazyo vidvā vīdušē mraotū mā avidvā aipī dabāvayaţ zdī pa mazda abura vaņbauš fradaxštā mananhō
- 31,17. What about? Will the truthful one convince (you) more or the deceitful one? Let the knowing/initiated one speak to the knowing/initiated one; do not let the ignorant continue deceiving (neople).
- Be a teacher of good thought to us, O Wise Lord.

- 31,17. Wie verhält es sich? Wird der Wahrhafte (Dich) mehr überzeugen oder der Lügner?
  - Lass den Wissenden/Initiierten zum Wissenden/Initiierten sprechen; lass nicht den Nichtwissenden weiterhin (die Leute) täuschen.
  - Sei uns ein Lehrer des guten Gedankens, o Weiser Herr
  - 31,18. mā.ciš at vā dragvato ma@rascā gūštā sāsuāscā a-zī damānam vīsam vā šūi@ram vā daxyūm vā [ā]dat dušitācā maraksēcā a@ā iš sāzdim snai@iša
  - 31,18. Let no (adherent) of the deceitful one listen to your mantras and teachings, for he wants to put the house, the village, the county/district, and the land in non-habitability and destruction. Teach therefore those (deceitful) with (your)
  - 31,18. Lass keinen (Anhänger) des Lügners Euren Mantras und Lehren lauschen, denn er will Haus, Dorf, Gau und Land
  - in Unbewohnbarkeit und Zerstörung versetzen. Deshalb belehrt diese (Lügner) mit (Eurer) Waffe.
  - 31,19. gūštā yā maņtā ašam ahūm.biš vidvā ahurā ərəžuxōāi vacaŋḥam xšayamnō hizuvō vasō 9βā ā9rā suxrā mazdā vaŋhau vīdātā raṇayā

wcapon.

31,19. The healer of the existence/world listens (to your mantras,) the knowing/initiated one who thinks truth, O Lord, being at will in control of his tongue for the true statement among the words

being at with in control of his tongue for the true statement among the words at the distribution (of the result) of the balance, in the good (case performed) with your red fire, O Wise One.

- (Euren Mantras) lauscht der wissende/initiierte Lebensheiler/Weltheiler, der Wahrsein denkt, o Herr,
- der für die ehrliche Aussage unter den Worten nach Belieben seiner Zunge Herr ist bei der Verteilung (des Ergebnisses) der Waage, im guten (Fall vollzogen) durch Dein rotes Feuer, o Weiser.
- 31,20. yə ayat ağavanəm divamnəm höi aparəm xšiyö darəgəm äyü təmaqhö dus.x'arə9əm avactas vaco təm vå ahüm drəgvantö syaolanais x'ais daena naesat
- 31,20. He who approaches a/the truthful one splendor (will be) his instead of wailing. Long/endless duration of darkness, foul food, and the word "woe":
- to such an existence (your) view/view-soul will lead you, O you deceitful, on account of your/its own actions.
- 31,20. Wer zu einem Wahrhaften kommt Glanz (wird) ihm (zuteil werden) anstelle von Jammer.
- Lange/endlose Dauer der Finsternis, üble Speise und das Wort "Wehe":

Zu solcher Existenz wird euch, o Lügner, (eure) Anschauung/Schauseele auf Grund eurer/ihrer eigenen Handlungen führen.

31.21. mazdá dadát aburó haurvató amorofátascá buros ausayvaca - y dominiat ysastalnia saro

vanhāuš vazdvara mananhō vā hōi mainvū švao9anāišcā urva9ō

31,21. From His own rich shelter/treasure of integrity and immortality, of truth and power, the Wise Lord grants

the cream of good thought (to that one) who (is) His ally in spirit and actions.

31,21. Von Seinem eigenen, reichen Schutzschild/Schatz an Integrität und Unsterblichkeit, an Wahrsein und Macht gewährt der Weise Herr das Fett des guten Gedankens (demjenigen,) der in Geist und Handlungen Sein

31.22. ci9rā i hudānhē va9ənā vaedəmnāi mananhā vohū hvō xša9rā ašəm vacanhā šyao9anācā haptī hyō tōi mazda ahura vazišto anhaiti astiš

Bundesgenosse (ist).

31.22. Bright (gifts) are (in store) for the munificent one who (already) possesses them in his thought.

Through good power/rule he cultivates truth in word and action. Let him be your best-provided guest, O Wise Lord.

31,22. Glanzvolle (Gaben) sind dem Freigebigen (bestimmt,) der sie in seinem Gedanken (bereits) besitzt.

Durch gute Macht/Herrschaft pflegt er das Wahrsein in Wort und Handlung. Lass ihn Deinen bestversorgten Gast sein, o Weiser Herr.

#### Vasna 32

32.1. axvācā x'aētuš vāsat ahvā vərəzənəm mat airyamnā ahvā daēvā mahmī manōi ahurahya urvāzəmā mazdā 9Boj dutánho ánhamá tông dărayō yōi vá daibišəntī

32.1. His (grace) the family requests, His (grace) the community (requests) along with

in my presentation, O Daëvas/devils, (requesting His,) the Wise Lord's, grace (by proclaiming):

"Let us be your households. You split open (the wall of) those who are hostile to you." 32.1. Um Seine (Gnade) bittet die Familie, um Seine (Gnade bittet) die Gemeinde samt

dem Stamm in meinem Vortrag, o Daēvas/Teufel, (um Seine,) des Weisen Herrn Gnade (bitten sie mit den Worten):

"Lass uns Deine Hausgemeinschaften sein. Du sprengst (den Wall) derer, die Euch anfeinden."

32.2. aeibyö mazdå ahurō särəmnö vohu mananhä

xša9rāt hacā paitī.mraot ašā huš.haxā x\*5nvātā spontam və armaitim van him varəmaidi ha nə anhat

32.2. To them, the Wise Lord, allied with good thought, replies in accordance with His power, (being) a good friend of sunny truth;

"We choose your beneficent, good right-mindedness. Let it be ours."

32.2. Ihnen antwortet der Weise Herr mit dem guten Gedanken verbündet. kraft Seiner Macht ein guter Freund des sonnenhaften Wahrseins:

"Wir wählen eure segensreiche, gute Rechtgesinntheit. Sie soll uns gehören."

32.3. at viiš daeva vispānho akat mananho sta ci9ram vascā vā maš vazaitē drūjascā pairimatoišcā švaomam aipi daibitānā vāiš asrūdūm būmvā haptai 9ē

32,3. But you Daevas/devils altogether are seeds from bad thought, and (so is he) who much celebrates you and the actions of deceit and disregard (as well) for which you again and again became notorious in (this) seventh part of the Earth. -

32.3. Aber ihr Daëvas/Teufel alle seid Samen vom schlechten Gedanken, und (das ist auch derjenige,) der euch sehr feiert und (ebenso) die Handlungen von Lüge

durch die ihr immer wieder auf (diesem) Siebentel der Erde berüchtigt wurdet, -

32.4. vat voš ta framīma9a va mašiva acišta danto vaxšantē daēvo zuštā vanhāuš sīždvamnā mananho mazdá ahurahyá xratáuš nasyantó ašáatcá

und Missachtung

32.4. since you order those very bad (thoughts, words, actions) by whose production the

shall be promoted (to be) favorites of (you) Daëvas/devils, flinching from good thought (and) straying away from the intellect of the Wise Lord and from truth.

32,4. insofern als ihr jene sehr schlechten (Gedanken, Worte und Werke) anordnet, für deren Hervorbringung die Sterblichen

(zu) Lieblingen von (euch) Daëvas/Teufeln befördert werden, scheuend vor dem gutem Gedanken

(und) abkommend vom Intellekt des Weisen Herrn und vom Wahrsein.

32.5. tā dəbənaötā mašīm huivātöiš amərətātascā hvat vå aka mananha vong daevong akasca mainvuš akā švao9anəm vacanhā vā fracinas drəgvantəm xšavō

32.5. Therefore you cheat the mortal one out of good life and immortality. since through evil thought the evil spirit and the action (inspired) by evil word (cheated) you Daevas/devils (out of them.) for which wailing expects the deceitful one.

32,5. Deshalb betrügt ihr den Sterblichen um Wohlleben und Unsterblichkeit, weil der sehlechte Geist durch schlechten Gedanken und die durch schlechtes Wort (inspirierte) Handlung euch Daévas/Tcufel (darum betrogen haben,) wofür Jammer den Lügner erwartet.

hata marane ahura - vahista võistä manayhä

9βalımi və mazdā xša9rōi aξaica səngho vidam

32,6. The many peace-breaking outrages with which (the deceitful one) strives for fame – whether (he does so) with them,

you, O Lord, who record merits (and demerits,) know through best thought.

Let land for You and for Truth, O Wise One, be spread in your power/dominion.

32,6. Die vielen den Frieden brechenden Frevel, mit denen (der Lügner) nach Ruhm streht – ob (er) das mit ihnen (tut.)

weißt Du durch den besten Gedanken, o Herr, der Du Dir Verdienste (und Fehler) merkst.

In Deinem Machtbereich werde Lob für Euch, o Weiser, und für das Wahrsein verbreitet.

32,7. aešam aenanham načcit vidvá aojói hádröyá yā aojóyā sönghaite yaiš sráví x'aenā ayanhā yaešam tū ahurā irixtam mazda yaedišto ahī

32,7. I explicitly declare to not be conscious of any of such outrages which are called irremissible, for/of which one becomes notorious (by the ordeal) with glowing metal

(and) of which you know the outcome best, O Wise Lord.

32,7. Ich erkläre ausdrücklich, mir keines von solchen Freveln bewusst zu sein, die als untilgbar bezeichnet werden, derentwegen man (durch das Ordal) mit glühendem Metall berüchtigt wird (und) deren Erzebnis Du bestens kennst. o Weiser Herr.

32,8. aĕšam aĕnaŋham vīvaŋhušō sravī yimascīţ yā maṣiyāṇg cixšnušō alımākāṇg gāuš bagā x'ārəmnō aĕšamcīt ā ahmī θβahmī mazdā vīciθōi aipi

32,8. Even Yima, the son of Vivahvan, is notorious for (one) of such outrages,

- (even he) who tried to satisfy (us) humans (and) our (animals with the injunction):

"Meat (is ust) a part of a (complete) meal" –

for (that one) of those (outrages) being (subject) to that (well-known) decision of yours,
O Wise One.

 Sogar Yima, der Sohn des Vivahvan, ist wegen (eines) von solchen Freveln berüchtigt.

 – (sogar er,) der (uns) Menschen (und) unsere (Tiere) zufrieden zu stellen suchte (mit der Anordnung); "Fleisch (ist lediglich) Teil einer (vollständigen) Mahlzeit" – weren (dieses einen) unter ienen (Freveh) dieser Deiner (wohl bekannten)

Entscheidung (unterworfen.) o Weiser.

32,9. duš.sastiš sravā moraņdat hvo jyātāuš sāņghanāš xratūm apo mā ištīm (apa]yaṇtā bərəxōam hāitīm vaṇhāuš manaṇhō tā uxōā mainyāuš mahya mazda aṣaica yušmaibyā gərəzē

32.9. The blasphemer spoils (our) eulogies, by his proclamations he (spoils) the intellect of the world/living.

He robs (people of their) command, the ward of good thought.

With this statement of my spirit I complain to you, O Wise One, and to Truth.

32,9. Der L\u00e4sterer verdirbt (unsere) Lobreden, durch seine Verk\u00e4ndungen (verdirbt) er den Intellekt der Welt/Lebenden.

Er raubt (den Menschen ihre) Verfügungsgewalt, den Schützling des guten Gedankens. Mit dieser Aussage meines Geistes klage ich Euch, o Weiser, und dem Wahrsein.

32,10. hvő mű nű sravű mörəndat yö acistəm vaënaijhë aogədü gam ašibya huvarəca yasca daðəng drəgvato dadat yasca vastra vivāpat yasca vadarə völždat aşaune

32,10. That man spoils (our) eulogies who professes what is the worst in order to catch sight of the cow and the sun with his goggle-eyes, and who makes the just subject to the deceitful one,

and who grazes down the pastures, and who brandishes his weapon against the truthful one.

32,10. Jener Mann verdirbt (unsere) Lobreden, der sich zum Schlechtesten bekennt, um die Kuh und die Sonne mit seinen Glotzaugen zu erblicken. und der die Gerechten vom L\u00fcpener abh\u00e4npig macht

mit seinen Glotzaugen zu erblicken, und der die Gerechten vom Lugner abhangig mach und der die Weidegründe abgrast und der seine Waffe gegen den Wahrhaften schwingt.

32,11. taēcīt mā moraņdan jyötūm yōi dragvaņtō mazvā bīš cikōitaraš aŋ<sup>x</sup>hīšcā aŋhavascā apayeitī raēxənaŋhō vaēdəm yōi vahištāt ašaonō mazda rārašvan mananhō

32,11. Particularly those spoil (our) life/livelihood, the deceitful who show off with "great (achievements,)" with robbing (people of) the disposal of their inheritance, (those) "patronesses and

patrons,"

who keep off the truthful from best thought, O Wise One.

 Besonders diejenigen L\u00fcger verderben (unser) Leben/Lebensunterhalt, die sich mit "gro\u00dfen (Leistungen)" hervortun,

mit dem Raub der Verfügung über das Erbteil, (diese) "Patroninnen und Patrone", welche die Wahrhaften vom besten Gedanken fernhalten. o Weiser.

32,12. ya râŋhayən sravaŋha vahištaţ \$yao9anaţ marətano aĕibyō mazdā akā mraot yōi gɔus urvāxs uxti mōrəndən iyōtüm

yāiš grāhmā ašāt varatā karapā xša9rəmcā išanam drujom

32,12. For the (abusive) speech by which they divert the mortals from the best action,

- the Wise One speaks bad (words) to those who spoil the life of the cow by saving "move on!"
- (and) on whose account the Karapan/lie-priest prefers "grass" to truth as well as the
- 32.12. Für die (Schmäh)rede, durch die sie die Sterblichen von der besten Handlung
- spricht der Weise schlimme (Worte) zu denen, die mit dem Wort "wandele!" das Leben der Kuh verderben
- (und) derentwegen der Karapan/Lügenpriester dem Wahrsein das "Gras" vorzieht und (chenso) die Macht/Herrschaft derer, die sich die Lüge ausgesucht haben.
- 32,13. yā xša9rā grāhmō hišasaţ acištahyā dəmānē manaŋhō anhāuš maraxtārō ahvā vaēcā mazdā ijeorozat kāmē

9Bahvā ma9rānō dūtām və īš pat darəsat ašahvā

- 32.13. By that power/rule the "grass" gang strives to settle in the house of worst
- (those) destroyers of this existence/world. O Wise One, who then complain very much about the household of your poet who prevents them from seeing truth,
- 32,13. Durch diese Macht/Herrschaft strebt die "Grasbande" danach, sich im Haus des schlechtesten Gedankens niederzulassen.

(diese) Zerstörer dieser Existenz/Welt, o Weiser, die sich dann sehr beklagen über die Hausgemeinschaft Deines Dichters, der sie am Erblicken des Wahrseins hindert.

- 32,14. ahya †grāhmō (= grām‹āng›) ā.hōiðōi nī kāvayascīṭ xratūš [nī.]dadaṭ varəcā.hīcā fraidivā hyat visəntā drəgvantəm avō
- 32.14. Particularly the Kavis/princes lay their intellects into the fetter of that "grass," and their authorities, when getting ready day by day to assist the deceitful one while (the order) is recited "have the bull slaughtered" who inflames the fire-
- resisting/death-averting help/refreshment. 32.14. Insbesondere die Kavis/Fürsten legen ihren Intellekt und ihre Würde in die Fessel dieses "Grases", indem sie sich Tag für Tag anschicken, dem Lügner zu assistieren
- während (der Befehl) rezitiert wird "der Stier werde geschlachtet", der die schwer verbrennbare/Tod abwehrende Hilfe/Erfrischung entflammt,
- 32.15. anāiš ā vi.nānāsā vā karapō.tāscā kavītāsca avāiš aibī yōng daintī nōit jyātāuš xšayamnāng vasō tõi ābvā bairvāntē vanhauš a damanē mananhō

hvatcă eăuš iaidvăi mravoi vă duraošam saocavat avô

32.15. Owing to such (actions) the gang of the Karapans/lie-pricsts and that of the Kavis/princes is doomed to ruin,

- (being doomed) by those whom (those gangsters) want to put on reins in order to rob them of the control at will of their lives. (Yet) these will be cared for by those two, (integrity/nectar and immortality/ambrosia,)
  - in the house of good thought.
  - 32,15. Wegen solcher (Handlungen) ist die Bande der Karapans/Lügenpriester und die der Kavis/Fürsten dem Untergang geweiht,
  - (und zwar gerade) durch diejenigen, denen (diese Banditen) das Geschirr anlegen wollen, um sie der freien Verfügung über ihr Leben zu berauben.
  - (Doch) diese werden von ienen beiden. (Unverletzlichkeit/Nektar und Unsterblichkeit/Ambrosia,) im Haus des guten Gedankens genflegt werden.

  - 32,16. haməm tat vahištacīt yə ušuruye siyascīt dahmahyā xšavas mazdā ahurā vehvā mā ai9išcīt dvaē9ā hvat aënańhē draevatō 555nū išivāne anhavā
  - 32,16. That equals what really is the best, (O you) who in favor of the believer lying

exercises power (over that one) whose terror (is) frightening me, O Wise Lord -(that equals what really is the best), which, in contrast to the outrare of the deceitful one, (is) in sight following behind the invigorating.

32,16. Das ist dem wirklich Besten gleich, (o Du,) der Du zu Gunsten des daniederliegenden Gläubigen

Macht ausübst (über den.) dessen Terror mir Furcht einflößt, o Weiser Herr-(das ist dem wirklich Besten gleich.) was im Gegensatz zum Freyel des Lügners hinter den Erfrischern sichtbar (ist).

#### Yasna 33

- 33.1. va9a aiš i9a varašaite va data anhauš naounivehva ratul§] śvao9ana razišta draevataecā hvatcā ašāunē vehyācā hām.fmlyāsaitē mi@ahvā vācā hōi ārəzvā
- 33.1. As (it is provided) by them so the laws of the first/fundamental existence shall be applied
- by the judge, the most straight/just actions toward the deceitful one and toward him who is truthful
- as well as toward that one whose (manifestations of) crookedness are offset against those of his straightness.
- 33.1. Wie es durch sie (vorgeschen ist.) so sollen die Gesetze der ersten/grundlegenden Existenz vom Richter angewandt werden. die geradesten/gerechtesten Handlungen gegenüber dem Lügner und gegenüber dem,
- der wahrhaft ist.
- ebenso wie gegenüber demjenigen, dessen (Bekundungen von) Falschheit und Geradheit gegeneinander aufgerechnet werden.
- 33,2. at v5 akom drogvāitē vacanhā vā at vā mananhā

zastőibyű vű varošaiti vaŋhűu vű cői9aitê astim tői várái rádonti ahurahvű zaošé mazdá

33,2. He who does evil to the deceitful one by his word, or by his thought,

or by this hands, or the whot receives the guest well in a friendly manner, (all) these submit to (His) will (thus abiding) in the favor of the Wise Lord.

33,2. Wer dem Lügner Übles tut, mit Wort oder Gedanken

oder mit (seinen) Händen, oder (wer) den Gast gut/freundlich aufnimmt, sic (alle) fügen sich (Seinem) Willen (und verweilen so) in der Gunst des Weisen Herrn.

33,3. yə aşaune vahistö x'aetü va aţ va vərəzənyö airyamna va ahura vidas va 9βaxsanha gavoi at hvö asahya anhat vanhöusca vastre mananhö

33,3. He who is very good/dear to the truthful one, by family, or by being a member of the community.

or by tribe, O Lord, or by zealously caring for the cow,

that one shall/will be on the pasture of truth and good thought.

33,3. Wer dem Wahrhaften sehr gut/lieb ist durch Familie oder als Gemeindemitglied oder durch Stammes(zugehörigkeit), o Herr, oder dadurch, dass er mit Eifer für die Kuh soret.

der soll/wird sich auf der Weide des Wahrseins und des guten Gedankens befinden.

33,4. yō 9βaṭ mazdā asruštīm akəmcā manō yazāi apā x'aetōušcā taro.maitīm vərəzənax'yācā nazdištam drujom airvamnnascā nadanto gənsca vastrat acištam mantum

33,4. I who wish to keep off from you by sacrificing, O Wise One, disobedience and bad thought,

and the arrogance of the family, and the deceit neighboring the community, and the blasphemers in the tribe, and, from the pasture of the cow, the very bad counselor.

 J. Ich, der ich als Opfernder von Dir, o Weiser, den Ungehorsam und den schlechten Gedanken fernhalten will

und die Überheblichkeit der Familie und die der Gemeinde benachbarte Lüge und die Schmäher im Stamm und von der Weide der Kuh den sehr schlechten Ratgeber –

33,5. yastē vīspō.mazišiam səraoğəm zbayā avaŋhānē apāno darəgo.jyaitim a xša9rəm vaŋhōuš manaŋhō aṣāṭ ā ərəzūš pa9ō yaĕšū mazdā ahurō šaĕitī

33,5. I who, at the resting place, will call for your very greatest hearing when I have attained the power/dominion of good thought granting long life, the paths straight by virtue of truth, whereon the Wise Lord abides —

33,5. Ich, der ich am Ruheplatz nach Deiner allergrößten Erhörung rufen werde,

wenn ich den langes Leben gewährenden Machtbereich des guten Gedankens erreicht habe.

die kraft Wahrseins geraden Pfade, auf denen der Weise Herr wohnt -

33.6. va zaota asa arazus - hvo mainvaus a vahistat kava

ahınat ava mananha ya vərəzyeidyai manta vastriya ta toi izvai ahına məzdə dərxioiscə həm parktoiscə

33,6. Being the officiating priest (of the present sacrifice) straightforward through truth, I wish, by virtue of best spirit.

to enjoy henceforth that thought with which one thinks of performing pastoral works. With that (thought) I wish to enjoy your sight and your counsel, O Wise Lord.

33,6. Ich, der durch Wahrsein geradlinige leitende Priester (dieses Opfers,) will mich kraft des besten Geistes

von nun an jenes Gedankens erfreuen, durch den man gedenkt Hirtenwerke zu verrichten.

Mit diesem (Gedanken) will ich Deines Anblicks und Deiner Beratung teilhaftig werden, o Weiser Herr.

33,7. ā mā fā Jidūm vahišta a x'ai 9yāca mazdā darəšaţcā ašā vohū manaŋha yā sruyē parā magaonō aviš nā aptara hāptū nəmax'ai uš ci 9rā rātayō

33,7. Come hither to me, O you Best Ones, hither in person and boldly, O Wise One, (inspired) by truth (and) good thought through which I am hearable beyond the contributors.

Let bright gifts of (mutual) reverence be manifest between us.

33,7. Kömmt hierher zu mir, o Ihr Besten, hierher in Person und kühnlich, o Weiser, (inspiriert) durch Wahrsein (und) durch den guten Gedanken, durch den ich über die Spender hinaus hörbar bin.

Lasst glänzende Gaben der (gegenseitigen) Verehrung zwischen uns sichtbar sein.

33,8. fro mā [fra]võizdūm arə9ā tā yā voltū šyāvāi manaŋhā vasnəm mazdā xšmāvalō at vā ašā staomvā vacā

dātā vā amaratāscā utayūitī haurvatās draonō

33,8. Pay heed to these (my) dutiful (performances) which I want to start with good thought: the sacrifice to one such as you. O Wise One, and words praising (you) through truth

Immortality/ambrosia and integrity/nectar are offered 9ou along with youthfulness as oblation.

33,8. Beachtet diese (meine) pflichtgemäßen (Leistungen,) die ich mit gutem Gedanken in Gang setzen will:

das Opfer f

ür einen so wie Ihr, o Weiser, und die (Euch) durch Wahrsein lobpreisenden Worte. Unsterblichkeit/Ambrosia und Integrität/Nektar samt Jugendlichkeit sind Euch als Opfergabe dargebracht.

33.9. at tõi mazda tam mainyām - ašaovšayantā saraidyayā x ādra macda mava - vahista burati manauhi

avá aroi hákuranam yayá hacinté uruvanó

33,9. Let thus one, O Wisc One, through the comfort (arranged) facing me bring you with best thought that spirit of the two braves emitting truth. The partnership of these two whose souls are in harmony is assured.

33,9. So soll man durch das mir gegenüber (angerichtete) Labsal Dir, o Weiser, den Geist

der zwei Wahrsein ausströmenden Kühnen mit bestem Gedanken darbringen. Die Partnerschaft dieser zwei, deren Seelen in Einklang sind, ist zugesichert.

33,10. vîspå stoi hujîtayō ya zi aŋharə yasca həṇti

yásca mazdā buvaiņti 9βahmī hiš zaošē ābaxšō.hva vohū uxšya manaŋhā xša9rā ašaca uštā tanūm

33,10. In order for all the good gains to be (available to you, those) which have existed, and which exist,

and which will exist (at the same time,) receive them in your favor. Grow through good thought, power, and truth at will (and) continuously.

33,10. Damit (Dir) alle die guten Gewinne (zur Verfügung) stehen, (die.) die gewesen sind und die sind

und die (zugleich) sein werden, nimm sie in Deine Gunst auf. Wachse durch guten Gedanken, Macht und Wahrsein nach Belieben (und) in einem fort.

33,11. yə səvištö ahurö mazdáscă armaitišcă aşəmcă frādat gac9əm manascā vohu xša9rəmcā sraotā mõi mərəždata mõi adāi kahyācit paiti

33,11. (O you) who (are) the strongest Lord and the Wise One, and (you who are) Right-mindedness and Truth furthering the herds, and Good Thought and Power, listen to me, have mercy on me in return for any presentation.

 (O Du,) der Du der stärkste Herr (bist) und der Weise, (und Ihr,) die Rechteesinntheit

und das die Herden fördernde Wahrsein und der gute Gedanke und die Macht, hört mir zu, erbarmt Euch meiner in Vergeltung für jegliche Darbietung.

33,12. us moi fuzjārošvā ahurā armaiti təvišīm dasvā spēništā mainyū mazdā vaņhuyā zavō ādā ašā hazō ēmavat vohū manaŋhā fsəratūm

33,12. Set out to me, O Lord, take bodily strength through right-mindedness (and) through most beneficent spirit, O Wise One, (take) swiftness through good presentation/apportionment, impetuous superiority through truth, (and) refection through good thought.

 Mach Dieh auf zu mir, o Herr, nimm K\u00f6rperkraft durch Rechtgesinntheit (und) durch segensreichsten Geist, o Weiser. (nimm) Flinkheit durch gute Darbetung Zuteilung.

ungestürne Überlegenheit durch Wahrsein (und) Erquickung durch guten Gedanken.

33,13. rafaöräi vourucašänē döišī mõi yā va abifra tā xšaôrahya abura yā vaŋhōuš ašiš managhō fro spantā ārmaitē ašā daēnā fradaxšavā

33,13. (Come) to support (me,) O Far-/Wide-Seeing One, show me your peculiarities, those of (your) power, O Lord, which are a reward of good thought.
O Beneficent Right-mindedness, instruct the views/view-souls through truth.

 (Komm) zu (meiner) Unterstützung, o Fern-/Weitblickender, zeige mir Eure Eigenheiten.

die (Eurer) Macht, o Herr, die Belohnung des guten Gedankens sind.

O Segensreiche Rechtgesinntheit, belehre die Anschauungen/Schauseelen durch Wahrseit

33,14. aj rātam zaraθuštró tanuvascīt x'ax'yā uštanəm dadāiti paurvatātəm manayhascā vayhāuš mazdāi šyaoθanahyā aṣā yācā uxδax'yācā səraosəm xšaθrəmea

33,14. Zarathushtra offers as a gift to the Wise One the vitality even of his own body (and) the excellence of (his) good thought as well as that of (his) action (inspired) by truth and (his) obedience to the (divine) statement, and (his own) power.

33,14. Als Gabe bietet Zarathushtra dem Weisen die Lebenskraft sogar seines eigenen Leibes dar (und) die Vortrefflichkeit (seines) guten Gedankens wie auch die (seiner) durch Wahrsein (inspirierten) Handlung und (seinen) Gehorsam gegenüber der (göttlichen) Aussage sowiet (seine eigene) Macht.

## Yasna 34

34,1. yā šyao9anā yā vacaņhā yā yasnā amərətatātəm aṣəmcā taibyō dāŋhā xɨsə9rəmcā haurvatātō aeṣam toi ahurā āhmā pourutəmāis dastē

34,1. The action, the word, and the sacrifice through which you take for yourself immortality/ambrosia and truth, and the power of integrity/nectar,

(a due part) of these is offered you, O Lord, by us (who have turned up) in a very great number.

34.1. Die Handlung, das Wort und das Opfer, durch die Du Unsterblichkeit/Ambrosia und Wahrsein zu Dir nimmst und die Macht der Integrität/Nektur, (ein gehöriger Anteil) an diesen wird Dir, o Herr, von uns dargehoten, (die wir) in sehr großer Zahl (ersehienen sind). 34,2. aţcă î toi manaŋhā mainyəušcă vaŋhauś vispă dătă spantaxyācă nərəš Śyao9anā yehyā uruvă ašā hacaitē pairigae9ē xšmāvato valunē mazdā garobīš stūtam

34.2. All the (manifestations) of the good spirit are created established by your thought, and (so are) the actions of the beneficent man whose soul is in harmony with truth at the laudation of one such as You (performed) by conveying the hords (over to you)

with welcomings (consisting) of praises, O Wise One.

34.2. Alle (Bekundungen) des guten Geistes sind von Deinem Gedanken geschaffen/

eingesetzt
und (ebenso) die Handlungen des segensreichen Mannes, dessen Seele in Einklang mit

dem Wahrsein ist

bei der (Dir unsere) Herden übereignenden Lobpreisung eines so wie Ihr mit aus Preisliedern (bestehenden) Bewillkommnungen, o Weiser.

34,3. at tõi myazdəm ahurā nomaqhā ašāicā dāmā gae9ā vispā ā xša9rõi yā vohū 9taošta manaqha aroi zi hudāṇhō vispāiš mazdā xšmāvasū savō

34,3. In reverence we place, as a sacrificial repast for you, O Lord, and for Truth all (our) herds in (your/your) power, (herds) which you have nourished with good

For the benefit/salvation of the munificent one has been assured (us) by all among those such as you, O Wise One.

34,3. In Verehrung legen wir Dir, o Herr, und dem Wahrsein als Opferspeise alle (unsere) Herden in (Deine/Eure) Macht, (Herden,) die Ihr durch guten Gedanken aufgezogen habt.

Denn das Wohl/Heil des Freigebigen ist (uns) durch alle unter denen so wie Ihr zugesichert worden, o Weiser.

34,4. at tõi äträm ahurā aojõghvaņtom ašā usomahī acš. sīštīm õrmavaņtom stõi rapaņtē ci 9rā. avaŋhəm at mazdā daibišyaņte zastāištāiš doraštā. aēnaŋhəm

34.4. We desire your fire strong through truth, O Lord, of much command (and) impectuous, to be of bright help to (your) supporter, but, by the arrows (sent) by its hands, of visible injury to (your) enemy, O Wise One.

34.4. Wir wünschen, o Herr, von Deinem durch Wahrsein starken, sehr machtvollen (und) ungest\u00e4men Feuer, dass es von g\u00e4nzender Hilfe f\u00fcr (Deinen) Unterst\u00fctzer sei, doch durch die von seiner Hand (gesandten) Pfeile, o Weiser, von sichtbarem Schaden f\u00fcr (Deinen) Feind.

34,5. kat vö xša9rom kā ištiš šyao9anāi ya9a va hahmī ašā vohū manaŋhā 9rāyōidyāi drigūm yūšmākəm parā vā vīspāiš [para-Įvaoxəmā daēvāišcā xrafstrāiš mašiyāišcā

34,5. Which power, which command do you have (at my) work or when I sleep,

to protect (me,) ÿour needy (servant/disciple,) by truth (and) good thought?

We declare ÿou to be superior to all Daēvas/devils, noxious animals, and (bad) mortals.

34.5. Welche Macht habt thr. welche Verfügungsgewalt. (mich.) Euren armen

(bei meinen) Werk oder wenn ich schlafe durch Wahrsein (und) guten Gedanken zu beschützen?

Descriutzen? Wir erklären Euch als überlegen allen Daëvas/Teufeln, schädlichen Tieren und (bösen) Sterblichen.

34,6. yezî a98 stê hai9îm mazdê aşê vohû manaŋhû aş taş môi daxstəm dêtê ahyê aŋhəus vispê muc9a ya9ê vê yazəmnascê urvaidyê stavas ayenî pajtî

34,6. If you are really like this, O Wise One, through truth and good thought, then make that clear to me throughout all vicissitudes of this (osseous/material)

existence, in order for me to step up to you again, sacrificing to you and praising you (even) more

34.6. Wenn Ihr wirklich so seid, o Weiser, durch Wahrsein und guten Gedanken, dann macht mir das klar durch alle Wechselfälle dieser (knochenhaften/materiellen) Existenz.

damit ich (noch) freudiger Euch opfernd und Euch preisend wieder vor Euch trete.

34,7. ku9ra toi aradra mazda yoi vaŋhauš vaĕdənā manaŋhō sənghūš raĕxənā aspāncīt sādrācīt caxrayō ušəurū naĕcim töm anyöm yūšmat vaĕdā ašā a9ā nā 9razdum

34,7. Where (are) those efficient ones, O Wise One, who by knowledge of the bequests and legacies

of good thought turn any misfortune and any grief into favorable (conditions)? Through truth I do not know at all the one other than you, So protect us.

34,7. Wo (sind) jene Tüchtigen, o Weiser, welche in Kenntnis der Vermächtnisse und Hinterlassenschaften

des guten Gedankens jegliches Unglück und jegliches Leid in günstige (Bedingungen) wenden?

Durch Wahrsein kenne ich keineswegs den, der anders ist als Ihr. So beschützt uns.

34,8. täiš zi nā šyao9anāiš bravyeņtē yačšū as pairī pourubyo i9yejo hyat acšv.aojā naidyāgham 9βahya mazda asta urvātahya või nõit ašam mainvantā aēibvõ düirē vohū as manõ

34,8. The (deceitful) fear us indeed on account of those actions at which you send danger over their great number.

as (you,) the very strong one, (treat) the weaker one by the harmful effect of your commandment, O Wise One.

You send good thought (to a place) far off from those who do not think truth.

from ourselves.

Weiser Herr.

- 34,8. Die (Lügner) fürchten uns ja auf Grund der Taten, bei denen Du Verderhen über ihre große Zahl sendest,
- wie (Du.) der sehr Starke, den Schwächeren (behandelst) durch die schädliche Wirkung Deines Gebates, it Weiser.
- Die nicht Wahrsein denken, fern von denen (hin) sendest Du den guten Gedanken.
- 34,9. yői spəṇṭạm ārmaitīm ββahyā mazdā bərəxöạm vidušö
- duš.Šyao8anū avazazat vaŋhōuš əvistī manaŋhō
- aeibyo maf aśii syazulat yavat ahmat auruna xrafstra

  34,9. From the evil-doers, who, by ignorance/fack of good thought, let loose/abandon
  beneficient right-mindedness, the ward of your knowing/initiated one, O Wise One,
  from these (evil-doers) one shall withhold very much truths as far as the fierce beasts
- 34,9. Von den Übeltätern, welche aus Unkenntnis/in Ermangelung des guten Gedankens die segensreiche Rechtgesinntheit loslassen/aufgeben, den Schützling Deines Wissenden/Initiierten, o Weiser,
- von diesen (Übeltätern) soll man gar sehr Wahrheiten fern halten, ebenso weit wie von uns die wilden Bestien.
- 34,10. ahyā vaŋhōuš manaṇhō šyao9anā vaocat gərəbam huxratuš
- spəntamcă ārmaitīm damīm vīdvā hiðam ašahyā tācā vīspā ahurā 9βahmī mazdā xšaθroi.ā vöyaθrā
- 34,10. The intelligent one speaks of grasping the actions of this good thought
- and (of grasping) beneficent right-mindedness, knowing her (to be) the creative partner of truth.
- and (he speaks) of all those pleasures (available) in your power/dominion, O Wise Lord.
- 34,10. Der Intelligente spricht von der Ergreifung der Handlungen dieses guten Gedankens
- und (von der Ergreifung) der segensreichen Rechtgesinntheit, die er (als) schöpferische Partnerin des Wahrseins kennt, und (er sprieht) von all jenen in Deinem Machtbereich (verfügbaren) Genüssen, o
- 34,11. at tõi ube haurväsca x'arə9äi.ā amərətatāscā vanhōuš xša9rā mananhō aša mat ārmaitiš vaxšt
- utaynitī tavišī tāiš ā mazdā vīdvaešam θβοί ahī 34,11. Both integrity/nectar and immortality/ambrosia (serve) you for food.
- By the power of good thought, right-mindedness along with truth makes youthfulness and bodily strength grow. By (all) these you are for the good of those resisting the enemies, O Wise Onc.
- 34,11. Beide, Integrität/Nektar und Unsterblichkeit/Ambrosia (dienen) Dir als Speise. Durch die Macht des guten Gedankens lässt Rechtgesinntheit zusammen mit Wahrsein

- Jugendlichkeit und K\u00f6rperkraft wachsen. Mit (all) diesen dienst Du dem Wohl derer, die den Feinden widerstehen, o Weiser.
- 34,12. kat toi razara kat vaši kat vā stūtō kat vā vasnahvā
- smidvai mazda finvacea ya vidiyaj aşis rašiaan saša na aša na 90 – vanhāuš X'aētāne mananhō
- 34,12. What is your direction, what do you wish, what of praise and what of sacrifice? Proclaim in order for it to be heard, O Wise One, through whom one will distribute the rewards for (complicity with) the directions.
- Show us through truth the paths of good thought easy to pass.
- 34,12. Was ist Deine Anordnung, was willst Du, was an Lobpreis und was an Opfer? Verkinde, damit man es höre, o Weiser, durch wen man die Belohnungen für (die Erfüllung) der Anordnungen verteilen wird.
- Weise uns durch Wahrsein die leicht begehbaren Pfade des guten Gedankens.
- 34,13. tām advānəm ahutā yām moi mraoš vaŋhōuš manaŋhō daēnā suošvantam yā hū,kərətā ašātcīt urvāxšat
- hyat cəvista hudâbyō miždəm mazda yehya tü da9rəm
- (Show us) that well-cleared way, O Lord, of which you tell me that it is that of good thought,
- on which the views/view-souls of the benefactors/saviors owing to truth itself proceed toward the prize
- that you promised to the munificent ones, O Wise One, (and) of which you (are) the grant (in person).
- 34,13. (Weise uns) den wohl geebneten Weg, o Herr, den Du mir als den des guten Gédankens nennst,
- auf dem die Anschauungen/Schauseelen der Wohltäter/Retter vom Wahrsein selbst aus auf den Preis zugehen,
- den Ihr den Freigebigen versprochen habt, o Weiser, (und) dessen (personifizierte) Gewährung Du (bist).
- 34,14. taį zī mazda vairīm astvaitē uštānāi dātā
  - vayhāuš Šyao9anā mananho yoi zī gāuš vərəzānē azyā xšmākam hucistīm ahurā xratāuš ašā frādo vərəzāna
- 34,14. For you, O Wise One, grant this desirable (prize) to the osseous/material life by/for the action of good thought; (you) who (abide) at the enclosure of the fertile cow, O Lord, (you grant) your good insight owing to the intellect which furthers (such)
- enclosures through truth.
- 34,14. Denn Ihr, o Weiser, gewährt diesen begehrenswerten (Preis) dem knochenhaften/ materiellen Leben
- durch/für die Handlung des guten Gedankens; (Ihr,) die (Ihr) am Gehege der fruchtbaren Kuh (weilt,)

 Herr, (Ihr gewährt) Eure gute Einsicht auf Grund des Intellekts, der (solche) Gehege durch Wahrsein f\u00fcrtett

34.15. mazdá at moi vahišta sravásca švao9anaca vaoca

tā tā vohā managha - ašācā išudom situo

xšmākā xša9rā ahurā - fərašəm vasnā hai9yəm dā ahūm

34.15. O Wise One, tell me the best eulogies and actions, (tell me) them through good thought, and (tell me) through truth the compensation for the nraise.

Through your power, O Lord, make real the world perfect in value.

34,15. O Weiser, nenne mir die besten Lobreden und Handlungen,
(nenne mir) sie durch euten Gedanken, und (nenne mir) durch Wahrsein die Vergütung

Durch Eure Macht, o Herr, verwirkliche die an Wert vollkommene Welt.

# Yasna 35-41[42]. Yasna Haptanghāiti

#### Vasna 35

für den Lobpreis.

- [35]. ahurom mazdam ağavanını ağahe ratüm yazamaide. amış\(\textit{a}\) sponia hux\(\textit{a}\) abrida yazamaide. Vişpam a\(\textit{a}\) no s\(\textit{m}\) yazamaide mainyəvim gaei\(\textit{d}\) yamca bəroja vanlı\(\textit{a}\) is \(\textit{a}\) be beroja vapluyi da\(\textit{e}\) aval zadayasnoi\(\textit{S}\).
- [35,1. We celebrate the Wise Lord, the truthful judge of truth. We celebrate the (six) Beneficent Immortals/Amasha Spaquas, the munificent good rulers. We celebrate all the spiritual and material possession of the truthful one by preservation/observance of good truth (and) by preservation/observance of the Good Mazdayasnian Religion.]
- [35.]. Wir feiern den Weisen Herm, den wahnhaften Richter des Wahrseins. Wir feiern die (sechs) Segensreichen Unsterblichen/Amasha Spottas, die freigebigen guten Herrscher. Wir feiern allen geistigen und materiellen Besitz des Wahrhaften durch Einhaftung/Bewahrung des guten Wahrseins (und) durch Einhaftung/Bewahrung der Guten Mazdaysanischen Religion.
- 35,2. humatanam hūxtanam huvarštanam iyadacā aniyadacā vərəzyamnanamcā vāvərəzananamcā mahī aibī jarətārō načnačstārō ya9ənā vohunam mahī.
- 35,2. We are culogists of the well-thought (thoughts,) of the well-spoken (words and) of the well-performed (actions) that are being performed and that have been performed here and elsewhere as we are non-revilers/eulogists of the good (things).
- 35,2. Wir sind Lobredner der gut gedachten (Gedanken.) der gut gesprochenen (Worte und) der gut vollbrachten (Handlungen.) die hier und anderswo vollbracht werden und vollbracht worden sind, wie wir Nicht-Schmäher/Lobredner der guten (Dinge) sind.
- 35,3. tat at varəmaidī ahurā mazdā ašā.srīrā hyat ī mainimaidicā vaocōimācā varəzimacā yā hātam šyao@ananam vahištā syat uboibyā ahubyā.

- 35,3. We make up our minds, O Wise Lord majestic through truth, to think of, and to speak of, and to perform the actions that would be the best of the existing for both existences.
- 35.3. Wir entschlieden uns, o Wetser Herr durch Wahrsein majestätisch, zu denjenigen Handlungen, die für beiderlei Existenzen die besten der Seienden sein dürften, zu denken, von hinen zu sprechen und sie auszuführen.
- 35,4. gavõi adāiš tāiš Šyao Sanāiš yāiš vahištaiš fraešyāmahī rāmācā vāstrəmcā dazdyāi surunvatascā asurunvatascā xšayaņtascā axšayaņtascā.
- 35,4. By them, by these best actions, we impel the listening and the non-listening ones, the ruling and the non-ruling ones (to establish) peace for the cow and to provide (her) with nasture.
- 35.4. Durch sie, durch diese besten Handlungen, treiben wir die Hörenden und die Nichtbörenden, die Herrschenden und die Nichtbörenden dazu an, der Kult Frieden (zu gewähren) und (ihr) Weide zu verschaffen.
  35.5. hux80/07.6xmñ ba at x80/07m altmat frost aibi dadamabică ci8mabică hvanmabica
- hyat mazdai ahurdi aklicir vahistai.
  35.5. We offer the power that (is) with us to the best ruler, we entrust it to Him, we
- transfer it to Him, the Wise Lord, and to Best Truth.

  35,5. Dem besten Herrscher bringen wir die Macht dar, die bei uns (liegt.) wir vertrauen.
- sie Ihm an, wir übertragen sie Ihm, dem Weisen Herrn, und dem Besten Wahrsein.
- 35,6. yaða at uta na va nairī va vaeda haiðim, aða hat vohú tat ásádú varazyötűcä it ahmai fraca vatoyotu it aelbyó yói it aða varazyan yaða it asti. 35,6. Ín the form in which a man – or a woman – knows a true/effective (mantra, in that
- very form) this is a good seed grain, (and) he/she shall practice it for Him and pass it on to those who are willing to practice it (in the form) in which it is (true/effective).
- 35,6. In der Form, in welcher ein Mann oder eine Frau ein wahres/wirksames (Mantra) kennt, (in ebendieser Form) ist dieses ein gutes Samenkorn, (und) er/sie soll es Ihm gegenüber anwenden und an diejenigen weitergeben, die es (in der Form) anwenden wollen, in welcher es (wahr/wirksam) ist.
- 35,7. ahurahyā zi at võ mazdå yasnəmca vahməmca vahistəm aməhmaidi gəušca västrəm, tat at võ vərəzvāmahi fraca vätövāmahi vā tö isāmaidē.
- 35,7. For we have realized that the sacrifice to the Wise Lord and (his) laudation are (what is) most pleasant for you, and the pasture of the cow (as well). We wish to practice it toward you and to pass it on (to others) to the extent that we are able to.
- 35,7. Denn wir haben das Opfer für den Weisen Herrn und (seine) Lobpreisung als (das) für Euch Erfreulichste erkannt und (ebenso) die Weide der Kuh. Wir wollen es Euch gegenüber anwenden und es (an andere) weitergeben in dem Maß, in dem wir dazu in der Lage sind.

- 35,8. ašuhyā ūat sairī ašahyā vərəzəne kahmāicīt hūtum jijišam vahištam adā uboibya shubyā.
- 35.8. He has declared that the search for refuge for both existences is best (possible) for anyone among the existing in the shelter of truth, in the enclosure custody of truth.
- 35,8. Er hat erklärt, dass jedem der Seienden die Suche nach Zuflucht für beiderlei Existenzen am besten (möglich) sei im Schutzwall des Wahrseins, im Gehege/Obhut des Wahrseins.
- 35,9/10. imā āṭ uxčā vacā ahura mazda ajom munayā vahehyā fravaocāmā. Đệum aṭ acṢam patiyastaramcā fraduxStāramcā dadomaide / aṣāaṭcā hucā vaṇfaūkcā manaŋhō vaṣṇbūkcā xšaθrāṭ staotaiš 9βāṭ ahurā staotaētbyō aibī uxča θβāṭ uxčoibyō yasnā θβāṭ yaṣṇbibyō.
- 35,9/10. With best presentation, O Wise Lord, we proclaim these statements and words to be) truth. We accept you to be (to us) their listener and elucidator /i in accordance with truth, good thought, and good power, O Lord, now with a praise beyond praises, now with a statement beyond statements, now with a sacrifice beyond sacrifices.
- 35,9/10. In bester Vortragsweise, o Weiser Herr, verkünden wir diese Aussagen und Worte (als) Wahrsein/Wahrheit. Wir nehmen Dieh als ihren Anhörer und Erheller an // in Überreinstimmung mit Wahrsein, gutem Gedanken und guter Macht, o Herr, jetzt mit Lobpreisungen über Lobpreisungen hinaus, jetzt mit einer Aussage über Aussagen hinaus, jetzt mit einem Opfer über Opfer hinaus.

## Yasna 36

- 36,1. ahyā θβā āθrō vərəzēnā paoutuye pairijasāmaidē mazdā ahurā θβā θβā mainyū spēnīštā yē a axtiš ahmāi yēm axtēyōi dāŋhē.
- 36.1. First we serve you, O Wise Lord, with the custody of this fire, (we serve) you (inspired) by your most beneficent spirit, which (is) pain/burn to that one on whom you resolve to (inflict) pain/burn.
- 36,1. An erster Stelle warten wir Dir auf, o Weiser Herr, mit der Hege dieses Feuers, Dir (warten wir auf, inspiriert) durch Deinen segensreichsten Geist, der Schmetz/ Verbenang (bedeutet) für denjenigen, dem Schmetz/Verbrenanung (zuzufügen) Du Dich entschließt
- 36,2. urvāzištō hvō nā yātāyā paitī.jamyā ālarə mazdā ahurahyā urvāzištāhyā urvāzavyā namištahyā nəmuŋhā nā mazištāi yāŋham paitī.jamyā.
- 36,2. May you, the most graceful one, come to us for (your) share, O Fire of the Wise Lord, may you come to us for the greatest of apportionments with the grace of the most graceful one (and) with the reverence of the best (returner of) reverence.
- 36,2. Mögest Du, der Gnädigste, zu uns zu (Deinem) Gewinnantell kommen, o Feuer des Weisen Herm, mögest Du zu uns zur größten der Zuteilungen kommen mit der Gnade des Gnädigsten (und) mit der Verehrung des besten (Erwiderers der) Verehrung.

- 36,3. ātarš või mazdå ahurahyā ahī, mainyuš või ahyā spāništö ahī. hyat vā toi nāmanam vāzištəm ātarə mazdā ahurahyā tā θβā pairijasāmaidē.
- 36.3. You are indeed the Fire of the Wise Lord, you are indeed His most beneficent spirit. We serve you by (calling) that of your names which (denotes) the best-provided (guest) O Fire of the Wise Lord.
- 36,3. Du bist in der Tat das Feuer des Weisen Herm, Du bist in der Tat Sein segensreichster Geist. Wir warten Dir auf mit (Nennung) desjenigen Deinner Namen, welcher den bestversorgten (Gast bezeichnet.) o Feuer des Weisen Herm.
- 36,4/5. vohu 9fa managha vohu 9fa aša vaghuyā 9fa cistoiš šyao9unaišca vacabīšca pairijasāmaidē, // namaxyāmahī išūidyāmahī 9fa mazda ahura, vīspāiš 9fa humataiš vispaiš hūxtaiš vīspāiš huvaroštaiš pairijasāmaidē.
- 36,4/5. We serve you with good thought, you with good truth, you with the actions and words of good insight, // we revere (and) invigorate you, O Wise Lord, we serve you with all (our) well-thought (thoughts,) with all (our) well-spoken (words,) with all (our) well-performed (actions).
- 36,4/5. Wir warten Dir auf mit gutem Gedanken, Dir mit gutem Wahrsein, Dir mit den Handlungen und Worten der guten Einsicht, // wir verehren (und) erfrischen Dich, o Weiser Herr, wir warten Dir auf mit all (unseren) gut gedachten (Gedanken,) mit all (unseren) gut gesprochenen (Worten,) mit all (unseren) gut vollbrachten (Handlungen).
- 36,6. sraĕštam at tõi kəhrpēm kəhrpem ävaĕdayamahī mazdā ahurā imā raocā barəzištom barəzəmanum avat yāṭ huvarē avācī.
- 36,6. These lights here we dedicate to you, O Wise Lord, (as) the most majestic form of forms\_since yonder most elevated of elevations was given the name (of) "Sun."
- 36,6. Diese Lichter hier weihen wir Dir, o Weiser Herr, (als) die majestätischste Gestalt der Gestalten, seit jener höchsten der Erhöhungen der Name "Sonne" gegeben wurde.

# Yasna 37

- 37,1. i9ā āṭ yazamaidē ahurəm mazdam yə gamcā aṣəmcā dāṭ apascā dāṭ urvarā vaŋ²his raocāscā dāṭ būmīmcā viṣpācā vohū.
- 37,1. Herewith we celebrate the Wise Lord, who created the cow and truth, (who) created the waters, (who) created the good/useful plants and the lights and the earth and all good (things).
- 37,1. Hiermit feiern wir den Weisen Herm, der die Kuh und das Wahrsein schuf, (der) die Wasser schuf, (der) die guten/nützlichen Pflanzen und die Lichter schuf und die Erde und alle guten (Dinge).
- 37,2. ahyā xšaðrācā mazönācā havapaņhāišcā tēm at yasnanam paurvatātā yazamaide yoi gauš haca šyeintī.

- 37,2. In regard of His power, His greatness, and His works of art we celebrate Him by the excellence of sacrifices (of those) who dwell/settle in accordance with (the needs of) the cow.
- 37.2. Im Hinblick auf Seine Macht. Seine Gr\u00f6\u00e4re und Seine k\u00e4nsterrschen Leistungen feiern wir Ihn mit der Vortrefflichkeit der Opfer (derer.) die in Übereinstimmung mit (den Bed\u00e4\u00fcrfissen) der Kult wohnen\u00e4siedeln.
- 37,3. töm aţ āhūiryā nāmöni mazda varā spoņtō tomā yazamaidē, tòm ahmakāiš azdəbišca uštānāišcā yazamaidē, [töm aṣāunam fravaṣīš naramca nairinamca vazamaidē].
- 37,3. Him we celebrate (calling) the Ahurian names dear to (Him.) the Wise One, and most beneficent, Him we celebrate with our bones and vital forces, [Him we celebrate (calling) the Fravashis/Protective Spirits of the truthful men and women].
- 37.3. Ihn feiern wir die ahurischen, höchst segensreichen Namen (nennend,) die (Ihm.) dem Weisen, teuer (sind.) Ihn feiern wir mit unseren Knochen und Lebenskräften, [Ihn feiern wir die Fravashis/Schutzgeister der wahrhaften M\u00e4nner und Frauen (nennend)].
- 37,4/5. aşam at vahistəm yazamaidē hyat sraĕstəm hyat spoņtom aməşəm hyat raocoghvat hyat vispā vohu, // vohucā mano yazamaide vohuca xsaðrəm vagʻhimca daēṇam vagʻhimca fisəratüm vagʻhimca ārmaitim.
- 37,4/5. We celebrate best truth, which is most majestic, beneficent (and) immortal, full of light (and) encompassing all good (things,) // and we celebrate good thought, good power/rule, good view/religion, good refection, and good right-mindedness.
- 37.4/5. Wir feiern das beste Wahrsein, höchst majestätisch, segensreich (und) unsterblich, lichtvoll (und) alle guten (Dinge) umfassend, // und wir feiern den guten Gedanken, die gute Macht/Herrschaft, die gute Anschauung/Religion, die gute Erquickung und die gute Rechtgesinntheit.

## Yasna 38

- 38,1. imam ñat zam gonābiš ha@rā yazamaide yā nå baraitī yāscā tōi gonā aburā mazdā ašat haca vairyā tā yazamaide.
- 38,1. We celebrate this earth which bears us, along with (its) women, and (we celebrate) your women, worth choosing in accordance with truth, those we celebrate, O Wise Lord.
- 38,1, Wir feiern diese Erde, die uns trägt, samt (ihren) Frauen, und (wir feiern) Deine in Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein wählenswerten Frauen, diese feiern wir, o Weiser Herr.
- 38,2. ižá yaoštayó fəraštayö armatayö vaŋ him ābiš aṣim vaŋ him isəm vaŋ him azaitim vaŋ him frasastim vaŋ him pārandim/parandim yazamaidē.

- 38.2. (As for) cream-offerings, purifications, perfections, manifestations of right-mindedness along with these we celebrate good reward, good refreshment, good fat-libation, good reputation, (and) good abundance.
- 38.2. Wasi Sahnegahen, Läuterungen, Vervollkommungen, Äußerungen vom Rechtgesiantheit (betrifft) – zusammen nit diesen feiern wir die gute Belohaung, die gute Efrischung, die gute Fettspende, die gute Rühmung (und) die gute Fülle.
- 38,3. apö at yazamaidē mačkayaņtišcā hābvaiņtišcā fravazaŋhö ahurāniš ahurahyā havupaŋhā, huparaθfišscā vā hvö.yžaθāsca hašnaθrāscā uboībyā ahubyā cagornā.
- 38.3. We celebrate the waters tasty and sweet, ladies/nymphs flowing along (as) works of art of the (Wise) Lord, and (we celebrate) you, (the waters) easy to cross, easy to navigate and offering good bathing places, (that) present for both existences.
- 38,3. Wir feiern die wohlschmeckenden, süßen Wasser, Herrinnen/Nymphen, die dahinfließen als Kunstwerke des (Weisen) Herm, und (wir feiern) Euch, (die) leicht durchquerbaren, leicht befahrbaren und gute Badeplätze bietenden (Wasser als) Geschenk für beide Existenzen.
- 38,4. titī yā vō vay'hīš ahurō mazdā nāmam dadāt vaņhudā hyat vā dadāt tāiš vā yazamaidē tāiš friyanmahī tāiš normaxyāmahī tāiš išūidyāmahī.
- 38.4. By the above names, which the Wise Lord, the giver of the good (things,) gives you, when he releases you, O good ones, with these we celebrate you, by these we appease you, with these we revere you, with these we invigorate you.
- 384. Mit den obigen Namen, die der Weise Herr, der Geber der guten (Dinge,) euch gibt, wenn er euch freigibt, o Gute, mit diesen feiern wir euch, mit diesen besänftigen wir euch, mit diesen verehren wir euch, mit diesen verbehen wir euch.
- 38,5. apascā vā azīšcā vā mātərašcā vā agənyā drigudāyanhō vispē,p-aritiš āvaocāmā vahištā sraeštā, avā vā vaŋ hīš rātoiš darago,bāzaus nāšu paitī vyādā paitī. saṇdā mataro iituvo.
- 38,5. We address you as waters, you as fertile cows, you as mother cows, not to be killed, nursing the poor (and) providing drink for all, O you beat (and) most majestic ones, and so we do, O you good ones, at the carrivals of your long-armed munificence, O you distributors. O you goals ones, O you mothers, O you gain.
- 38,5. Wir sprechen euch an als Wasser, euch als fruchtbare K\u00fche, euch als Mutterk\u00fche, nicht zu schlachtend, die Armen n\u00e4hrend (und) alle tr\u00e4nkend, o l\u00e4r Besten (und) Majest\u00e4itschsten, und das tun wir, o lhr Guten, bei den Ank\u00fcnnften Eurer langarmigen Gro\u00dfz\u00e4gigkeit, o lhr Verteilerinnen, o lhe Erfreuerinnen, o lhr m\u00fctter, o lhr Gewinne.

# Yasna 39

39,1/2. iBā āṭ yazamaide gāuš uruvanəmca tašānəmca, ahmākəng saṭ uruno pasukanpmcā yōi nā jijīsənti yaĕibyascā tōi ā yaĕcā aĕibyo ā aqhan, // datikanpmcā aidyūnam haṭ uruno yazamaide, aṣāonam āaṭ uruno yazamaide kudo.zātanamcīṭ naramcā nātirinamcā yaĕšam vaheliš daēnā vanainti vā vaipghən vā vaonarə vā.

111

39,1/2. Herewith we celebrate the soul of the cow and (her) fashioner. Then we celebrate the souls of our (people) and those of (our) domestic animals, who seek refuge with us for whom they shall be there and (with us) who shall be there for them,

with us for whom they shall be there and (with us) who shall be there for them, and we celebrate the souls of the harmless wild animals. Then we celebrate the souls of the truthful wherever they were born, of the men and women whose better views prevail or will prevail or have prevailed (over their worse views).

- 39,1/2 liermit feiem wir der Seche dre Hende in der Seche der Hende in der Beiten der im sein mit die sie des Jeziel hier Unserie Hunstlere, die Zuflachs stuchen in, für die sie das ein sollen und (bei uns.) die (wir) für sie da sein sollen, // und wir feier mit die sie da sein sollen und (bei uns.) die (wir) für sie da sein sollen, // und wir feier mit der Sechen der unschädlichen wilden Tree. Damn feiem wir die Sechen der Wahrhaften, wo auch immer sie geboren wurden, der Münner und Frauen, deren bessere Anschauungen (für se selbschetzen) überwiegen oder Überwiegen werde wörer werden der füberwonen dass der Werter werden der füberwonen haben.
- 39,3. at iða yazamaide vaghišcā it vag hišcā it spaņtāng amašāng yavaējiyō yavaēsuvō või vaghāns a mananhō šveinti yāscā ūitī.
- 39,3. Herewith we then celebrate the good male and the good female Beneficent Immortals of eternal life and eternal benefit/salvation, (the male ones) who dwell/settle on the side of sood thought and the female ones as well.
- 39.3. Hiermit feiern wir die guten m\u00e4nnlichen und die guten weiblichen Segensreichen Unsterblichen von ewigem Leben und ewigem Wohl/Heil, (die m\u00e4nnlichen,) die auf der Seite des guten Godankens wohnen/siedeln, und ebenso die weiblichen.
- 39.4. ya/9ā tū ī alunā mazdā mānghācā vaocascā dāscā varašcā yā vohu a/9a toi dadamahi a/9ā cišmahi a/9ā ā/jā ā/iš yazamaidē a/9ā namaxyāmahī a/9ā išoidyamahī //9ā mazdā ahurā.
- 39.4. Just as you, O Wise Lord, conceive, pronounce, produce, and effect the good (things,) so we offer (them) to you, so we entrust (them) to you, so we celebrate you with them, so we revere you (with them,) so we requite you (for them,) O Wise Lord.
- 39.4. So wie Du, o Weiser Herr, die guten (Dinge) ersonnen, ausgesprochen, hervorgebracht und bewirkt hast, so bringen wir (sie) Dir dar, so vertrauen wir (sie) Dir an, so feiern wir Dich mit ihnen, so verehren wir Dich (mit ihnen,) so vergelten wir (sie) Dir, o Weiser Herr.
- 39,5. vayhāuš x'aētāuš x'aētātā vayhāuš ašahyā 9βā pairijasāmaidē vayhuyā fisaratuvō vanhuyā ārmatōiš.
- 39,5. We serve you with the nature of a good family, of good truth, of good refection, (and) of good right-mindedness.
- 39,5. Wir warten Dir auf mit der Eigenart guter Familie, guten Wahrseins, guter Erquickung (und) guter Rechtgesinntheit.

## Yasna 40

40,1/2. āhā at paitī adāhā mazdā ahurā mazdamcā būirīcā kərəšvā rāitī toi xrapaitī ahmat hvat aibī, hvat mīždəm [m]avaē9əm fradadā9ā daēnābyō mazdā ahurā // ahyā hvő nő dâidi ahmāicā ahuyē manakyāicā taṭ ahyā yā taṭ upā.jamyamā tavacā haxəmā ašakyācā vīspāi yavē.

- 40.1/2. (In return) for these presentations/apportionments. O Wise Lord, take notice of and enrich yourself with what resounds with us (inspired) by your numificence.
- (As for) the incontestable prize which you promise to the views/view-souls, O Wise Lord, // grant us (a share) of it for this (osseous/material) existence and for that of thought, (grant us) that (share) of it through which we may reach your fellowship and that of truth for all time.
- 40,17.2 (in Erwiderung) dieser Darbietungen/Zuteilungen, o Weiser Herr, nimm Kenntinis, und tu es reichlich, von dem, was (inspirier) durch Deine Großzügigkeit bei uns erklingt. (Was) den unanfechtbaren Preis (betrifft,) dem Du den Amschauungen/ Schausselen versprichst, o Weiser Herr, // gewähre uns (einen Anteil) an ihm für diese (konochenhalterwäheriele) Existeur auf für die des Gedankens, (gewähre uns) jenen (Anteil) duram, durch den wir für alle Zeit in Deine Genossenschaft und die des Wahrseins sedamen mören.
- 40,3/4. daidī at noraš mazdā ahurā aļšuno aļsacinaņbo aidyūš vāstriyong daragāi ižyāi bazvaitē baxmainē ahmatīyā ahmā rafanapho. // aða x'aetuš aða varorana aða haxmam xyāt yāiš hišcamaidē. aðā vā utā xyāmā mazdā ahurā aļsavano orašyā ištom raitī.
- 40,344. Assign (to us.) O Wise Lord, truthfull men loving truth, good-natured herdance for a permanent fellowship rich in cream and strong in number (of dependents,) offering support to us and enjoying support from us. // So the families may be, so the communities, (and) so the fellowships with which we associate. So may we foliong) truthful abidie in Your favor. O Wise Lord by an enthussatic offering of what is desired.
- 40,344 Weise (uns.) o Weiser Herr, wahrhafte, das Wahrsein liebende Mümer zu, guartieg Hitren, ou dauenhafter, saharencieher Genossenschaft sark an Zhil (der Abhängigen,) die uns Unterstützung beitet und von uns Unterstützung genießt. // So mögen die Familien sein, ods die Geneinehen (und) so die Genossenschaften, and die wir uns anschließen. So mögen wir uns (ab) Wahrhafte in Eurer Cunst befinden, o Weiser Herr, durch entburgung der Servisiense des Erwissensies des Parties uns des Servisiense des Erwissensies des Parties uns des Erwissense des Erwis

# Yasna 41

- 41,1/2. stütő garő vahmöng ahurái mazdái aţáica vahistai dadəmahica cišmahica aca avadedyamahii. Vohin xiabrəmi töi muzda ahurá apacmā vispāi yavē. huxsa9rastū nö nā va nāirī va xisaeta uhövo a ahvo hatam hudatstmā.
- 41,1/2. We offer, entrust, and dedicate praises, welcomes (and) laudations to the Wise Lord and to Best Truth. // May we attain your good power/rule for all time, O Wise Lord. May a good ruler, man or woman, accede to power/rule over us in both existences, O Most Munificent One among the existing.
- 41,1/2. Wir bringen dem Weisen Herrn und dem Besten Wahrsein Preislieder, Willkommensworte (und) Loboreisungen dar, vertrauen sie ihnen an und widmen sie

ihnen. // Mögen wir Deine gute Macht/Herrschaft für alle Zeit erreichen, o Weiser Herr. Möge ein guter Herrscher, Mann oder Frau, die Macht/Herrschaft über uns in beiden Existenzen antreten. o Freieebiester unter den Seienden.

- 41.3.4. humalm oğa izim yazatam uşaghacim dadamaide, ada in na gayased astantásed xyá uböyö ughvo hátam hudistamä. // humaemica zaemica mazda ahura 9fahmi rafanahi daragayau, uelsaca 9fa amuvantusca buyarmä, rapõisea tü na daragamea ustaea hatam hudistsamä.
- 41,334. We accept you, (O Lord,) the misraculus (and) creamy Yazata/deity, who is in Jammony with truth. May you thus be for us life and ossecuaries in both existences, O Most Munificent One innog the existing. // May we win and let (the others) behind under your long-insinglifelous guoppin. O Wise Lord, and may we become vigorous and impetuous through wun, and may you support us permanently and as desired, O Most Munificent One unnog the existings.
- 41,34.4 Wir nehmen Dich an, (o Herr.) den wunderkräftigen (und) sahnereichen Yazata/Gorthei, der mit dem Wahrsein im Einklang seht. So mögest Du uns in beiden Existenzen Leben und Knochenhaftigkeit sein, o Freigebigster unter den Seienden. // Mögen wir gewirmen und (die anderen) hinter uns lassen unter Deiner lang dauerrdach. // bebenslangen Unterstätung, o Weiser Herr, und mögen wir durch Dich Kartvell und ungest\u00e4m werden und m\u00f6gest Du uns unters\u00fcltzen, dauerhaft und wie gew\u00e4nsch, o Freigebigster unter den Seienden.
- 41,5/6. 9βoi staotarascā ma@ranascā ahurā mazdā aogormadaēcā usmahicā visāmadaēcā. hyaţ mīdztam [m]ava@om fradadābā daēnābyo mazda ahura, // ahya hvo no daidī ahunācā ahuyē manaXyāicā taṭ ahyā yā taṭ upā jamyāmā tavacā saram aṣāxyācā vispāi yavē.
- 41,5/6. We declare ourselves your praisers and poets, O Wise Lord, and we are willing (to be so) and we get ready (to be so). (As for) the incontestable prize which Sou promise to the views/view-souls, O Wise Lord, // grant us (a share) of it for this (osseous/material) existence and for that of thought, (grant us) that (share) of it through which we may reach our shelter and that of truth for all time.
- viere Harrie uns zu Deinen Lobpreisern und Denkern/Dichtern, e Weiser Herr, und wir Wolfen (Essein) und vier mollen (Essein) und vieren der eine Merkenten (Essein) und vieren (Essein) und vie

## [Yasna 42]

[42,1/2. yazamaidē vā amašā spaņtā yasnahe haptaņhātōiš haņdātā, apamcā xā yazamaidē, apamcā paratīš yazamaidē, paßamcā vicaranā yazamaidē, paßamcā haniamah vazamaidē. // agairšea alākacino vazamaidē. vairšea alaždanāho

yazamaidē, asponāca yəvīnö yazamaidē, pāyū[š]cā θβότοδtārā yazamaidē, mazdamcā zaraθuštromcā yazamaidē.]

- [42.1/2] We celebrate you. O Beneficent Immortals Amosta Spouts, the reciting the collection of the Yossen Intermediation and we celebrate the Genetation of the waters and we celebrate the crossings of the waters/rivers, and we celebrate the bifurcations of the paths, and we celebrate the mountains with their watercourses, and we celebrate the water-collecting lakes, and we celebrate the fertile grain fields, and we celebrate the fertile grain fields, and we celebrate the fertile grain fields, and we celebrate the water-collecting lakes, and we celebrate the Wisc (Lord) and Zarmbushtra.
- [42,1/2. Wir feiern Euch, o Segensreiche Unsterbliche/Amoshas Spantas, (durch die Rezitation) der Sammlung des Yanna Haptamphäiti, und wir feiern die Quellen der Wasser, und wir feiern die Übergünge der Wasser/Filisse, und wir feiern die Gabelungen der Wege, und wir feiern die Kerezungen der Wege, // und wir feiern die Berge mit litnen Wasserfäufen, und wir feiern die das Wasser sammelnden Seen, und wir feiern die fruchtbaren Kornfelder, und wir feiern den Beschützer und den Bildner, und wir feiern der Weisen (Herm) und Zantabstrat.
- [42,3/4. zamca samanıma yazımınide, vatamıcı daritim mazdadılam yazımınide, harimçi hariniyi barazo yazımınide, bümimci vişpücü vohü yazımınide, /mano voh urunuscu disonqın yazımınide, visimci yarı puncisadıvanım yazımınide, xazımci yarı disvanım yazımınide yarımınının yazımınide yarımınının yazımınide yarımınının yazımınide.
- [42,344. And we celebrate earth and heaven, and we celebrate the firece wind created by the Wise (16rol,4) and we celebrate the peak of high (Mount) Harainffile Burz, and we celebrate the earthly world and all good (things,1) // and we leclbrate (pot ellopate) and the souls of the truthful, and we celebrate (the fishly six of fifty ... (7) ..., and we celebrate the truthful flat we call when the midst of Sea Vourukasha/Aral Sea. We celebrate (sea Vourukasha/Aral Sea. We celebrate (Sea Vourukasha,1)
- [42,344. Und wir feitern die Erde und den Himmel, und wir feitern den heftigen vom Weisen (Herm) geschaffenen Wind, und wir feitern den (lighted des hoher (Bergs) Haraite Eilbarz, und wir feitern die Erdenwelt und alle guten (Dinge,) // und wir feitern den guten (Dednaken und die Seelend ert Wahrhaften, und wir feitern (den Fisich) Wait von flünfzig... (?) ..., und wir feitern den wahrhaften (harn, der in der Mitte des Sees Vourukashaf/arlates setstelt. Wir feitern den See Vourukashafa.)
- [42,5/6. haoməmcü zäirim bərəzantəm yazamaide, haoməm frakmim fradat gaeləan yazamaide, haoməm durasləm yazamaide, "napmcü fasaxlaostram yazamaide vayamcü fərafraodram yazamaide, albammam palit.ajalərəm yazamaide yöi iyeyam durat akölöb daiyumam, vispasci amasla sponta yazamaide).
- [42,5/6. And we celebrate the yellow high/climbing Haoma (borazant,) and we celebrate the low/straggling Haoma (fra8m) which furthers the herds, and we celebrate the deathaverting Haoma (ditas6a), 1/m and we celebrate the surging forward of the waters, and we

celebrate the flight of the birds, and we celebrate the return of the priests who have gone far away, seeking the truth of the lands, and we celebrate all the (six) Beneficent [Immortals (Amasla Spoatas).]

142.5 fr. Und wir feiern den gelben hohen hoch wachsenden Haoma iborazint, rund wir

feiern den die Herden findernden am Boden wuchernden Haoma (frisbini.) und wir feiern den Tod abwehrenden Haoma (düracisa.) // und wir feiern das Wogen des Wassers, und wir feiern die Flug der Vögel, und wir feiern die Rückkehr der Priester, die auf der Suche nuch dem Wahrsein der Länder in die Ferne gezogen sind, und wir feiern alle (seches) Segensreichen Unsterhülchen (Annasha Spoutas).

## Vasna 43-46. Ushtavaitī Gāthā

# Yasna 43

43,1. uštā ahmai yahmāi uštā kahmāicīţ vasā.xšayas mazdā dayaţ ahurō utaytitī lavīšim gaṭ.tōi vasəmi ašəm dərəidyai taṭ mōi dā ārmaite rāvō ašīš vaṇbauš gaten mananhō

43,1. I wish bodily strength along with youthfulness to come as desired to whomsoever the Wise Lord

ruling at will would accord (the things) desired.

I wish to take possession of truth, grant it to me, O Right-mindedness,

(grant me) rewards (consisting) of wealth and a life in good thought.

 Ich wünsche, dass Körperkraft samt Jugendlichkeit einem jeden nach Wunsch zuteil werde, dem (die) gewünschten (Dinge)

der Weise Herr nach Seinem Belieben herrschend bewilligen sollte.

Das Wahrsein will ich in Besitz bringen, gewähre es mir, o Rechtgesinntheit,
(gewähre mir) Belohnungen (bestehend) aus Reichtum und ein Leben in gutem

Gedanken.

43,2. aṭcā ahmai vīspanam vahištam x'āθrōyā nā x'āθrəm daidītā θβa ciciθβιā spāništā mainyo mazda yā dā aṣā vaṇhōuš māyā manaŋho viṣṇā ayātā darago;yatoiš urvādaṇhā

43.2. The best of all (things) the man would like to obtain for himself, comfort in the (domain of) comfort, through your most beneficent spirit, O Wise One, being conscious of the miracles of good thought which you grant through truth all days alone with the enthusiasm of a long-lived one.

43,2. Das beste von allen (Dingen) möchte der Mann sich erwerben, Labsal im (Reich der) Labsal, o Weiser, durch Deinen segensreichsten Geist sich bewusst der Wunder des guten Gedankens, die Du durch Wahrsein gewährst alle Tage zusammen mit dem Enthusiasmus eines Langlebigen.

43.3, at his vanhaus - vahvo na aibi jamvät

yā nā arazūš savaņhō pa9ō sišoiţ ahyā aŋhōuš astvatō manaŋhascā hui9yōng ā sītš yōng ā.šaeitī ahurō arədro 9Bāvas huzəntušə spəntō mazdā

43,3. May that man attain what is better than good who should show us the straight paths of benefit/salvation of this osseous/material existence and (of that) of thought, the real (paths leading) toward the properties, (the paths) at which the Lord dwells, the efficient one, the one such as you, noble (and) beneficent. O Wise One.

43,3. Möge derjenige Mann erreichen, was besser ist als gut,

der uns die geraden Pfide des Wohls/Heils dieser knochenhaften/materiellen Existenz und (derjenigen) des Gedankens weisen sollte, die wirklichen, mit Bestizum ausgestatteten (Pfide.) an denen der Herr wohnt,

der tüchtige, der so wie Du, edel (und) segensreich, o Weiser.

43,4. at 9βā möṇghāi taxməmcā spəṇtəm mazda hyat tā zasta ya tu hafšī avā

yā dā ašīš drəgvāitē ašāunaēcā 9βahyā garəmā āθrō ašā.aojanhō

hyut mõi vanhõuš hazõ jimat mananhõ

43.4. I will realize that you are firm and beneficent, O Wise One, when from that hand in which you hold those requitals which you assign to the deceitful one and to the truthful one by the heat of your fire strong through truth,

when (from that hand) the superiority of good thought has come to me. 43.4. Ich werde Dich als standfest und segensreich erkennen, o Weiser,

wenn aus der Hand, in der Du jene Vergeltungen hältst, die Du dem Lügner und dem Wahrhaften zuweist mit der Hitze Deines durch Wahrsein kraftvollen Feuers.

wenn mir (aus dieser Hand) die Überlegenheit des guten Gedankens zuteil geworden ist.

43,5. spəntəm at 9βa mazda məğhi ahura hyat 9βa aybəus zə9öi darəsəm paourvim hyat då syao9anā miždavan yacā ux6a akəm akai vagʻhim aşim vaybaove 9βa hunara damois urvaese anəme

43,5. I realize that you are beneficent, O Wise Lord, when I perceive you, the Primal One, (engaged) in the procreation of the existence/life, (and) when you make the actions have their prize as well as the statements, (assigning) evil to the cvil one (but) a good requital/reward to the good one by your skill, at the final turn (of the course) of the world.

# 43.5. Ich erkenne Dieh als segensreich, o Weiser Herr.

wenn ich Dich, den Uranfänglichen, (bei) der Zeugung der Existenz/Lebens erblicke, (und) wenn Du die Handlungen mit ihrem Preis versehen lässt und die Aussagen, Schlechtes dem Schlechten (zuweisend, aber) gute Vergeltung/Belohnung dem Guten durch Dein Kinnen bei der letzten Wende (des Laufs) der Welt.

43,6. yahmi spəntä 9βä mainyü urvaësë jasõ mazdā xša9rā ahmi vohü manuŋhä yehyä śyaoθanäis gaeθā aša firdəqite acibyo ratūš sənghaiti ārmaitiš 9βahyā xratorš yam naeciš dahayeiti

43.6. At that turn at/to which you come with your beneficent spirit,

(being) wise through power, at that (turn) right-mindedness, (inspired) by good thought by whose actions the herds are furthered in truth,

pronounces to those (in question) the judgments of your intellect, which no one deceives.

43,6. An/bei dieser Wende, bei/zu der Du mit Deinem segensreichen Geist kommst, weise durch Macht, an/bei dieser (Wende) verkindet die Rechtgesimmheit (inspiriert) durch guten Gedanken, durch dessen Handlungen die Herden an Wahrsein gef\u00fcrdert werden, den (Betreffenden) die Urteile Deines Intelleks, den nienmad f\u00fctstellt ütscht.

43,7. spaņtom at 9Bā mazdā maņhī ahurā hyat mā vohū pairī, jusat manaņhā parasatcā mā ciš ahī kahyā ahī ka9ā ayar5 daxšārā farasayāi dīšā aibī 9Bahu vaē9āho tanušicā

43,7.1 realize that you are beneficent, O Wise Lord, when one serves me with good thought and asks me: "Who are you? To whom do you belong? Why, O expert, would you get a date for consultation about your herds and voursel?"

43,7, Ich erkenne Dich als segensreich, o Weiser Herr, wenn mir jemand mit gutem Gedanken aufwartet und mich fragt: "Wer bist du? Wem gehörst du an? Warum, o Kenner, möchtest du einen Termin erhalten zur Beratung über deine Herfon und dich selba?"

43,8. at hōi aoji zaraθuštro paourvīm haiθyō dvačšá hyat isōyā drəgvaitē at aşāunē rafənö xyəm aojonhvat hyat a būštīš vasasə.xša9rahya dya yavat.a 9βa mazda staomi ufvācā

43.8. Yet I say to him: "Firstly, (I am) Zarathushtra," (Secondly:)

"Since, (being) an honest person, I would seek for myself (people of) hostility toward the descriptions.

I would be a strong support for the truthful one, if I could gain the adornments of one ruling at will

through the extent to which I praise and extol you, O Wisc Onc."

43,8. Ich aber sage zu ihm: "Zum Ersten, (Ich bin) Zarathushtra." (Zum Zweiten:) "Da ich mir (als) Aufrichtiger (Leute von) Feindschaft gegenüber dem Lügner suchen m\u00f6chte.

dürfte ich dem Wahrhaften eine kraftvolle Stütze sein, falls ich mir die Auszeichnungen eines nach Belichen Herrschenden verschaffen könnte durch das Ausmaß, in dem ich Dich lobpreise und rühme. o Weiser."

43,9. spəptəm at Əßa mazda mətibi ahura hyat mā vohü pairi, jasat mananhā ahyā fərasəm kalmāi vividuyē vaši at a Əßahmai a9re ratam nəmanhö ašahvā mā yavat isai manyāi

43,9. I realize that you are beneficent, O Wise Lord, when one serves me with good thought. To his question "To whom do you want to pay honor?" (I reply.) "To your fire I will think the gift of reverence for truth as much/long as I can."

43,9. Ich erkenne Dich als segensreich, o Weiser Herr, wenn mir jemand mit gutern Gedanken aufwartet. Auf seine Frage "Wem willst du Ehre erweisen?" (antworte ich:) "Deinem Feuer will ich die Gabe der Verehrung des Wahrseins denken. so sehr/solanen eich kann "

43,10. at tü mõi däiš ašəm hyat mä zaozaomī ärmaili hacimno iţ ärəm pərastca nā yā töi əhmā parštā parštām zi 9fā ya 9ənā taţ āmavatam hyat 9fā sāvasa aistəm dyat amavantam

43,10. Thus show me the truth for which I am calling
– in harmony with right-mindedness I have deserved it –
and ask us about the questions (to be asked) of you by us.
For by you the question was asked about the matter of the impetuous ones,
(implying) that a ruling one should make you vigorous (and) impetuous.

119

43.10. So zeige mir das Wahrsein, nach dem ich rufc,

 im Einklang mit Rechtgesinntheit habe ich es verdient = und frage uns, welches die von uns an Dich (zu stellenden) Fragen sind.
 Von Dir wurde in die Frage nach der Sache der Ungestümen gestellt.

(des Inhalts,) dass ein Herrschender Dieh kraftvoll (und) ungestüm machen solite.

43,11. spəṇtom aṭ θβā mazdā māḍhī ahurā hyaṭ mā vohū pairī.jusaṭ manaṇhā hyaṭ xšmā uxŏaiš dīdaiḍhē paourvīm sādrā mōi sas maṣ̃iyaēšū zrazdāitiš

tat vərəzyeidyāi hyat mõi mraotā vahištəm

43,11. I realize that you are beneficent, O Wise Lord, when one serves me with good thought.
When, through statements by you, I learn what is primal/fundamental,

(then) faith in mortals proves to me to cause distress.

Let me carry out what you tell me is the best.

43,11. Ich erkenne Dich als segensreich, o Weiser Herr, wenn man mir mit gutem Gedanken aufwartet.

Wenn ich durch Aussagen von Euch das Uranfängliche/Grundlegende lerne, (dann) erweist sich mir das Vertrauen auf die Menschen als Unheil bringend. Lass mich ausführen, was Ihr mir als das Beste nennt.

43.12. livatcă moi mraoš ašam jaso fraxănane

at tū mõi nõit asruštā pairiyaoyžā uzirəidyāi parā hyat mõi ä,jimat səraošō ašī mazā,rava hacimno

ya vi aşli. rāndibyō savūi vidāyāf
43,12. And when you say to me: "in prudence you reach truth,"
then you speak to me not without being obeyed (by me).
Let me arise (already) before hearing/obedience has reached me,
in company with wealth-granting. Reward,
who, in the favorable (case.) will distribute the rewards with the balance.

43,12. Und wenn Du zu mir sagst: "zum Wahnsein gelangst du in Umsieht", dann sprichst Du zu mir, nieht ohne dass ich (Dir) gehorsam wäre. Lass mich aufstehen, (schon) bevor mir Erhörung/Gehorsam zureil geworden ist, begleitet von Reichtum gewährender Belohunung.
welche im vorstilnsten (EAI) die Belohunungen mit der Waage verteilen wird.

43,13. spontom aţ θβa mazda möŋhi ahură hyaţ mä vohü pairī, jasaţ manaŋha aro θa vöizdyäi kānahyā töm möi dāta darogahya yaoš yöm vå naēciš dārašt itē vairīvā stöiš va θβahmī xšaðroi vacī 43.13.1 realize that you are beneficent, O Wise Lord, when one serves me with good thought.

Pay heed to the objects of my longing. This you have imparted to me, the longing for a long life, which no-body can oblige you to comply with, end) for a destrible property, which is said to be jin your power.

43,13. Le berkenne Dieh als segensreich, o Weiser Herr, wenn man mir mit gutem Gedanken aufwartet. Achtet auf die Ziele meiner Sehnsacht. Diese habt Ihr mir vermittelt, (die Sehnsacht) nach langem Leben, die zu erfüllen Euch niemand zwingen kann, (und die nach winschenswertem Bestiz, von dem es heißt, er (lieze) in Deiner Macht.

maibyő mazdá tavá rafənő frāxšnənəm hyat ββa xšaθra aṣāṭ haca frạstu uzirəidyāi azee sarədanā sənghahya maṭ tāiš vispāiš yōi tōi mạθrā marənti

43,14. hvat nā frivāi vaēdəmnō isva daidīt

43,14. What a man who is propertied (and) has command would grant a friend, (grant) me, O Wise One, your prudent support, which one, through your power, obtains in accordance with truth.
Let me arise to chase the defiers of (your) sentence

(supported) by all those who recite your mantras.

43,14 Was ein begüterte (und) befähigter Mann einem Freund gewähren würde, (gewähre) mir Deine umsichtige Unterstützung, O Weiser, die einer durch Deine Macht in Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein erwirbt. Lass mich aufstehen, um die Verächter (Deiner) Verkündung zu verjagen, (interstützt, von all demen die Deine Mantras recitieren.

43,15. spaṇtam aṭ 9βā mazdā māṭhi ahurā hyaṭ mā vohu pairī,jasaṭ manaphā daxšaṭ ušyāi ušnā matiš vahištā nōṭṭ nā pourūš dragvatō Xyāṭ cixšnušō aṭ loi vispaṇg aṇgrāṇg aṣanaō ādarō

43,15. I realize that you are beneficent, O Wise Lord, when one serves me with good thought. An appeased mind suits best the sensitive one. The/a man should not try to satisfy the many deceitful. These call all the harmful persons "truthful."

43,15. Ich erkenne Dich als segensreich, o Weiser Herr, wenn man mir mit gutem Gedanken aufwartet. Ein besänftigtes Gemüt taugt dem Verständigen am besten. Nicht suche der/ein Mann die vielen Lügner zufrieden zu stellen. Diese bezeichen all die Bösen als "wahnfaft". 43,16. af ahurā hvö mainyūm zara9uštro vərəntē mazda yastē cišcā spāništo astvat ašəm xyat uštana aojoughvat vəng darasoi xəafroi xyat armatis asım svaosanasi volu dardit mananta

43,16. O Lord, this Zarathushtra chooses any (manifestation) of the spirit that (is) your most beneficent one, O Wise Onc.

May osseous/material truth be (available,) strong through vitality, may right-mindedness abide in the sunlit dominion,

may she/it grant, through good thought, reward by/for actions.

43,16. O Herr, dieser Zarathushtra wählt jegliche (Äußerung)

des Geistes, der Dein segensreichster (ist.) o Weiser. Knochenhaftes/materielles Wahrsein sei (verfüghar,) stark durch Lebenskraft, Rechtgesinntheit möge im sonnigen Machtbereich verweilen, durch guten Gedanken gewähre sie Belohnune durch/für Handlungen.

## Yasna 44

44,1. taį θβά parasā araš moi vaocā aburā namaghō ā yaθā namā xšmāvatō mazda friyāi θβάvas sažyāj mavaite aj asķa friyā dazdyai hakurana yaθā nā ā vohū jimat managhā

44,1. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord:

How the reverence/greeting of one such as you (will be shown) in return of (my) reverence/greeting,

one such as you may tell a friend such as me, O Wise One. We want, indeed, to learn from our friend (and) partner how He/one will come to us with good thought.

44,1. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr:

Welcherart die Verehrung/Gruß eines wie Ihr in Erwiderung (meiner) Verehrung/Gruß (sein wird,)

möge der so wie Du dem Freund so wie mir kundtun, o Weiser. Durch Wahrsein wollen wir ja von unserem Freund (und) Partner erfahren, wie Er/man zu uns mit gutem Gedanken kommen wird.

44,2. taţ θβā pərəsā ərəš mõi vaocā ahurā kaθā anhāuš vahištahvā paourvīm

kā9ə suidyai yə ī paitišat hvō zī ašā spəņtō irixtəm vispōibyō

hārō mainyū ahūm.biš urva9ō mazdā 44.2. This I ask you, tell me truly. O Lord:

44,2. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord: What about the foundation of the best existence? For the one who, to (our) benefit/salvation, will restore the (conditions) wished for, (being) beneficent through truth retains by his spirit the outcome of all (thoughts, words, and actions.)

the healer of the existence world (and) ally, (that are you.) O Wise One

44,2. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr: Wie beschaffen ist die Grundlage der besten Existenz?

Denn derjenige, der zu (unserem) Wohl/Vorteil die erwünschten (Verhältnisse) wiederherstellen wird.

(der) segensreich durch Wahrsein das Ergebnis von allen (Gedanken, Worten und Handlungen)

mit seinem Geist festhält, der Lebensheiler/Weltheiler (und) Bundesgenosse, (der bist Du,) o Weiser.

44,3. tat 9fla pərəsa ərəš moi vaoca ahura kasna zəfla pta aşahya pouruyo kasna xəng strəmca dat advanom kə ya ma uxiyetti nərəfsaiti 9flat tacil mazda vasəmi anyaca viduye

44,3. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord: Who, by procreation, (is) the primal father of truth? Who fixed the course of the sun and the stars?

Who (is he) through whom the moon waxes (now) and wanes later? These very things and others I wish to know, O Wise One.

44.3. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr:

Wer (ist) durch Zeugung der uranfängliche Vater des Wahrseins?
Wer legte den Weg der Sonne und der Sterne fest?
Wer (ist es.) durch den der Mond (jetzt) zunimmt und später abnimmt?

Gerade diese Dinge und andere begehre ich zu wissen, o Weiser.

44.4. tat 98å pereså areš mõi vaocă ahutā

kasnā dərətā zəmcā adə nabāscü avapastōiš kə apō urvarāsca kə vātāi dvanmaibyascā yaogət āsū kasnā vanhāuš mazdā damiš mananhō

44,4. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord:
Who upholds the earth below and (prevents) the skies
from falling, who (upholds) the waters and the plants?
Who yokes the swift (teams) to the wind and to the clouds?
Who is the founder of good thought, O Wise One?

44,4. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr:

Wer hält die Erde unten und (bewahrt) das Himmelszelt vor dem Absturz, wer (erhält) die Wasser und die Pflanzen? Wer spannt dem Wind und den Wolken die schnellen (Gespanne) an? Wer ist der Gründer des guten Gedankens, o Weiser?

44,5. taį θβα parasii oraš mõi vaocā ahurā kā huvāuā raocāscā dāt tamāscā

kā huvapā — v alisamen dat zaēmāca kā vā ušā — arām.piāβā xšapācā

yā manao9rī\$ cazdōnghvaṇtəm arə9ahyā

44,5. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord: Which artist created/produces both light and darkness?

Which artist created/produces both sleep and waking?

Who (is he) through whom dawn, noon, and nightfall (succeed one another,)

reminding the conscientious one of his duty?

44,5. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr: Welcher Künstler schuf/schafft sowohl Licht als auch Finsternis? Welcher Künstler schuf/schafft sowohl Schlaf als auch Wachsein?

Wer (ist es,) durch den Morgenröte, Mittagszeit und Abenddämmerung (einander

folgen,) die den Gewissenhaften an seine Pflicht erinnern?

44,6. tat θβa pərəsā ərəš mõi vaocā ahurā

yā fravaxšyā yezī tā aðā haiðyā ašəm šyaoðanāiš dəbazaitī ārmaitiš taibvō xšaðrəm vohū cinas mananhū

kaēibyō azīm rānyō.skərəitīm gam tašō

44,6. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord, if (the words) which I am about to pronounce are really true:

"By (her) actions, right-mindedness consolidates truth; through good thought she assigns the power to you."

(Tell me:) For which (people) did you fashion the joy-giving fertile cow?

44,6. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr,

wenn (die Worte,) die ich nun ausspreche, wirklich wahr sind: "Durch (ihre) Handlungen festigt die Rechtgesinntheit das Wahrsein;

durch guten Gedanken weist sie Dir die Macht zu."

(Sag mir:) Für welche (Leute) hast Du die Freude bereitende fruchtbare Kuh gebildet?

44,7. tut θβά pərəsā ərəš mõi vaocā ahurā

kā baraxõam tašt xša9rā mat ārmaitīm kā uzəmām cörət vyānayā pu9rəm pi9rē azām tāiš 98ā fraxšnī avāmī mazdā

spəṇtā mainyū vispanam dātārəm 44,7. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord:

Who, by his power, fashioned esteemed right-mindedness?

Who gets a son excellent in vitality for a father?

With these (offerings) I prudently refresh you, O Wise One, (you who.) by beneficent spirit. (are) the creator of all (thines).

44.7. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr:

ldete durch seine Macht die geschätzte Rechtgesinntheit?

Wer verschafft einem Vater einen durch Vitalität herausragenden Sohn?

Umsichtig labe ich Dich mit diesen (Opfergaben,) o Weiser, (Dich, der Du) durch segensreichen Geist der Schönfer aller (Dinge bist).

44.8. tat 9ßä pərəsä ərəš mõi vaocā ahurā

məndaidyai ya toi mazda adistiš yaca vohü uxôa frašī manaŋba

yācā ašā aŋhāuš arām vaēidiyāi kā mā uruvā vohū urvāxšat āgama[t.]tā

44,8. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord, in order for me to note in my mind, O Wise One, your instruction

and the statements on which I held counsel with good thought and on which (I did so) with truth, with a view to a proper knowledge of (the means of) existence:

On which (way) shall my soul proceed toward the goods (already) arrived?

44,8. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr, damit ich mir, o Weiser. Deine Anweisung einpräge

und die Aussagen, über die ich mich mit dem guten Gedanken beraten habe und (ebenso) mit dem Wahrsein im Hinblick auf angemessene Kenntnis der

Auf welchem (Weg) soll meine Seele auf die (bereits) eingetroffenen Güter zugehen?

44,9. taţ θβα pərəsa ərəš möi vaocā ahurā kaθa moi yam yaoš daenam [yaož]dane yam hudānaoš paitīšə saxyāţ xšaθrahyā ərəšvā xšaθrā θβāvas acī. vištīš mazdā

Existenz(mittel):

hadəmoi aşā vohucā syas manaŋhā 44,9. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord:

How would the Lord of Power announce to me which view/view-soul

that of a generous (person) – I can purify for my welfare,

the one such as you, O Wise One, of much command by his high power, dwelling at (his) residence along with truth and good thought?

44,9. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr:

Wie würde mir der Herr der Macht die Anschauung/Schauscele

– die eines Großzügigen – verkünden, die ich mir zum Heil gewinnen kann,

der so wie Du, o Weiser, von großer Verfügungsgewalt durch seine hohe Macht, der mit Wahrsein und gutem Gedanken an (seinem) Wohnsitz wohnt?

44,10. taţ θβā pərəsā ərəš mōi vaocā ahurā

125

tam daēnam yā hātam vahištā yā mõi gaē9å ašā frādōit hacāmnā ārmatoiš uxõäiš Šyao9anā ərəš daidyat maxxā cistois. 1915 ištiš uson mazda

44,10. This I ask you, cll me truly, O Lord: Does the vigor of my insight (inspired) by you, O Wise One, discern properly that view/religion which is the best of those who exist and which could further my herds in harmony with truth— (and does it discern) at will actions (inspired) by statements of right-mindedness?

44,10. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir eltrlich, o Herr:
Erkennt die durch Dich (inspirierte) Kraft meiner Einsicht, o Weiser,
die Anschauung/Religion richtig, welche die beste der Seienden ist
und welche im Einklang mit dem Wahrsein meine Herden fördern könnte —
(und erkennt sie) wunschgemiß die durch die Aussagen der Rechtgesinntheit
(inspirierten) Handlungen?

44,11. laf θβa pərəsii ərəš moi vaoca ahura kaθa tāng ā vijāmyaţ armaitis yaĕibyo mazdā 9βοi vašyetē deāa azām toi äiš pouruyō fravõividē vispāng anyāng mainyauš spasya dvaešaŋhā

44.11. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord: How could right-mindedness spread over those to whom your view/religion is proclaimed, O Wise One? By these (offerings) I present myself to you (as being) your foremost one. Look upon all others with the hostility of (your) spirit.

44.11. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mie ehrlich, o Herr: Wie könnte sich Rechtgesinnheit über die verbreiten, denen Deine Amschauung/Religion verkündet wird, o Weiser? Mit diesen (Darbietungen) zeige ich mich Dir (als) Dein Erster. Alle anderen betrachte D mit der Feindschaft (Deines) Gester.

44,12. taṭ ββā pɔrɔsā σrɔš möi vaocā ahurā kā aṭāvā yāiš pɔrɔsai dragvā va katām ā angrō vā hvö vā angrō yā mā dragvā ββā savā paiti.aratē ciyār hiṭ hvö nöiṭ ayām angrō mainyetē

44.12. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord:
Who is truthful (Those? No) with whom I wish to hold counsel, or the deceitful one?
Which of the two (applies)? (Is the truthful one) harmful or is that one harmful
who, being deceitful, (intends) to stoy pour benefactions?
Evidently, (if its) hat (deceitful) one, not this (truthful) one, (who) harmfully intends (to
stoo them).

44.12. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr: Wer ist wahrhaf? (Diejenigen/lhr.) mit denen ich mich beraten will, oder der Lügner? Was von beiden (trifft zu)? (Ist der Wahrhafte) b\u00e4se oder ist jener b\u00f6se, der als L\u00e4renre (darant ansesth) Deine. Weblitaten untzuhalten?

Offensichtlich geht doch jener (Lügner,) nicht dieser (Wahrhafte,) böslich darauf aus (sie aufzuhalten).

44,13. taṭ Đβā pərəsü ərəš möi vuocü ahurü kaða drūjəm nīš ahmaṭ ā [nīš.]nāšāmā tāng ā avā yōi asruštoiš pərənāŋhō noiṭ ašahyā ādivyeiṇti hacānā noiṭ frasava vanhauš caxnara mananhō

44,13. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord: How can we remove deceit from our midst, away/down toward those who, full of disobedience, neither strive for the attachment of truth nor take pleasure in the consultation of good thought?

44,13. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir chrlich, o Herr: Wie können wir die Lüge aus unserer Mitte entfermen, fort/hinab zu denen, die des Ungehorsams voll weder nach der Zuneigung des Wahrseins streben noch sich der Beratung des guten Gedankens erfreuen?

44,14. taṭ Đặa pərəsā ərəš moi vaoca ahura kabā aṭāi drujām diyam zastayō nī hīm məraždyai Əβahya məBriiti sənghahya əmavaitim sinam davoi drəgvastı ā iš dvališānu mazdā (a hatšē astascā

44,14. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord:
How could I deliver deceit into the hands of truth,
to wipe it down by the mantras of your sentence,
to let an impetuous weapon come down upon the deceitful
to bring ill and harm over them, O Wise One?

44,14 Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr: Wic könnte ich die Lüge dem Wahrsein in die H\u00e4nde liefern, damit es sie hinunterfege mit den Mantras Deines Urteilsspruchs, damit es seine ungest\u00e4me Waffe auf die L\u00e4gner herablenke, um Not und Obel \u00e4bre siez au bringen, o Weiser?

44,15. laį θβα parasa araš mõi vaocā ahurā yezi ahya aša poi maį xšayehi hyaţ hām spādā anaocaŋhā jamaetē avaiš urvātaiš yā tū mazdā didaražō kuθrā ayā kahmāi vananam dadā

```
44.15. This I ask you, tell me truly. O Lord.
if you are able to do so in order to protect me through truth:
```

When the two warring hosts meet

on the orders which you wish to be enforced.

to which side of the two, to whom will you grant victory, O Wise One?

44.15. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr. falls Du es kunnst um mich durch Wahrsein zu beschützen: Wenn die beiden gegnerischen Heere aufeinander stoßen nach den Geboten, die Du durchzusetzen wünschst.

welcher Seite von den beiden, wem wirst Du den Sieg verleihen. O Weiser?

44,16. tat 9ßä porosā aroš mõi vaocā ahurā kə vərəθrəm.ja 9βā poi səngha yoi həntī

ci9rā mōi dam ahūm.hiš ratūm ciždi at hōi vohū səraošō iantū mananhā mazda ahmāi vahmāi vašī kahmāicīt

44,16. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord: Who (is) the victorious (hero able) to protect, by your sentence, those who exist? Direct a judge (to put down) bright things in my house, O healer of the existence/world, (and) let, through good thought, hearing/obedience come to him, to that one to whomsoever you wish, O Wise One.

44,16. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, O Herr:

Wer (ist) der sieghafte (Held, der fähig wäre,) durch Deinen Urteilsspruch die Seienden zu beschützen?

Weise einen Richter an, glänzende Dinge in meinem Haus (niederzulegen.) o Lebensheiler/Weltheiler.

(und) lass ihm durch guten Gedanken Erhörung/Gehorsam zukommen, demjenigen, dem auch immer Du willst, o Weiser.

44.17. tat 98ā parasā araš moi vaocā ahura ka9ā mazdā zarəm carānī hacā xšmat āskəitim xšmākam hvatcā mõi xvāt vāxš aēšö sarōi būždyāi haurvātā amərətātā

avā maðrā yo rāðomo ašāt hacā 44.17. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord:

How can I achieve enthusiasm in accordance with you, O Wise One, (achieve) your attachment and that my voice be vigorous (enough) to secure (for myself) integrity and immortality for shelter through that mantra which operates in accordance with truth?

44,17. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir chrlich, o Herr:

Wie kann ich in Übereinstimmung mit Euch Begeisterung wecken, o Weiser, Eure Zuneigung (wecken) und (erreichen,) dass meine Stimme kraftvoll (genug) sei,

(mir) Unverletzlichkeit und Unsterblichkeit als Schutzschild zu siehern

durch dasienige Mantra, das in Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein wirkt.

44,18. at 9βā pərəsā ərəš mõi vaocā ahurā

ka9ā ašā tat miždam hanānī dasā aspā - arš an vaitiš uštromea

hvat mõi mazdā apien vaitī haurvātā amərətātā va 9ā hī taibvō dånhā

44,18. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord: What about? Will I, through truth, win that prize.

- ten mares led by a stallion, and one camel -. (the prize,) O Wise One, that makes available to me integrity/nectar

and immortality/ambrosia as you take them for yourself? 44.18. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr:

Wie? Werde ich durch Wahrsein diesen Preis verdienen. - zehn Stuten geführt von einem Hengst und ein Kamel -. (den Preis.) o Weiser, der mir Unverletzlichkeit/Nektar

und Unsterblichkeit/Ambrosia verfügbar macht, wie Du sie für Dich selbst nimmst?

və it ahmai ərəžuxōa na daite kā tām ahyā maēniš anhat pouruyē vidvá avam ya im anhat apəma 44.19. This I ask you, tell me truly, O Lord: He who does not give that prize to the winner.

44.19. tat θβά parasă araš mõi vaocā ahurā

vastat miždom hanonte noit daitī

to the man who has secured it for himself by a true statement, what punishment will befall that (refuser) in (his) first (existence)? The (punishment) that will befall him (for that) at last I (myself) know.

44,19. Das frage ich Dich, sag es mir ehrlich, o Herr: Wer diesen Preis dem Gewinner nicht gibt, dem Mann, der sich ihn durch eine ehrliche Aussage erworben hat, welche Strafe wird diesen (Verweigerer) in (seiner) ersten (Existenz) treffen?

Jene (Strafe), die ihn (deswegen) zuletzt treffen wird, weiß ich (selbst). 44,20. ci9ənə mazda huxša9ra daeva ånharə

at it pərəsā yōi pišyeinti aĕibyō kam yāiš gam karapā usixšcā aēšəmāi dātā vaca kava anmane urndovata nőit him [mlazān ašā vāstram frādaińhē

44,20. O Wise One, have there (ever) been good-ruling Daevas/devils? But this I ask (those) who, to please them, pay attention to those (words)

by which the Karapan/lie-priest and the Usij take (hold of) the cow for furious treatment and which the Kavi/prince pours forth to the wind.

They do not drive the (cow to the pasture) to further this with truth.

44,20. O Weiser, hat es (jemals) gut herrschende Daëvas/Teufel gegeben? Das frage ich aber (diejenigen.) die ihnen zuliebe auf jene (Worte) achten.

mit denen der Karapan Lügenpriester und der Usij die Kuh zu rasender Misshandlung (in Besitz) nehmen

und die der Kavi/Fürst dem Wind vorjammert,

Nicht treiben sie die (Kuh auf die Weide,) um diese durch Wahrsein zu fördern.

# Yasna 45

45,1. at fravaxšyā nū gūšō.dūm nū sraota yaēcā asnāt yaēcā dūrāt iša9ā nū im vispā ci9rā zī mazdāņhō.dūm

nőit daibitim duš.sastiš ahum mərašyat akā varanā drəgvā hizvā avarətö

45,1. I will proclaim, listen now, hear now,
O you who are approaching from near and far.
Take all note now of the existence/world, for it is bright.

May the blasphemer not destroy it for a second time, through evil choice, the deceitful one, invited/coopted by the tongue.

45,1, Verkünden will ich, nun hört, nun vernehmt.

o Ihr, die Ihr Euch von nah und fern nähert,

Nun nehmt alle die Existenz/Welt wahr, denn sie ist glanzvoll. Möge der Lästerer sie nicht zum zweiten Mal zerstören.

durch üble Wahl, der Lügner, von der Zunge eingeladen/hinzugewählt,

45,2. at fravaxšyā aŋbāuš mainyū pouruyē yayā spanyā ūiti mravat yim angrəm noit nā manā noit sāṇghā noit xratavō

naēdā varanā nōiţ uxōā naēdā šyao9anū nōiṭ daēnā nōiṭ uruvanō hacaintē

45,2. I will proclaim the two spirits (active) in the first (period) of (one's) existence/life,

the more beneficent one of whom shall address the harmful one as follows: "Neither our thoughts nor our sentences nor our intellects

nor our choices/preferences nor our statements nor our actions nor our views nor our souls are in harmony."

45,2. Verkünden will ich die beiden Geister (aktiv) in der ersten (Periode) der

Existenz/Leben (einer Person,)

von denen der segensreichere den bösen folgendermaßen ansprechen soll: "Weder unsere Gedanken noch unsere Urteilssprüche noch unsere Intellekte noch unsere Wahlen/Vorlieben noch unsere Aussagen noch unsere Handlungen noch unsere Anschauungen noch unsere Seelen sind in Einklang."

45,3. at fravaxšyā anhāuš ahvā pourvīm

yap mõi vidvå mazdå vaocat ahurõ yöi im võ noit i9ä ma9ram varašanti ya9ä im manäicä vaocaca aciitvo anhäus avõi anhat apanam

45,3. I will proclaim the first/primal (mantra) of this existence/world, (the mantra) which the Wise Lord, the Knowing/Initiated One, tells me. To those who do not practice your mantra in the way I think and pronounce it.

"woe" will be the last (word) of (their) existence/life.

45,3. Verkünden will ich das erste/uranfängliche (Mantra) dieser Existenz/Welt, (das Mantra.) das mir der Weise Herr, der Wissende/Initiierte sagt. Für diejenigen, die Euer Mantra nicht so anwenden, wie ich es denke und aussoreche.

wird "Wehe" das letzte (Wort ihrer) Existenz/Leben sein.

45,4. at fravaxšys aghāuš ahyā vahištam ašat hacā mazdā vaēdā yā im dat ptarām vaṇhāuš varəzayaṇto managho at hoi dugada hušyaoJans armaitiš noit diģžaidiyāi viṣṇā.hišas ahurō

45.4.1 will proclaim the best (thought) of this existence/world. In accordance with truth I know (that one) who created it, O Wise One, (I know you.) the father of juicy good thought, but His daughter (is) right-mindedness of good actions.

The all-recording Lord is undeceivable.

45.4. Verklinden will ich den besten (Gedanken) dieser Existenz/Welt. In Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein kenne ich (den.) der ihn sehuf, o Weiser, (ich kenne Dich.) den Vater des saftvollen guten Gedankens, doch Seine Tochter (ist) die Rechtgesinntheit von guten Handlungen. Der alles im Gedächtnis bewahrende Herr ist in icht zu tüssehen.

45,5. af fravaxšyā hyat mõi mraot spoņtö.təmö vacö srüidyai hyat marətaeibyö vahistəm yöi moi ahmai səraošəm dan cayascā upā\_jimən haurvātā amɔrɔtātā vanhōus mainvauš svaobanāis mazdā ahuro

45,5. I will proclaim (the word) which the Most Beneficent One told me, the word which, for the mortals, is the best to listen to. "(All those) who show me obedience to it will attain integrity and immortality."

By actions of good spirit the Lord (proves to be) mindful (of them).

45,5. Verkünden will ich (das Wort,) das mir der Segensreichste sagte,

"(Alle dieienigen,) die mir Gehorsam ihm gegenüber zeigen, werden Unverletzlichkeit und Unsterblichkeit erlangen."

Durch Handlungen des euten Geistes (erweist sieh) der Herr als (ihrer) einzedenk

45.6. at fravaxšva visnanam mazištam stavas ašā vē hudā voi həntī spantā mainvū sraotū mazdā ahurō vehva vahmē vohū fraši mananhā ahyā xratū fro mā sastu vahištā

45.6. I will proclaim the Greatest One of all,

praising through truth (Him) who (is) munificent toward the existing.

Let the Wise Lord, at whose laudation I hold counsel with good thought, listen (to it) by beneficent spirit,

Let Him teach me the best (things) through His intellect.

das Wort, das zu vernehmen für die Sterblichen das beste ist.

45.6. Verkünden will ich den Größten von allen,

mit Wahrsein (Ihn) preisend, der gegenüber den Seienden freigebig (ist). Lasst (es) den Weisen Herrn, bei dessen Lob

ich mich mit dem guten Gedanken berate, durch segensreichen Geist vernehmen.

Lasst Ihn durch Seinen Intellekt mich die besten (Dinge) lehren.

45,7. vehva savā išāntī rādanhō või zi juvă - ånharəca buvaintică amaratăiti așaono uruva aeso

utavota vā naruš sādrā draevatō

tācā xša9ra mazdā damiš ahurō

45.7. The benefits of whose care/order (those) will put into effect who are living (now) and have existed and will exist (at the same time) the soul of (that) truthful one (is/will be) vigorous in immortality (and) in youthfulness. The griefs (concerning) the men of the deceitful one

and those (benefits) the Wise Lord established by (His) power.

45,7. Die Vorteile von dessen Fürsorge/Anordnung werden (diejenigen) in Kraft setzen, die (jetzt) leben und gewesen sind und (zugleich) sein werden (dieses) Wahrhaften Seele ist/wird sein kraftvoll in Unsterblichkeit (und) in Jugendlichkeit. Die die Mannen des Lügners (treffenden) Kümmernisse und diese (Vorteile) setzte der Weise Herr durch (Seine) Macht fest.

45,8. təm nə staotāiš nəmaŋho a.vīvarəšö na zit cašmaini vivādarəsəm vanhāuš mainyāuš šyao9anahyā ux δaxyācā viduš ašā vim mazdam ahurəm at hōi vahmāng dəmānē garō nidama

45.8. Trying to invite Him to us by praises of reverence

I have caught sight (of Him) in (my) eve just now. (of Him,) the Wise Lord, (myself) being an expert through truth on the action and statement of good spirit.

Thus we lay down for Him landations in the house of welcome.

45,8. Bemüht, Ihn mit Preisliedern der Verehrung zu uns einzuladen. habe ich (Ihn) soeben in (meinem) Auge erblickt, (Ihn,) den Weisen Herrn, (ich,) durch Wahrsein kundig der Handlung und der Aussage des guten Geistes. So legen wir Ihm Lobpreisungen im Haus des Willkomms nieder.

45.9. tām nā vohū mat mananhā cixšnušo yā nā usān cōrat spāncā aspāncā mazdá xša9rá varazi ná dvát ahuró

pasūš virang ahmakang frada9ai.a vanhauš aša haoza98at a mananhō

45.9. Him I try to satisfy by our good thought, (Him) who at will produces for us fortune and misfortune. May the Lord, wise through His power, place us in juice to further ours, eattle and men. on account of the nobility of good thought (attached) to truth.

45,9. Ihn mit unserem guten Gedanken zufrieden zu stellen, bin ich bemüht,

(Ihn.) der uns nach Belieben Heil und Unheil schafft. Weise durch Seine Macht möge uns der Herr in Saft und Kraft versetzen, um die Unseren zu fördern. Vieh und Mann.

auf Grund des Adels des mit dem Wahrsein (verbundenen) guten Gedankens.

45,10. tām nā yasnāiš ārmatōiš mimayžō və anməni mazdâ sravi ahuro hvat hoi aša vohucā cōišt mananhā xša9rõi hõi haurvätä amərətätä ahmāi stôi dan təvišī utavūitī

45.10. Him I try to present with sacrifices of our right-mindedness. (Him.) the Wise Lord, who is heard in the wind. In the power, which one entrusts to Him by truth and good thought.

the (truthful) shall place integrity/nectar and immortality/ambrosia, bodily strength (and) youthfulness, to belong to Him.

45.10. Ihn mit den Opfern unserer Rechtgesinntheit zu beschenken, bin ich hemüht. (Ihn.) den Weisen Herrn, den man im Wind hört. In die Macht, die man Ihm durch Wahrsein und guten Gedanken anvertraut. sollen die (Wahrhaften) Integrität/Nektar und Unsterblichkeit/Ambrosia,

Körperkraft (und) Jugendfrische legen, Ihm zum Besitz.

45.11. vastā daēvāng aparō mašivascā

tarā.mastā yoi im tarā.mainyaṇtā anyāṇg ahmāṭ yā hōi arām mainyata saošyaṇto daṇg patōiš spaṇtā daēnā umasājā batu patōiš spaṇtā daēnā

Daewas/devills and (evil) mortals, who fancy themselves to be above Him, those other than than on who is right-minded toward Him— by the beneficient view of the landlord, the benefactor/savior, the should be cared for like any ally, a brother, or (even his) father, O Wise Lord. 45,11. Der Ahallager, der von Ihm (inspiriert,) sich über Daewas/Teufel und (böse) Sterbliche gednaklich erhoben hat, die sich über Ihn erhaben dünken, die venschieden sind von demjenigen, der Ihm rechtsgesinnt ist — von der seenserseichen Assochsum des Hausbern, des Wohltiters/Retters,

(sollte der umsorgt werden) wie ein Verbündeter, Bruder oder (gar sein) Vater, o Weiser

45.11. The adherent who, (inspired) by Him, has raised his mind above

# Herr. Vasna 46

132

46,1. kạm nəmõi zam kubra nəmõi ayenī pairī x'nelisik aryanmascā dadairī noij ma xisnair ya vərazinā hācianē naēdā daxysuš yoi sastaro drəgvantō ku9ā 9βa xisnaošai mazda ahura

46,1. Which piece of land shall I pastruc, where shall I go to pasture? They keep me off from family and tribe; entitler does the community that I wish to join satisfy me nor do so the deceifful tyrants of the land. How shall I satisfy you, O Wise Lord?

46,1. Welches Stück Land soll ich beweiden, wohin soll ich gehen, um zu weiden? Sie halten mich fern von Familie und Stamm; weder die Gemeinde, der ich mich anschließen will, stellt mich zufrieden

noch die lügenhaften Gewalthaber des Landes. Wie soll ich Dich zufrieden stellen, o Weiser Herr?

46,2. vaēdā tat yā ahmī mazdā anačšō mā kamnaßvā hyaţca kamnanā ahmī gərəzoi toi ā iţ [a]vaēnā ahurā rafəōrəm cagvā hyaţ friyō friyāi daidīţ āxsō vanbāuš ašs ištīm mananhō

46,2. I know why I am vigorless, O Wise One:
(It is) because of my small livestock and because I (only) have few men.
I complain to you, look hither, O Lord,

extending (such) support as a friend would grant to a friend, look at the vigor of good thought (inspired) by truth.

46.2. Ich weiß, warum ich kraftlos bin, o Weiser: (Es ist) wegen meines geringen Viehbestands und weil ich (nur) wenige Männer habe. Ich klase Dir, schau hierher, o Herr.

The Old Avestan texts with English and German translations

(solche) Unterstützung bietend, wie sie ein Freund einem Freund gewähren würde, betrachte die durch Wahrsein (inspirierte) Kraft des guten Gedankens.

46,3. kadā mazdā yōi uxšāno asnam aghāvā darə9rai fro ašahya [fr]arəņte vərəzdais sənghais saosyantam xratavo kacibyo ūšāi vohū jimat manaŋhā maibyo 98ā sastrāi vərənē ahurā

46.3. When, O Wise One, will the bulls of the days/rosy dawn rise over the existence/world in order (for people) to take hold of truth (rising) with increased/strict sentences, (those) intellects of the benefactors/suvions? To which (people) will one come with good thought (to provide them) with fat? I choose/ask you to tell me (that, O) Lord.

46,3. Wann, o Weiser, werden die Stiere der Tage/Morgenröten über der Existenz/Welt aufgehen, damit (man) das Wahrsein in Besitz bringe, (aufgehend) mit vernehrten/nachhaltigen Urteilssprüchen, (diese) Intellekte der Wohltärer/Retter?

Zu welchen (Leuten) wird man mit gutem Gedanken kommen, um (sie) mit Fett (zu versorgen)?

Ich wähle/bitte Dich, mir (das) zu sagen, o Herr.

46,4. at läng dragvå yäng ašahyā važdrāng pāt gā frortois šoi9rahya va dažyauš va dužazobā has väiš šyao9anāiš ahāmusto yastām xša9rāt mazdā moi9at jyātāuš va hvo tang fro.gā pa9mang hucistois carat

46.4. Yet the deceiful one prevents those drivers/conveyers of truth, (those) oxen/bulls, from rising over county/district and land, being of bad invocation (and) unpleasant by his actions. He who deprives him of his power and livelihood, O Wise One, will render those (oxen/bulls he herd leaders of the flight of the good insight.

46.4. Doch der Lügner hält diese FahrerÜberbringer des Wahrseins, (diese) Rinder/Bullen, vom Aufgehen über Gau und Land ab, von übler Amrufung (und) unerfreulich durch seine Handlungen. Wer ihn seiner Macht und seines Lebensunterhalts beraubt, o Weiser, der wird diese (Rinder/Bullen) zu Herdenführen des Flugs der guten Einsicht machen.

46,5. yə vā xšayas adas drītā ayantəm

135

urvātoiš vā huzēņtuš mi9roibyo vā rašnā juvas yē ašavā dregvaņtem vicīro has taļ fro x'aētavē mruyāļ panišvoj im macala vinovat albanā

46,5. A master who would put up at his home one approaching (him to seek refuge,) (the newcomer is) a nobleman (changing over) from (his) confession and bonds – a truthful one living lawfully (thus putting up) a deceitful person,

being competent he may tell that (his) family

in order to save the (newcomer) from bloodshed, O Wise Lord.

46,5. Ein Eigentümer, der einen (Zuflucht suchenden) Ankömmling in seinem Haus aufnehmen möchte.

 (der Ankömmling ist) ein Vornehmer, der sich von (seinem) Bekenntnis und seinen Bindungen (lossagt)

als gesetzmäßig lebender Wahrhafter (so) einen Lügner (aufnehmend)

möge er als dazu Befugter das (seiner) Familie sagen, um den (Ankömmling) vor Blutvergießen zu bewahren, o Weiser Herr.

46,6. at yastəm nöit nä isəmnö äiyät drūjö hvö däman hae9ahya gat hvo zi drogvå yö dragvätle vahištö hvo ašava yahmäi ašava friyö hvat daēnā paouruvā dā ahura

46,6. Yet that man who should not approach him to seek (refuge,) in his search for partnership he shall betake himself to the places of deceit.

That one indeed (counts as) deceitful who is very good/dear to the deceitful one,

that one (counts as) truthful to whom the truthful one is a friend,

as you established the views/religions (to be) fundamental, O Lord.

46.6. Der Mann aber, der nicht als (Zuflucht) Suchender zu ihm kommen sollte.

der soll sich auf seiner Suche nach Partnerschaft zu den Stätten der Lüge begeben. Der nämlich (gilt als) Lügner, der dem Lügner sehr gut/lieb ist, der (gilt als) wahrhaft, dem der Wahrhafte Freund ist,

da Du die Anschauungen/Religionen (als) grundlegend eingerichtet hast, o Herr.

46,7. könnü mazdü mavaite päyüm dadá hyaj mä dragvá didarəšatü aenaifte anyām Əfalmāj áfrascā manafhascā yayā šyao9anāiš ašom Praošāt ahurā tam moi dastvam daenayāi fravaocā

46,7. Yet whom do you assign as a guardian to one such as me, O Wise One, when a deceitful person tries to get hold of me in order to outrage (me,)

whom other than your fire and your thought, by whose actions you nourish truth, O Lord?

Proclaim (the solution of) this riddle to my view/view-soul.

46,7. Wen aber bestimmst Du einem so wie mir als Behüter, o Weiser, wenn ein Lügner mich festzuhalten sucht, um (an mir) zu freveln, wen anders als Dein Feuer und Deinen Gedanken, durch deren Handburgen IIIr das Wahrsein nährt. o Herr?

Verkünde meiner Anschauung Schauseele (die Lösung) dieses Rätsels.

46,8. yā vā mõi yā gae9ā dazde aenaijhē nõit ahyā mā ā9riš šyao9anāiš frosyāt patityaogst tā ahmai jasõit dvaešanhā tanuvām ā yā īm hujyatõis pāyāt nõit duživatõis kācīt mazda dvaešanhā

46,8. If one intends to outrage my herds, then may no damage reach me through his actions. May these come back to him, with hostility

(hitting) his body, and may they keep him off from a good life, not from a bad life, all with hostility. O Wise One.

46,8. Wenn einer plant an meinen Herden zu freveln, dann möge mich durch seine Handlungen kein Schaden erreichen. Mögen diese mit Feindschaft auf ihn zurückfallen

Mögen diese mit Feindschaft auf ihn zurückfallen (und) seinen Leib (treffen,) und mögen sie ihn vom guten Leben fern halten, nicht vom schlechten Leben, alle mit Feindschaft, o Weiser.

46,9. kə hvö yə mä arədrö cöi9at pouruyö ya9a 9βa zəvistim uzəmöhi syao9anöi spəntəm ahurəm aşavanəm ya töi aşä ya aşäi gəus tasa mraot isənti ma ta toi vohu manunha

46,9. Who (is) that efficient person who will be the first one to take note of how I realized that you are the swiftest one.

the truthful Lord beneficent in action?

(The words) which the fashioner of the cow (speaks) to you through truth (and) which he speaks to truth

about the one invigorating me, those (he speaks) to you with good thought.

46,9. Wer (ist) der Tüchtige, der als Erster zur Kenntnis nehmen wird, wie ich Dich als den Schnellsten ermessen habe,

als den im Handeln segensreichen, wahrhaften Herrn? (Die Worte,) die der Bildner der Kuh zu Dir durch Wahrsein (und) die er zum Wahrsein

über den mich Kräftigenden, die (spricht er) zu Dir mit gutem Gedanken.

46,10. yə va möi nü gənü vü mazdü ahurü düyü ayhəus ya tü vöista vahista aşım aşai vohü xsa9rəm mananha

yascā haxšāi xšmāvatam vahmāi.ā

frő táiš vispāiš cinvatő [fra]frá paratum

46,10. That man - or that woman -, O Wise Lord, who would grant to me (the things) which you know to be the best of the existence/world:

reward for truth (and) power through good thought.

and (all those) whom I succeed in impelling to (take part in) the laudation of those such as you,

with all these I will cross over the accountant's bridge.

46,10. Der Mann - oder die Frau -, o Weiser Herr, der mir

(die Dinge) gewähren sollte, die Du als die besten der Existenz/Welt kennst:

Belohnung für Wahrsein (und) Macht durch guten Gedanken, und (alle), die zur (Teilnahme an der) Lobpreisung derer so wie Ihr anzuspornen mir

gelingt, mit all denen werde ich die Brücke des Rechnungsführers überschreiten.

46,11. xša9rāiš yajən karapanō kāvayascā

akaiš šyao9anāiš ahūm mərəngəidyāi mašim

yəng x'ə uruvā x'acca xmodat daenā hyat aibi gəmən ya9ra cinvatō nərətuš

yavõi vīspāi drūjō dəmānāi astayo

46,11. By (their means of) power the Karapans/lie-priests and the Kavis/princes yoke the mortal one to bad actions in order to ruin (his) existence.

Their own breath-soul and their own view-soul will make them shudder/tremble, when they arrive at the accountant's bridge.

guests to the house of deceit for all time

 Jurch (ihre) Macht(mittel) spannen die Karapans/Lügenpriester und Kavis/Fürsten

den Sterblichen an schlechte Handlungen, um (seine) Existenz zu zerstören. Ihre eigene Atemseele und ihre eigene Schauseele wird sie erschauern/erzittern lassen,

wenn sie an der Brücke des Rechnungsführers angekommen sind.

für alle Zeit Gäste dem Haus der Lüge.

46,12. hyaţ us aşa naptiyaĕsū nafsucă tūrahya [uz]jön friyānahyā aojiyaĕşū

ārmatōiš gaē9ā frādō 9βaxšaŋhā

aţ îš vohū həm.aibī.mõist manaŋhā aēibyō rafəðrai mazdā sastē ahuro

46,12. When He, with truth, rises at the praiseworthy

relatives and descendants of Türa, son of Friya,
who furthered the herds of right-mindedness with zeal

then the Wise Lord puts them together with good thought at (the reward) promised to support them.

46.12. Wenn Er sich mit Wahrsein bei den rühmenswerten

Verwandten und Nachkommen des Türa, Sohns des Friya, erhebt, der die Herden der Rechtgesinntheit mit Eifer förderte, dann spannt sie der Weise Herr durch guten Gedanken an die zu filter) Unterstützung versprochene (Belohnung).

46,13. yə spitüməm zaraθuštrəm rādayhā marətaēšū xšnāuš hvö nā frasrūidyāi ərəθβō at hōi mazdā ahūm dadat ahuro ahmāi gaēθā vohū frādat manayhā

təm və aša məhmaidi huš.haxāim

46.13. That man amone the mortals who satisfies

Spitama Zarathushtra by (his) order/care is worth praising. The Wise Lord grants him existence,

(and) He furthers his herds by good thought.

We recognize him (to be) your good friend by truth.

46,13. Der Mann unter den Sterblichen, der den Spitama Zarathushtra durch (seine) Anordnung/Fürsorge zufrieden stellt, der Mann ist es wert, gerühmt zu

werden. Der Weise Herr gewährt ihm Existenz,

(und) Er fördert seine Herden durch guten Gedanken.

Wir erkennen ihn (als) Euren durch Wahrsein guten Freund.

46,14. zara9uštrā kastē ašavā urva96 mazõi magāi kā vā frasrūidyāi vaštī

at hvõ kavā vištaspo yāhi vānestū mazdā hadəmoi minaes ahurā

təng zbaya vaŋhɔuš uxōāiš manaŋhō 46,14. O Zarathushtra, who is your truthful ally

for the great contribution? Who wishes to be praised?
This Kayi/Prince Vishtāsna (wishes that) at the apportionment (of shares).

Those whom you gather at (your) residence, O Wise Lord,

those I wish to call by statements of good thought.

46,14. O Zarathushtra, wer ist dein wahrhafter Verbündeter für die große Spende? Wer will gerühmt werden?

(Das will) dieser Kavi/Fürst Vishtäspa bei der Zuteilung (der Anteile). Die Du an (Deinem) Wohnsitz versammelst, o Weiser Herr,

die will ich mit Aussagen des guten Gedankens rufen.

die will ich mit Aussagen des guten Gedanker 46,15. haecat.aspä vaxšyā vā spitamāŋhō

hyat dā9āng vicaya9a ada9asca tāiš yūš šyao9anāiš ašəm xšmaibyā daduye vaiš dataiš paouruvāiš ahurahvā

(The last line of the stanza was lost as early as in the subarchetype.)

46,15. O you Haëchataspa Spitamas, I will tell you now that you shall discriminate between the just and the unjust. You will secure truth for yourselves through those actions which (follow) the primal laws of the Lord.

46,15. O ihr Haëchataspa Spitamas, ich will euch jetzt sagen, dass ihr zwischen den Gerrechten und den Ungerrechten unterscheiden sollt. Das Wahrsein werde ihr euch durch diejenigen Handlungen sichern, welche den urunflinglichen Gesetzen des Herrn (folgen).

ya9rā mazdi varadomam šaeiti ahuro
46,16. O Frashaoshtra Hvöguva, come hither with the efficient ones,
whom we desire to be as desired (by themselves,)
(come hither) where right-mindedness is in harmony with truth,
where the nower is at command of snoot thouset.

46,16. O Frashaoshtra Hvöguva, komm hierher mit den Tüchtigen, denen wir wünschen, dass es ihnen nach (firem) Wunsch ergehe, (komm hierher.) wo Rechtgesinntheit im Einklang mit Wahrsein ist, wo die Maclit in der Befehlsgewalt des guten Gedankens ist (und) wo der Weise Herr in Wohlstand wohnt –

46,17. ya9rā vē alšmānī sēņghānī nōit analšmam dajāmāsya hvō,guvā hadā vēstā vahmāng səraoša radaņho yē vicimot dā9amcā adā9amcā daŋrā maņtu ašā mazdā ahurō

46.16. farašnoštra a 9rā tū aradrāiš idī

va9ra vanhauš mananhō ištā xša9ram

(and) where the Wise Lord resides in prosperity -

hvō.guvā tāiš yāng usvahī ušta stoi

va9rā ašā bacaitē ārmaitiš

46,17. (Come hither) where I will proclaim your accomplishments,

– no non-accomplishments, O Jämäspa Hyöguva, –

(and,) therewith, laudations (ordered) by this your obedience to the advice (of that one) who discriminates between the just one and the unjust one through truth, His prudent counselor, (He.) the Wise Lord.

46,17. (Komm hierher,) wo ich eure Leistungen verkünden will, – keine Versäumnisse, o Jämäspa Hvöguva, –

(und) damit Lobpreisungen (angeordnet) durch diesen euren Gehorsam gegenüber dem Rat (dessen,)

der zwischen dem Gerechten und dem Ungerechten unterscheidet durch Wahrsein. Seinen klugen Ratgeber. (Er.) der Weise Herr. 46,18. yō maibyā yaoš ahmāi asciţ vahištā maxyā ištōiš vohū cōišəm manaŋhā astāŋg ahmāi yō nā astai daidīta mazdā asā xɨmäkəm vānau xɨnacəəmnö tal māi xɨnɨxuš mananhascā va vɨlɨxɨm

46,18. To that one who is pure(-hearted) toward me, I for my part assign through good thought the best (things I have) at my command, (but) ham to that one who should intend to ham us, O Wise One, satisfying your will by truth.

Such is the decision of my intellect and my thought.

46.18. Demjenigen, der mir gegemüber reinen (Herzens) ist, dem spreche ich meinerseits durch guten Gedanken die besten (Dinge) in meiner Verfügungsgewalt zu, (doch) Böses dem der planen sollte, ums Böses zu tun. O Weiser, indem ich Euren Wunsch durch Waltsrein befriedige. Das ist die Finstschelme meines Intellekst und meines Gedankens.

46,19. yə moi aşat hai Əim haca varəsaiti zara 9ustrāi hyat vasnā fəra so.təməm ahmāi mizdəm hanə qute parāhām manə.vistais mat vispais gavā azī tacīt moi sas tuvəm mazda vaedišto

46,19. (He) who, in accordance with truth, makes real to me, to Zarathushtra, that which is most perfect in value, to me who win a prize implying higher existence,

— two fertile cows along with all imaginable (things.)—

through that very (person) you appear to me (to be) the best provider, O Wise One.

46.19. (Derjenige), der mir, dem Zarathusktra, in Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein verwirklichen wird, was an Wert am vollkommensten ist, mir, der einen Preis gewinnt, der bibere Existenz bedeutet, – zwei fruchtbare Kühe zusammen mit allen erdenklichen (Dingen,) – durch ebenden scheinst Dim ird orbe beste Besorger (zu sein,) o Weiser.

# Yasna 47-50. Spəntāmainyush Gāthā

## Yasna 47

47,1. spaņtā mainyū vahištācā manaŋbā hacā ašāţ Šyao9anācā vacaŋbācā ahmāi dan haurvātā amerotātā mazdā xša9rā armaitī ahurō

47,1. With beneficent spirit and best thought, with action and word in accordance with truth, the (truthful) shall/will offer Him integrity/nectar and immortality/ambrosia. The Lord (proves to be) mindful (of them) through power (and) right-mindedness.

47,1. Mit segensreichem Geist und bestem Gedanken, mit Handlung und Wort in Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein sollen wollen Ihm (die Wahrhaften) Unverletzlichkeit Nektar und

Unsterblichkeit/Ambrosia darbringen.

Durch Macht (und) Rechtgesinntheit (erweist sich) der Herr (als ihrer) eingedenk.

47,2. ahyā mainyəuš spāništahyā vahištəm hizvā ux&āiš vaŋhāuš āəānū manaŋhö ārmatōiš zastōibyā šyao9anā vərəzyaṭ öyā cistī hvö ptā ašahyā mazdā

47,2. The best (manifestation) of this most beneficent spirit, the actions of right-mindedness (performed) with one's hands (and inspired) by statements (spoken by the tongue in pursuit of good thought one performs with this insistir. "He, the Wise One, (is) the father of truth."

47,2. Die beste (Äußerung) dieses höchst segensreichen Geistes, die Handlungen der Rechtgesinntheit (vollbracht) mit den Händen (und inspiriert) durch mit der Zunge in Verfolgung des guten Gedankens (gesprochenen) Aussagen

vollbringt man mit dieser Einsicht; "Er, der Weise, (ist) der Vater des Wahrseins."

47,3. ahyā mainyəuš tuvəm ahī qə tā spəṇtö yō ahmāi gam rānyō.skərəitim həm.tašaţ aṭ hōi vāstrāi rāmā.dā ārmaitim

hyat həm vohu mazda (həmə.)frašta mananha

47,3. You are the beneficent father of this spirit, who fashioned for it the joy-giving cow and, establishing peace for her pasture, right-mindedness, when he held counsel with good thought, O Wise One.

47,3. Du bist der segensreiche Vater dieses Geistes, der ihm die Freude bereitende Kuh bildete und, ihrer Weide Frieden stiffend, die Rechtgesinntheit, als er sich mit dem guten Gedanken beriet, o Weiser.

47,4. ahmat mainyəus rarəšycinti drəgvanto mazda spəntat noit i9a aşaono kasauscit na asaune ka9e anhat

isvācīt has paraoš akō drogvāitē

47,4. From this beneficent spirit the deceitful keep off those not really truthful, O Wise One.

A man of even little (means) shall behave kindly toward the truthful one, an owner even of much (shall be) evil to the deceitful one.

47,4. Von diesem segensreichen Geist halten die Lügner

die nicht wirklich Wahrhaften fern, o Weiser. Ein Mann selbst von geringen (Mitteln) soll sich dem Wahrhaften gegenüber freundlich

verhalten,

ein Besitzer sogar von Vielem (soll) sehlecht zum Lügner (sein).

47,5. tācā spaṇtā mainyū mazdā ahurā aṣāunē cōiš yā zi cicā vahištā hanarə Əflahmāṭ zaošāṭ drogvā baxšaitī ahyā śyao9anāiš akāṭ ā śyas manaŋhō

47,5. And through this beneficent spirit, O Wise Lord, you assign to the truthful one whatsoever best (things) the deceifful one, being far from your favor, must cede on account of his actions, dwelling on the side of evil thought.

47,5. Und durch diesen segensreichen Geist, o Weiser Herr, weist Du dem Wahrhaften welche besten (Dinge) auch immer zu, Deiner Gunst fern, der Lügner abtreten muss auf Grund seiner Handlungen, auf der Seite des üblen Gedankens wohnend.

47,6. tā dā spoņtā mainyū mazdā ahurā a9rā vaŋhāu vidaitīm rānoibyā ārmatōiš dobazanhā ašaxvācā

há zi pourůš išontô váuráitě

47,6. Through this beneficent spirit, O Wise Lord, (and) by means of the fire you fix, in the good (case,) the distribution with the balance

according to the weight of right-mindedness and truth.

This will indeed test the many approaching.

47,6. Durch diesen segensreichen Geist, o Weiser Herr, (und) vermittels des Feuers setzt Du im guten (Fall) die Verteilung mit der Waage fest nach dem Gewicht der Rechtgesinntheit und des Wahrseins. Diese soll i als vielen Herbeistrebenden testen.

#### Vacna 48

48,1. yezī adāiš ašā drujəm vənghaitī hyat asaš[u]tā yā daibitānā fraoxta amərətaifī daēvāišcā mašiyāišcā at toi savāiš vahməm vaxšat ahurā

48,1. When truths have overcome deceit by these (rites,) so that is refuted what (was) proclaimed again and again on immortality by Daēvas/devils and (bad) mortals, then one will increase your laudation by benefits, O Lord.

48,1. Wenn die Wahrheiten die Lüge durch diese (Riten) besiegt haben, so dass widerlegt ist, was immer wieder verkündet (wurde) über die Unsterblichkeit von Daëvas/Teufeln und (bösen) Sterblichen, dann wird man Dein Lob durch Gewinne mehren, o Herr.

48,2. vaocā mōi yā tuvām vidvā ahurā parā hyat mā yā māng paraða jimaitī kat ašava mazda vanghat dengvantam hā zi anhāus van hi vistā ākaraitis

142

48,2. Tell me what you know (about,) O Lord,
(still) before the penalty (I have) in mind has reached me.
Will the truthful one overcome the deceitful one, O Wise One?
For this frenalty is recognized as the good formation of the existence/world.

48.2. Sage mir, was Du (darüber) weißt, o Herr, (noch) bevor mich die Sühnezahlung, die (ich) im Sinn (habe.) creicht hat: Wird der Wahrhafte den Lügner besiegen, o Weiser? Denn diese (Sühnezahlung is) als die gute Gestallung der Existenz/Welt erkannt.

48,3. at vaēdamnāi vahištā sāsnanam yam hudā sastī ašā ahurō spaņto vidvā yaecīt gūzrā sanghāŋhō 9Bāvas mazdā vanhāuš xra9Bā mananhō

48,3. The best of teachings (is meant) for the propertied one, (the teaching) which the munificent Lord teaches through truth, the beneficent one who, by the intellect of good thought, knows even the secret sentences, the one such as you. O Wise One.

48,3. Die beste der Lehren (gilt) dem Begüterten, (die Lehre,) die der freigebige Herr durch Wahrsein lehrt, der Segensreiche, der durch den Intellekt des guten Gedankens sonar die seheimen Urteilssprüche kennt, der so wie Du. o Weiser.

48,4. yə daş manö vahyö mazda asyasca hvö dacnam syacılanaca vacanhaca ahya zaosəng usitis varənəng hacaite 9Bahmi xısıtan anəməm pana anhat

48.4. He who conceives both better/good and worse/bad thought, O Wise One, that one (expresses his) religious view (also) by action and word. He follows his moods, wishes, and choices/preferences, (and.) at the end, he will be (recorded) in your intellect at different places.

48,4. Wer sowohl besseren/guten als auch schlechteren/schlechten Gedanken fasst, o Weiser,

der (drückt seine) Anschauung (auch) durch Handlung und Wort (aus). Er folgt seinen Launen, Wünschen und Wahlen/Vorlieben (und) wird am Ende in Deinem Intellekt an verschiedenen Stellen (vermerkt) sein.

48,5. huxša9rā xšāņtam mā nā dušaxša9rā xšāņtā vaņhuyā cistōiš šyao9anāiš ārmaitē yaoždá ... mašiyai aipī za-9əm vahištā "gavõi vərəzvātam tam nə x'arə9ai fsuvõ

48.5. Let good rulers assume rule – do not let bad rulers assume rule over us – with actions of the good insight. O Right-mindedness.

Let the best (insight,) which purifies birth also for womankind, be practiced for the cow. Her you breed (to serve) us for food.

48,5. Lass gute Herrscher die Macht/Herrschaft übernehmen – lass nicht schlechte Herrscher die Macht/Herrschaft über uns übernehmen – mit Handlungen der guten Einsicht, o Rechtgesinntheit.

Lass die beste (Einsicht,) die auch dem Menschenweib die Geburt reinigt, an der Kuh geübt werden. Sie züchtest Du uns zur Nahrung.

48,6. hā zī nā hušoi 9amā hā nā utayū itīm dāṭ təvišīm vaŋhāuš manaphō bərəx öë aṭ axyai aṣ̃a mazdā urvarā vaxšaṭ ahurō anhāuš za9ōi paouruvehyā

48,6. For she (grants) us comfortable dwelling, she grants us youthfulness and bodily strength, O (Right-mindedness, you) ward of good thought. Let therefore the Wise One make the plants grow for her through truth, the Lord, at the procreation of the fundamental/foremost existence.

48,6. Denn sic (verschafft) uns gutes Wohnen, sie verleiht uns Jugendlichkeit und Körperkraft, o (Rechtgesinntheit, du) Pflegling des guten Godankens. Der Weise soll ihr deshalb die Pflanzen durch Wahrsein wachsen lassen, der Herr, bei der Zeugung der grundlegenden/vorzüglichen Existenz.

48,7. hī aešamo [nī.]dyatam paitī rəməm [paitī.]siyödüm yöi ā vaŋhāuš manaŋhō dīdrayžō.duyē

ašā vyam yehyā hi9āuš nā spəṇtō at hōi dāmam θβahmī ā dam ahurā

48,7. Let fury be tied down, attack standstill, you who wish to attach yourselves to good thought. Let the one whose partner is the beneficent/holy man be covered with truth. (Let) his places (be) in your house, O Lord.

48,7. Die Raserei werde angebunden, greift den Stillstand an, Ihr, die Ihr Euch am guten Gedanken zu befestigen sucht. Mit Wahrsein werde der umhüllt, dessen Partner der segensreiche/heilige Mann ist. Seine Stätten (seien) in Deinem Haus, o Herr.

48,8. kā tõi vaŋhōuš mazdā xša9rahyā īštiš ka toi ašoiš 9βahyā maibyō ahurā kā 9βoi ašā ākā arədrəng išiya vanhōuš mainyōuš švao9ananam iavarō

48,8. What (is) the command of your good power, O Wise One,

what (is) that of your reward for me. O Lord. what (is) yours through truth, invigorating in presence of the efficient ones. (serving as) compensation for the actions of good spirit?

48.8. Was tistt die Verfügung über Deine gute Macht, o Weiser,

was (ist) die über Deine Belohnung für mich, o Herr.

was (ist) die Deine durch Wahrsein, erfrischend in Gegenwart der Tüchtigen. (als) Ausgleich der Handlungen guten Geistes?

48,9. kadā vaēdā vezī cahvā xšava 9ā mazdā ašā yehyā mā āi9iš dvae9a araš môi (araž)ucam vanhāuš vafuš mananhō

vidvāt saošvas va9ā hōi ašiš anhat 48,9. When will I know whether you have power/control over someone,

O Wise One, through truth, whose terror (is) frightening me? Let the text of good thought be told me truly.

The benefactor/savior should know of what kind his reward will be.

48.9. Wann werde ich wissen, ob Ihr über iemanden Macht/Kontrolle habt o Weiser, durch Wahrsein, dessen Terror mir Furcht einflößt? Ehrlich sage man mir den Text des guten Gedankens. Der Wohltäter/Retter sollte wissen, welcherart seine Belohnung sein wird.

48,10. kada mazda manarōiš narō visantē kadā a<z>ān mū9rəm ahvā madahvā yā angrayā karapanō urūpayeintī yācā xratū dušəxša9rā daxyunam

48,10. When, O Wisc One, will the men of a believer get ready? When will one dispose of the excretion of that intoxicating plant by which the Karapans/lie-priests heavily suffer from nausea and the bad rulers of the lands as well, (guided) by their intellect?

48,10. Wann, o Weiser, werden die Männer eines Gläubigen sich anschicken? Wann wird einer die Ausscheidung jener berauschenden Pflanze entsorgen, von der die Karapans/Lügenpriester an schwerer Übelkeit leiden

und desgleichen die von ihrem Intellekt (geleiteten) schlechten Herrscher der Länder?

48.11. kadā mazdā ašā mat ārmaitiš iimat xša9rā hušəitiš vāstravaiti kōi dragyō.dabiš xrūrāiš rāmam dånte köng a vanhəuš jimat mananhö cistiš

48,11. When, O Wise One, will right-mindedness arrive together with truth, through power provided with comfortable dwelling and pasture? Which (people) will get peace (unimpaired) by the ferocious deceitful? Which (people) the insight of good thought will reach?

48,11. Wann, o Weiser, wird Rechtgesinntheit zusammen mit Wahrsein eintreffen.

durch Macht mit guter Wohnung und mit Weide versehen? Welche (Leute) werden sich Ruhe (unbeeinträchtigt) von den grausamen Lügnern verschaffen?

Welche (Leute) wird die Einsicht des guten Gedankens erreichen?

48.12. at tõi anhan saošvantõ daxvunam või xšnām vohū mananha hacante Švao 9anā iš ašā 9Bahvā mazda sanghahva tõi zi dätä hamaestärö aesəm.mahvä

48.12. That will be the benefactors/saviors of the lands who with good thought (and) with actions (inspired) by truth will join the recognition of your sentence. O Wise Onc. For these are destined eliminators of fury.

48 12. Das werden die erwarteten Wohltäter/Retter der Länder sein. die mit gutem Gedanken (und) mit von Wahrsein (inspirierten) Handlungen sich der Anerkennung Deines Urteils anschließen werden, o Weiser, Sie sind ia die geschaffenen Beseitiger der Rascrei.

#### Vasna 49

49.1. at mā vavā bāndvo pafre mazišto vā dušchasra9rīš cixšnušā ašā mazdā van hī ada gaidī moi ā moi [a]rapā ahvā vohū aošō vīdā mananhā

49.1. Did chieftain Bandya ever accumulate (religious merit)? (Come to me) who try to satisfy the badly herded (cows) through truth, O Wise One, - good (is/be) the presentation/apportionment - come to me (and) support me. Find, through good thought, (a way to) his extermination.

49.1. Hat Häuptling Bandya jemals (religiöse Verdienste) angesammelt? (Komm zu mir.) der ich die schlecht gehüteten (Kühe) durch Wahrsein zufrieden stellen will o Weiser

- gut (ist/sci) die Darbietung/Zuteilung - komm zu mir (und) unterstütze mich. Finde mit gutem Gedanken (einen Weg zu) seiner Vernichtung.

49.2. at ahvā mā bāndvahvā manaveitī tkačšo dragvá daibitá ašát rárašo nőit spəntam dörəšt ahmai stői armaitim naēdā vohū mazdā fraštā manaŋhā

49.2. A deceitful misteacher/heretic is staving (in the house) of this Bandva keeping (him) off from truth again and again. Neither does he grasp beneficent right-mindedness to be his nor does he hold counsel with good thought either, O Wise One.

49.2. (Im Haus) dieses Bandva hält sich ein lügenhafter Falschlehrer/Häretiker auf. der (ihn) immer wieder vom Wahrscin fernhält.

147

Weder ergreift er die segensreiche Rechtgesinntheit, damit sie sein sei, noch auch berät er sich mit dem guten Gedanken, o Weiser.

49.3. atcā ahmāi varənāi mazdā nidātəm ašəm snidyai (kacšai rašaveijhe druvs tā vanhāuš sarā izvā mananhō

antară vispăne draevată haxmăne fantară. Îmruvê

49,3. Truth is implanted in this (our) choice, O Wise One,

to benefit/save (us, but) deceit (is implanted) in mistcaching/heresy to harm (us). Through this (truth) I strive for the shelter of good thought.

I banish all the deceitful from (our) fellowship.

49,3. Dieser (unserer) Wahl, o Weiser, ist zu (unserem) Wohl/Heil

das Wahrsein eingepflanzt, der Falschlehre/Häresie (aber ist) die Lüge (eingepflanzt,) um (uns) zu schädigen.

Durch dieses (Wahrsein) strebe ich nach dem Schutzschirm des guten Gedankens. Ich verbanne alle Lügner aus (unserer) Genossenschaft.

49,4. yōi duš.xraθβā ačšəməm varədən rāməmcā x\*āiš hizubiš f8uyasū af8uyaŋtō

yaēšam nõit huvarəštāiš vas dužvarəštā tõi daēvāne dan vā draevatō daēnā

49,4. (Those) who (influenced) by the person of bad intellect increase fury and immobilization

by their tongues, (being) non-cattle breeders among the cattle breeders, (those) whose bad deeds overweigh because of their lack of good deeds, those install Daëvas/devils by the view/religion of the deceifful one.

 49,4. (Diejenigen,) die (beeinflusst) durch die Person von schlechtem Intellekt Raserei und Stillstand mehren

mit ihren Zungen, Nicht-Viehzüchter unter den Viehzüchtern,

(die,) deren schlechte Handlungen auf Grund des Mangels an guten Handlungen den Ausschlag geben.

die setzen durch die Anschauung/Religion des Lügners Daëvas/Teufel ein.

49,5. at hvõ mazdā īžācā āzūitišcā yō daēnam vohū sāroštā manaŋhā ārmatoiš kascīt ašā huzəntuš taišcā vīspāiš θβahmī xšaθrõi ahutā

49,5. But that one, O Wise One, is cream-offering and fat-libation who allies his view/view-soul with good thought, anybody who out of right-mindedness (is) a nobleman (attached) to truth and with all those in your power/dominion. O Lord.

49,5. Aber der, o Weiser, ist Sahnegabe und Fettspende,

der seine Anschauung/Schauseele mit dem gutern Gedanken verbündet.

ein jeder, der aus Rechtgesinntheit ein Edelmann (ist, verbunden) mit dem Wahrsein und mit all denen in Deinem Machtbereich, o Herr.

49,6. fro vá [fra]ešya mazda ašomca mmite

ərəš vicidyāi ya9ā i srāvayaēmā tạm daēnam yā xšmāvatō ahurā

49,6. I urge you, O Wise One, (you) and Truth, to tell (me) what (the concerns) of your intellect are to let (me) discern truly with the energy of your (adherent) how we might make heard

the view/religion of one such as you, O Lord.

49.6. Ich dränge Euch, o Weiser, (Dieh) und das Wahrsein, (mir) zu sagen, was (die Anliegen) Eures Intellekts sind, um (mich) mit dem Impetus Eures (Anhängers) richtig wahrnehmen zu lassen, wie wir die Anschauung/Religion

eines so wie Ihr zu Gehör bringen könnten, o Herr. 49.7. tatcā vohū mazdā sraotū mananhā

sraotū aša gušahva tu ahura kā airyamā kā x'aētuš dataiš aghat vā vərəzānāi van'hīm dāt frasastīm

49,7. Let one hear this through good thought, O Wise One, let one hear (it) through truth, listen, O Lord: Which tribe, which family will it be who, by (execution) of the laws, will procure a good reputation for the community?

49,7. Das soll man mit gutem Gedanken vernehmen, o Weiser, man sôll (es) mit Walnsein vernehmen, höre zu, o Herr: Welcher Stamm, welche Familie wird es sein, die durch (Erfüllung) der Gesetze der Gemeinde einen auten Ruf verschafft?

49,8. fərašaoštrāi urvāzištam aşahyā dā sarəm taṭ 9βā mazdā yāsā ahurā maibyācā yam vaṇhāu 9βahmī ā xšaθrōi yavoi viṣṇāi fraeštāṇho āṇhāmā

49,8. Grant Frashaoshtra the most graceful/delightful shelter of truth, this I request from you, O Wise Lord, and (grant it also) to me, (the shelter) in your good power/dominion. Let us be dearest friends for all time.

49,8. Gewähre Frashaoshtra den gnädigsten/wonnigsten Schirm des Wahrseins, darum bitte ich Dich, o Weiser Herr, und (gewähre ihn auch) mir, (den Schirm) in Deinem guten Machtbereich. Lass uns für alle Zeit die besten Freunde sein.

49,9. sraotū sāsītā fšārjhiyō suyē taštō noit araš vacā sarām didas dragvata hyat daēnā vahištē yūjan mīždē ašā vuxtā vāhī dājāmāspā

49.9. Let the companion fashioned (to enjoy) benefit/salvation hear the teachings. The (mann of straight word does not approve of alliance with the deceitful one, when (the truthful) voke their views to the best nize.

in yoking (themselves) to truth, at the apportionment (of shares,) O Jāmāspa.

49,9. Vernehmen soll die Lehren der Gefährte, der zum (Genuss von) Wohl/Heil gebildet ist.

Nicht billigt der (Mann) von chrlichem Wort das Bündnis mit dem Lügner, wenn (die Wahrhaften) ihre Anschauungen an den besten Preis anspannen bei der Anspannung (ihrer selbst) an das Wahrsein, bei der Zuteilung (der Anteile,) o Jämäspa.

49,10. taţca mazda θβahmī a dạm nipâŋhe manō vohu urunasca aṣ̄aunam nəmascā yā ārmaitiš ižācā mazā.xṣ̄aθrā vazdaŋhā avō.mirū

49,10. This, O Wise One, you preserve for yourself in your house: good thought and the souls of the truthful, and the reverence with which right-mindedness (goes) and cream-offering granting power through refreshing fattiness.

49,10. Das, o Weiser, bewahrst Du Dir in Deinem Haus: den guten Gedanken und die Seelen der Wahrhaften und die Verehrung, mit der Rechtgesinntheit (einhergeht) und Sahnespende, Macht verleibend durch erfrischende Feltigkeit.

49,11. aţ duśəxia 9rāng dui siyao 9anāng dui vacaŋhö dui daenang dui manaŋhö dragvatö akai si var 9ai i uru vanö (paiti) yeinti drūjo donānē hai 9vā anhən astavö

49,11. But the deceitful, (persons) of bad rule, bad actions, bad words, bad views, (and) bad thoughts, the souls (of the dead) come to meet with foul food. They will be right guests in the house of deceit.

49,11. Aber den Lügnern, (Leuten) von schlechter Herrschaft, schlechten Handlungen, schlechten Worten, schlechten Anschauungen (und) schlechten Gedanken, kommen die Seelen (der Verstorbenen) mit verdorbenen Speisen entgegen. Im Haus der Lüge werden sie die richtigen G\u00e4ste sein.

49,12. kat tõi ašā zbayeptē avaŋhō zara9uštrāi kat tõi vohū manaŋhā yə və staotaiš mazda frīnai ahura avat yāsas hyat və ištā vahištəm 49,12. What of help do you have through truth for (me) who am calling, for Zarathushtra, what do you have through good thought (for me) who will devote myself to you by praises, O Wise Lord, requesting that which is the best at Your command.

49,12. Was an Hilfe hast Du durch Wahrsein für (mich.) der ich rufe, für Zarathushtra, was hast Du durch guten Gedanken (für mich.) der ich mich Euch durch Preislieder widme, o Weiser Herr, um das bittend, was in Eurer Verfügungsgewalt das Beste ist.

## Vasna 50

50,1. kat mõi uruvä isē cahyā avaŋhō kā mõi pasauš kā ma.na 9rata visto anyō ašāt 9βaṭcā mazdā ahurā azdā zūtā vahištāaṭcā manaŋhō

50,1. Does my soul command anybody's help?
Who is found to be the protector of my cattle, who (to be that) of myself, who other than Truth and you, O Wise Lord,
and Best Thought turning up speedily (when called for help)?

50,1. Verfügt meine Seele über irgendjemands Hilfe?
Wer findet sich als der Beschützer meines Vichs, wer (als der) meiner selbst, wer anders als das Wahrsein und Du, o Weiser Herr, und der Beste Gedanke, schnell zur Stelle (wenn zu Hilfe gerufen)?

50,2. ka9ā mazdā rānyō.skərəitim gam išasōiţ yā hīm ahmai vastravaitim stoi usyaṭ ərəžəjīš aṭā pouruša huvarə pišyasū akastāna mā nišasvā dā9ām dahvai

50,2. How, O Wise One, could one catch sight of the joy-giving cow, one who would wish her to be his, provided with pasture, one who lives decently through truth among the many who enjoy the sun. Facing these I will sit down (for prayer). Accent the just one.

50.2. Wie, o Weiser, könnte einer die Freude spendende Kuh zu Gesicht bekommen, einer, der sie mit Weide versehen sich zum Besitz w\u00e4nschte, ein durch Wahrsein Rechtlebender inmitten der Vielen, die die Sonne genie\u00dcen? Vor ihren Augen werde ich mich (zum Gebet) niedersetzen. Nimm den Gerechten an.

50,3. aţcīţ ahmāi mazda aţa aŋhaitī yam hōi xša9rā vohucā cōišt manaŋhā yā nā aʒōiš aojaŋhā varədayaētā yam nazdistam gaē9am drəgvā baxšaitī

50,3. To that (man) indeed (that herd) shall belong through truth, O Wise One, which one has assigned to him by power and good thought, (to that) man who would increase it for himself by the strength of reward,

50,3. Dem (Mann) soll fürwahr durch Wahrsein (jene Herde) gehören, o Weiser,

die ihm einer durch Macht und guten Gedanken zugewiesen hat.

(dem) Mann, der sie für sieh selbst durch die Kraff der Belohnung mehren möchte, (iene) nachbarliche Herde, die der Lügner abtreten muss.

50,4. at vå yazāi stavas mazdā ahurā hada aša vahištaca mananha xša9rācā vā išō stānhat a pai9ī

ākā arədrānu dəmānē garō səraošānē

50,4. I will sacrifice to you, praising (you,) O Wise Lord,

along with truth and best thought. and with the power with which (one truthful) puts refreshments on the path toward the efficient ones I wish to be heard in the house of welcome

50,4. (Euch) lobpreisend will ich Euch opfern, o Weiser Herr, gemeinsam mit Wahrsein und bestem Gedanken,

und mit der Macht, mit der (ein Wahrhafter) Labungen stellt auf den Pfad zu den Erfolgreichen, will ich im Haus des Willkomms gehört werden.

50.5 aroi zi xšma mazdá aša abura hyat yüšmäkäi maðräne vaorāzaða

aibī.darašta avīšivā avanhā zastāištā vā nā x'ā9rē dāvāt

50,5. Assured are by you indeed, O Lord Wise through truth, - since you indulge in visible, manifest help

for your poet -

150

(arrows) sent by (your) hand(s), which shall out us in comfort.

50.5. Zugesichert sind ja von Euch, o durch Wahrsein weiser Herr,

- da Ihr Euch in sichtbarer, offenkundiger Hilfeleistung für Euren Dichter gefallt -

(Pfeile) gesandt von (Eurer) Hand, die uns in Labsal versetzen sollen.

50,6, və ma9ra vacəm mazda baraiti urva9ō ašā nəmanhā zara9uštrō dātā xratāuš hizvō rai9īm stōi mahyā rāzāng vohū sāhīṭ mananhā

50,6. The poet who raises his voice, O Wise One,

allied with truth, in reverence, (is) Zarathushtra, May the giver of intellect teach (my) tongue through good thought to be the charioteer of my direction/prayer.

50.6. Der Dichter, der seine Stimme erhebt, o Weiser,

in Verehrung mit Wahrsein verbündet, (ist) Zarathushtra. Möge der Geber des Intellekts (meine) Zunge durch guten Gedanken lehren, der Wagenlenker meines Gebots/Gebets zu sein.

50,7. at və vaoia zəvištivəng aurvatō

javaiš pərə908 vahmahvā vūšmākahvā mazda aka - persun yolni mananbii

yāiš coazā9ā mahmāi xyātā avaņhē

50.7. I will voke for you the swiftest steeds of your laudation, broad(-chested) through victories

(and) strong through good thought, O Wise One, (voking them) through truth. With these you will let (the others) behind. May you be (ready) to help me.

50.7. Ich will für Euch die schnellsten Rösser

Eures Lobpreises einspannen, durch Siege breit(brüstig)

(und) durch guten Gedanken stark, (sie) durch Wahrsein (ansnannend,) o Weiser, Mit diesen werdet Ihr (die Anderen) hinter Euch lassen, Möget Ihr (bereit) sein, mir zu helfen.

50,8. mat vá padaiš va frasrota ižavá pairijasai mazdā ustānazastō at vå ašā arədraxyācā nəmanhā at vå vanhõuš mananhö hunarətata

50.8. With the (legendary) footprints of (personified) cream-offering I wish to serve you, with hands outstretched, O Wise One. (serve) you with truth (and) with the reverence of an efficient one,

50.8. Mit den (legendären) Fußstanfen der (personifizierten) Sahnesnende will ich Euch aufwarten mit ausgestreckten Händen, o Weiser, Euch (aufwarten) mit Wahrsein (und) in Verehrung eines Tüchtigen, Euch (aufwarten) mit der Kunstfertigkeit des guten Gedankens.

50.9. tāiš vā vasnaiš paitī stavas avenī mazdā ašā vanhouš švao9anāiš mananhō vadā ašoiš maxvā vasā xšaivā at hudānaoš išayas gərəzdā xyəm

(serve) you with the skillfulness of good thought.

50,9. With sacrifices such as these, I will approach you again, praising (you,) O Wise One, with truth (and) with actions of good thought. when I am in command at will of my reward/remuneration.

May I thus abide, enjoying invigoration, in the grace of a generous (person).

50.9. Mit Opfern wie diesen werde ich (Euch) preisend wieder vor Euch treten. o Weiser, mit Wahrsein (und) mit Handlungen des guten Gedankens. wenn ich frei über meine Belohnung/Vergütung verfügen kann. So möge ich, Erfrischung genießend, in der Gunst eines Großzügigen verweilen.

50,10. at yā varəšā yācā pairī āiš šyao9anā

vācā vohū cašmam arojat mananhā

raocá x ang asnam uxša neuruš xšmakai aša vahmai mazda ahura

152

50.10. The actions that I will perform and those (performed) by those all around as well as (the things) worth seeing through good thought.

the lights of the sun, the leading bull of the days,

(all that serves) for your laudation through truth. O Wise Lord.

50,10. Die Handlungen, die ich durchführen werde, und die von all denen rinesum (durchgeführten) Handlungen

ebenso wie (die Dinge,) die durch guten Gedanken die Blicke wert sind,

die Lichter der Sonne, der Leitstier der Tage. (all das dient) Eurem Loboreis durch Wahrsein, o Weiser Herr.

50.11. at və staotā aoiāi mazdā anhācā

yavat ušā tavācā isāicā dātā aņhōuš arodat vohū manaņhā

hai@yāvarəštam hyat vasnā fərašō.təməm

50.11. I wish to declare myself your eulogist. O Wise One, and I am willing to be so. as much as I can and am able to through truth,

Let the creator/giver of the existence/world make effective through good thought the realization of what is most perfect in value

50.11. Zu Eurem Lobsänger will ich mich erklären, o Weiser, und ich will es sein. sosehr ich durch Wahrsein kann und vermag.

Der Schöpfer/Geber der Existenz/Welt möge durch guten Gedanken

die Verwirklichung dessen, was an Wert am vollkommensten ist, erfolgreich machen.

## Vasna 51 Vohukshathrā Cāthā

51,1. vohū xša9rəm vairīm bāgəm aibī.bairištəm vīdīšəmnāi īžācīt ašā antarā.caraitī šyao9anāiš mazdā vahištəm tat nā nūcīt varəšānē

51,1. The good power/rule worth choosing, which excellently brings good fortune to the person liberal particularly with cream-offering, alternates between (you and us) through truth,

being best through actions, O Wise One. This I wish to effect for us just now.

51.1. Die gute wählenswerte Macht/Herrschaft, die dem insbesondere mit Sahnespende Freigebigen

in hervorragender Weise Glück bringt, wechselt durch Wahrsein zwischen (Euch und uns)

als durch Handlungen beste, o Weiser. Sie will ich uns gerade jetzt erwirken.

51.2. tā vē mazdā paourvīm ahurā ašāi, vecā taibvaca armaite doiša moi ištoiš xša9rəm

xšmākəm vohū mananhā vahmāi dāidī savanhō

51.2. Thereby I wish to first show you, O Lord, and Truth, and you, O Right-mindedness, the power of my command. Grant your (own power) through good thought to the laudation of the welfare/salvation.

51.2. Damit will ich zuerst Euch, o Herr, und dem Wahrsein

und Dir, o Rechtgesinntheit, die Macht meiner Verfügungsgewalt zeigen. Gewähre durch guten Gedanken Eure (eigene Macht) der Lobpreisung des Wohls/Heils.

51.3. ā vā gauš,a hamvantu voi va švao9anāiš sārantē ahuro aša hizva uxōaiš vanhāuš mananhō vaēšam tū pouruvo mazdā fradaxštā ahī

51,3. Let your ears turn up (with those) who are allied with you by (their) actions, - (O you.) the Lord through truth - (and) by statements of good thought (snoken) by

(statements) whose first teacher you are, O Wise One.

51,3. Lasst Eure Ohren sich bei denen einfinden, die durch (ihre) Handlungen mit Euch verbündet sind

- (o Du,) der Herr durch Wahrsein - (und) durch von der Zunge (gesprochene) Aussagen des guten Gedankens.

(Aussagen,) deren erster Lehrer Du bist, o Weiser,

51,4. ku9rā ārōiš ā fsəratuš ku9rā mərəždikā axštat ku9rā vasō.xvān ašam kū spantā ārmaitiš ku9ra mano vahištom ku9ra 98a xša9ra mazda

51,4. Where will refection, where will compassion turn up instead of greed, where do (people) dignify truth, where (is) beneficent right-mindedness, where (is) best thought, where, through your power, O Wise One?

51,4. Wo wird sich Erquickung, wo wird sich Mitleid anstatt Habgier einstellen, wo würdigen (die Leute) das Wahrsein, wo (ist) die segensreiche Rechtgesinntheit, wo (ist) der beste Gedanke, wo durch Deine Macht, o Weiser?

51.5. vîspa ta pərəsas va9a ašat haca eam vidat vāstrivō švao9anāiš ərəšvō has huxratuš nəmanhā

yā dā@aēibyō ərəš ratūm xšayas ašivā cistā 51.5. I am asking (you) about all those (circumstances) under which, in accordance with

the herdsman finds the cow, high-ranking through his actions (and) being of good intellect in reverence (for the one)

who, ruling (and) disposing of requitals, conceives a straight judgment on the just.

51.5. Ich frage (Dich) nach all den (Umständen.) unter denen der Hirte dem Wahrsein gemäß die Kuh findet.

hochrangig durch seine Handlungen (und) von gutem Intellekt, in Verehrung (für den.) der als Herrscher über Vergeltungen verfügend sich ein richtiges Urteil über die Gerechten bildet.

51,6. ya vahyo vaŋhauś dazde yască hoi vărăi rădaţ ahuro xšaöra mazda aţ ahmai akāţ ašyo ya hoi noit vidăiti apame aŋhauś urvaese

the Lord, through His power, (is) mindful. But what is worse than evil (is in store) for

who did not fulfill (his duties) toward Him, at the final turn of the existence/world. 51,6. (Dessen,) der das Bessere als das Gute annimmt und sich Seinem Willen

unterwirft, (ist) der Herr durch seine Macht eingedenk. Aber dem (steht) das Schlechtere als das

Schlechte an der letzten Wende der Existenz/Welt (bevor,) der Ihm gegenüber (seine Pflichten) nicht erfüllt hat.

51,7. daidī moi yō gam tašō apascā urvarāscā amorstātā haurvātā spēništa mainyu mazdā tavīšī utavātū manaņhā vohu sēḥhe

51,7. You who fashioned the cow, the waters, and the plants, grant me, O Wise One, immortality and integrity through most beneficent spirit,

O wise One, immortanty and integrity unrough most beneficent spirit, bodily strength and youthfulness through good thought at the pronouncement (of your sentence).

51,7. Der Du die Kuh gebildet hast, die Wasser und die Pflanzen, gewähre mir, o Weiser. Unsterblichkeit und Unverletzlichkeit durch segensreichsten Geist,

Körperkraft und Jugendlichkeit durch guten Gedanken bei der Verkündung (Deines Urteilsspruchs).

51,8. at zi tõi vaxšyā mazdā vīduše zī na mruyaţ hyaṭ aköyā dragvāitē uštā yā ašəm dādre hyō zī ma9ra \$vāto vā viduše mravuiti

51,8.1 will tell you (now,) O Wise One, – for to a knowing/initiated one the man would like to speak, –

that what is evil for the deceitful one (implies things) desired (by the one) who holds on to truth.

That poet is happy indeed who can speak to a knowing/initiated one.

 S. Ich will Dir (jetzt) sagen, o Weiser, – denn zu einem Wissenden/Initiierten m\u00f6chte der Mann sprechen –,

dass Übel für den Lügner Erwünschtes (für denjenigen bedeutet,) der das Wahrsein festhält.

Der Dichter ist ja froh, der zu einem Wissenden/Initiierten sprechen kann.

51,9. yam xšnūtam rānōibyā dā θβa aθrā suxrā mazdā avanhā xšusta uibī uhvāhū daxštəm dāvōi

rāšayeijhē drəgvantəm savayō ašavanəm

51,9. Which satisfaction you fix with the balance by your red fire, O Wise One, (and) by the molten metal – to attach a sign (of that) to the minds: to harm the deceitful one you benefit/save the truthful one.

21.9. Welche Genugtung Du durch Dein rotes Feiter mit der Wange festwert, er Weise (und) durch das flüssige Metall, – um ein Zeichen (davon) an den Gemütern zu

befestigen: um dem Lügner Leid zuzufügen, begünstigst/rettest Du den Wahrhaften.

51,10. at yə ma na marəxšaitē anyā9ā ahmāt mazdā hvō dāmōiš drūiō hunuš tā duždā voi həntī

maibyō zbayā ašəm vanhuyā ašī gat.tē

51,10. The man who otherwise tries to ruin me, O Wise One, that (man) is a bastard of the founder of deceit, thereby (being) of bad gifts for the

existing.

I call truth to come to me with a good reward.

51,10. Der Mann, der mich sonst noch zu vernichten sucht, o Weiser.

der (Mann) ist ein Bastard des Gründers der Lüge (und) dadurch von üblen Gaben für die Seienden.

Ich rufe das Wahrsein, damit es mit guter Belohnung zu mir komme. 51.11. kā urva 96 spitamāi zana 9uštrāi nā mazdā

kõ vä aša afrasta ka spoņta armaitis

kā vā vaŋhāuš manaŋhō acistā magāi ətəšvō

51,11. Which man is an ally of Spitama Zarathushtra, O Wise One?
Who held counsel with good thought, with whom (did) beneficent right-mindedness (hold counsel)?

Which high-ranking (personality) received (him) for the contribution of good thought? 51,11. Welcher Mann ist ein Verbündeter des Spitama Zarathushtra, o Weiser?

Wer hat sich mit dem Wahrsein beraten, mit wem (beriet sich) die segensreiche Rechtgesinntheit?

Welche hochrangige (Persönlichkeit) hat (ihn) zur Spende des guten Gedankens aufgenommen?

51,12. noit ta īm xšnauš vaeipiyō kəvīnō pərətā zimō zara9uštrəm spitāməm hyat ahmī urūraost aštō

hyaţ hōi im caratască aodərəšcü zöišənü väzä

51,12. It was not in such a way (that) Kavyan sodomite treated him, Zarathushtra Spitama, in wintertime at the bridge, when (that/his) lackey stopped (him) there.

so that (lying on the) threshold and (suffering) cold along with horrible board (was) his (only choice).

51,12. Nicht auf solche Weise behandelte (jener) Kavische Sodomit ihn,

157

- den Zarathushtra Spitama, zur Winterzeit an der Brücke, als (ihn dieser/sein) Lakai dort anhielt.
- so dass ihm (nichts anderes übrig blieb als ein Lager auf der) Eingangsschwelle und Kälte samt Schauder erregender Kost.
- 51,13. tā drogvatō marədaiti daēna ərəzaoš haiðim ychyā uruvā xraodaiti cinvatō pərətā ākā xraiš švaoðanāiš hizuvuscā ušahvā nusvā pa9ō
- 51,13. For such (behavior) the view/view-soul of the deceitful one will miss the reality of the straight (path).
- His breath-soul will shudder/tremble at/on the accountant's bridge, realizing
- that he has strayed from the path of truth by his own actions and those of (his) tongue.
- 51,13. Wegen solchen (Verhaltens) wird die Anschauung/Schauseele des L\u00e4gners die Reali\u00e4t\u00e4te geraden (Wegs) verfehlen.
  Seine Atemseele wird n\u00e4nd fer B\u00fc\u00fcke des Rechnungsf\u00fchres erschauern/erzittern in
- der Einsicht, dass er durch seine eigenen Handlungen und die (seiner) Zunge vom Pfad des
- dass er durch seine eigenen Handlungen und die (seiner) Zunge vom Plad des Wahrseins abgekommen ist.
- 51,14. nőit urvá9á dátőibyascá karapanő vástrát arəm gavoi ároiš ásənda x'áiš šyao9anáiš söngháišcá vä iš sənghő apaməm drujo dəmané ádát
- 51,14. The Karapans/lic-priests (are) no allies with respect to the laws and (the needs of) the pasture.
- out of greed being unpleasant toward the cow by their actions and sentences, which kind of sentence will, at the end, put them in the house of deceit.
- 51,14. Die Karapans/Lügenpriester (sind) keine Verbündeten im Hinblick auf die Gesetze und (die Notwendiskeiten) der Weide.

aus Geiz der Kuh unerfreulich durch ihre Handlungen und Urteilssprüche, welcherart Urteilsspruch sie am Ende ins Haus der Lüge versetzen wird.

- 51,15. hyat mīždəm zaraθuštro magavabyo coišt parā garō domānē ahuro mazdā jasat pouruyo
- tā və vohū manaŋhā ašāicā savāiš cəvišī
- 51,15. (With) the prize that Zarathushtra promised to the contributors the primeval Wise Lord comes in/into the house of welcome.
- With regard to that (prize) I entrust myself to you and Truth with good thought by henefits.
- 51,15. (Mit) dem Preis, den Zarathushtra den Spendern versprochen hat, kommt der uranfängliche Weise Herr in das Haus des Willkomms.
- Im Hinblick auf diesen (Preis) vertraue ich mich Euch und dem Wahrsein mit gutem Gedanken durch Vorteile an
- 51.16. tam kavā vištāspō magahvā xša9rā nasat

- vaŋhōuš padəbīš manaŋhō yam cistīm aặa maṇta spəntō mazdá ahurō a9a nō sazdyāi uštā
- 51.16. By the patronage over the contribution, Kavi/Prince Vishtåspa conveys, on the paths of good thought, that insight which the beneficent Was Lord conceived through truth. Thus let (Him/him) pronounce the (sentences) desired by us.
- 51,16. Durch die Schirmherrschaft über die Spende vermittelt Kavi/Fürst Vishtäspa auf den Pfaden des guten Gedankens die Einsicht, die durch Wahrsein erdacht hat der segensreiche Weise Herr. So lasst (Ihn/ihn) die uns erwünschten (Urteile) werkfünden
- 51,17. bərəxöqm möi fərašaoštrö hvö.guvö daödöišt kəhrpəm daönayāi vaŋhuyāi yam höi išiyam datu xšavas mazdā ahurō ašahva āždvāi gərəzdīm
- 51,17. Frashaoshtra Hvöguva dedicates his figure/personality esteemed by me to the good view/religion. Let the Wise Lord, in Ilis power, make it vieworous for him to let him reach the grace of truth.
- 51,17. Frashaoshtra Hvöguva widmet seine von mir geschätzte Gestalt/Persönlichkeit der guten Anschauung/Religion. Kraftvoll soll sei ihm der Weiss Herr in seiner Macht machen, um ihn die Gnade des Wahrseins erlangen zu

lassen.

- 51,18. tạm cistim dəjāmāspö hvö.guvö ištöiš x'arənā aṣā vərəṇtē taṭ xṣ̄aθrəm mananho vaŋhəuš vīdo taṭ moi dāidī ahurā hyaṭ mazdā rapēn tavā
- 51,18.This insight Jāmāspa Hvõguva chooses through truth out of his quest for glory, this power (he chooses) out of knowledge/possession of good thought. Grant me that (power,) O Lord, which is yours, O Wise One, O Supporter.
- 51,18. Aus seinem Streben nach Ruhmesglanz wählt Jämäspa Hvöguva durch Wahrsein diese Einsicht, diese Macht (wählt er) aus Kenntnis/Besitz des guten Gedankens.
  Diese (Macht) eewähre mir. o Herr. welche die Deine ist. o Weiser. o Unterstützer.
- 51,19. hvő tat nä maidyői.måŋhā spitamä ahmāi dazdē dačnayā vačdəmnö yā ahūm išasas aibī mazdā datā mraot savehva švaollanāiš vahvö
- 51,19. That man, O Maidyöimängha Spitama, secures for himself this (power,) (already) possessing (it) in his view/view-soul, who catching sight of (means of) existence
- recites the laws of the Wise One, (that power) which, through the actions of the world, is the better one.
- 51,19. Derjenige Mann sichert sich diese (Macht,) o Maidyöimängha Spitama, (sie) in seiner Anschauung/Schauseele (bereits) besitzend, der Existenz(mittel) zu Gesicht bekommend

die Gesetze des Weisen rezitiert, - (diese Macht,) die durch die Handlungen der Welt die bessere ist.

51.20. tat və nə hazaošánhö visnánhö daidvai savo asam yohu mananha - ayaa yaas armanis

vazəmnánhō nəmanhā mazdá rafəôrəm cagədō

51.20. In order for all of you to grant us in harmony that benefit/salvation

(we celebrate) truth with good thought, (reciting) the statements with which rightmindedness (goes.)

we celebrate (them) in reverence, requesting the support of the Wise One.

51,20. Damit Ihr alle im Einklang uns dieses Euer Wohl/Heil gewährt,

(feiern wir) das Wahrsein mit gutem Gedanken (und rezitieren) die Aussagen, mit denen Rechtgesinntheit (einhergeht.)

wir feiern (sie) in Verehrung, die Unterstützung des Weisen erbittend.

51,21. ārmatōiš nā spaṇtō hvō cistī uxôāiš šyao9anā daēnā ašam spānyat vohū xša9ram mananha mazdá dadat ahuro təm van hīm vasa ašīm

51,21. The beneficent man (depends) on right-mindedness. For (his) insight, statements,

actions (and) view/religion, that Wise Lord accords beneficial truth

(and) power through good thought. From Him I request a good reward. 51,21. Der segensreiche Mann (hängt ab) von der Rechtgesinntheit. Für (seine) Einsicht. Aussagen, Handlungen

(und) Anschauung/Religion gewährt jener Weise Herr segensvolles Wahrsein

(und) Macht durch guten Gedanken. Von Ihm erbitte ich gute Belohnung. 51,22. vehva moi ašat haca vahištam vesnē paitī

vaēdā mazdā ahurō voi ānharəcā hənticā ta vazāi x aiš nāmonī[š] pairicā jasāi vantā

51.22. Whose best (recompense) is, in accordance with truth, (due) to me for the sacrifice.

the Wise Lord knows. Those who have existed and, (at the same time.) exist (those) I will celebrate with my (faculties, calling their) names, and will serve them with love.

51,22. Wessen beste (Gegenleistung) mir in Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein für das Opfer (zusteht,)

weiß der Weise Herr. Die gewesen sind und (gleichzeitig) sind,

(die) will ich mit meinen (Fähigkeiten, ihre) Namen (nennend.) feiern und ihnen mit Zuneigung aufwarten.

# Vacna 53 Vahichtőichti Catha

53.1. vahištā ištiš srāvi zam 9uštrahē

spitamahva vezi hoi dat ävaptä akut haca ahuro - mazda yayoi yisnai,a - hinanharim

vaēcā hōi daban sacšiancā daēnavā vanhuvā uxōā švao9anācā

53,1. The excellent command of Zarathushtra Spitama is famous,

because the Wise Lord, in accordance with truth,

accorded to him boons (and) good existence for all his life. (to him) and (to those) who observe and master the statements and actions of his good view/religion.

53,1. Die hervorragende Verfügungsgewalt des Zarathushtra Spitama wird gerühmt, weil ihm der Weise Herr in Übereinstimmung mit dem Wahrsein Gnadengaben gewährte (und) gute Existenz für sein ganzes Leben.

(ihm) und (denienigen.) welche die Aussagen und Handlungen Seiner guten Anschauung/Religion beobachten und beherrschen.

53,2. atcā hōi scantū manaņhā uxčāiš šyao9anāišcā xšnām mazdā vahmāi ā fraorat vasnascā kavacā vīštāspō zara9uštriš spitamo fərašaoštrascā dånhö ərəzüš na9ö vam daēnam ahurō saošvantō dadāt

53,2. Let thus Kavi/Prince Vishtäspa, (that) adherent of Spitama Zarathushtra, and Frashaoshtra, with thought, statements, and actions

devotedly announce the recognition of the Wise One for His laudation and the sacrifices (to Him.)

(thus following) the straight paths of contribution, the view/religion that the Lord established (to be that) of a benefactor/savior.

53,2. Mit Gedanken, Aussagen und Handlungen sollen so Kavi/Fürst Vishtäspa, (dieser) Anhänger des Zarathushtra Spitama, und Frashaoshtra

hingabevoll die Anerkennung des Weisen zu Seinem Lob und die Opfer (für Ihn)

(so) den geraden Pfaden der Spende (folgend,) der Anschauung/Religion, die der Herr (als die) eines Wohltäters/Retters eingesetzt hat.

«A reference to Jämäspa, Frashaoshtra's brother, according to tradition the bridegroom of Zaruthushtra's daughter Pourschistä, apparently got lost between stanzas 2 and 3.5

53.3. tāmcā tū pourucistā haccat.aspānā

spitămî vezivî dugədram zara 9 uštrahe vanhāuš paitivāstīfm] mananhō ašahyā mazdāscā taibyō dat sarām

a9a hām farašvā 98a xra98ā spāņištā ārmatōiš hudāncūm vsarašvā 53.3. And this (Jāmāspa.) O Pouruchistā, vou descendant of Haĕchataspa,

O Spitāmī, vou voungest among Zarathushtra's daughters,

Thus have counsel with your intellect, O most blessed one, out of right-mindedness accept the generous one.

53,3. Und diesen (Jāmāspa,) o Pouruchistā, du Spross des Haēchataspa,

o Spitāmī, du jūngste unter den Töchtern Zarathushtras.

bestimmt dir (dein Vater) im Gehorsam gegenüber dem guten Gedanken, dem Wahrsein und dem Weisen (Herrn) als Schutzschild.

So berate dich mit deinem Intellekt, o sehr Gesegnete, nimm den aus Rechtgesinntheit Großzügigen an.

53,4. təm zi və spərədə nivaranı ya fəôroi vidat

160

pai9yačcā vāstriyačibyō aṭcā x'aētavē aṣāumī aṣāvabyō manaŋhō vaŋhāuš x'ānvaṭ haŋhuš mācn..bācṇduš mazdā dadāt ahurō daēnavāi vanhuvāi vavōi vīsnai.a

53,4. Him indeed I wish to cover with the eagerness with which (a woman) cares for her father

and for her husband, for the herdsmen and for (her) household,

(as) a truthful (woman) does for the truthful. Minding family ties the Wise Lord

grants a sunny harvest of good thought to the good yiew/religion for all time.

53,4. Ihn will ich n\u00e4milich mit Ei\u00eder umh\u00e4llen, mit dem (eine Frau) f\u00fcr ihren Vater sorgt und f\u00e4r ihren Gatten, f\u00fcr die Hirten und f\u00fcr (ihren) Hausstand, (als) wahrhafte (Frau) f\u00e4r \u00ede Wahrhaften. Auf Familienbande achtend sew\u00e4hrt der

Weise Herr

der guten Anschauung/Religion eine sonnenhafte Ernte des guten Gedankens für alle Zeit.

53,5. sāx'ənī vazyamnābyō kainibyō mraomī xšmaibyācā vadəmnō māṇcā ī [mạz]dazdūm

vaēdō.dūm duēnābīš acīrbiyastā ahūm yə vaŋhəuš manaŋhō aṣā və anyō ainīm vīvənghatā tat zī hōi hušənəm anhat

53.5. Words of admonition I speak to the marriageable maidens

35,5. Words of administration i speak to the marriageable mardens and to you, (O young men,) in my speech: When you have impressed them on your minds,

(then) you possess, concentrated (on it) with (your) views/view-souls, the existence/world of good thought.

Let each of you try to surpass the other in truth for this will be fruitful to him.

53,5. Worte der Ermahnung spreche ich zu den heiratsfähigen Mädchen und zu euch, (o junge Männer,) in meiner Rede: Wenn ihr sie eurem Gedächtnis eingeprägt habt.

(dann) besitzt ihr, mit (euren) Anschauungen/Schauscelen (darauf) konzentriert, die Existenz/Welt des guten Gedankens. An Wahrsein soll jeder von euch den anderen zu übertreffen suchen, denn dies wird für ihn ertragreich sein.

53.6 i9ā ī hai9vā narā a9a iznavo

drūjo haca ra@amo - yama spašar-u@a frāidim

[drūjo] // āyesē hōi[š] piðā tanuvō parā vavū bərədubvo duš.x'arəðām nasat x'āðrəm

vayu osradubyo dus.x arazam nasai x aoram dragvo.dabyo dajil.arataeibyo anais a manahim ahūm mərəngaduye

53,6. In this way (my words are) true, O men, in the same way (for ÿou,) O women.
(He) who operates in accordance with deceit (and) whom ÿou see prosper —

I take the fat off from his body.

With the wind (away with him) to those offering (him) foul food. Comfort fades away from (those) deceitful oppressors of truth. Through these you ruin (your) mental existence.

53,6. In dieser Weise (sind meine Worte) wahr, o M\u00e4nner, und ebenso (f\u00fcir euch,) o Frauen.

(Derjenige,) der in Übereinstimmung mit der Lüge wirkt (und) den ihr gedeihen seht – ich hole das Fett von seinem Leib.

Mit dem Wind (fort mit ihm) zu den Anbietern übler Speise. Labsal entschwindet (diesen) lügenhaften Unterdrückern des Wahrseins. Mit ihnen richtet ihr (eure) gedankliche Existenz zugrunde.

53,7. a[c# və miždəm aŋhaţ ahyā magahyā yavaṭ ažuš zrazdišto būnōi haxtiyā

paracă mraocus aorăcă ya9ră mainyuš drogvato anasat pară filvizava9ă magām tām at və vavoi anhaiti anāməm vaco

53,7. But there will be recompense to you for this contribution/dedication as long as the penis moves to and fro most confidently in the bottom of the thighs, where (his) spirit has faded away from the deceifful one.

If you give up this contribution/dedication then "woe" will be your last word.

53,7. Aber euch wird Belohnung für diese Spende/Hingabe zuteil werden, solange der Penis sich sehr zuversichtlich im Grunde der Schenkel hin und her bewegt, wo dem L\u00e4gner (der) Geist entschwunden ist. Gebt ihr diese Spende/I \u00ednigabe auf, dann wird "Wehe" euer letztes Wort sein.

53,8. anāiš ā dužvarošnaŋhō dāfšniyā hōṇtū

zaxiyācā vīspāŋhō xraosəṇṭam upā huxša9tātš jēnoram xrūnoramcā rāmamcā āiš dadātū šycitibiyō vīžībyō īratū īš dvafšō hvō dərəzā mərəi9yaoš mazištō mošucā astu

53,8. Let those of bad omen be subject to torture by these (truthful) and let them all howl up laughably

(being ill-treated) by the good rulers among the man-slaying and man-injuring (warriors).

Let one make peace (unimpaired) by them for the settling communities, and let that ill come over them which, by the fetter of death, is the greatest one, and let that he soon.

53.8. Lasst die von schlechtem Omen der Forur durch diese (Wahrhatien) unterworfen

und lasst sie alle in lächerlicher Weise aufheulen.

und iasst sie die in iacheritener weise aufneuen, (misshandelt) von den guten Herrschern unter den Männer tötenden und Männer verletzenden (Kriegern).

Durch diese soll man den sesshaften Gemeinden Frieden (unbeeinträchtigt) von ihnen schaffen.

und durch die Fessel des Todes soll die größte Not über sie kommen, und bald soll das sein.

53,9. dužvaranāiš vaēšo rāstī toi narapīš rajīš aēšasā dōiit.aratā pašo.tanuvo

gewähren wirst.

kū ašavā ahuro və iš įvatauš həmi@yat vasə.itoišca

tat mazdā tavā xša9rəm yā ərəžəjyoi dahī drigaovē vahyō

53,9. By/over the disbelieving venom flows; they (mean) waning (and) darkness, greedy violators of truth of forfeited bodies.

Where is the truthful Lord who would deprive them of their livelihood and their freedom of movement?

It is your power, O Wise One, through which you will grant what is better to the poor person living decently.

53,9. Durch/über die Falschgläubigen fließt Gift; sie (bedeuten) Verfall (und) Dunkel, habgierige Schänder des Wahrseins von verwirkten Leibern.

Wo ist der wahrhafte Herr, der sie ihres Lebensunterhalts und ihrer Bewegungsfreiheit berauben würde? Deine Macht ist es. o Weiser, durch die Du dem recht lebenden Armen das Bessere

## Yasna 54.1. Conclusion

# Ā Airvāmā Īshivō (= Airvaman Īshiva)

54,1. a airyama išiyo rafaôrai jantu narabyasca nairibyasca zaraθuštrahē vaghāuš rafaôrāi managhō yā daēnā vairīm hanāţ mīždəm ašahyā yāsā ašim yam išiyam ahurō masatā mazdā

54,1. Let the tribe provided with invigorations come to the support of the men and women of Zarathushtra,

to the support of good thought by the view/religion by which one will win a desirable prize.

I request the invigorating reward of truth, which (to accord) the Wise Lord will be delighted.

54,1. Lasst den Stamm mit Erfrischungen verschen den M\u00e4nnern und Frauen Zarathushtras zur Unterst\u00fctzung kommen.

zur Unterstützung des guten Gedankens durch die Anschauung/Religion, durch die einer einen begehrenswerten Preis verdienen wird.

leh bitte um die erfrischende Belohnung des Wahrseins, an dessen (Gewährung) sich der Weise Herr erfreuen wird.

165

# C. Notes

These notes mainly consist of additions to those in H. Humbach. Gothas 1991. Part 2 to which we refer the reader.

## General Remarks

1. In the text established and in the discussion of its readings square brackets [ ] indicate deletions, pointed brackets ( ) restorations. The respective authors are denoted by the following sigla:

- B = Christian Bartholomae 1904
- G Karl Friedrich Geldner 1886, 1889, 1896
- HF Helmut Humbach and Klaus Faiss in the present work
- HH = Helmut Humbach 1991
- KH = Karl Hoffmann 1975, 1976, 1992.
- KP = Jean Kellens and Eric Pirart 1988, 1990, 1991
- SI = Stanley Insler 1975

NH stands for readings and translations of the Yasna Haptanuhäiti by Johanna Narten 1986 rendered into English and expanded by Almut Hintze 2007.

Cf. "Select Literature."

The numbers pertain to the chapters of the Yasna in Part B.

- 2. Heavy corruptions are to be found in: 29.8 dvai (G) read «diodvai (HF); 32.7 va iova (G) read yā casjōyā (HF); 32,14 ahyā grāhmō (G) read ahyā grāhmōng» (HF); ibid. mraoi (G) read mravoi (HF): 36.2 urvāzištahvā urvāzivā read urvāzištahvā urvāzasvā (HH); 43,2 9βā cīcīθβā (G) read θβā ciciθβά» (HF); 43,14 azə (B, azəm G) read az eb (HF); 44,18 apivaitī read apienvaitī (HF); 46,1 hācā naēdā read hācā nē naēdā (HF); 46,14 minaš read minacs (HF); 47,3 tā read costā (HF); 48,1 asašutā read asašfultā (HF); 48,10 ajān read aczoin (HF); 50,7 azā9ā read czoazā9ā (HF); 51,22 nāmānīš read nāmāni[š] (HF); 53,4 bāaduš read bāmduš (HF); 53,6 spašu9ā read spašmu9ā and more in 53.
- 3. Parasitic consonants: 33,1 ratul\$1 \$vao9an\$ (HH); ibid, h5m.fmlvāsaitē (HF); 40,1=41.5 mīždəm [mlavaē9əm (IIII): 43,1 gaft.ltōi (B): 44,8 agəmaft.lta (B): 44,20 him [m]azōn (HF); 48,12 aĕšəm[.m]ahyā (B); 51,10 ga/t.lte (B); 53,3 paitivāstī[m] mananhō (HH). - Reduction of geminates: 28,4 mān (g) gairē.
- 4. By-forms of nouns preferred for metrical reasons: 32.12 išanam for expected gen.pl. išananam: 34,11 vidvaešam for expected gen.pl. vidvaešanham: 43,13 vairivā (stōiš) for expected gen.sg.f. vairiyayâ (stōiš); 48,5 (yaoždâ) mašiyāi for expected dat.sg. (yaoždâ) mašiyayāi.
- Side-stems of nouns: 40.4 x'aetuš nom.acc.pl. of x'aetuš- n., replacing the nom.pl. of x'aētu- f.; 43.7 tanuši(-cā) loc.sg. of tanuš-, replacing the loc.sg. of tanū- f. - Note also 50,6 hizvo nom.acc.sg, of hizvah-n, 'tongue' beside hizu-/hizva-f,

6. Whereas the noun vasna- can always be rendered as 'sacrifice,' the verb vaz as 'to sacrifice' poses difficulties not only for syntactic reasons, wherefore we have decided to favor 'to celebrate' with the exception of 33,4 yazāi apā 'to keep off by sacrificing,' 34.6 vá vazamnascá ... stavas 'sacrificina to you and praising you.' 50.4 at vá vazái stavas 'I will sacrifice to you praising (you).'

7. Sometimes mazdā cannot be rendered as part of Ahura Mazdā's name but must probably be understood as predicative complement of abura- 'Lord': 43.6 inso mazda xša9rā; 45,5 vanhāuš mainvāuš švao9anāiš mazdā ahuro; 45,7 taca xša9ra mazdā damiš ahurō: 45.9 mazdā xša9rā varozi nā dvāt ahurō: 47.1 mazdā xša9rā ārmaitī ahurō: 51.6 alturo xăa9ră mazdă. At least in some of these instances it makes sense to translate mazdá as 'mindful (of).'

## Yasna 27,13-15

27,13. (1) In the mystical language of the Gäthäs (and in its Young Avestan reinterpretations) the noun anhu- m. is attested in two diverging meanings, viz. anhu-'world/existence/life' (cf. Ved.Skt. ásu- 'life') and 'anhu- 'patron.' It is possible that the two are of the same origin - the noun ahura- 'lord' might derive from either -, but in practice the translator has to decide for the one or for the other. In his 1991 translation of Y. 27.13 and its parallel 29,6 Humbach decided for 'anhu-'world,' virtually extending its meaning to 'public/mankind,' which enabled him to translate both stanzas in a grammatically correct way:

Y. 27.13 va 9ā ahū vairivo a 9ā ratuš ašātcīt hacā

'iust as it is worth choosing by the world so (is) the judgment in accordance with truth itself' or, in connection with the subsequent line.

- Y. 27.13 va9a abū vairivo a9a ratuš ašāteit hacā
- vanhouš dazdā mananhō švao 9 onanam anhouš mazdai
- 'just as He/it is worth choosing by the world so the judgment (to be passed) in accordance with truth itself

on the actions of the good thought of the world is committed to the Wise One.'

#### Accordingly.

- Y. 29.6 nőit aéva ahú vistő naéda ratuš ašatcit haca
- 'no (judgment) has been found by the world, no judgment in accordance with truth itself.'
- (2) Yet, this procedure was not very convincing as its rather unspecific result disagreed too much with the Young Avestan reinterpretations of the two occurrences in question which understand the instr.se, ahū as equivalent to the nom.sg. (correctly anhus), coordinating it with the nom.sg. ratus and translating the two as 'patron (and) judge' in reference to Zarathushtra and/or Ahura Mazda. Most instructive in this respect is
  - Yt. 13.91 ahu ratušca gaē9anam
- '(Zarathushtra.) patron and judge of the worldly possessions/world'
- with the instr.sg. ahu used as nom.sg. Less typical is Vid. 2.43 aēšam anhuca/anhušca ratušca ... urvatat narō ... tūmca vō zara9uštrō

'their patron and judge (is) Urvatatnara and you, Zarathushtra'

where the reading aphuca (G) could be the result of phonetic dissimilation in the ritual pronunciation. See furthermore

2".1 ahāna a ratizma y im aburam marafam "Ahura Mardii, patron and judg

- Y. 19,12 yaf dim ahûmca ratumca adadat
- 'when they appointed him, (Zarathushtra, as) patron and judge'
- Visp. 2,4 ahurəm məzdəm ... mainyayá stöiš ahümca ratum ca ... zaraðuštrəm spitāməm ... gaēðyayá stöiš ahümca ratumca
- 'Ahura Mazda, the patron and judge of the spiritual world/existence, Zarathushtra, the patron and judge of the material world/existence.'
- (3) The noun ratu-m. can mean 'judge' and 'judgment,' but in contrast with the above reinterpretations as 'judge' the context of 27,13 makes 'judgment' unworldshet. The meaning 'judge' is moreover disproved by Young Avestan Yt. 19,12.90 where the description of the final renovation of the world is concluded with the sequence 38d ratis' 'solouch is the judgment' (with the Old Avestan spelling a8d for YAv. a8a in all manuscripts), thus showing that a8d ratis (a8a;ic) hand) 'thus (is the judgment in accordance with truth itself' is a legal formula which is expanded to a complicated syntactic structure in 27,13.
- (4) As for ahū, however, we admit now that the reinterpretation of the instr.sg, ahū as non.sg, may have taken place as early as in the (ungrammatical) syntagma ahū vaitiyō 'patron worth choosing' of the present stanza:
  - Y. 27,13 yaðā ahū vairiyō aðā ratuš ašāţcīţ hacā
  - vayhāuš dazdā manaŋhō Śyao9ənanam aŋhɔuš mazdāi
- 'Since (He is) the patron worth choosing therefore the judgment (to be passed) in accordance with truth itself
- on the actions of good thought of the world is committed to the Wise One.'
- (5) We suppose that the ungrammatical use of the instr.sg. as nom.sg. in the set ahū ... ratūs is due to a mechanical reinterpretation of Y. 29,6 where ahū can easily be taken in its orieinal function as instr.se.:
  - Y. 29,6 at 5 vaocat ahurō mazdā ...
  - nőit uévá uhú vistő naédá ratuš ašátcīt haca
  - at zi θβā fšuyaņtaēcā vāstriyāicā θβōrəštā tatašā
  - 'Thereupon the Wise Lord ..... speaks: No (judgment) has been found indeed by the Patron, no judgment in accordance with truth itself (is suitable).
  - For the shaper has fashioned you for the cattle-breeding herdsman."
- If we are right, the reinterpretation of the instr.sg. as nom.sg. in the Old Avestan Y. 27,13 gives evidence of an early tendency of the ritual language to develop an independent life, a tendency of which the Young Avestan texts offer a number of plain examples. Even Old Avestan was no virgin language at the time of Zasathushtra.

- 27,14. (1) Whereas vohu vahištam 'the best/highest good/possession' refers to truth as a moral quality, the subsequent sisi vahištai' denotes the divinity Asha Vahishta 'Best Truth' who is in possession at will of that moral quality (A.18.1). With its magical play of anspicious words the 'Asham Vohit formula is a serificial sedlo or, in Sanskrit terms.
- a manta. (2) By case attraction the relative construction almain logal axis valustars stands for almain logal axis valustars with the mode (ii) Best Truth. In such relative constructions the rel.picl. logal regularly replaces the disyllabic forms of the rel.pron. yas. Cf. disyllabic almain in almain ... logal axis valustari vs. monosyllabic farm in Y. 45,8 fam... yim maxim almain thin, the Wise Lord.\*
- 27,15. The Yenghë Hätäm is a mantra in Young Avestan whose language was artificially archaized by lengthening the final short vowels (A.6.5). Its text is quite artlessly derived from that of V. 5.1.2.2 or from a lost passage of a similar type.

#### Vasna 28

28.1. (1) abvā 'his/of this/of that' anticipates mainvāuš 'of the spirit.' thus raising the tension of the listeners in a way similar to that in Y. 32.1 ahva ... ahurahva ... mazdá. but for the rest the syntactic structure is ambiguous as it happens to be in numerous Gāthā stanzas. - (2) paourvim is either adv. ('I first request') or acc.sg.n. ('I request the prime of the spirit'). - (3) The acc.pl.m. vispang means 'all (divinities),' cf. Y. 31,2 va vīspāng 'all of you,' or it is qualified by the attribute mainyāuš ... spaṇṭahyā 'all (beings) of the beneficent spirit.' (4) \$vao9anā can be acc.pl. '(I request) actions (of the spirit),' or it is instr.sg. '(I request) by the action,' - (5) The antecedent of the instr.sg. va 'by/through which' is the gen.sg. ahva ... mainyous 'of that spirit by which' or the instr.sq. \$vao8anā 'by the action on account of which.' - (6) rafəòra-, elsewhere found as an abstract noun 'support,' seems to stand metonymically as agent noun 'supporter,' cf. the same suffix in the agent noun vazdra-'driver' (vs. the consonant stem Ved.Skt. vódhar-). - (7) vanhāuš xrahīm mananhō ... gāušca unuvanam 'the intellect of good thought and the soul of the cow' can be taken metonymically for 'the man/myself and the cow," the cow either being the sacrificial animal or the animal(s) promised to the prophet as sacrificial fee, see Y. 29,5 ma uruva gausca azvá 'my soul and (that) of the fertile cow."

- 28.2. (1) alwa/d astralasca inya/ca manapho 'ayapta' the blessings of both existences, the ossessus one and that of thougha, i.e., 'bodily and mental/spiritual welfare.' (2) The relative construction hya/ca manapho' and of that of good thought' stands for ahya/ca yo manapho. (3) a8th late's in accordance with truth' does not mean 'on account of (my) piety, 'but' justly,' bere' in agreement with the promise given me.'
- 28,3. (1) vi aji. ... manasci volta ... macdanca ahuram 'you, O Truth, and Good Thought, and the Wise One' is an extended variation of the figure vi mazdi ajamaci 'you, O Wise One, and Truth.' (2) apaourim adv. 'in a new way' is a traditional expression emphasizing the originality of the poot (cf. Ved.Skt. ápārviya-'unprecedented' of ritual songs). The compositional nexus of apaourim with 28,1 paourim seems to be superficial. (3) The superfluous -ca' and' in yaichyo xjadiramca' (those) for whom right-mindedoes increases) power' may be mechanically borrowed.

from a set of the type aṣ̄əm vohucā manō xṣ̄uðṛamca attested in Y. 29,11 and undoubtedly repeated many times in the ritual and religious literature of the time.

28.4. Read manage gaine (HH) for simplified man gaine (G), the character n being restricted to internal position, cf. the adv. mang in Y. 48.2 ya mang parable the penalty (I have) in mind.

28,5. (1) In our translation maxistam 'greatest' is taken as attribute of sarancism 'heating/hobeliere' (cf. v. 33.5 v/gshamazitum senzosam). Yet 'greatest' could also be understood as an attribute of Ahura Marsla (cf. Young Avestam Y. 19,12), which, however, would increase the difficulties with the hemistich vaturolimatid saxfasta hizarox. — (2) It is quite difficult to find an appropriate renetting of valurionalid that would apply to the two further instances of the verbal stem valura-as well (Y. 31,3 valuraya, 47/6 vauratide). The etymological connection with Phl. watva, NP. Baivard 'Plo. watardis, Ph. The etymological connection with Phl. watva, NP. Baivard 'belief/confidence,' might suggest to believe' (not 'to cause to believe'), but comparison of all three instances of valura- rather results in 'to test' (cf. YAv. varadr-'ordeal').— (3) It must be left open to discussion whether the ntr. xrafstat' noxious beings' is accept, or voc.pl., although it haddly refers here to noxious animals such as sankes and insects as xrafstar- does in the Young Avestan Videvidal. In the present situation the unanspicious word could be one of the few upostrophes of laymen found in the Gätthas who, net 'this stage of the development of the song, may be called xrafsta' in the sense of 'simulate their openhandedness.

28,6. On the second hemistich which comprises ten syllables see A.n. 22.

28,11. (1) aphas pacuraryo means 'first existence' or 'fortenost existence'. In our view the phrase is deliberately ambiguous, referring to the songs by which Ahura Mazda created the world and which the prophet wants to learn from him in order to restore by them the first existence or, with \$1\$, to establish the foremost existence. — (2) In agreement with the customs of the sorribes of our manuscripts the transmitted havay (banual) 'was' could easily stand for bavaj (banual) 'wail be, 'for which reason further discussion on what is meant by the vet is rather useless. We just note that bavay is translated as a preterit by PhIT. & andar aswan findom bad '(that) which was the first in the world.' — (3) We think that the prophet, on the macrocosmic level, realls both creation and salvation of the world whereas on the microcosmic level he alludes to the salutary and beneficial effects of the scarifice he is reforming.

## Yasna 29

29.1. (1) which ower authors follow the PalT: setting the scene of the song in the mythical policy and the property of the property is contained by the verbal form paint/mmay it will answer, it contained the property in the property of the train of thought of the song in which the decirtiful are binned for not to speaker if the strainfield animal of a situally incorrect and even cruel way (A.s. 37). The animal is too be put under the propert's protection, be it to increase the priest's movesth and influence, or be it to be correctly scarfied by him. (2) The term gask untrans-'soul of the cow' function inclustes between metonymical use as 'the cow/acrificial minima' will differ meaning' the soul of the cow's functional and in the visible, as we suppose, wants to unite with Ahura Mazdla. –(3) One of the technical tricks with which the pote effects the obviously enigmatic character of this song is the use of the plant. x3mathya\* to you, "which can be taken as the polite form of addressing Ahura Mazdda in his further distinct function is support (20pt-attain) and flashoner crision; of the cow, and, at the same time, as an address to his divine functions personalitied as divine persons.

29.2. (1) kn0a toi ... ratus' what about your judgment,' lit. 'of which kind (is) your judgment,' see 27,13 on a0d ratus' 'so/such (is) the judgment' and cf. V. 29,6 macds ratus distiget them 'no judgment in accordance with truth.' (2) him data is 3.8g. med. 'takes (cure of) her' (not' establishes for her'); the acc sg.f. him (not dat sg.f.) takes up savio\_ (-3) vastis is instr.see of vastar. 'forage' rather than of vastar-'schepherd.'

29,3. sarajan- 'wall-breaking' is a warlike term of the same type as Y. 44,16 vara9ram.jan- 'victorious' (lit. 'breaking resistance') with which it agrees in forming the nomas, in -id for extracted -id).

29.4. ci9īt = cit-īt, not 3.sg.opt.aor, of root ci9 as held by HH.

29.5. ahvā in ustānāis ahvā zastāiš is no verb ('we two were') but instr.sg. of the noun ahvā 'energy, fervor' (YAv. aŋhvā-, PhIT. axwih). Its instrumental ending ā is as monosyllabic as that of the instr.sg. daena in, e.g., Y. 45,11 dāng patōiš spaṇtā daēnā 'by the beneficent view of the landlord.'

29.6. (1) notif — afto vision needed natus 'no (judgment is) found by the Patron, no judgment (is suitable)' with afto acrectly as instrag, and with ratus as 'judgment, see on 27,13 where, according to us, afto is used as an ungrammatical normage. — (2) Note that salgicif hach 'in accordance with truth itself' emphasizes not the truthfulness of an eteromeously) presupposed judge (natus) but the absolute correctness and authoritativeness of the expected judgment (natus). — (3) We think that with aft by the patron' Alturn Mazed in an artificially exalled style peaks of himself: "by the patron" by myself.' — (4) The phrase Buyanatea vistripates for the cattle-breeding herdsman, lit. for the cattle-breeding herdsman, but for the cattle-breeding herdsman, but store and the herdsman, is calaborated from the common set vistriya. Buyanat- by artificial dissociation and inversion of the two members and by addition of -ci to each of them, for which cf. 301, stantaces \_yearingiate. — (5) plan.

\*\*Jlocation of the two members and by addition of -ci to each of them, for which cf. 301, stantaces \_yearingiate. — (5) plan.

\*\*Jlocation of the two members and by addition of -ci to each of them, for which cf. 301, stantaces \_yearingiate. — (5) plan.

\*\*Jlocation of the two members and by addition of -ci to each of them, for which cf. 301, stantaces \_yearingiate. — (5) plan.

29.8. (1) A list of the figures of speech of the type "You and Trath" is given in HH 1, 101; these mainly occur with the 2" berson in the ace, 1" you and Trath" (as in Y. 49.6 vi ... maxdia aṣamca) and in the dat.pl. "to you and Trath" (as in Y. 33.6 vo maxdia ... aślicio), i.e., in passages where the plur. "you" can be interpreted as the well-known polite variant of the sing, 10½ to you" (as in Y. 34.5 ti... aharda ... aślicio). Not enough attention was paid to the variant of the figure with the 1" person plur. To us, O Wise Onc, and to Truth" (as maxdia ... ajacia) found in the present straza. In regard of what we said above about ahir in 29.6, the conclusion must be that Ahura Mazdis with this variant of the figure of speech in ourseits no slownly addresses shimself ("to U.S.).

Thereby, no less than by the partial transformation of Ahura Mazdâ's functions as shaper (Y. 29,6 8βαrsAiar-) and fushioner (Y. 29,2 usan-) into individual divine persons (cf. 29,1), the prophet deliberately encoded and mystified his song on the complaint of the cow. 12) We repost that hadams-does not mean "sweetness" but rather

shapeliness beauty and that standard-does not mean 'voice' but 'speech organ mouth' (cf. Skt. vaktra-'mouth'). [Add the obscure FrW. 9,2 humman raiti humble whose YAV. humma-continues OAV. hudmn-s]—(3) Read dindyal' (difidili)\*) In any perceive' for the unexplained verbal form dyal/dyal' (difid) which is the result of haplology or haplography in the suburchetype (A.6.1).

29.9. (1) The difficult syntax of yā... xsɨgnmänö '(woe is me) who must content myself' seems to indicate the despair of the cow. — (2) We leave open whether rɨdəm is a noun or a werb.

29.11. (1) mašā is instr.se., or nom.acc.du., or nom.voc.pl. of maša- 'mortal/man' (< márta-), a doublet of its synonym marota- (< martá-) attested in Y. 29.7, 45.5, 46.13 and the exact equivalent of Ved.Skt. márta- 'id.' - (2) Comparison of at mā in at mā mušā, which certainly triggers off a new sentence, with the same in Y. 49,1 at ma yava bandyō nafre mazištō suggests that mā is not the ners prop. mā 'me' but the ntcl. mā. (3) The only possible accobi, of the 2.pl.impy, paiti.zānatā 'accept' is, therefore, mašā 'the two mortals,' a conclusion which compels us to count with an elliptic dual 'the mortal and his companion,' i.e., 'myself, the prophet, and the cow' (cf. the elliptic dual Ved.Skt. mitra 'the two Mitras' = 'Mitra and Varuna'). - (4) The use of the elliptic dual 'the two mortals' for 'the mortal one and the cow' looks adventurous, though in principle it is not different from the picture drawn in Y. 29,5 where both the (soul of the) prophet and (that of) the cow are described as devoting themselves with hands stretched out to Ahura Mazdā. - (5) In the present context the elliptic dual maṣā alludes to the twofold sacrifice offered Ahura Mazda by the prophet, i.e., the metaphorical sacrifice of his own person and the bloody sacrifice of the animal. This twofoldness is expressed in other form in Y. 28,1 vanhouš xratum mananho ... goušcă uruvanom 'the intellect of good thought and the soul of the cow."

## Yasna 30

30.1. (1) \$\text{state}^{1}\$ O you approaching ones' addresses Ahura Mazdii (including or not the other divinities), see Y. 4.5.) \$\text{state}^{2}\$ user'd assign yac'd \$\text{state}^{2}\$ user'd \$\tex

35,5, 40,1 ahmat hyat aibī, and the rel.adv. yāṭ 'since' in YH 36,6 barəzištəm barəzəmanam ... yāṭ huvarā avācī.

30.3. (1) Line b manified varahied. Sono-Santo hi valvo actomes both thoughes and both sonis both because the vare good and the or loves he are deconstructed separates it into two hemistichs of 8 + 8 syllables. Except for this detail, the line is correctly rendered by HIT. menist out gowless and kunisa ha i harv do ke wich ad ke-iz watar. (2) In contrast to this the modern translators persistently clips to 'the better and the evil in (1) thought/thinking, in word/speaking, and in decelection,' counting with a manner of expression which is nowhere tells found in the Avesta. Unawares they thereby follow Neriosangh's SkiV. (A.10) manusicar vacasica karmunica tat drivingum, in which the Avestan norudu. in el-i-ca) is helpesly rendered as a loces, in i.-f. (3). Once more we draw attention to RV. 7.104.12 sec edsacca vicasi psayddate siyos yat sixyam' both words, the true one and the false one, fally with each other; the true one of whose two ..., 'which shows a notable similarity to V. 30.3 along with ayai noil ared systate following in V. 30.6.

30.5. (1) The expression minipu-dragrapit 'the deceifful spirit,' which underlies and mainine' in Jod dragdy the deceifful one of these two (spirits),' is a more or less poetical variant of aggra-maininy—'Abriman/harmful spirit. 'This is attested in Y. 45.2 and alluded to in Y. 44.12, whereas Y. 32.5 has ake mainpur, evil spirit.' C) halipsyllas' §juoOmailis' with real/realizing actions' does not simply mean with pious actions,' but has the same jurided (and maip); component as Y. 50.1 hais@wardia-"realization.'

30,6. maratano is nom.pl. of maratan- 'man/human' like in Y. 32,12 (it is not to be confounded with the gen.sg. mara@no well-attested in Young Avestan!).

30.7. (1) alimāt either refers back to aglinās 'world'existence' or it is strongly deictic 'this onew'he present one,' be it the prophet be it his sponsor. – (2) ae8gm...ayaghā datānās 'through their allotments (by the ordeal) with glowing metal'; thus if the meaning of addran- is similar to that of ādd- 'sapportioument,' otherwise āddīna- is to be connected with Ved. Std. addran- bindimel'etterine.'

30,8. Here kaênā apparently means 'penalty (in head of cattle).' yadā ... kaenā jimaitī '(when) the penalty has arrived' (nom.sg.) or '(when) one has arrived with the penalty' (instr.sg.).

30,9. The meaning of maeθa-, a derivation of root miθ 'gather' (see 46,14 on minacs) is problematic. Here and in Y. 31,12 yaθrā maeθā we translate maeθa- as 'partner,' but this neither works in Y. 33,9 maeθā mayā 'facing me' nor in Y. 34,6 ahya aŋhauś viṣpā maeθā 'throughout all vicistindes of this existence.'

30,10. (1) asitis (yaojante) is incorrect for asitis (yaojante) the swiftest (steeds) will be yaojante) when the swiftest (yaojante) who was the swift (steeds). The picture is horrored from chariot-neing. – (2) yaojant asi "yokes the swift (steeds). The picture is horrored from chariot-neing. – (2) wazanti yaqibus and the swift (steeds). The picture is horrored from chariot-neing. – (2) be the first at the prize promised to the winner — "they will win the prize," cf. Y.H. 41,4.

\*\*gartha-cd. Y. 20,7 coardible.\*\* 30,11. (1) For saskn3n (G) read sas6n3n (KH), cf. 53,1 on sas6n3nct. – (2) With the voc.pl. masfyi3ŋbo 'O mortals' the human participants are apostrophized in the final stanza to remind them of their obligation. The prophet seems to suggest to the public that he is suntime words socken by Alvard Macdil.

#### Yasna 31

31,1. aguisti vaci may mean 'unheard words' = 'words not yet heard' or 'words not to the heard'. The former follows the general opinion, yet the latter agrees with starca 18 at the heard. The former follows the general opinion, yet the latter agrees with starca 18 at the ma.c.is at vs drayvato majoraso gaitst assnakes? Het no (adherent) of the deceitful one hear your mantass and teachings, for which of Young Avestam Yt, 40 abstom majorano main fundassayo anys in. The vs. and the majora vs. and vs.

31,2. The reading urvane 'to attain' seems to be inexact for urvane with short internal a whose lengthening may be due to perseveration of the preceding urvata Y. 31,1. If initial urv is equivalent to internal aurv, it could come from rv (root ar).

31,3. (1) On ranoibya 'balance' and the ordeal see A.37. – (2) Read cazdophvadabyo (HF) for hybrid cazdopphvadabyo (G) which is influenced by the variant spelling cazdopphva latested in cazdopphvatam Y, 44,5.

31.4. yadā ašam zavīm aŋhon mazdāscā ahudajhō 'when the Wise One and the other Lords will be present as truth (= in the form of material truth) worth calling for.' Not 'when truth is to be called for and (when) the Wise One and the other Lords (are to be called for).'

31,7. (1) If damit is the nomag, of the noun dami-builderestablisher (of which depmin in Y, 31,8 is the acc.sg.), then it dominates the acc. sgam in verbal government, yet it is possible as well that damit is the 3.sg.inj. s-aor. of the underlying verbal root dam buildestablish. The same problem is found in Y. 45,7. – (2) See also 31,13 on hitrs.

31,9. (1) In as simuliti there is no doubt about as being incorrect for ās 'was,' a rare opportunity to ensure the past sense of a verbal action in the Gätthäs. – (2) However, the subsequent as xratus (= asxxatus) is likely to be wrong for a-as-xratus' of high intelligence '(KP), cf. the superlative YAv. asxxa@sastrusa-. Similarly asd.i8ti- in Y. 344, 449, less likely ask.adajab. in Y. 348.

31,11. (1) ya8nā varanāng vasā dāyetē 'at which one takes his choices (and forms) his wishes' ('takes,' not 'expresses,' in regard of the medium voice of the verb') or 'at which the wishes form their choices.' – (2) The stem dāya- may have originally been the causative stem of root da (vs. Ved. Skt. dāspaya-).

31,12. On deceitful persons calling upon Ahura Mazdā see A.22.6.

31,13. In to ... haro 'retaining that' (lit. 'these things') the adj. haro dominates the acc.ol.p. to in verbal government. cf. Y. 44.2 irixtam ... haro 'retaining the outcome.'

31,17. (1) For voranvaite (6) read varana-avaite (HH), cf. OP, vgnavatim 'shall coursince. The development of OIr, vgnava: to convince to The lawaropsistan or warrawstan 'to believe' < 'to have been convinced' is noteworthy. – (2) With a theoretical question Abara Manda II is not not inguant the propher's describit rival who must be stopped trying to exercise influence on the deity by performing his own program.

31,18. In mā.ciš aţ vò dragvatô ¹let no (adiperent) of the deceitful one' the enclitic pron. vö is not a partitive genitive '(anyone) of you' but an attribute of mgôtgocā... sisnāsca 'your mantras and teachings.' These are a secret knowledge of which the prophet's rival must not gain possession (A.22.6). See also 31,1 on aguštā vacd.

31,19. (1) golds is 3.sg. aor.med. as it is in the preceding stanza (not 2.pt.impv.act. of the verb which is always used in the medium!). – (2) By ahian.bis 'the healer of the existence/world' the prophet refers to himself. – (3) On ranaya' '(result) of the balance' and the ordeal see A.37.

31.20. (1) If Aya frepresents 4-aya (5.3g. subj.), then the hemistich has eight syllables instead of seven - (2) The stams is deliberately antigeous. All first glance it seems that the prophet speaks of a convert coming over to the truthful from his community (cf. Y. 46.5 ayantam. 46.6 aiya)t, who will be avarded for his conversion with paradissical aplendor (divanusan) and, thus, will escape the hellish punishment to be expected by the decelful. Yet, at the same time, the stancar can be interpreted as pertaining to a priest who approaches a ruthful person hoping to be well-received by him and to be currosted with approaches a ruthful person hoping to be well-received by him and to be currosted with performing searchices, see Young Avestan Vyt. 59 naturance algramam luxisuriand annalaça isaxutum dizialgas "assistying the truthful man who comes from near or far." On the basis of this alternative interpretation the paradissical splendor promised to him stands's as portical exaggeration (hyperbole) for the comfortable life expected by him in the house of his lost (cf. the similar exaggerations in Y. 34, 5, 44,18). More than the former, the latter interpretation is suggested by the apostrophe of the participants in the sacrifice as "Gouj deceiful", by which the prophet, close to the end of the song, reminds his still hesitality hearers of the promised remuneration (A,22.6).

31,22. For yadana (G) read yadana (S)). This is not to be connected with Skt. yanaveffort," as SI proposes, but it consists of yada-na where yada is a sandhi form of the relpron./relptcl. hyat (YAv. yag. Skt. yad) followed by the enclitic ptcl. -na (ss in cilibna Y. 4.4,20). Whereas the original initial y is preserved in yada-na (on which see also 52, 2.4,10), the basic form yaf is replaced by the strange spelling hyaf in all its other Old Avextan instances.

## Yasna 32

32.1. (1) The Daévas are besieging the sacrifice, trying to get hold of the offering. The prophet meekingly addresses them, assuring them in the end that his own people (family, community, and trieb) are expecting the arrival of Ahara Mazdā. (2) The hemistich ahyà daévà mahmi manôi has eight instead of seven syllables, which, however, is no reason for shortening manôi to nigmatic manôi. For the correct reading time of the properties of the correct reading time of the properties of the prope

manoi cf. Young Avestan N. 33 zonto gabă fraszwayoig ... zanabustri manu 'the officiating priest should recite the Găthisi in Zarathushtrian presentation,' as pointed out by Humbach is early as in 1999. (3) On dita: "household" see A.12.3.1. (4) dianyo is an erroscori spelling for admire you spin upon' from nost dar 'spill' ref. Ved St. danyo." (a) The error being due to confusion with the current daryon-"hold on toluphold" (but not 'hold off' as the form is usually translated here by the scholarly tradition).

- 32,2. sārsmnō vohā manaŋhā 'allied with good thought,' cf. Y. 49,5 dačnam vohā straštā manaŋhā 'allies his view/view-soul with good thought' and note (in addition to A.12.3.2) that the noun sar-with gentitive means 'shelter (of)' (as in Y.14.35,8, Y. 49,8), with instrumental 'alliance (with)' (as in Y. 49,9) < 'mutual shelter(inp.')'
- 32,3. After having informed his public about Ahura Mazda's positive reply in the preceding stanza, the prophet abuses the Daëvas in order to chase them and to open the way to the offering for Ahura Mazdá (A.S.II).
- 32.4. acištā dantō 'producing (not doing!) the worst (thoughts, words, actions).'
- 32,5. In coordination with akasca mainyus the phrase aka syaosanam vacanha 'the action (inspired) by evil word' is a clear instance of adnominal use of the instrumental case.

32,6. Read pourun aenā 'the many outrages' (G) against pouru aenā (mss.). The scribe of the subarchetype had erroneously started writing pouruuaenā 'the person of many outrages' and stopped too late.

- 32.7. (1) hádróya \*explicitly/straight either is loc.sg. (= hádrói.ā) of a noun hádrá-straight (simitar to Ved.Sts. xádha-i.dl.) or an adverto fi the same type as Ved.Sts. sádhayd 'rightly/duly.' (2) For ya Joya (G), whose hemistich has one syllable too few, read ya anjoya (HF). The spelling '89a' for expected '9ya' or '9ya may be due to perseveration of the preceding hádróya. The reconstructed anjoya seems to mean 'imperishable' in the sense of 'irremissible/unforgivable,' cf. 'Axv. ajavama-/'aiavama-'imerishable' sid of harvasta: and amazett. 'enectra and ambrosia.'
- 32.8. On Yima and the very short allusion to his crime see A.13.2-3.
- 32,10. The clause yā acistam vaēnaijhē aogadā gam 'who professes what is the worst in order to see the cow' shows an interlaced word order ('who ... worst ... to see ... ronfesses ... the cow'). which would be impossible unless the clause was unmistakable.
- 32,11. For aghuvišcā aghuvascā (G) read ag'hišcā aghavascā (HH) 'patronesses and patrons' and see A.33.2 on the order female male of the genders.
- 32,12-14. Read grāhm° (B) for garahm° (G) and see A.27.2-7, 29.3.
- 32,12. (1) In our view urvāxī is 2.sg.impv./inj. s-aor. from root urvaj/vraj 'move/ procecd' (Ved.Skt. vraj); the form of the imperative agrees with that of the injunctive as it does in the case of dif from root da. – (2) The gen.pl. išanam 'of those who have sought for themselves' is a handlopical by-form of the expected gen.pl. išananam of

išāna- ptcpl.perf.med. of root iš. Similarly YAv. raonam for \*raonanam from raona-(not ravan-!) 'slope/rock face' (> Phl. rön 'direction/side,' bērön 'outside').

32,13. Instead of the 3.sg. hisasat the nom.pl. maraxistro 'destrovers' would require the left of the verb. It is not impossible that hisasat is corrupted from an athematic 3 pl. hisat (cf. the athematic press ptepl. hisat-in Y. 45,4 vispā.hisas), or that inhomogeneous elements taken from other texts were injured together by the author.

- 32,14. (1) Read ahyā grāhmango (HF) for ahya grāhmā (G). (2) Read mraīvā (HF) for mmaī (G). The scribe of the subarchetype inattentively started writing the most common verb mraof 'speaks/spoke,' but he became aware of his mistake after mrao and tried to correct the word as far as still possible. (3) saccayat 'inflames' see A.29.
- 32,15. toi abya bairyánte 'they will be brought to those two,' or better 'they will be cared for by those two,' with bairyánte short for hubarath bairyánte,' lit. 'they will be treated/kept (as) well-rested/kept ones.' Cf. Young Avestan expressions such as Yt. 13,18 yo as his hubarath bairg' the man who treats/keeps them (= the Fravashis) well.'
- 32,16. aŋhayā is incorrect for âŋhayā 'in sight,' cf. Ved.Skt. āsayā 'before one's eyes/ immediately.'

# Yasna 33

- 33,1. (1) For ratiis šyao9anā (G) read ratū[s] šyao9anā (HH) with parasitic š-sound. (In the pronunciation of the later tradition šššš were no longer phonetically distinguished.)
- (2) The underlying instrs, g. am? by the judge? is the otherwise missing agent of the verb variabile 'shall be applied.' (3) In principle the parasitic 'shall be applied.' (3) In principle the parasitic 's of ratio[8] is not much different from the parasitic m in the subsequent him.lm/jubasite (IIF) 'taken together' offset (against)' as we read with the less (1) relevant manuscripts for the graphically irrevular hammavskatte (G).
- 33,3. vīdas ... θβακšaŋhā gavõi 'zealously caring for the cow' is specifically said of the wandering priest who may come from another sub-tribe or, even, from another tribe.
- 33.5. In drango/jyailim ... xisabram the enting -im (acc.sgm.1) stands for expected -i (acc.sgm.1) in a way similar to marždikam Payo.driyum 'compassion protecting the poor 'in Young Avestan S. 2.4. There the acc.sgm.1. Payo.driyum replaces the acc.sgm.0. Payo.driyum which would be expected in view of the ntr. (!) marždikam 'compassion' (cf. Ved Sch. mrdikl. n. id.)'.
- 33,6. We repeat that zaotar- does not mean 'member of the priest class' but 'officiating priest.'
- 33,7. With nå antara 'between us' the prophet speaks of mutual reverence, i.e., of the reverence paid by himself to Ahura Mazdā and, in return, paid to him by Ahura Mazdā, his intimate friend. See 44,1 on namah.
- 33.8. (1) yasnam ... staomya vacá, sec 30,1 on staotácä ... yesníyácä. (2) YAv. draonah denotes the share of the sacrificial animal reserved for the deity (in Young Avestan Y. 11,4 for Haoma), being here equated with 'integrity and immortality,' i.e.,

the liquid and solid parts of the offering as a whole. In Pahlavi the meaning of drön <
Av. draonah- is narrowed to 'sacrificial bread,' which is also its meaning in the modern ritual.

- 33.9. (1) The grammatical gender of the gendu astronograms sansidyout of the two braves' is masculine-neuter, but the phrase undoubtedly refers to the feminine couple amnarablesh harvaths in the preceding stanza. (2) yayd....mrayno' whose souls, 'it 'the souls of the two of which' with the gen.du. yayd in contrast with the nom.pl. univant' the souls.'
- 33,16. (1) hujikayo' (sood gains/winnings,' cf. VH. 38,5 jifayo' gains/winnings' and VAv. darayo,jiii- (long-lasting gain/winning.' (2) Taking tantan as a by-form of the acc.sg. tanuwan of tanu-'body' poses syntactic difficulties wherefore we explain nama as adv. 'continuously,' cf. Phl. tandan 'to stretch,' Ved.Skt. tdn-f. 'continuation, posterity.'
- 33,11. ādāi kahyācīļ paitī 'in return for any presentation,' cf. Y. 51,22 yesnē paitī.
- 33,12. Note the medium voice of dasvā 'take' (not 'grant'!). Ahura Mazdā is invited to restore himself at the sacrifice.
- 33,13. abifră 'peculiarities' after the compound YAv. aštā.bifram (= ašta-abifram) 'sum of eight characteristics.'
- 33,14. Read uṣā yācā (HH) for uṣāi yācā (G) and sec 30,1 on the shift of the relative pronoun to the end of the relative construction, cf. also 35,5.

## Yasna 34

34.1. (1) Note the medium voice of ddph³ you take '(not 'you grant'l). The sacrificial offering, posticially described as haurvatul- and marstatul- to be taken by Ahma Mazdā, shall strengthen his power of integrity and immortality. Cf. Y. 34,11 where the two are described as the divine food of Ahura Mazdā. (2) Note the opposition between the inja-not. ddph³ and the ind.pcs. dashes Whereas the soaries expresses the generality of the information, the indicative present, which is rare in the Gāthis but better attested in the prose of the Yasan Haplanghāhi, preferably denotes the "here and now."

- 34.4. (1) Read ack.ititim (HH) 'of much command/most able' for asititim (G), which shows the same dissimilation \$4's > 4 as atistis transmitted in Y. 44.9 for ack.ititis, see 31.9 on ack.xatais. (2) assatisiti ('arrows) sent by one's hands' with instr.sg. instead of instr.du. of the first member in contrast with just the stem in Ved.Skt. hasti-cyuta-'moved with noe's hands'.
- 34,5. (1) Read va hahmī (G) vs. vā haxmī (B). (2) From drīgu-'poor/needy' said of himself by the prophet (cf. A.22.6) comes Phl. daryöš 'poor' and NP. darwes' 'poor' dervish.' (3) daēvāišcā xrafstāš mašīyāišcā possibly better 'noxious beings, both Daēvas and mortals' as similarly KP.
- 34,6. vispā maēθā 'all vicissitudes,' cf. Khwar. "wsp-mycyk 'daily/everyday' from myθ m. 'day' and see 30,9 on maēθa-.

34.7. sənghaš is nom.acc.pl. of the hapax sənghuš- n. 'bequest.'

3.48. (1) For biyonte/byonte (hierate) (G) sead brayonte (Hi) 'they fear' after Ved. Skt. bds/annte 'id.' The correction admittedly results in a hemistich of eight instead of seven a thicks: a (2) the sear vises the propher draws an archer, better of Ahura Mazdi as an archer in this stanza: The two instances for ain line a (as ... blygo) and line c (vobta as mano) are taken by us as the 27s. spanor, for or 2st abstoomly. 'Yet, that is not unproblematic insamuch as it is only the present tense of that root which means 'shoot' (as 'N.v. idipha'), whereas its anorts is attested but in the meaning 'in't (as in the 3ag,sad) ano. aphat Y. 44,19. — (3) as in line b is highly suspect of being corrupt. We restore hyat abs.od/a nishidydam's as the very strong one (treats) the weaker one.' As a matter of fact, the existence of a stem aksopish-'very strong' is ascertained by its degrees of comparison YAv. aksopistan-an ads aspissamen. The suitport is complicated by the Young Avestan quotation Y. 57,10 yada aojá nishidydam's as strength (nom.pl.) (treats) the weaker one, 'according to which hyat as would be a corruption of yas&a.

34,9. On the plur. aṣā 'truths/manifestations of truth' see A.20.1.

34,11. vídvačšam is a by-form of unattested vídvačšanham, the gen.pl. of vī-dvačšah-'resisting enmity/enemies,' cf. YAv. vī-tbačšah-, Ved.Skt. ví-dvesas-'id.'

34,13. (1) Read hikārnās 'well-built/cleard' (B) for hikārnās 'well-renowned' (G) which, though, has the appeanance of a lectio difficilitie (cf. vCd.5x. szikrīf-god praise'). (2) For civitāt (G), whose cê' is due to post-Sasanian development, read czvatāt (B). – G) czvētā, which must be the reading of the Sasanian nethepty (A.6.1), could be a pseudo-archaie spelling for correct cotāts, whose inventor might erronocusly have followed the proportion VAN, yotāts: OAN, "yovātās." youngest "Ved.Stat, yaiviţhaa.). The problem recurs in V. S.1, Is middum ... magawabyō cōtāt parā ... czvīšī. (4) For hadabyo (G) read huddbyo (B).

34,14. gast varazine uzgi 'at the enclosure of the fertile cow,' i.e., at the cowshed which is expected to be opened by the deity/deities in order to let the priest be remunerated for his performance (as unveiledly expressed in Y. 46,19). Cf. Ved.Skt. vzgić: which in RV. 3,9,10 vzgić goḥ 'enclosure of the cow' is said of the cow-concealing demon/cave Vala.

34,15. By enthusiastically equating the remuneration expected with the perfection of the world the prophet apparently follows the conventions of the ritual literature of his time.

#### Vasna 35

[35,1. baraj-'care for/foster,' cf. the consonant stem Goth. barigs' castle/town,' 'OEngl. burg/burh' 'fortress' (ModE. borough), beorgan' to protect.' Derivation boraxōa-m.f. 'ward' in Y. 32,9, 34,9, 48,6, but adj. 'cared for/esteemed' in Y. 44,7, 51,17.]

35,2. Read yaθənā (NH) for yaθanā (G), see 31,22.

35,3. Read varəmaidī, varəzimacā (NH) for vairimaidī, vərəzimācā (G).

35,4. adais = at ais (NH), but why not \* $a\partial ais$  like  $ci\partial it = cit - it$ ?

- 35,5. (1) skeldrom abroad hyred aibi' the power which (is) with us' (not 'as far as we are concerned,' as rendered by NH). The priests transfer all their means to Ahura Mazda. (2) abrant play aibi. cf. YH. 40.1 aragin abroad hypt aibi' what resonance with us' with shift of the relative promoun from the head of the clause to a position behind, cf. Y 33.1+3 stroothandle as St 342.
- 3.5.6. (1) mads hailfilm 'knows a true'effective (mantra), 'ct', 'N. 3.1.6 hailfilm maß-ram, -(2) vohin at asatid 'this is a good seed grain, 'ct', 'NAv. afair- and Sogd. "\*Now' grain, crop." (3) asada is an unexplained spelling for adu like V. 29,7 asavar for ava and V. 28,11 asalpha for dajah. NH interpret ng asada differently as ataba ad d' therefore now,' which does not make much sense. -(4) varazyofined 'a jahnai' shall practice if for Him' (but not 'for himself,' as NH think, which would require the medium voice of the verb). The person who knows a true'effective mantra shall practice if for Ahura Mazdia and make it known (by disseminating it) to those who agree to practice it (for Him) in its correct form.
- 35,7. vo ... vahištam 'most pleasant to you,' i.e., 'to Ahura Mazdā' (not to the human participants in the ceremony as NH propose).
- 55,8. (1) #8h/pn ... suiri #8h/pn varazane 'in the shelter of(!) truth, in the enclosure/custody of(!) truth' (on i'n union with truth, in the community of truth' as NH translate), see 14,14 on gáns' varazane' 'at the enclosure of the cow,' furthermore A.12.3.2 on sar-'sbelter/shield,' but also 32,2 on sáramna-'allied,' (2) As for its form, Jijiš8- f. 'scarch for gain' is close to Ved.Sta. Jijijs6- 'desire of obtaining/conquering,' for its meaning cf. Young Avestan V. 21,1-2 hatam yansam cinsust yala hashis Jijisan' he capitains the scarfich of the existing/living a Scheng) the search for gain (shown) by(!) the custing/living.' See 39,1 on Jijišandi. (3) adu' He (-Ahura Mazda) has declared/declares (thath)' (3.8 perf., for which NH prefer 'i now tell (that)' (1.8 perf. ''ni ingressive function'') counting with a single human speaker in contrast to the many instances of the 1,1,6 in the Yashan Hapanaphälit.
- 35,9.(1) firavaecima governet two accusators, firstly the obj., traft was 'statements and owned; secondly its complement after five to complement and the state of the state o
- 35,10. The classical couple staota-yasna- 'praise and sacrifice' (see 30,1 on staotaca ... yesniyācā) is extended here by adding uxôa-. This we render throughout as 'statement,' without insisting on semantic details.

#### Yasna 36

- 36,1. (1) alsy a... differ ovaricinal 'bylwith the custody of this fire' (see 34,14 on glast varicable 39,14 on glast varicable 39,14 on glast varicable 39,14 of differenty, NH 'regether with the community of this fire'. (2) avairable and of differenty, NH 'regether of Vol Skt. also community of this fire'. (2) avairable variety of the Skt. in the variety of the skt. in the present context extrintly 'burn.' For a diverging interpretation see NH, who connect the verbal noun act, with the add, ads. "but."
- 36.2. (1) yattys datag, of yata-, which NH rander as "request" (for the sake of request), though it must have the assum enaning as Phi, Jadge 'shartyportion'. There is an apparent etymological connection of yada- with yada-following at the end of the section, which suggest that yada- is the whole, of which yada- following at the end of the section, which suggest that yada- is the whole, of which yada- is an individual portion. We therefore reader yada- as "apportionment" against NH's 'appent.\(^1\) (2) Rendering naviazida as 'most inspiring joy' would make more seuse than 'most joyful' (NH), but we prefer 'most graceful' as being more appropriate to the situation. Accordingly unviazid grace' in Y. 30,1 and unviazzana' itid. in Y. 32,1. (3) Read unviazzana' (IHI) for unviazida' (G followed by NH), an error which is due to perseveration of the preceding unviazida- (4) From the salutation namasa.id alas' reverence to you, O Fire in Young Avestan Ny. 54 we conclude that Fire when blazing up was addressed with its (unattested) OAv. equivalent namasa.id. If this is right then amunitahya namapha with the reverence shown (in return) by Fire to the person who inflamed it. The same peculiar use of namah- is found in Y. 44,1 yada nama skirakato.
- 36,6. (1) Read batzazamanam (HH) for barazimanam (G), whose barzaz" is due to perseveration of the preceding barazitatam. (2) The regular position of yst 'since the time' (NH 'since ever') would be before barzazitata barzazamanam; its position behind is due to poetical elaboration (see 30,1 on yaacazi and 33,1 d on yiaca). (3) 'since it was given the name Sum, 'i.e., 'since it was created (by you) pronouncing the mantar 'Sum."

# Yasna 37 37.1-5 see A.17.10

- 373. (1) In fam af ability a natural ... assumative 'Him we celebrate, (callifile) and Aburian names' the verb yearmable governs the two complements of what continued the verb process of the construction which gives an impression of the being quite strained and artificial but which also underlies. Y. 51.22 to yeari xiv all being quite strained and artificial but which also underlies. Y. 51.22 to yeari xiv all naturals, 'All the continued and the strained and artificial (their) names. '- (2) The old Assumation and the size of the celebrate, calling (their) names. '- (2) The old Assumation and the size of the celebrate (the size of the celebrate has been assumed to the size of the celebrate has been assumed to the celebrate the waters, the plants, the Travashis of the truthful, calling their) names.' Size celebrate the waters, the plants, the Travashis of the truthful, calling their) names.'
- 37,5. Isaratii- '(personified) refection' is feminized from "Isaratin-m., a derivation from the root Isar (cf. Ved.Skt. psáras- 'feast/enjoyment') of the same type as xratu-'intellect' from root 'kar.

#### Vasna 38

38,2. The reading parandim (NH) for parandim (G) goes with Ved.Skt. parandini- but disagrees with Phl. parand left undiscussed by NH. Note that the development are 3 aris also found in 3 Av. 1800pm - 18/cot (So. NP. guini) < 1207. on possibly 'striking lambs.' Central Asiatic falcons are reported to pick out the eyes of lambs; the inherited compound is misunderstood in NV. 2,14,4 where the god Indra is alleged to have slain the (denom) 'lamb' (y distanni jaghdan).

38,3. (1) apo ... ahunnis' the waters, the Ladieshymphs, 'c f. Arumaic 'humps' = Gr. aympha' vympha' vympha' vympha' vympha' inscription of Xmthos (An. 48, b. - (2)) na go ... ahunnis' ahunniya havapha' the waters, the Ladies, works of art of the Lord' the expected except. In havapaph is from havapaphs ... work of art') is feminized to havapaphs' the isolated reading havapaphs on K. St, which they water have a instrumental singular, thus the isolated reading havapaphs on K. St, which they water a instrumental singular, thus being forced to dissect the set phrase ahunnis' ahunniya well-attested also in its Young and so on, the ambiguous ubôibyà ahunhya 'kabebi ir , S. 63, 10 etc. — (3) in connection with bathing and so on, the ambiguous ubôibyà ahunhya 'kro' both existences' means 'for body and soou' rather than 'for this and the other life.'

38,5. (1) Transmitted vispō.paitiš 'providing drink for all' is inexact for vispō.pcaitiš (HF), cf. Ved.Skt. ptif-'drink, draught.' For the epenthesis of -i-cf. husisitiš from stem husiti- in Y. 29,10. (2) jīti- not 'living' but 'gain/winning,' cf. hujīti- 'good gain/winning' in Y. 33.10 and Ved.Skt. jīti-'gaining/victory'.

## Yasna 39

39.1. (1) almāking... umno' we celebrate our souls, 'i.e., 'the souls of our dependents' rather than 'our own souls,' see A.13.3 on Y. 32.8 almākāng 'our (animāls).' - (2) yoi al jijāsņā' which desire to win us over, 'i.e., which desire to win our partnership,' cf. Young Avestan Vid. 15,13-14 humm jijāsņaha... hanam jijāshate' try to vi over an old womara... as he wins over an old womara und see 35.8 on jijās-desire for winningāgain.' NH try to solve the problem of the varying meanings of jijās-ījij

# 39,3 see A.17.10.

#### Vasna 40-41

40,1. (1) addata with shortened initial from ada- 'presentation/apportionment,' – (2) The verbless clause YH. 35,3 atmst flyag abb' which (is) with us' is completed here by the verb xarpain' resounds, 'cf. Lat. crapit, which denotes various accussic phenomena, furthermore Ved.Sta. Rap 'to lament' and Khwar. karb 'to mumble. 'NH prefer' to take shape,' connecting the verb xarpain' with the noun karap- 'bodyshape,' (cf. Lat. corpus,) — (3) For mildram mawar∂sum (G) read mildram [m]nwab∂sum 'the incontestable(7) prize' (also YH. 41.5). It is the parasitic m which inspired the extroneous etymological connection of [m]nwab∂sum with the pron.adp. mawapt- 'one such as me 'by the innocent PhIT. "which has manifaga 'those such as me 'for both. — (4) To justify this the scholarly BHT. "which has manifaga 'those such as me 'for both. — (4) To justify this the scholarly and the such as me'n to such as me'n to the such as

tradition chose the variant mavailibra (B), a corrupt reading which is inconsistent with the phonetic nelses of Avestian and which is just due to the inadvertence of its sorther who, influenced by PhIT. manigin, erroneously started writing mavaile (the datage of mavaile (the datage of the mavaile-but the observate through the overest marks to the extent or which it was still be possible. — (5) Relying on the useless PhIT. manigin those such as me, 'B attributed expension of the corrupt reading mavailibra to a happer stem mavailibra. It is a solution which NII try to justify by further disimproving mavailibra to

40.4. (1) With the plur, haxamam (from haxamam n. 'fellowship') the series x²atās ... varatās ... varazās ... haxamam 'families, communities, fellowship's shows a lexical variation of the well-known triad x²atān t, varazāsan n. a. hiyamam n. 'family, community, tribe.' – (2) Contrary to the syntactic variation prevaling in faithir poerty loss in Y. 46, 1 x²atāsa abl., airyammasca gen, varazāsās instr.) we must count with formal and syntactic parallelism of the three members of the series in this groze passage. That means that, like haxamam and varazāsa, x²atās must be non-acc, pl.n. It is formed from x²atās f., at its extension plant in the formed x²atās f., ax xatās 'family' (stem x²atās f., at its extent of a lectio facility), thus necessarily dissocring the series. — (4) th0 (NH 'also') is incorrect for ata loc.sg. of ziti- 'help/favor' (cf. Vol. Ski. tāb'-'th).

41,5. On mīždəm [m]avaē9əm sec 40,1.

Yasna 43

43.1. ušta ... ušta cf Y. 27.14.

43,2. (1) χ'aθητογα is loc.sg, of χ'aθητα 'comfort/paradise' (= χ'aθητόμ) or instr.sg. of χ'aθητογα' desire for comfort/paradise' (= χ'aθητογα). At least outwardly similar is Y. 32,7 hadroγα' expicitily. ~ (2) Note the medium votice of daidfa! would like to obtain (not 'to give/place'). — (3) Read ββα ciciββα (HF) for ββα ciciββα (G), whose erroneous 'ββα is the result of perseveration of the preceding pers.pron. ββα. — (4) ciciββα 'cossion/sattentive, well explain nomes, go the perf.pspc. 16/8βα\* Cossion/sattentive, well extended in Young Avestan Vid. 18,68 (cf. Ved.Stt. cikir/as). It is not necessary to invent a stem cikin- or to adduce the banax Ved. Stt. cikir/as' sattenties.

43,3. Read a stis (B) '(paths leading) toward the possessions' for astis (G). Not impossible is a stis from a compound a sti-'provided with possessions.'

43,6. Read mazdā xša9rā (HH) for mazdā xšaθrā (G) '(being) wise through power' or '(being) mindful (of us) through power.'

43.7. (1) Read ayara' daydate! for ayara' daydates (3) which may be influenced by the same form preceding in V. 43.2. Entignate is the relation of the element 4-ro of the team form proceeding in V. 43.2. Entignate is the relation of the element 4-ro of the variant aydra to the unambiguously transmitted daxkira which is suspect itself, its bestient of the mass of the mass of the constant of th

- 43,8. The stanza is a fragmentary description of the prophet's self-introduction starting with zara@ustro '(1 am) Zarathushtra,' see A.7.4.
- 43.9. The inf. vividuye is to the perf. YAv. viviews 'the found/provided' as the inf. vidue' to know is to the present, variat the knows, the data obj. vidual 'to wisom, though, more convincingly points to root 'vid' pay honor' (cf. Ved. Sk. vidir vid.).
- 43,10. (1) The prophet demands Ahura Mazdá to allow him to ask questions a magic word-play. (2) aluna parsta 'questions (to be) asked by us' recalls Ved.Skt. asmid-rata- 'given by us,' however, the subsequent parstam ... θβά proves that it is no compound. (3) Read yaθ.nat (SI) for yaθ.nat (GI), see 31,22.
- 43,12. On rānōibyō 'with the balance' and the ordeal see A.37.
- 43,13. vairiyā is a haplological by-form of the unattested gen.sg.f. vairiyayā from vairiya-'worth choosing/desirable.'
- 43,14. (1) By calling himself His fried (tiβyω) (cf. Y. 44.)) the prophet obliges Almra Mazdá (1) guardina superior. (2) for azó (1), παστα (1) end azó (1), τωτα (1) end azó (1), τωτα (1) end azó (1), τωτα (1) end (1)
- 43.15. (1) at fei visping augrang resono adera 'they call all the harmful (persons) truthful, not 'they call all the truthful (persons) truthful as to 'they call all the truthful (persons) truthful as the scholarly tradition holds against the word order. It is quite natural that those who are called deceifful by the prophet call themselves truthful, not deceifful. (2) On deceifful persons calling upon Ahrun Mazdia see, A22.6.
- 43,16. astvat ašam 'osseous truth' alludes to the remuneration in head of animals expected by the prophet.

# Vasna 44

44.1. (1) The main subject of the first stanza is the reverential greeting of Ahura Mazdá and the gifts offered Him by His friend, the prophet, who hopes for return and acknowledgment. Such reciprocal relation between god and man is also expressed in V. 33,7 avis ni aplaton hopitu nomax'atilis ciloda falayo' let bright gifts of (mutual) reverence be maintiest among us' and in Y. 51,2 doiss mis itilisto sistema: Xanshawa vohû manaphā valamāi daidi savapho 'l want to show the power of my command, grant your (power) through good thought. 'See also \$2.0 a namifishing nampha' with the reverence of the most reverent one.' Note in this connection Young Avestan Vid. 4,1 yo naire namaphache noid namo pain hamait' he who does not return reverence to a man who shows reverence to word (him)' - (2) In our interpretation the genage. xámavato in nama xámavato is not objective ('reverence for one such as you') but subjective ('reverence of one such as you') but subjective ('reverence of one such as you'). e. 3 ham sown by one such as syou'). e. 3 ham subjective ('reverence of one such as you') but subjective ('reverence of one such as you'). The properties of the properties of the subjective ('reverence of one such as you').

- 'establish/provide.' (4) hākurənā is instr.sg. of hākurəna- n., which we translate as 'partnership' in Y. 33,9, whereas here it stands metonymically for 'partner.'
- 442.1) k383 s\*\*(conditions) wished for 's taken by us as a sandhi form of the acc.pl.

  knows. Now convex the current laborates are 24 on habretts. 1 k300 12.10

  irixtam vispolityo hato 'testaining the outcome of all things' the adj. hitra-'testaining' governs the acc.pl. n. irix n. 11.13.

  Cf. also the verbal government of sidra-'grieving, 'a formation with the same suffix, in 'Y. 4.5.7 wa navis sidra director's best owner when the sum of the sidra directors are sidra directors. The sortions will be sortions (constitution) the same suffix, in 'Y. 4.5.7 wa navis sidra director's the sortions (constitution) the men of the description (constitution).
- 44,5. The prophet speaks of but three ritual times, a rule which was replaced with that of the five ritual times by the Zoroastrian tradition in the Young Avestan period at the latest. See below "Conclusion."
- 44,6. In lines cd the prophet recites a true mantra (cf. Y. 31,6 haiθya- maθra-), thereby urging Ahura Mazdā to answer the question for whom He fashioned the cow.
- 44,8. (1) The variant urvašaf (G) is unexplained, but urvāxšaf (B) 'he shall/will proceed' (3.sg.subj.aor.) is suspect of being influenced by Y. 34,13 urvāxšaf 'they proceed' (3.pl.inj.aor.). (2) Read agamaft\_jlās, with parasitie f, instr.sg. or nom.pl. of agarmata-'arriving, 'a formation like YAy. nirarmata-'coming down.'
- 44.9. (1) Read ads.istis of much command/very able (HH) for assistis (G), see 34.4 on ads.istim. (2) The combination of ads.isti- with xรัสปราส- recalls Y. 34,5 kat v5 xรัสปราสา ka litis.
- 44,10. armatois uxöais śyao9anā 'actions (inspired) by statements of right-mindedness' and maxyā cistois 9fa ikis' vigor of (my) insight inspired by you' are typical instances of the frequent adnominal use of the instrumental case in the Gäthās but not ascertained in Vof Str
- 44,11. (1) pouruyo (G) 'the foremost one' or paouruyê (B) 'at first/preferably(?).' (2) On deceitful persons calling upon Ahura Mazdā see A.22.6. (3) spasyā 'look upon' (impv.) or 'l look upon' (1.se.).
- 44,12. (1) There are antagonists of the prophet by whom Ahum Mazdá is considered the deceifidin one figure excellence) whereas the harmfuldecirtila spirit (see 7, 30,5) is called by them the truthful one (par excellence). To provoke these antagonists, the prophet asks Ahum Mazdá is the thorical question whether He, Ahum Mazdá, would be the truthful one (par excellence) or the DeceifidHarmful Spirit who tries to stop Ahum Mazdá is benefactions. (2) The instr. pl. yais' (thoue) with whom' is used as a polite form in reference to Ahum Mazdá, who often enough is addressed in the plural. (3) A further essential key to the analysis of the stanza: the comparison of the phrase 0/fa sava pairlararde (intensk) to stop your benefactions\* with Young Avestan Yt. 8.3 app. mainyst ... mannaté stram ... pairlararde: the Harmful Spirit intending to stop the stars. (Note OA, puillararde from stem puillararde: vs. YAA, puillararde from stem puillararde: -).— (4) The stanza, which is hardly a masterpiece of Gathic poetry, ends with the strange phrase angro mainyste 'harmfull') intends (to stop them), 'hereby clearly 'hereby clearly

pointing to Angra Mainyu, the Harmful Spirit. – (5) For ciyaqhat (6) read ciyaqhat (KP) restored from various readings but nevertheless enigmatic. – (6) For syntactic reasons the caesura of line e has its correct place after hvo, i.e., ciyaq'hit (or whatever one wants to read counts these syllables.

44,16. Taken as adjectival noun ('giving') or as infinitive ('to give'), dam ought to be distyllabic, in which case line c would be irregular. If dam is monosyllabic as suggested by the meter, it is likely to be the luc.ag, of dam-'house' as is dam in V. 48,7, 49,10. It is, however, possible that this archaic form (vs. contemporary damine) was used in cases other than the locative as well.

44,17. (1) zaram, tentatively rendered by us as 'enthusiasm/spiritedness,' alludes to Zarathushtra's name in combination with ustram 'camel' of the following stanza (A.3.3). – (2) caratai either is 1.sg.subj.aor. of root kar 'make' or ind.pres. of root car 'walk alone.'

44.18. (1) For aprivatit (3) read apriavavitil (1Hz). The form which is a verb (more correctly apr) belongs to Ved Site. Injunit' causes to swell. "— (2) Expecting ten mares along with a stallion and one camel, which make available to me integrity and immortality' is an excessive poetical exaggeration/hyperbol (see 31,20 on drhamana 'splendor'); in V. 44,20 this is reduced to the sing, gam' cowpiece of cattlebastificial animal."

44,20. (1) For the loc.sg, annihm (B), which seems to be correct in V. 45,10, we read the data.g. annihm (G). — (2) Pighymid "participaties (in the rises), i. CY. 50.2 poursals hursara pägsasa" the many who enjoy?) the sun." — (3) For him mizon (G), which is strongly influenced by miZolam "price" preceding in V. 44,18-19 read him finabach (H2) with parasitic m instead of him azon "they drive extra the very large three parasitic m instead of him azon "they drive extra the very large him azon they drive vided at con way," see Y. 10,85 gatts. — strand zazimna "the cow being driven/lead suny captive," Vid. 5,37 gam varapan asalter "driven/leads the cow (away) captive," That is hardly meant in the present passage water noil him [m]azon "they do not drive her" in connection with the subsequent varapan.

#### Yasna 45

45.1. (1) #awax5ya \*1 will proclaim,\* note, however, that the Gülhâs are traditionally recricied in amendment with the Nermon on the recricied in a metal companable with the Sermon on the Nermon on the Mountain's of the New Testament (Matth, 5-7) (A.15.1). Here as well as in Y. 30,1 at at a wax5y # 82mb the prophet does not address the human participants, but he tries to attact the attention of the invaluation may gate doth an area and the other divinities. That definitely results from comparison of the invitation may gate doth an area and itsen now, here now with Y. 49.7 standt als gislabar in ahua\* 1st one hear through truth, listen, O. Lord.\*—(2) Read avazto (Xi), "invited cooperate of for avarzed (0), of. 45,8 on at Avarzed Virging to invite and note the etymological connection with Y. 30,2 avarzed "coopstitutos/preferences.\*—(3) The prophet alludes to Yima's sin.

45,2. The subj. mravag 'he shall speak' evidences that the prophet does not describe an event that took place in the remote past, on the contrary, he recalls a fundamental law to be applied in the present time and in the future (A.23.8.1).

48.3. (1) For ya moi (6) read yay moi (HF) with yay as the misstagen result of a sandhi variant of yan which anticipates im ... mg/8ram. – (2) The pers. pron. v3 is not governed by y6/(those of you'), which would not fit with the enclide character of v3, but it belongs to mg/8ram ('Your mantra'). It is Ahura Mazdā whom the prophet addresses here to.

45,4. (1)  $\bar{l}m$  'him' (not  $\bar{l}l$  'it') anticipates  $vagh\bar{s}u\bar{s}$  ...  $managh\bar{o}$  taken as a male divine person. – (2) For  $patar\bar{s}m$  (G) read  $ptar\bar{s}m$  (SI).

45,5. (1) moi ahmai saraošam '(those who show) me obedience to it' or, with strongly deictic ahmai, 'to me, the present one.' – (2) Here mazdi cannot be understood as part of the name of Ahura Mazdi. Functioning as a predicative complement of ahuro it must be rendered with its lexical meaning 'mindful of.'

45.8. (1) a vivarasõe is nomage.m. of the desiderative adjective āvivarasõe 'trying to imive' (cf. 45,1 on avrarato 'invidecoopetel') which is used here like a participle. Understood sa a finite verb ii would be the 2.ng injpres, a strange overlap which points to divergent accentuation. – (2) castanirir may be nomace.du. ('Hijs yee' or loc.g. 'in (my) eye.' In regard of the possible parallelism with the loc.ng. anmoni in V. 45,10 we device for the locative.

45.9. (1) Contrary to the preceding Arrivarsio the desiderative adjectives circination trying to satisfy in this and minay260 trying to present in the next stanza are used like forms of the 1.5g, of the finite verb. It seems that the trial is clumsily borrowed from an original in which Arivarsio, circinatio, minay260 formed a set. – (2) mazdia wise here possibly "mindful (o)?. – (3) For exactany4(6) read avanzi at (B).

45,11. In this stanza the prophet refers the fut.ptcpl. saolyant-'coming/expected savior/ benefactor' to himself. Later on this word preferably denotes the eschatological savior, see Young Avestan Yt. 13,129 avada saolyas yaða vispam ahtam astvantam sávayát 'therefore (he is) the savior because he will save all the osseous world/material existence."

#### Vacna 46

46.1. (1) This sequence of pectures, which apparently follows a pattern current in the ritual literature of the time, describes a young pries's typical journey brough life up to his reception by his decisive sponsor, in the prophet's case up to his reception by Kavi Vshistapa. – (2) For transmitted hace atack! (2), with one syllable too few, read hacenon anoth, thus restoring the expected medium voice of the verb hac' to joinfollow. The corruption is due to a kind of hapology/haplography in the sub-archedype. – (3) Av. zam- means 'earth' or 'piece of land,' never 'land/country' as supposed by those who try to detect here a parallel to Mohammed's light from Mecca to Medius. – (4) pairt' xiebus airyannusacsi dudaiti' 'they keep me off from family and tribe,' i.e., 'people do not admit me to their families and tribes' (not 'my people thrust me out from (my) family and tribe). – (5) We cannot make out the difference in meaning which octatishy existed between act. xinusit and med. xinacide.)

46,3. The clouds of the rosy dawn are compared by the prophet with the herd of cattle hoped for by him as remuneration for the sacrifice he would like to perform for a sponsor still unknown to him.

46.4. Seen from the global point of view the deceiful one is Angra Mainyu 'the harmful spirit,' but from the point of view of the imaginative actual situation he is the prophet's deceiful rival who, by means of his spells, tries to exercise influence on Ahura Mazdā in order to eain possession of the remuneration for the sacrifice.

46,5. (1) Under certain conditions even a deceifful person (here a person of other belief) can be accepted and pat up in the house of a truthful landlord. As results from the subsequent stanza, one of the conditions of that is that he is secking refuge (82mma).—
(2) hu-zahpta- 'of good provenience/noble' is a compound with YAv. znptr., which has the terminological meaning 'trube' (as OAv. 8619ra-) but which doubtless also meant 'offspring' (cf. Ved.Skt., jmini- 'offspring').— (3) Line bappurently indicates the origin and the social rank of the newcomer, which must be taken into account by the person putting him up. Avoiding the necessity of correcting the non. huzzonts to the acc. huzzonts to the line in dashes, supposing that it is a somewhat clumys literal quotation from a legal text referred to by the prophet.—(4) milroid/by' (from his bonds' with ab). [In or able, 2) ovaid confusion with the name of Mithra, the Proto-Aryan god of treaty who was left unmentioned by the prophets.—(4) was acknowledged as a deiry in the Vonuger Avesta.

46,6. (1) drājo ... dāman ... gāṭ 'he shall betake himself to the places of deceit' or 'he shall mount the creatures of deceit' (cf. Ph. gādan 'copulatæ with 'from root gā' 'step'mount')... -(2) valhāto 'best' is used here as a term of social relations.

46,7. For the 3.sg. dadāf (G) read the 2.sg. dadā (HH).

- 46.9. išanti is from iša- 'to invigorate' (< iša-) rather than from iša- 'to approach' (< iša). The phrase mraof išanti ma 'speaks about the one invigorating me' recalls Y. 29.7.9</p>
- 46.11. The destiny of the soul described by vagg v.o. union varea variety datent 'their own breath-soul and their own view-soul will make them tremble/shudder' differs from the description in Y. 51,13 dragvató... daeñá... yehyá univá variodulti 'the view-soul of the deceifful one whose breath-soul will tremble/shudder.'
- 46.12. The exact difference in degree of relationship between naptiya- and napat- (PhIT. nät ud nāf) is not clear. The compound YAv. navanaptiya- n. '(the whole of) nine generations' may be derived from napat- and from napat- as well.
- 46,13. Cf. the rhetorical questions in Y. 51,11.
- 46,14. (1) Cf. the mention of Kavi Vishtäspa in Y. 51,16. (2) The spelling yangstat is the result of a compromise between the pausa form yangs to and the expected sandhiform yan-ta. (3) For unexplained minas' (G) read minases (HF) 'you gather,' 2.sg.inj. pres. of root mink cf. YAv. mac@ams-'house/home.'
- 46,16. varadamam 8° is taken by us as a sandhi variant of varadaman 8°, loc.sg, of varadaman-n. 'prosperity.' Otherwise varadamam would be the regular nom.acc.pl. of varadaman- as object of mazdá which in this case would be used in its original meaning 'taking note of.' cf. Y. 47.1.
- 46,17. We take al8man- n. as 'accomplishment,' derived from apah- 'work/action/ sacrificial act' (thus after Ved.Skt. apas-). A special development of the meaning of the word is seen in the technical term YAv. al8man- 'lino/verse of the Gäbbis.'

#### Vasna 47

47.1. (1) This song, which is outstanding by its highly developed compositional technique (A.7.2, 7.5), deals with all those six divine entities/deities who are the name patrons of the six weekdays of the first week of each month in the Mazdayasnian calendar, in the Younger Avesta called Amosha Spontas. - (2) The sequence spoutā mainyn vahištaca mananha haca ašat švao9anācā vacanhācā "beneficent spirit, best thought, word and action in accordance with truth' is a poetical elaboration of the series 'spirit - thought - word - action' as found in Y. 30.3, which itself is an expansion of the classical 'thought - word - action' (manah-, vacah-, śvao9ana-). - (3) The reference of the dat.sg. ahmāi is deliberately ambiguous: If it points to Him, Ahura Mazdā, then the pious are called up to offer Him "nectar and ambrosia" (i.e., liquid and solid offerings), but if ahmai points 'to the present (speaker),' i.e., to the prophet, then the divine entities/deities are requested to promote the prophet, be this in its basic material meaning be it metaphorically in that of happiness of mind. In our translation we choose ahmāi 'to Him,' taking this as anticipating Ahura Mazdā's name, whose nom.sg. follows in the next line. - (4) mazdå as a predicative complement of ahurō 'Lord' is rendered by us as 'mindful (of).'

- 47.2. (1) For past 'father' (3) read pat (8), (2) The sequence hvo pita sigaliyal mazdi.

  \*He, the father of Truth, the Wise One' could be taken as the subject of varazyar

  \*performs; yet in regard of what precedes it is preferable to take it as a sentence 'He,

  the Wise One, (1s) the father of Truth' (3) The "genealogy" of the divine beings is

  continued in the next stance with adva minimists survin alli irous stancing.
- 47,3. For tā spaņtō 'beneficent father' (G) read qo tā spaņtō (IIII), the loss of p in the tradition being caused by dissimilation pt-sp-t in the subarchetype.
- 47.4. käθė (v.l. käθė) lit. 'at will' after Sogd. k'δν 'verv,' cf. 44.2 on käθė (v.l. käθė).
- 47,5. hanarə Əfahmat zaošat drəgvå baxšaitī 'which the deceitful one must cede being far from your favor' or 'which he wants to cede to (a place/person) far from your favor.'
- 47.6. On rānōibvā 'with the balance' and the ordeal see A.37.

## Yasna 48

43.1.1) addis c. at dis (NII) as in VII. 35.4 addis dis SyaoSandis yais vahistatis. —(2) aski s nom.pl. 'truths, 'i.e., 'manifestations of truth' as in V. 34.9 (A.20.1), notwithstanding its apparent reuse as nom.sg. in 'Young Avestan V. 60.5 vainit ask duijam and VII. 1935 vanit ask askum duijam. —(3) For sastitat (10), whose internal u is redundant, we read apsaliquia—askid (III), possibly also sast & or agast & the Vernatiate (vso that is) refuted, 'tentatively attributing asastit to a reduplicated present assetti 'hits' from root arbas reach/statin.'

## 48,4. dat 'conceives,' lit. 'produces.'

- 485, C1) Rend yaoddi ... makiyai (si) against yaoddi makiyai (di), whose makiyai is due to perseveration of the ending. 4 of the perceding yaoddi. (2) The reading with the datag, makiyai 'to mankind' is supported by the parallel datag, gavoi 'for the cow.' Yet, the parallel'iv with garvio suggests at the same time that makiyai is not the regular datage. It must be understood as a by-form of the unattested datage, f. makiyayai 'to womankind.'
- 48,6. baraxδe is voc.sg.f. of baraxδe- 'ward,' continuing the voc.sg. armaite of the preceding stanza.
- 48,7. nī ... dyātam 'let be tied down' or, after YAv. niōā.snai9iš- 'laying down the weapons.' 'let be let down.'
- 48,8. (1) ākā aradrāņg 'in the presence of the efficient ones' vs. 'toward the efficient ones' in Y. 50,4. (2) javarō we translate tentatively as 'compensation,' the masculine gender pointing to an agent rather than to an action noun. For its etymology cf. Young Avestan Yt. 10,16 anaotiv 'increases.' Yt. 8.36 xrdu.sāt.' 'increasine the intellect.'
- 48,10. (1) For enigmatic ajan (G) read acaza they carry off/dispose of (IIF) from root az (cf. Ved.Skt. aj 'to drive/chase/throw'). The reading aján of the relevant manuscripts is suspect of being a hypercorrect form, the reading azan just being found in the less relevant manuscripts. Whereas the verb has a negative sense here, it is indifferent, or even nositive, in Y. 442 noith him fluxin (2) moldrom 'exection' see A.28.

48,12. Here and in Y. 53,2 read xšnām (HH) for xšnām (G) which, as compared with the regular xšnūt-, would be a quite abnormal formation.

#### Yasna 49

- 49.1. (1) mā in at mā is the ntcl. mā as in Y. 29.11 at mā. (2) The meaning 'ever' of yavā (instr.sg. of avu- 'lifetime/life span') can be expected only after a negation or in a question. - (3) bāndvō looks like a contemptuous disfiguration of the name of a ruler who refused to receive the prophet. His full name might have been of the same epic type as the prophet's own name or that of Vishtaspa etc. - (4) muzištō 'chieflain/yerv great man' or 'cldcrman/old man' may be said contemptuously as well. At any rate cf. Aramaco-Iranian mazštv" "nšn 'old people' on the Aramaeo-Iranian Ashoka inscription of Taxila (Humbach 1969, 1976), - (5) pafre, lit, 'he has fulfilled (for himself),' i.e., in the present passage 'did he (ever) accumulate (religious merit),' quite unexpectedly results from Young Avestan P. 17(18) tanu.mazō aëtam ašavam nafre vo noit vava mi9ō mamne nöit mi9ō vavaca nöit mi9ō vävaraza '(that one) has accumulated religious merit as much as to the value of one hody, (that one) who never thought wrong, spoke wrong, did wrong,' - (6) For dušara9rīš (G) read duše,hara9rīš 'badly herded' (HF), acc.pl. of dusc.hara9ri-, fem. of dusc.hara9ra- 'having bad herding.' which we take as attribute of (a herd of) cows. The feminine in -i is, however, unusual in such compounds. - (7) We take the nom.se. van'hī ada as a parenthetical reference of the same type as the nom.sg. raëvat ci9ram found in Young Avestan Yt. 5.64 kainīnō raēvat ci9ram āzātavā 'of a girl, illustrious (is her) descent, of a noble one."
- 49,2. In analogy to af mā in the preceding stanza we take mā in ahyā mā as the ptcl. mā. Hence mānayeifi cannot mean 'enrages (me)' and must belong to Phl. mān- 'to resemble' (NP. mānistan) or, as we profer to Phl. mān- 'to dwell/stav.'
- 49,4. (1) Line c does not make sense unless one counts with two caesuras (3-4-4) instead of the regular structure (4-7). (2) daēvāng dan 'they produce/install Daēvas.'
- 49,5. daēnam vohū sāraštā manaŋhā 'allies his view/view-soul with good thought,' see 32,2 on sāramnō 'allied.'
- 49,7. sraotā ... gāšāhvā 'let one hear ... listen' vs. Y. 45,1 nū gāšō.dām nū sraotā 'listen now. hear now.'
- 49,8. (1) The noun sur- with the gen. aghtya ('shelter of truth') is followed in the next sanza by the same with the instr. dragvatat ('alliance with the deceitful one'); see 32,2 on straumā (2) Trisyllabic Inačta- could mean 'envoy' (< fin-star, ct. NP. firitāta- finitāta-), nonetheless we prefer 'very good friend' (< finayštar, superlative of friya-'friend'. et / Vol. Str. niestha-'vil.</p>
- 49.9. (1) set, didus approves of or 'teaches' vs. med. didusiphe' I learn' in Y. 43.11. (2) adsyturds is locs ag of ads yaxxis' the (action of) yoking to truth, 'a compound with case form as first member vs. stem in the hapax Ved. Skt. rds-yuksi, a metaphor for surrifice' or 'recompense for the searifice." (3) Note the parallelity of the loc.sqs. adsyturks with mixbe at the prize and yabs' rat the apportionment."

Notes

191

49.10. ava.mira. which is tentatively rendered by us as 'refreshing.' looks like an attribute of vazdanha 'fattiness.' Its first member may be avah- 'help' or the prefix ava.

#### Vasna 50

50,1. zūta 'speedily quickly' belongs to MP, NP, zūd 'id.,' not to YAV, zbata- 'called ппоп."

50,2. (1) If we read huvar5 'sun' then the hemistich has one syllable too many. - (2) pourušū huvarā pišvasū 'among the many who enjoy the sun' sounds very epic; we would rather expect '(those) who avoid/revile the sun.' Comparing Y. 44.20 voi nišveinti ačibyo kam is of no help, itself being in want of convincing explanation. - (3) akās-tāng 'in their presence' vs. stanza 4 ākā aradrāng 'in the presence of the efficient.' - (4) nišasvā 'I will sit down' (more correctly nišc.hasvā < ni-hasvā) 1.sg.fut. from root ni-šad. The form with its unexpected nasal infix recalls Ved.Skt. a-sandi- 'seat/throne' treated by Mayrhofer EWALs v. and corroborates its etymological connection with the further Indo-European material listed there. - (5) dahva 'take/accept' (not 'give').

50,4. We take sərnošanē as 1.sg.subi. 'I wish to be heard' of the present stem sərnoša-(root sruš), cf. Ved.Skt. śrósamāna- which, though, is rendered as 'obedient.'

50.6. (1) Unlike trisyllabic hizuyā the pen.sp. of hizū- 'tongue' (Y. 31.19. cf. 51.13). disvllabic hizvo is the nom.acc.se. of the side-stem hizvah-'toneue' governed by sahit 'may he teach.' This side-stem is attested in Young Avestan Vid. 18,55 hizvasca pivasca 'tongue and bacon' and in the compound hito.hizvah- 'whose tongue is paralyzed' (YAv. nom.sg. hitō.hizva Y. 65,9). - (2) Trisvllabic rai@im (rai@iyom) is acc.sg. of rai9i-'charioteer,' cf. Ved.Skt. rathi-'id.,' Phl. rahig 'child, page.'

50.7. (1) Harnessing horses for a chariot race is a metanhor for intoning a song of praise. - (2) aza9a (G) is an ordinary corruption of czaza9a (HF), see 30,10 on zazanti 'they will let (the others) behind' = 'they will be the first,'

50.8. aradraývä-că namanhă 'with the reverence of an (or: for the?) efficient one.'

50,10, pairi 'all around' as in Y. 29,4.

50.11. bai@yāyaraštam byat yasnā farašō.tamam 'realization of what is most perfect in value' shows nominalization of a set such as Y. 46.19 hai@m ... varsăaiti ... livat vasnă farašō.tamam 'makes real what is most perfect in value.'

#### Vasna 51

 antară caraiti \*alternates (= is exchanged) hetween (vou and us). \* see Y. 33.7 āviš nd antara hanta, 44.1 namanhō ... va9ā namā xšmāvatō. The exchange of reverence/ salutation and presents between man and god are described in stanza 2.

51.2. ašāi vecā incorrectly transmitted for ašāva-ca with short final yowel (KH 2, 646-654); see also 30,1 on aṣa yeca which we read differently as aṣa yaæca.

51,3. (1) vo ... sāraņtē 'they are allied with you' (see 32,2 on sāramno 'allied') or better, but more freely, 'who identify with your actions,' - (2) Line b clearly has 5-4-5 instead of regularly 7-7 syllables.

51.4. (1) ari, is tentatively rendered by us as 'oreed,' although we do not exclude the nossibility that it has a positive meaning such as 'zeal.' It seems to be derived from root ar, following the same pattern as YAv, baoiôi-'smell' from root bud 'smell,' azi- 'lust' from root az 'drive' (cf. Ved.Skt. aif- 'running-match' from root ai). (2) mərəždikā is nom.pl. of maraždika- n., see 33,5 on YAv, 3ravo.drivum. - (3) The pres. vasō.xva- 'to dignify' is derived from yasah- 'dignity' (cf. Ved.Skt. yáśas- 'id.') as nəmaxya- 'to revere' from namab- 'reverence.'

51.6. (1) dazdē 3.sg.pres.med. 'accepts/chooses' (not 'appoints'), - (2) As predicative complement mazda is translated by us as 'mindful (of)."

51,8. If akōyā is loc.sg. of aka- 'evil' (= akōi.ā), then uštā is nom.pl.n. of uštā- 'things desired,' but if it is the nom.sg. of akōyā- 'desire for doing evil', then uštā is loc.sg. of ušti- 'at will.' cf. Y. 27.14 for the double meaning of uštā in the Asham Vohū formula and see 32,7 on the formal ambiguity of hadrova too.

51,9. On ranoibya 'balance' and the ordeal see A.37.

51.11. The prophet speaks of himself in the 3rd person (A.n. 25).

51,12. (1) The prophet interrupts the praise of Kavi Vishtäspa (cf. Y. 46,14) by abusing another Kayi, who refused hospitality to him. That Kayi is called by him vačinivo kəvīno 'Kavyan passive sodomite,' apparently the worst term of abuse available to the prophet, Cf. Young Avestan Vid. 8.32 aršaca vipto aršaca vaepavo 'the man who suffers sodomy and the man who practices sodomy." - (2) Read parata (IIII) 'at the bridge' for parato (G) which would mean 'forfcited,' and read zimo 'of the/in winter' (KP) for zamo (G) which would mean 'of the earth/piece of land.' In Y. 51.13, the second occurrence of paratá, most manuscripts return to the correct reading. - (3) ašta- m. 'lackey' (YAv. 'messenger/errand boy.' apparently < 'slave,' lit. 'driven away') is the verbal adi, of root az 'drive,' It is most likely that the person insulted as lackey by the prophet was that Kavi himself. - (4) hyat ahmi urūraost 'when he stopped (him) there,' vet not impossible also 'where he stopped (him),' for which cf. YAv. yat ahmya 'where' as in Vid 3.7 vat arazūrahe prīvava vat ahmva daeva handvaranti 'on the Neck of Arazūra where the Daēvas gather.' (5) caratas-cā is nom.sg. of carata-'threshold' (cf. NP. card 'sill'). In its form the subsequent nom.sg. aodaraš-cā 'frost' follows the corresponding, but unattested OAv, nom.sg. ātərəš of its antonym ātr- 'fire' (> YAv. star?

51.13. (1) The picture of the relation between daena- 'view-soul' and uruvan- 'breathsoul' as drawn here is different from that in Y. 46.11. - (2) arazaos hai@im possibly means 'the goal of the straight way.'

51,14. The reading arois asanda (G) is preferable to arois a sanda (B) which is influenced by Y. 51,4 ărōiš ă fsaratuš where a is postposition of ărōiš. In the present passage a makes part of asanda, inexact for asanda from a-sanda- 'unpleasant,' an antonym of YH. 38,5 paiti.sanda- 'pleasant' (Phl. passand 'id.').

51.15. (1) If the prize will be paid in the other world, then hvat mīždam ... magavahvā coist para is to be translated as 'the prize which he predicted to the contributors.' In the technical language of the Gathas, however, mižda- particularly pertains to the remuneration of the priest. Thus, possibly, 'the prize which he imposed on them before,' - (2) It seems that insat means as much as insat (to mižda) 'comes (with that prize)' In this case tā 'with that' is likely to be omitted in line b to avoid its renetition by the unavoidable to in line c, as a whole, though, neither the construction nor the sense of the stanza is clear. - (3) The mention of Ahura Muzdā as a 3rd person (ahurō mazdā) in line b and his address by the set phrase va ... asaica 'to you and Truth' do not harmonize. The stanza gives an impression of being composed of elements taken from sources unknown to us. - (4) For civišī (G) read cavīšī (B). In the hemistich, which has one syllable too many, caviši is suspect of standing for coiši (from root cis) in the same way as cavišta might stand for coišta in Y. 34.13. The duplicity of coist and caviši in the present stanza is, nevertheless, strange. It could be due to a compromise between the diverging views of two groups of members of the committee of the Sasanian redaction (cf. A.6.1).

51,16. Note the wort-play by which the vet ngagt in ngagt yanghaig nadosif nadosif

51,18. x'aranā 'glorious deeds' is the only Avestan occurrence of x'aranah- 'glory' in the plural

51,21. Since the stanza is not well-structured it is difficult to decide whether the dem.pron.  $h\nu\bar{o}$  is intended to refer to the beneficent man  $(n\bar{a} \text{ span}(\bar{o}))$ , be it the prophet himself be it some other person (cf. V. 51.9 hoc. n. ab, or even to Ahura Mazdā.

51,22. (1) x'dli attatalisi is rendered by PhIT, as pad an I xwe8 nam 'by their own names' (StAV, nijae rinatubih); Ihis was taken seriously by modern scholanship, see Narten 1986, 178 equating the phrase to RV, 1,181,4 nâmubihi xviih '(agrecing) in their names. That makes sense on condition that nâmañs would be a slight graphical corruption of nâmahibi Xib, but the matter is somewhat more complicated as is proven by the Young Newstein horrowines of the form nationals.

Yi. 1,11.16 imā nāmānīš draņjayō framtava vispāiš ayanca xšafnasca 'pronounce these names all days and all nights in a low tone,' 1,15 tāsca imā nāmānīš, 1,19 imā namanīš visante.

Yt. 4,2 nămöniš amoşanam spontanam ... zbayōiţ 'he should call the names of the Amasha Spoutas.' (2) These Young Avestan borrowings evidence that OAv. nămaniš was interpreted by the authors of the respective passages as nom.acc.pl. of naman- 'name.' an interpretation which certainly applies to their Gathic original as well. That shows that namānīš is syntactically equivalent to namām attested in YH, 37.3. - (3) For transmitted x ais namanis (G) we read x ais namani(s) (HF), taking the transmitted namanis as a very old corruption of namoni caused by perseveration of the final -s of the preceding  $x \exists i \& -(4)$  It is not purely by chance that this corruption took place in the last line of the original Gatha collection to which particular attention must have been paid before the inclusion of Y. 53. - (5) The corruption was favored by Young Avestan forms such as the nom.acc.pl.n. vīspāiš in Yt. 1.11.16 vīspāiš avanca xšafnasca 'all davs and nights' and Yt. 10,64 vīspāiš aoi karšvan vāiš hapta 'over all the seven climes,' cf. also the nom.acc.pl.n. ašnoniš in Y. 71.10 visne ... daman ašnoniš vaiš dada9a 'all the truthful creatures that you have produced." - (6) As the instr.nl. x'āiš 'with one's own' cannot go with the nom.acc.pl. nāmānilsīl. it must be explained separately. We render it as 'with my (faculties),' i.e., 'as much as I can,' As a matter of fact, the four words ta vazăi x'aiš namanī[š] 'these I will celebrate with my (faculties by calling their) names' express in highly comprimated form what more circumstantially, and in inverse order, is said in YH. 37.3 töm at ähüiryä nämöni ... yazamaidē, töm ahmākāiš azdöbīšcā uštānāišcā vazamaidē 'Him we celebrate with our bones and vital forces (by calling His) Aburian names '

# Yasna 53

53.1. (1) yez? if in the sense of 'because/since' is unusual. – (2) The verb daban tentatively translated by us as 'they observe' is unexplained. The correction to dardnan 'they produce' suggesting itself would be plausible from the graphical point of view, but the manuscript variants do not favor it. – (3) For ssklap(ca) (G) read ssk-lapea (KRI), see 30.11 on sscladda.

53.2. (1) On xšnām (HH) for xšnūm (G) see 48.12. - (2) In spite of the strong outward resemblance of xšnām so to Y. 48.12 xšnām ... hacāntē, the active verb scantū cannot be attributed to root hac 'follow/agree' whose forms are always in the medium (see 46,1 on hacture). For this reason we render scanta as 'let them announce,' connecting it with the archaic Lat. insece 'relate/declare' (and its Greek relatives) and thus posing a root 2hac 'announce.' - (3) According to general opinion, the sequence kavacă vištăspō zara@uštriš spitamo forašaoštrasca speaks of three persons; firstly, Kavi Vishtāspa, secondly, Zarathushtri Spitāma, the eldest son of Spitama Zarathushtra (called Isatvastra in the Young Avestan tradition), thirdly, Frashaoshtra (mentioned also in Y. 28,8, 46,16, 49,8, 51,17). - (4) Differently, KP think of just two persons, explaining zara9uštriš snitāmā as the natronymic of Kayi Vishtāsna, thereby shifting the prince to a son of the prophet. We follow them insofar as we take the supposed filiation in the sense of 'adherent of Zarathushtra Spitama,' - (5) One must, nonetheless, raise the question to which extent the social order based on the three classes (priests, warriors, herdsmen), well attested in the Younger Avesta, was neutralized in the prophet's early community, at least as far as the ritual sphere is concerned. It seems that, when speaking of the cattle

breeder/cattle-breeding herdsman (Y. 29,5, 29,6, 31,10), the prophet includes himself in this third class

5.33. (1) For pairity/stim manapho read patiris/stim) m\* with parisitie m. – (2) pairituant—obscience, see 550 manifesture intellect\*), if it is two sign then it goes with xtm0 (most beneficent intellect\*), if it is two sign then it refers to Pounchiad ('O' most beneficent/blessed one'). The former solution recalls the proper name YAv. spatio.xtm1. the latter is recommended by the (incongruent) juxtaposition of spanish with atmatols, which could deliberately allude to the common spatial armalit\* beneficient right-imidentes.\* – (4) We read haddamin warsa'vi for hudawarsa'vi (G). It seems to us that hadam\* 'manificent' anticipates the following fam Y. 5.34 which points to the bridgeroum. Admittedly, haddawo'v arsa'd would be more plausible from the paleographic point of view. (5) Even if correctly restored the verbal form varsa've remains ambiguous. Whereas we think of root var 'choose, 'KP prefer root varsa' work,' in which case, however, the medium form of the verb ought to be taken into consideration.

53.4. (1) The herdsmen living on the fields are distinguished from the family members living in the settlement. – (2) Unexplained məm bəədis (G) we correct to məm.bəəψish 'minding family ties' (HF), cf. Ved.Skt. bándhu-'kinship/kinsman/ relation.'

53.5. (1) The ind.pres. minomi? I speak" apparently underlines the "here and now," but it is hardly believable that the phrase vazyamnably stainbyo donotes girls going to be married (in a sort of mass marringe); it rather pertains to the marriageable maiden in general. As a matter of fact, the prespect, vazyamna- does not necessarily have the same meaning as Ved.Skt. uhydanhas. "being runbransported," with which it is customarily equated. — (2) The interpretation of stranshyact as "and to you, (0) young mone)" is justified by its opposition to nato ... jazyov' men (and) women' in the next stanza. — (3) vadamno' speaking/in my speech' (not 'bride's male attendam't), cf. Ved.Skt. and "saylepack," of which, though, no medium forms occur. — (4) The moral instruction of the young people given here is followed by that of the adults (married of course) in the next stanza.

53,6. (1) In this stanza, which has five lines, i.e., one line more than the others of this song, the second occurrence of drajo either is a horrible blunder itself, or it is the remnant of a lost stanza. —(2) for hold pilds read hold pilds (HH) or hol is pilds.—(3) For psik308 (G) read spak4mu8n (HH). — (4) vaya with the wind (away with him), see A 36.3.

- 53,7. (1) ažu- 'penis', see Gershevitch 1996. (2) Read haxtiyá (SI) for haxtayá (G). (3) The repetition of para in paraca mraocas acarea. ... para is strange.
- 53,8. Better than simple 'peace with them' the rendering of rāmamcā āiš as 'peace (unimpaired) by them' more precisely describes the situation hoped for.
- 53,9. (1) Read narəpiš rajiš (G) for narəpiš arajiš (B) where the vocalism of arajiš is likely to be the result of perseveration of that of narəpiš (2) Both narəpiš and rajiš are

nom.pl. of neuter stems in -iß, the former from narapiš- n. 'waning' (cf. Y. 44,3 må ursöyeit narafsaiti 9βat), the latter from rajiš- 'darkness,' which is close to Ved.Skt. rajis- 'mist/clouds/darkness,' but in regard of its formation even closer to Goth. rigvis-durkness'.

Conclusion: The number of four of the Gähäs of the original collection consisting of Y, 28-34, 44-46, 47-50, 51 was independent of the number of the ritual times of the day. As we learn fron Y, 445, these counted just three: dawn, noon, and nightfall. It may have been in the early Sasanian period that the number of the ritual times was extended to the well-known five, which later on was adopted by the Muslims. In priestly minds the idea of equating the number of the five Gähäs (A.7.1) to that of the ritual times (Phl. ggh + O. gabbo) must have come up in that epoch, in consequence of which a fifth Gähä was needed. The only Old Avestan text available to bridge this gap, though poorly preserved as early as in that ora, must have been Y, 53, a text which does not seem to have been in exclusively ritual use. This remarkable process has provided us with a trait of contemporary Mazdayasnian life and religious; quale different from what religious and scholarly tradition usually derives from the four Gäthäs of the original collection.